
 
1 
 

 
 

Notice of a meeting of 
Cabinet 

 
Tuesday, 7 March 2017 

6.00 pm 
Pittville Room - Municipal Offices 

 
Membership 

Councillors: Steve Jordan, Flo Clucas, Chris Coleman, Rowena Hay, Peter Jeffries, 
Andrew McKinlay and Roger Whyborn 

 

Agenda  
    

  SECTION 1 : PROCEDURAL MATTERS  
    

1.   APOLOGIES  
    

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
    

3.   MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
Minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 2017 

(Pages 
3 - 8) 

    
4.   PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 

These must be received no later than 12 noon on the fourth 
working day before the date of the meeting 

 

    
  SECTION 2 :THE COUNCIL   
  There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by the Council 

on this occasion 
 

    

  SECTION 3 : OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE   
  There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on this occasion 
 

    

  SECTION 4 : OTHER COMMITTEES   
  There are no matters referred to the Cabinet by other 

Committees on this occasion 
 

    
  SECTION 5 : REPORTS FROM CABINET MEMBERS 

AND/OR OFFICERS 
 

    

5.   CABINET RESPONSE TO THE SCRUTINY REPORT ON 
ACCESSIBILITY 

Report of the Cabinet Member Clean and Green 
Environment 

(Pages 
9 - 24) 



    

 
2 
 

    
6.   APPOINTMENT OF THE NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

TO 2020 COMPANY 

Report of the Head of Paid Service 

(Pages 
25 - 36) 

    

7.   FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS FOR IMPROVEMENTS 
TO LEISURE-AT-CHELTENHAM 

Report of the Cabinet Member Healthy Lifestyles 

(Pages 
37 - 70) 

    

8.   PROGRESS UPDATE REGARDING THE NEW 
CREMATORIUM PROJECT INCLUDING BUSINESS 
CASE DECISIONS REGARDING ACCESS ROAD AND 
SECOND CHAPEL OPTION 
Report of the Cabinet Member Clean and Green 
Environment 

(Pages 
71 - 
360) 

    

  SECTION 6 : BRIEFING SESSION   
  • Leader and Cabinet Members  

    
9.   BRIEFING FROM CABINET MEMBERS  

    
  SECTION 7 : DECISIONS OF CABINET MEMBERS   
  Member decisions taken since the last Cabinet meeting  
    

  SECTION 8 : ANY OTHER ITEM(S) THAT THE LEADER 
DETERMINES TO BE URGENT AND REQUIRES A 
DECISION 

 

    
 

Contact Officer:  Rosalind Reeves, Democratic Services Manager, 01242 774937 
Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk 



�
�
�
�

�
������

��������	
�����
��������
�����������	���������	��
	�����������������
���������

�

��������
�

	
����
����������
��
�������
����������������

�

����������

�	
���

	���� �������	
��
�������
�	�������	�
��������	�������������
���
�����
������������������������
����	����
������
��������
�
����
��
�� 
��
�!
��
	
��
����"	#�
�����������
��������
�
��
�
�����$���
�����
���������
��������
��	���
%���
&
�
�#���'�
���������
��������
�(����	)��
���
����������
�
��"	%�
�*���	

������
��������
��	
)	
������
�������
�

�

���
����
�
�

��� ����������
+��
��#�
��
	��)	�	%���,�
�

��� �������������������������
+��
��#�
��
	������
���	
��	���
��
���,�
�

��� ����������������������������
+�����
�����	����������������
%�#�
���))
	�����
����%
���������	

����
��	
�,�
�

��� ������������������ �����������������������
+��
��#�
��
	
�,�
�

��� ���������������������!����������������������������������
"#$%&$'�(������������������")*�
�����!��������
�
�+������,�-����.������
���
�"/���-�
0�1��2���0
�,�����3�	.��0-�����
�

��� ����������������!�������������(���*������������������
"#$%&$'�
�����!��������
�
�+������,�-����.������
���
�"/���-�
0�1��2���0
�,�����3�	.��0-�����
�

	�� �������4�������������������4����������������������
��!���������������4�"#$%&$'�
+�������
��������
���
�
����
�
	����������
�)	
��#������������
���
��������
#���������%�
��,������-)���
�������������	�
�����
��
������.$�&��	��������

�)	
���

������	
������
����
����
�%���
����
���%���������
���
������
)
���
������
�����	
���
������
�)	
���
�	
)	
����������

�����
������
����
���%��
#�����������	���
�/��
���
�,��

+���+
����
����
�%���
��$�
����+�$������
��	���
�������������
���

Agenda Item 3
Page 3



�
�
�

�

�
��0���

��������	
�����
��������
�����������	���������	��
	����������������
���������

�

�))
	��������
�)	
���
���	
#�
������	��	�
���,�+����
����
��1��

�����
������
��
��
���%���������
���#�
������
�������	����
�&))�
��-�0���
��������
�����
"���
���$
	����	
����&))�
��-�2,���

������%���%���������
�����	
��������	�������
��
%�������
�&))�
��-�3��
����������
	��"�)	4"���
���"�)	�������	
��	������
���������
��
%��
��#���)������������
���������������))	
��	������+�$,����

����%�������
5���	��	�
����	�����
���
�������	
���	
�����
����������
��,���
���
�������%����	
��	
�
%�
�)	
���
���)�����
������
������
���
�	���������)
	����
�	
��64�7�
��#�����

�
������	#�
%������8�0�9::���
)������	����������%��,�

+�������
��������
����������������������5���#�����
�%���
������$*�;�
�����
#�
��
���
%�%�
�����
�������	���������	��������

�
���
��

���	
�����
�
������������	
��
#	������������%		��������	
������	�
�����	�����$*�;��	���5���
������
����
�
������
�����	����������
�/��
���
���	�������	#
��
�������	�
���,�+��������	
�
�<��=�����
�������������������#	�������)	��������������
�������	�����
�
�����
����
�����	
��	

	#�
%�������	
��
��

���	
�����
�
����)�����
�-)�
����
���
�������	�
�����	����
	����5�����)�����������))������	
,�

�
�
�����!��������
�

�	
���
�-�����	,,�������	�022�	5���+��0��0�+������0�
�1��0�03�,����
���0��31���0��,���6����
0
���5���,�������0��31�.	��"#$%&$'�0���22����7�
"6�"#$%&$'�������3�
����0���22����7�8�0�������2	
��1���0��,����.	��
"#$9&$%�0���"#$%&$'�0���22����7�/6����

���3���

•� �+��3����0
�2	
��1�	-:����5��;�+0���	
���
��+	

����5����2�
����
1�
�+���
�2

��.
����+�
��	��-�+0
.�	.��+���	,,
���1�3�5��3�2��	���1�
�	����
���1�0���
�<
����1=>�

•� �+0���+����
�����0
������0�	���.	��"#$%&$'����

���3��+��0
�+	������

�,���0���+����0�
�	�1�0..	��0-
��-	��	?��3�
�,��������,�����
�����
�����	��8�($*��	�0
��	5���,��������"##8�-��022�	5��>�

•� ��5���	����	��+���	
���
=��
�����3�
����0���20�0,������0���+	?�����
�22����7�8�0���2�	2	�������	������	�2�	5�����	,��.
��+����020���1>�
�+����2�	2	�0
��+05��-����2
��.	�?0���0.�����0@��3�0�5����.�	,�
�+���	
���
=�����0�
�1�,0�03�,����0�5�������02��0����������5�����
0���0���2�
�������	
3+��	����
����+���������<
0
��1�	.��+��
�	
���
=����5���,����2	��.	
�	���,0����+�3+>��

•� �+��
���	.���2	&��5�������2	����0���2����0��0�.	�,�	.����
��������

�����3>�

�	��"#$9&$%�0���"#$%&$'�����0
�

0���3��+������,
,���5��
����	5���	��
(���*6��+���	
���
�?�

�022
1�0�,	��.�����2��	��$�������2����	.��
22	�����
�02��0
��72�����
����	���201��+����-������<
0
�����0
,�����	5���8)�1�0���
0����2��	��8�������2����	.�
��
22	������02��0
��72�����
��6�0�:
�����.�	,�
"#$%&$'�-1��+��
���	.��02��0
������2����	���201���-��0��	��0����?��+��02��0
�

	0���0��2���20�03�02+�"/�����22����7�/>�

Page 4



�
�
�

�

�
��3���

��������	
�����
��������
�����������	���������	��
	����������������
���������

�

�


�� �������������������������"#$9A$%A���������������������"#$9�
+�������
��������
���
�
����
�
	�������������
����
�
������	
��	
�
%�
�)	
��
%���
%�����)	����	
��������
���	
�������
�
��������
�0:�64�7,�+���)�
)	���	������

�)	
��#����	�
	����������
��	���
��5
	#
���%
�����
����
����	
���	����%�����	
�
0:�64�7��
����%���%����
��5���������,���

+������������0,�������
���������
�����)����	��������
��
�������
���������������
���%���
�������
�
��������
���	
���
����
%�	��
�<:'��
���
����#�����	��������
�	���
�
�
��,���

*����
�%�
���	������	���
%�"���
���&��	�
����"&���������
������%���
�)	
���	
�
0:�74�9���	#�������
��������	
��������	
�������

�
�����
��)�������	�
(������
�0:�6,�+���	
������
���
����	�����=��	��
���%�
���#�
�������
���
�
�
����)���������
%�	��82>,6::�	
�
�)��
���
�����
��
�
��,�=��
������)�����
�-)�
����
��#����-)�������	����872�<::��	#�
����8���<93��::��
�����
%�

���
����	
�
�����	
����������������	�
�,�+�������
����	
���
�
����������
�	
������
���
���
���
������3������
���0:�7����8�02��::��	�86��76��::,��

+����	
��	
�
%�
�)	
���	
������	������	
�	���	�
������-��
������
����
�����
�??("���
�	���#�����	#
��
�&))�
��-�<��
���
������������)	����	
���������
��
	��(������
�0:�6��
������)
	@������	����

��	
�0:�64�7,�

.
��	
�����	
������
����������	
�����%�
�
�����
��	��������
��
����
�)	
����#�����
�	
������
����
��
�)�
���%��
����������%���	��8��:�737��	
�0:�64�7,�+���
�	
��
������)����	���������
%����
�%	��

��
����
��
%��

�
%���
����
������
��	
	������������)
���
����)�
������
��	
��

���	
������	�
���A�����%���,�.��
#�������
�����)	
��
���	��
��
����������%�����	
��
�����	������	������	
��	
���
	��
������	��
%��	
����#���������#��	���5�
%�����	
����������
�����������

������
�,�

����
����
���	�
����#	������������
������0:�7��#��
�����	����

������
��������
�	#��	��))����
��)	��
�������
���
�����
%�,��	#���
����#���
��	���
���������
�
���
��
�)�
�����
�������	
�	����

�����
�
���

�����
������	�����;��%���(�������
���))	
���"���
����
�����	
�����	���))	
��%�
�
�������
��������
�
%��
���
��
����
�����	�5��)�����������	��
���
����
	������
�������
��
���
�����

	�
��
%�
����
�����%�����
��
%�%�)������	����
����
������	�
���A���������+�
����
�
�����
��
���%��
�)	
�,�

+�������
��������
���������������������	���
���������	�
������-�	�����
���	
�
����
����
��
%�#	
5��
����
���
�
%�������%��
����	���	������	
�
���

����	��
�
&))�
��-�<,�

+��������
��	���
���������-�����
����
�
������	
�
	��#���������
�)	
��
���	
��
��������	�����
����
	��������	�
���,�

�����!��������
�

$>� �+���	�������	.��+�����2	������

���3��+��@�1�2�	:������50��0������	�
�+�� "#$9&$%� -
�3��� 0��� �+�� �72������ ��
�5��1� 	.� ���5����� ?��+���
-
�3���-���	���>�

�

Page 5



�
�
�

�

�
��2���

��������	
�����
��������
�����������	���������	��
	����������������
���������

�

">� �+�� -
�3��� 5���,����� �	� �+�� "#$9&$%� -
�3��6� 0�� ���0�
��� ���
�22����7�%�-��022�	5��>�

�
8>� �	
���
�-�����	,,�������	�022�	5��0��	����-
��	��	.�B$$#6%8%��	�

�+���
�3�����.�����(�
22	��*������5�6�0�����0�
������20�03�02+�$#>$>�
�

��� ��!��C�������D��4����������������
+�������
��������
�;�����!
��
	
��
�� �
�
	������ ����
�)	
��#������-)���
���
����� �����	
�6<�	�� �����	���� 	��

��
�� ���������
�	���$
	����	
���&����>76�
)�
������������	�
�����	�������
����	
����5
�����

��%��	
���-���������������
����
��� ��,� +��� �	�
���� ���� ��	)���� �� ��
�� �	
����� #����� #��� ����� �

������ �	�
���������� ���� 
�

�
%� �	���� 	�� �� ����
���� ���5
��� ��

��%�� �������,� ���
��%���%�������������
������
	�����
�����
���
�
�������
���?	�����
�0:�3��������
������������
�
������#	��������		��������	����)
����������
��������,��	#���
�����
����������� )�
��
��%�� �
�
����� ��
��� ���� ����� ��
�� ��@�����
�� �
� 0:�3� ����

�������� �
� �� )
	)	���� 6B� �
�
����,� +��� 
�)	
�� ��5��� ����
��� �	� �))
	���

���@�����
��	��������

�
����-�������
����
������
�#���
�����#�����#�
������
	����
�&))�
��-�0,��

�����!��������
�

$>��+��2�	2	����,07�,
,�.0��������0���.	��+0�@��1��0���03���-��
022�	5��E�0����

">�0
�+	���1�-����
�30�����	��+��������	��	.���5��	�,�����	��0��1�	
���+��
������0�1�0�5�������3���<
���,������	��	,2
1�?��+������	��9)�	.��+��
�	�0
��	5���,����(�����

0��	
����	5���	��*�����$F%9E�0����

8>��
-:�����	��+����-���3��	��
-��0���5��0,���,�����-���3�,0���
.	

	?��3��	��

�0��	�6�0
�+	���1�-����
�30�����	��+��������	��	.�
��5��	�,�����	�0�	2���+��2�	2	����.0���>�
�

���� ������������������������������
+��� ����
��� �����
� �	
)	
���� ��
������ #��� )������� �	� �

	�
��� ����� ����
�	�
�����������
�������������
�����
���
��
���������
���	
�.
����	
���
�$�	)���
�
�� ���� 
����
��� ���� �#�
�,� +���� #��� ��)	
��
�� ��� ��� ���	
��
����� ����� ����
�	�
���� �	
����
��� ���� ������ �	� ��� ���� ��%%���� ������ �
�� �
������� �
� �����
���	
��
%��,�.��#	�������
�����������
���
������
������,�

+�������
��������
�;�����!
��
	
��
���

	�
�������������������
�����	����
$��
��������
�)���	��� �	
� �
�	
�����	
�������	
�	��
� ����
�-����-�#��5�,�+����
�	����
�� ���� ��
����� ���� �	�
�� �	
�� ��
���%�� #����� #	���� ��� �������� ���
�	�
���� 	
� �
����,� +���� #��� �
� 	))	
��
���� �	
� 
�����
��� �	� )��� �	
#�
�� ����
�
���#��	
������
�����	����
�����	
�������	
�����	
�������	
��
������
�	�
�%���
���
��	����	�%��������
��������5�����	��	#�
%�������
5�	
������	�
���C��#������,�

+��� ����
��� �����
� �	���
%� �
�������� ����� ��� #	���� ��� ����
��
%� �
�
��)	
��
�� ���	
������ �	���
%� �	
��
�
��� 	
� �
����� �
�� ���
��	
�� #	���� ���
%���
%������)	�	%�����	
��	�
���,�����)�����������
��	
�����
���
����
�����
��
�-)�
��
���	��
	�%������)�
%��
�������
�����
�����#���)���������������������
���)��� �	� 
����� �#�
�
����	�� ���� ��

�
�� �
�������
	��� ���� �	�
���#���� ��
	
%�
��))	
���
	���	���������,�.������)
	����������#������%		���
��%���	�������������
�
�� )
	������ �
�� ���#	���� ���
�� ���� ������#���� �	����%������� �� ����
�� �����

Page 6



�
�
�

�

�
��<���

��������	
�����
��������
�����������	���������	��
	����������������
���������

�

	
��������������������	�
�������	
������-)�
��
��,�

+�������
��������
��������������������
	���� ����� ����$������&
����
���%�� �	
�
������
���� #��� ��

�
���� ���
%� 
����#��� �
�� 	
�� 	�� ��
� ����� #��� ����� ���
��	���� �����
���� ���� ���������
��� 	�� ��%�
��
�� ��������#�����#��� ��

�
����
���5�
%,�������������������)��
��#�
�����
%��
�#
��)��	
���
����)���������
�D�
#�����#	�������
�)	
�����	��	�
�����
���
��,������	)������������)
	@�����	����
���
��	����	
#�
��������#	�������������@	
���
������	
�����������
������	#
,�

+��������
� �

	�
���� ����� ����%	��

��
�� ���� ���
�������*�����$�)�
� 	
�
�	���
%� �
�� �	���
���� ���� ����
��� �����
� �	���
%� �	
� ��%���%���
%� ����

	�%������)�
%� �����,���� 
���

��� �	� ���� ����
�
�� 
���
���
��	��"	��;���� �
��
#�������	��	
������
	��������	�
���A�����
5���	
�������%����	�
��	��#	
5���������
�����	
�� �	
� �����	�
�����
�� �	
� ���� �	#
� �
��	�������)
���	���
	����
�� �
�����
��

�
��
	��������
�%�
%�(�
���	
�	��E���	,��

�

���� ���������������������������D�����������������������������
��������
�

��������� ��	
��
�

���	���

����������

������

���
������
�

����������
�������	�
������
�������
������
�����

������� � ��	
��
�

!��	���

"
������

#���$$�
�
������������
��
���
���$�������
��

�������

����
�
����
�����
���
����%

�
���������������������&��

����
��������������

���������������������	�����������
��

������� � '������ ($$�
�
���
������%�!����
���)
���
������*	
���'
�

���

������ � '������ *	
���+��
�����,�����

��-�.
���
������
����.
�

���

����������
��%

�����
������$$��
�����
���$���
������������

���
���

�
�

���� ��������!������������$F%"�A��G��������������
�

���� �G�������������
+����-��)����
�����	�����������
%������	
��3�(������
�0:�6�#�
���))
	����
�
����%
���������	

����
��	
�,�
�
�
�
�
�

��
�+0��,0��

�

Page 7



Page 8



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets Page 1 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Cabinet – 7th March 2017 

Changing Places Accessible Toilets - 

Cabinet Response to Scrutiny Report on Accessibility 

 

Accountable member Cabinet Member Clean and Green Environment, Councillor Chris 
Coleman 

Accountable officer Director of Resources, Mark Sheldon 

Ward(s) affected All  

Key Decision No  

Executive summary On 13 December 2016 Cabinet considered a report on Accessibility from 
Overview and Scrutiny and approved the recommendation that appropriate 
officers look at what actions could be taken to reduce difficulties 
experienced by disabled persons and to develop an action plan. 

Cheltenham Borough Council successfully applied for funding from the 
Disabled Children and Young People Short Breaks Capital Grant, to install 
two Changing Places Accessible Toilets within Cheltenham, one to be sited 
adjacent to Pittville Park Play Area and the other in a town centre location. 

Recommendations That Cabinet agree to: 

 
1. Approve the project to develop the proposal and the business 

case, subject to existing budgets, to install and maintain two 
Changing Places Accessible Toilets within Cheltenham, one in 
Pittville Park and another in a town centre location to be 
determined, following consultation with user groups and 
stakeholders.  
 

 

Agenda Item 5
Page 9



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets Page 2 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Financial implications There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. However, 
the financial implications to the council’s 2017-18 and future capital and 
revenue budgets will need to be considered as part of the business case, 
to be developed. If this business case identifies a shortfall in funding, this 
will have an impact on the Medium Term Financial Strategy and Cabinet or 
Council may be required to request increased funding, for which a 
corresponding budget saving may need to be identified elsewhere. 

Contact Officer: Sarah Didcote, Deputy Chief Financial Officer 

Email: Sarah.Didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel: 01242 264125 

Contact Officer: Sarah Didcote 

Email: Sarah.Didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel: 01242 264125 

 

Legal implications The Authority will need to comply with its Contract Rules in respect of the 
design and build of the facilities and the on- going maintenance of the 
facilities.  

The Authority needs to comply with the Disabled Children and Young 
People Short Breaks Capital Grant Acceptance Contract requirements. 

Contact Officer: Shirin Wotherspoon, Head of Law ( Commercial) 

Email: shirin.wotherspoon@tewkesbury.gov.uk  

Tel: 01684 272017 

 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

There are no direct HR implications identified in the report. 

Contact officer:  Carmel Togher,  HR Business Partner            

Email: carmel.togher@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel: 01242  775215 

Key risks That Cheltenham Borough Council is unable to deliver the project due to 
the inability to support a budget for the ongoing maintenance costs. 

Page 10



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets Page 3 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

The project to install two Changing Places Accessible Toilets has been 
included within the Corporate Strategy for 2017/18 under the outcome:  

• People live in strong, safe and healthy communities   

The project also contributes to the Corporate Priority Action: 

• The council is committed to the elimination of discrimination and 

promotion of equality of opportunity for all citizens and will work 

towards this goal, both in the provision of services and 

employment. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

No direct implications identified in the report.  

Environmental issues will be considered as part of the business case. 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

Dependant on the delivery timescale for this scheme it may be necessary 
to engage a temporary external resource. The potential cost of this 
resource has not been included in the cost estimates and an allowance of 
12-15% will need to be added to budget estimates. 

Contact Officer: David Roberts, Head of Property and Asset 
Management 

Email: david.roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel: 01242 264151 

 

1. Background 

1.1 As part of the agenda for the Overview and Scrutiny meeting held on 12 September 2016, the 
committee received a presentation from wheelchair users about some of the problems some 
disabled people encounter when trying to find accessible public toilets in Cheltenham as well as 
more general access issues. One issue raised was the lack of suitable public disabled toilets, 
which had proper facilities and enough room either for a mobility scooter or two carers.  Also, 
since the closure of the accessible toilet in the Beechwood Arcade, there is no public facility in 
Cheltenham that offers additional requirement to assist with the needs of those with complex 
disabilities, and their carers’.  
 

1.2 Over 230,000 people in the UK need personal assistance to use the toilet or for personal hygiene 
[see appendix 3].  Changing Places Accessible Toilets are designed to provide the three elements 
key to helping improve accessibility for these people within their community.  

• The right equipment – height adjustable changing bench and hoist system 

• Space – to allow disabled person and up to two carers 

• A safe and clean environment  - non-slip floor, appropriate water facilities 
 

1.3 During the redevelopment of Pittville Play Park in spring 2016, the project team sought advice 
from Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) regarding accessibility. GCC provided information on 
the Disabled Children and Young People Short Breaks Capital Grant and made the suggestion 
that Cheltenham Borough Council bid for funding to install a Changing Places Accessible Toilet to 
serve the Pittville Play Park area.   
 

Page 11



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets Page 4 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

1.4 Within the facilities available at Pittville Play Park, there is a disabled toilet that meets current 
legal standards. However, the number of people, children and adults, with complex disabilities is 
increasing and these basic facilities are not meeting their needs. In turn this prevents their ability 
to visit public places such as the play area or restricts the period of time they are able to stay. 
 

1.5 A report on Accessibility was taken to Cabinet on 13th December 2016 with the recommendation 
that Cheltenham Borough Council ‘look at what action the council could take in areas it has direct 
control of access to toilet facilities in the light of the comments made to reduce difficulties being 
experienced by disabled persons with a view to an action plan being submitted to Cabinet’. 

 
1.6 Following an application to the Disabled Children and Young People Short Breaks Capital Grant 

in December 2016, to install two Changing Places Accessible Toilets within Cheltenham, the 
Council’s bid for £136k has been accepted. The Trust made a separate bid for the Disabled 
Children and Young People Short Breaks Capital Grant for the Leisure Centre and they too were 
successful.   

 
1.7 The Disabled Children and Young People Short Breaks Capital Grant to Cheltenham Borough 

Council was approved on the basis that one of the Changing Places Accessible Toilet would be 
sited at Pittville Play Park and the second facility within the Town Centre.   

 
1.8 Although funding has been granted for the capital cost of installing two Changing Places 

Accessible Toilets, identification and securing of funding for future maintenance and cleaning 
regime of the two facilities is still required. 
 
 
 

2. Reasons for recommendations 

 
2.1 Although there are public disabled toilets within Cheltenham, none are large enough or suitably 

equipped for those with complex disabilities, those that require two carers to accompany them or 
those that require mobility scooters to access facilities.  For some this leads to an inequality in 
choice, when deciding to visit Cheltenham for longer periods of time. 

2.2 The installation of two facilities within Cheltenham  would improve upon the current provision 
within Gloucestershire, where there are currently only three Changing Places Accessible toilets, 
the closest facility being at Dursley over 22 miles away.   

2.3 The Equality Act 2010 requires that service providers must think ahead and take steps to address 
barriers that impede disabled people. Under this Equality Act, adjustments must be made where 
disabled people experience ‘substantial disadvantage’. [‘Equality Act 2010… a quick start guide’ 
(Background Information)] 

 

3. Costs & Funding 

3.1 The Disabled Children and Young People Short Breaks Capital Grant would be used to fund the 
following: 
 

− The installation of two 
Changing Room Accessible Toilets   £124,000 (£62,000 per toilet) 

− Officer resource    £12,000 
 

The Disabled Children and Young People Short Breaks Capital Grant cannot be used for the 
ongoing maintenance and cleaning of the two Changing Places Accessible Toilets. If there is no 

Page 12



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets Page 5 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

flexibility within the planned maintenance budget to support the running costs and limited 
opportunity for maintenance grant funding, there may be implications to the baseline budget from 
2018/19 onwards. 
 
 

4. Consultation and feedback 

4.1 Stakeholders and service users will be consulted on the most suitable location for the second 
facility within the Town Centre.  

4.2 Cheltenham Borough Council will partner with Charitable Organisations to develop a community 
engagement strategy and opportunities for extending the grant funding 

 

5. Performance management –monitoring and review 

5.1 This project will follow the principles of Prince 2 project management. 

Report author Contact officer:  Claire Cook, Client and Research Officer  

Email: claire.a.cook@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel: 01242 775212 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. Community Impact Assessment 

3. Changing Places Summary 

Page 13



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets Page 6 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Background information 12th September 2016 – Minutes from Overview & Scrutiny Meeting 
agenda item 6. 

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=2
67&MId=2584&Ver=4 

13th December 2016 – Cabinet Report on Accessibility Issues 
agenda item 5 

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1
66&MId=2572&Ver=4 

Equality Act 2010: Public Sector Equality Duty What do I need to 
know? A quick start guide for Public Organisations. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment
_data/file/85041/equality-duty.pdf‘ 

Equality Act 2010: What do I need to know? Disability quick start 
guide’ 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment
_data/file/85037/disability.pdf 

Changing Places –  The Practical Guide 
http://www.changing-
places.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=YEDKVYyX8TE%3d&tabid=81 

 

 

Page 14



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 7 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

 
The risk Original risk score Managing risk   

(impact x likelihood) 
  

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description 

Risk Date 
raised 

Impact  
1-5 

Likelihood 
1-6 

Score Control 

Action 

Deadline Responsible Transfer
red to 
risk 
register 

Risk  

Status 
Owner officer 

R001 

If the proposed locations for 

the Changing Places 

Accessibility Toilets are not 

suitable, then there will 

continue to be inequality of 

access and choice to facilities 

within Cheltenham. 

David 

Roberts 
  3 1 3 Reduce 

Undertake Community Impact 

Assessments against the 

different locations for the siting 

of the Changing Place Accessible 

Toilets 

  
Claire 

Cook 
    

R002 

If the installation of Changing 

Places Accessible Toilets has a 

detrimental impact on persons 

who share protected 

characteristics (for example 

age, disability or pregnancy 

and maternity), then the 

Council will be in potential 

breach of its Public Sector 

Equalities Duty contained in 

Section 149 of the Equality Act 

2010 which will also impact 

CBC’s reputation. 

David 

Roberts 
  4 1 4 Reduce 

Undertake Community Impact 

Assessments against the 

different locations for the siting 

of the Changing Place Accessible 

Toilets 

  
Claire 

Cook 
    

R003 

If CBC is unable to proceed 

with the installation of the 

Changing Places Toilets, then 

disabled people with complex 

needs will continue to have 

limited choices when visiting 

Cheltenham 

David 

Roberts 
  3 2 6 Reduce 

A business case is being 

developed 
  

Claire 

Cook 
    

P
age 15



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 8 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

R004 

If there are a limited number 

of specialised suppliers then 

CBC may be unable to obtain 

value for money as well as a 

suitable standard of design and 

build. 

David 

Roberts 
  2 2 4 Reduce 

Research to be undertaken as 

part of the development of the 

business case 

  
Claire 

Cook 
    

R005 

If CBC is unable to meet the 

terms and conditions of the 

Disabled Children and Young 

People Short Breaks Capital 

Grant, then the grant will be 

removed.  

David 

Roberts 
  3 1 3 Reduce 

A business case is being 

developed 
  

Claire 

Cook 
    

R006 

If CBC is unable to secure 

future maintenance funding, 

then it will not be possible to 

maintain the facilities to the 

required standard of 

compliance.  

David 

Roberts 
  3 2 6 Reduce 

A business case is being 

developed 
  

Garrie 

Dowling 
    

R007 

If property services are unable 

to provide the necessary 

resource within the 

timeframes, then there may be 

a delay to project deliver and 

cost implications. 

David 

Roberts  
   2  2  4 Reduce 

A business case is being 

developed 
  

Garrie 

Dowling 
    

            

            

P
age 16



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 9 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Explanatory notes                     

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 
  

  

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6 
     

  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 
  

  

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / 

Close 
              

  
           

P
age 17



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 10 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Community impact assessment – for services, policies and projects          Appendix 2 

 
What is a community impact assessment? 
A community impact assessment is an important part of our commitment to delivering better services for our communities. The form will help us find out what 
impact or consequences our functions, policies, procedures and projects have on our communities, as well as employees and potential employees.  
 
By undertaking an impact assessment, we are able to: 

• Take into account the needs, experiences and circumstances of those groups of people who use (or don’t / can’t use) our services. 

• Identify any inequalities people may experience. 

• Think about the other ways in which we can deliver our services which will not lead to inequalities. 

• Develop better policy-making, procedures and services. 
 

Background 
Name of service / policy / project 
and date 
 
 

Changing Places Accessible Toilets 

Lead officer 
 
 

Mark Sheldon 

Other people involved in 
completing this form 
 
 

Claire Cook 
Jane Stovell 

Step 1 - About the service / policy / project 
 

What is the aim of the service / 
policy / project and what outcomes 
is it contributing to 

The project to install two Changing Places Accessible Toilets has been included within the Corporate Strategy for 
2017/18 under the outcome:  

• People live in strong, safe and healthy communities   

The project also contributes to the Corporate Priority Action: 

• The council is committed to the elimination of discrimination and promotion of equality of opportunity for all 
citizens and will work towards this goal, both in the provision of services and employment. 

P
age 18



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 11 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Who are the primary customers of 
the service / policy / project and 
how do they / will they benefit 

The primary customers of the Changing Places Accessible Toilets are  Cheltenham residents and visitors with  
complex disabilities, and their carers’. 

How and where is the service / 
policy / project implemented 

One Changing places facility is to be sited at Pittville park. The location of the other facility is still to be determined 
but will be sited within the town centre. 

What potential barriers might 
already exist to achieving these 
outcomes 

Funding of the ongoing maintenance of the facilities due to the  Council’s budgetary constraints. 
 

 

Step 2 – What do you know already about your existing / potential customers 
What existing information and data 
do you have about your existing / 
potential customers e.g. Statistics, 
customer feedback, performance 
information 

Over 230,000 people in the UK need personal assistance to use the toilet or for personal hygiene.  
 
In the 2011 Census the overall number of people in Gloucestershire, whose day to day activities were limited a lot 
was 43292 and that 7582 of those were Cheltenham residents. 

What does it tell you about who 
uses your service / policy and 
those that don’t? 

There are a significant number of people within Cheltenham and beyond who are at a disadvantage when making 
decisions to visit Cheltenham.  Their visits may be shorter, limited to certain locations or avoided altogether. 

What have you learnt about real 
barriers to your service from any 
consultation with customers and 
any stakeholder groups? 
 

 
Consultation with service users and stakeholder groups will take place as part of the project. 

  

If not, who do you have plans to 
consult with about the service / 
policy / project? 
 

Leonard Cheshire Home, St Vincent's and St George's Association, Bettridge School, Star College, 
Gloucestershire County Council Occupational Therapists, Carers Gloucestershire, Active Gloucestershire   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 19



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 12 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Step 3 - Assessing community impact 
How does your service / policy / project impact on different groups in the community?  
 

Group What are you already 
doing to benefit this 
group 

What are you doing that 
might disadvantage this 
group 

What could you do 
differently to benefit this 
group 

No impact on this 
group 

People from black and minority 
ethnic groups 
 

   
� 

Gender 
 

   
� 

Gender Reassignment 
 

   
� 

Older people / children and young 
people 
 

Potential users will be of 
all ages, but there will be 
a steady increase of the 
number of older people. 

Failure to implement is 
likely to impact on 
accessibility to town centre 
for shopping, leisure and 
social contact. 

Help to ensure future 
provision is in a suitable 
location within the town. 

 

People with disabilities and mental 
health challenges 
 

Primary user base. Failure to implement is 
likely to impact on 
accessibility to town centre 
for shopping, leisure and 
social contact. 

Help to ensure future 
provision is in a suitable 
location within the town. 

 

Religion or belief 
 

   
� 

Lesbian, Gay and Bi-sexual people    
� 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 
 

   
� 

Pregnancy & Maternity 
 

Potential user of the 
service, but not a major 
target. 

 Help to ensure future 
provision is in a suitable 
location within the town. 

 

Other groups or communities 
 

   
� 

 
Step 4 - what are the differences 
Are any groups affected in different 
ways to others as a result of the 

Financially disadvantaged groups may be more likely to be impacted as may not have easy access to transport 
options which gives them greater mobility flexibility. This could result in these groups being more dependent on 

P
age 20



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 13 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

service / policy / project? 
 

facilities within the town centre. 
 

Does your service / policy / project 
either directly or indirectly 
discriminate? 
 

No 

If yes, what can be done to improve 
this? 
 

N/A 

Are there any other ways in which 
the service / project can help 
support priority communities in 
Cheltenham? 
 

Any potential synergies between the service and other organisations in the town will be considered as part of the 
research work. 

 
Step 5 – taking things forward 
What are the key actions to be 
carried out and how will they be 
resourced and monitored? 
 

It is necessary to engage with services users and stakeholders, to consult on the location of the Changing Places 
Accessible Toilets and to promote the services. 
 
It will also be necessary to undertake a procurement exercise to secure a service provider to design, build and 
implement the two facilities. 
 
The exercise will be resourced with officers from CBC, GOSS and One Legal. 

Who will play a role in the decision-
making process? 
 

Cabinet Member Clean and Green, Councillor Chris Coleman, lead officer Mark Sheldon, the Cabinet and the 
Council. 

What are your / the project’s 
learning and development needs? 
 

Understanding the requirements of the service users, through consultation and adhering to planning and building 
control regulations during design and build phase of the project.    

How will you capture these actions 
in your service / project planning? 

A dedicated project manager will utilise PRINCE2 based methodology to capture and manage project actions and 
overall time management. 

P
age 21



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 14 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Changing Places Summary        Appendix 3 
(Extract from website www.changing-places.org)         
 
What are Changing Places Toilets? 

Standard accessible toilets do not meet the needs of all people with a disability.  

People with profound and multiple learning disabilities, as well people with other physical disabilities such as spinal 

injuries, muscular dystrophy and multiple sclerosis often need extra equipment and space to allow them to use the 

toilets safely and comfortably. These needs are met by Changing Places toilets.  

  

Each Changing Places toilet provides: 

  

The right equipment 

- A height adjustable adult-sized changing bench 

- A tracking hoist system, or mobile hoist, if this is not possible. 

   

Enough space 

- Adequate space in the changing area for the disabled person and up to two carers 

- A centrally placed toilet with room either side  

- A screen or curtain to allow some privacy. 

  

A safe and clean environment 

- Wide tear off paper roll to cover the bench 

- A large waste bin for disposable pads 

- A non-slip floor. 

  

PLEASE NOTE: Changing Places toilets are different to standard accessible toilets (or "disabled toilets") and should be 

provided in addition to accessible toilets. 

 

Changing Places standards 

Changing Places facilities need to meet a certain standard to be registered on our website. This is to ensure that any 

facility advertised as a Changing Places toilet meets the needs and expectations of the people who use them.  

For advice on health and safety and legal matters, please refer to our legal factsheet, included in background 

information. Remember that slings should not be provided by the venue. 

To be registered on our website, the facilities must be open to the public. Changing Places toilets should be installed 

in addition to, not in replacement of, standard accessible toilets for independent use. 

  

We recommend that the dimensions of the room are a minimum of 12 square metres (3m x 4m), with a ceiling 

height of 2.4m.  Examples can be found from page 32 of our Practical Guide, included in the background reading. 

Some facilities listed on the website as Changing Places will be smaller than 12 square metres. This reflects the 

standards of Changing Places toilets when the campaign was launched in 2006. 

The Changing Places Consortium appreciates that meeting the 12 square metres (3m x 4m) size criteria of the British 

Standard may be difficult in, for example, a listed building that cannot be altered. We would recommend that you 

consult with us before you start planning any renovations or adaptations in buildings such as these. 

Toilets may continue to be identified as Changing Places toilets where the minimum room dimensions are 7 square 

metres or above. We do recommend that providers and installers do their best to meet the 12 square metre British 

Standard current guidelines as smaller facilities may exclude many users who need the full space.  

Facilities which do not provide the features in the Changing Places Standard section below, or alternative 

layouts, may not be identified as a Changing Places toilet on our website. However, they may still be of benefit to 

disabled people and their carers’, and as such information regarding these facilities may be included on the website. 

  

Mandatory size for new build, complies with space and equipment fit out standards set out in BS8300  

Page 22



 

   

Cabinet 7
th
 March 2017 – Changing Places Accessible Toilets         Page 15 of 15 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Who are they for? 

 

Research has found that over a quarter of a million severely disabled people, including those with profound and 

multiple learning disabilities do not have access to public toilet facilities that meet their needs.   

  

In the UK 230,000 people would benefit from a Changing Places toilet and would include approximately: 

  

• 40,000 people with profound and multiple learning disabilities 

• 130,000 older people 

• 30,000 people with cerebral palsy 

• 13,000 people with an acquired brain injury 

• 8,500 people with Multiple Sclerosis 

• 8,000 people with Spina Bifida 

• 500 people with Motor Neurone Disease 

 

We also know that the number of people with complex disabilities is growing – we are all living longer, meaning 

many more people are likely to need access to a Changing Places toilet in the future. 

These figures come from a 2009 report by Professor James Hogg, at the University of Dundee.  

Page 23



Page 24



 

   

$wxd4x3rw Page 1 of 7 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Cabinet – 7 March 2017 

Nominations to Outside Bodies – Non-executive director for 
Publica 

 

Accountable member Leader, Councillor Steve Jordan 

Accountable officer Head of Paid Service, Pat Pratley 

Accountable scrutiny 
committee 

O&S 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key Decision No  

Executive summary Following each Selection Council, and at other times when vacancies arise, 
the Leader/Cabinet takes the opportunity to nominate and, in limited cases, 
appoint persons to various roles within bodies external to the Council.   

In October 2016 Council approved the transfer of GO Shared Services 
(Finance, HR, ICT, Procurement) and ICT functions to a local authority 
company owned by Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold District 
Council, Forest of Dean District Council and West Oxfordshire District 
Council.  It was proposed that the company structure would comprise 3 
companies each with its own distinct focus; i.e. business support services, 
co-ordinating company (commissioning) and regulatory services. 

The Council appointed the Leader of the Council as the Council's 
representative on the business support service’s company who will be 
responsible for taking member decisions on behalf of the Council.  

As a member of that company the council will also be seeking to nominate a 
Councillor to be a non-executive director. The services that will be delivered 
from the company will be Finance, HR, ICT,and Procurement. 

With regard to the new company name, Publica, following an informal 
meeting of the 2020 Partners Joint Committee members it was agreed that 
the new companies will be named Publica and the term Publica Group will 
be used to describe all of the companies.  The use of the name will be 
primarily for registering the companies and for internal purposes.  It will not 
replace any partner Council branding.  

 

Recommendations 1. To nominate Councillor Wendy Flynn for appointment as a non-
executive director of Publica as set out in the terms of 
appointment in Appendix 2 and in accordance with the 

Agenda Item 6
Page 25



 

   

$wxd4x3rw Page 2 of 7 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

following principles: 

• all nominations are made on the basis that the 
nominee/appointee is a representative of Cheltenham 
Borough Council (insofar as that is compatible with any 
overriding legal duty to an outside body); and 

• the appointor reserves the right at any time to 
withdraw/terminate a nomination/appointment which it has 
made 

• a nomination/appointment to an outside body is referred to 
Council for determination where consensus on that 
nomination/appointment cannot be achieved between the 
political Group Leaders 

• the appointment is subject to the necessary due diligence 
checks being successfully completed.  

 

 

Financial implications There is no remuneration for the non-executive Directors appointed to the 
Board of Publica. There are therefore no financial implications arising from 
this report.  
 
Contact officer: Sarah Didcote 
E-mail:      sarah.didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel no: 01242 264125 

Legal implications See body of the report. 

Two general powers are relevant to nomination/appointment to outside 
bodies, these being the general power of competence found in the 
Localism Act 2011 and the power of an authority to do anything conducive, 
incidental to or facilitative of the discharge of any of their functions found in 
the Local Government Act 1972. 

Contact officer: Shirin Wotherspoon 
E-mail:   shirin.wotherspoon@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
Head of Law (commercial) 

Tel no: 01684 272017 

 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

As outlined in the body of the report. 
 
Contact officer: Julie McCarthy , Strategic HR Manager 
julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 26 4355  

 

Key risks Members appointed should be aware of their roles and responsibilities.  

 

Page 26



 

   

$wxd4x3rw Page 3 of 7 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

Approval of the recommendations will deliver the corporate plan objective 
for 2016/17 VFM1 - we will work with 2020 partners to implement agreed 
shared services from April 2016 and specifically deliver the milestone-to 
consider a business case for a local authority company governance model 
and its subsequent delivery. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

None 

Page 27



 

   

$wxd4x3rw Page 4 of 7 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

1. General background relating to the appointment of outside bodies 

1.1 The outside bodies to which nominations/appointments are made comprise a variety of 
organisations and groups. A traditional distinction can be drawn between incorporated and 
unincorporated bodies; the former being distinct legal entities such as companies, having a legal 
personality and a framework imposing obligations upon those who become involved by 
appointment; the latter being bodies which, albeit without formal legal foundation, play an 
important role in representing interests within the local community. Involvement in these 
unincorporated organisations will often carry few or no legal obligations on those appointed. 

1.2 In the majority of cases Cheltenham Borough Council decides who to nominate to the outside 
body concerned and it is then for that body to decide on whether to accept the nomination and 
make the appointment. There are some limited exceptions to this, such as Cheltenham Borough 
Homes Gloucestershire Airport and the Cheltenham Trust where the Council is entitled to make 
the appointments to the boards of directors.  

2. Legal issues  

2.1 With regard to outside bodies whilst nominations/appointments are made on the general basis 
that the nominee/appointee is the Council’s representative on the outside body, it is important to 
note that in many cases the overriding duty is to the outside body. For example, a company 
director has a primary duty of care towards the company and to act in the best interests of the 
company as a whole and a trustee must act in accordance with the trust deed and uphold the 
trust’s objectives. 

2.2 The Council is able to indemnify members (and officers) in the course of their activities on outside 
bodies provided they are acting within the scope of their authority as Council representatives. 
Outside bodies, such as companies, that are legal entities in their own right must have their own 
appropriate insurance arrangements in place. It is important that members (and officers) clarify 
the position in each particular case.  

2.3 Under the council’s Constitution, the Leader (or Cabinet if so referred by the Leader) has the 
power to make appointments to outside bodies where they relate to an executive function 
provided there is Group Leader agreement to the appointments. If there is no consensus, then the 
nomination/appointment is referred to Council for approval. 

3. Nomination/appointment of external persons  

3.1 Historically Cheltenham Borough Council has nominated/appointed external persons to some 
outside bodies. On 29th June 2006 Council specifically agreed that ‘All nominees are elected 
Members of Cheltenham Borough Council unless there are exceptional reasons justifying the 
appointment of a non- Member’.  Relevant examples of outside bodies to whom external persons 
have been appointed are; Gloucestershire Airport, Pate’s Grammar School Foundation. The 
reasons for these appointments have been the specialist knowledge skills and experience that 
have been brought to the outside body and/or the lack of Member nomination to that body. 

3.2 External persons are not, of course, subject to the Code of Members’ Conduct nor are they under 
any general obligation to act in the best interests of the Council or the broader public interest. 
Also, they are not covered by the Council's insurance.  Whilst these factors do not prevent the 
nomination of external persons they should be borne in mind when considering whether to make 
such nominations/appointments. 

4. The appointment process for Non-Executive directors of Publica  

4.1 The report to Council in October 2016 made reference to the appointment process. Each member 

Page 28



 

   

$wxd4x3rw Page 5 of 7 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

council would have the right to appoint a suitable non-executive director of the company. This 
right could be exercised individually or collectively by other partner councils i.e two or more 
member councils may agree to the appointment of the same non-executive director. However it 
was agreed that CBC would appoint a single non-executive director on its behalf who was 
expected to be an elected Member of this Council. 

4.2 It should be noted that the other three councils in the 2020 vision partnership, namely Cotswold 
District Council, Forest of Dean District Council and West Oxfordshire District Council will be 
following a different process to Cheltenham. The GOSS HR team are working in partnership with 
an external consultant to support the partnership with the selection and appointment process for 
non-executive directors.   

4.3 Candidates for the roles of non-executive directors referred to in 4.2 would be subject to formal 
terms of appointment and be subject to a rigorous process to ensure that they meet minimum 
levels of skills and experience required to undertake the roles. This due diligence process is to be 
carried out with the support of external consultants. 

4.4 CBC is entitled to appoint who they choose to be their non-Executive Director to Publica but will 
be subject to some basic due diligence checks before the formal appointment can be made.  

4.5 The terms of appointment for the Non-Executive Directors as set out in Appendix 2 was circulated 
to Group Leaders in CBC on 30 January 2017 with a request for nominations by close of play on 
Tuesday 7 February 2017. The short timescales were due to the terms of appointment only being 
made  available at the beginning of February and to allow time for the due diligence checks to be 
carried out.  

4.6 Councillor Wendy Flynn was nominated by the Liberal Democrat Group and Councillor Matt 
Babbage by the Conservative group and the PAB group had no nominations.  As there were two 
nominations for one position after further consultation with the Group Leaders, Councillor Matt 
Babbage decided to withdraw from the process. However he wished it noted that he would be 
interested in the future if the vacancy occurred again.  Councillor Wendy Flynn completed the due 
diligence form which were sent to officers in the 2020 partnership and as at the time of writing this 
report the final checks are still being completed..  

5. Remuneration  

5.1 There is no remuneration for the non-executive Directors on the board. The CBC Member will be 
able to claim travel expenses under the CBC Members’ Allowance Scheme in attending meetings 
of the Board if there is no provision for the payment of these expenses by Publica. Other 
expenses associated with the role such as attending training arranged for board members would 
be the responsibility of Publica.  

6. Reasons for recommendations 

6.1 It is in the interests of the council to ensure representation on the board of Publica.   

7. Alternative options considered 

7.1 It was this Council’s preference that the council’s representative on the Publica board should be 
an elected Member of this Council. 

8. Consultation and feedback 

8.1 Set out in paragraph 4.5  

Page 29



 

   

$wxd4x3rw Page 6 of 7 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Report author Rosalind Reeves, Democratic Services Manager, 01242 774937 
Rosalind.reeves@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. Publica Group – Terms of appointment for non-executive directors. 

Background information 1. Constitution Part 5G 

 

Page 30



 

   

$wxd4x3rw Page 7 of 7 Last updated 21 February 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date raised Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

 If elected members are not 
aware of their roles and 
responsibilities they may 
compromise their position 

PP 1 
February 
2017 

3 2 6 Control Ensure members are 
aware of guidance set 
out in Constitution 
Ensure members 
understand their role on 
the outside body and 
have a copy of relevant 
constitution or terms of 
reference of the body 
concerned 

 Pat 
Pratley 

 

 If NEDs do not understand 
their role on Publica and its 
constitution they may 
compromise their position 
or not carry out their role 
effectively.  

MD of 
Publica 

16 
February 
2017 

3 2 6 Reduce Ensure members 
understand their role as 
non exec director and 
have a copy of relevant 
constitution or terms of 
reference of Publica 

 David 
Neudegg 

 

            

            

            

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

 
 

P
age 31



Page 32



Publica Group – Terms of Appointment for Non-Executive Directors  

 

General Duties of Non-Executive Directors 

 

Role Summary 

 

Non-Executive Directors are chosen because they have a breadth of experience, and have 
particular personal qualities to bring to an organisation.  They may also provide specialist 
knowledge which will help provide the organisation with valuable insights.  Of the utmost 
importance is their independence in the management of the organisation.  This means they 
can bring a degree of objectivity to the Board's deliberations. 
 
The Key Responsibilities of the Non-Executive Directors are as follows: 

 

Strategic Direction – to provide a creative and informed contribution to strategy 
formation, giving a wider view of external factors affecting the Company and its business 
environment, and act as a constructive critic in looking at the objectives and plans devised 
by the Executive Management Team; 
 
Monitoring Performance – to monitor the performance of Executive Management Team 
in terms of the progress made towards achieving the approved Company Business Plan and 
delivery of the services to the Shareholders; 
 
Communication – to maintain good communications with the Shareholders and to help 
connect the business and Board with the broader stakeholder community, including people 
and organisations which can assist the Company in achieving its objectives; 
 
Risk – to ensure that financial controls and systems of risk management are robust and 
defensible; 
 
Audit - to ensure that the Company accounts properly to its Shareholders by presenting a 
true and fair reflection of its actions and financial performance and that the necessary 
internal control systems are put into place and monitored regularly and rigorously.  
 
Role Description 

 

• To take corporate, team and personal responsibility as a Board member.  
 

• To offer constructive criticism and challenge and any other contributions to board 
discussions and decisions which he/she may constructively make to the Executive 
Management Team. 

 

• To contribute positively to the development of the Business Plan and in relation to 
any other material and significant issues facing the Company. 

 

• To set challenging targets aimed at improving performance and delivering excellence, 
and against which the performance of the business can be measured and monitored. 

Page 33



• To communicate effectively with the Shareholders and ensure that their objectives 
are met and provide a wider community perspective on the operating environment 
of the Company through regular communication with other stakeholders. 
 

• To ensure that the Company is operated in a safe, legal, efficient and environmentally 
sustainable manner. 

 

• To participate in appropriate training on Board duties and accountabilities and to 
familiarise themselves with the Company’s operation. 

 

• Ensure that the obligations to members and other stakeholders are understood and 
met. 

 

• Promote equality of opportunity and embrace diversity in the way the organisation 
goes about its work. 

 

• To fulfil a time commitment of approximately 6 - 12 days per year as required and 
maintain a good attendance record at meetings.  

 
Skills and Experience  

 
Whilst Non-Executive Directors are expected to have the following skills and experience, 
some training and development will be made available: 
 

• knowledge and understanding of the current Local Government system in the UK 
and the development and monitoring of organisational or business strategy;  
 

• understanding of the processes of planning, financial control, performance 
management and assurance that deliver the Company’s objectives; 

 

• credibility with internal and external stakeholders; 
 

• the ability to understand complex strategic issues, to analyse and to resolve difficult 
problems; 
 

• able to work as an effective member of the Board, all of whose members are equally 
and jointly responsible for its decisions; 

 

• cognisant of the need for accountability to the Shareholders and able to bring 
engagement with the Shareholders and the broader stakeholder community 

 

Specific Company Law Duties 

 
All directors must act in accordance with their statutory duties under the Companies Act 
2006 (the “Act”).  Directors should be aware of the following duties:  
 
To promote the success of the Company - All directors must act in the way they consider, 
in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit 

Page 34



of its shareholders as a whole.  In doing so, a director must have regard (among other 
matters) to:  

 

• the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;  
 

• the interests of the Company's employees;  
 

• the need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers 
and others;  

 

• the impact of the Company's operations on the community and the environment;  
 

• the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of 
business conduct; and  

 

• the need to act fairly as between the members of the Company.  
 
Reasonable care, skill and diligence - A director has a duty to exercise reasonable care, skill 
and diligence exercised by a reasonably diligent person in similar circumstances with; 
 

• the general knowledge, skill and experience that may reasonably be expected of a 
person carrying out the functions carried out by the director in relation to the 
company (an objective test);  and 
 

• the general knowledge, skill and experience that that director has (a subjective test); 
 

• ability to challenge constructively, and accept challenge where appropriate. 
 

Term of Appointment 

 
It is agreed that the Non-Executive Director will be appointed on the basis of three year 
terms  
 
Finally, it is important to acknowledge that a Non-Executive Director cannot subordinate 
the interests of the Company to those of the member Councils.  
 

Page 35



Page 36



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 1 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Cabinet 7 March 2017 

Council 27 March 2017 

Financing arrangements for improvements to Leisure-at-
Cheltenham 

 

Accountable member Cllr. Flo Clucas; Cabinet Member Healthy Lifestyles 

Accountable officer Richard Gibson, Strategy and Engagement Manager 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key/Significant 
Decision 

Yes 

Executive summary The Cheltenham Trust has asked Cheltenham Borough Council for 
assistance with funding a range of improvements to the facilities within 
Leisure-at-Cheltenham, which is owned by Cheltenham Borough Council 
and currently leased to the Trust on a 15 year term. The proposed 
improvements are as follows: 

• Convert two existing squash courts into new studios to enable an 
increase in the number of class and activity programmes. 

• Upgrade the existing dry-side changing spaces to reflect the quality of 
offer that customers expect and that competes well with the local 
market. 

• The provision of a new sauna and steam room suite adjacent to the new 
changing rooms, strengthening the link with health and fitness and 
replacing the outdated existing health suite facilities. 

• Extend the existing fitness suite on the ground floor into the current 
dance studio enabling an increased capacity to meet demand and 
enable improved functional training space and health support related 
activities. 

• Conversion of the existing health suite into an aquatics play space, 
developing and extending the aquatics opportunities for families with 
young children and also the commercial hires for children’s birthday 
parties 

The improvement scheme will deliver much needed investment into Leisure-
at-Cheltenham to keep it competitive and to enable a growth in income and 
footfall. Although gym equipment was refurbished in 2013, there has been 
no significant investment into the fabric of the building since the post-flood 
refurbishment in 2007.  

The council plans to support this request via a loan of up to £1.5m which will 
be repaid by the Trust at an interest rate of 3% per annum.  

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7
Page 37



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 2 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Recommendations 1 Cabinet approves the proposed improvements to Leisure-at-
Cheltenham as set out in this report and recommends that 
Council;  

2 Subject to the conditions set out in section 6 being met to the 
satisfaction of the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member Finance authorises: 

3 The Authority to offer a loan of up to £1.5million at an interest 
rate of 3% per annum to the Cheltenham Trust for onward 
funding of the improvements to Leisure-at-Cheltenham as 
detailed in Section 3 of this report; 

4 The Authority entering into a loan agreement with The 
Cheltenham Trust for the sum of up to £1.5m at an interest rate 
of 3% per annum for onward funding of the improvements to 
Leisure-at-Cheltenham as detailed in Section 3 of this report. 

 

Financial implications The proposed loan will be a 3% annuity loan for 10 years with twice yearly 
repayment of capital and interest. 
 
The loan will be unsecured because the Trust does not itself own any land 
or buildings. It should be noted that the remaining 8 year period of the 
current management agreement is less than the 10 year period of the 
proposed loan, as detailed in the key risks section below. However, the 
council could, if both parties were willing, extend the management 
agreement to cover the remaining term of the loan. 
 
The business case submitted by the Trust (Appendix 2) has been reviewed 
in terms of the proposed capital costs of the scheme, affordability and 
expected rate of return. This is based on a proposed capital cost of 
£1.43m. However for the basis of this report to Cabinet / Council we have 
based our workings on the maximum loan of £1.5m. 
 
The revenue forecast at 4.3 shows that the proposed improvements will 
generate a cumulative net surplus of £675k at the end of the 10 year loan 
period, with an average return on investment over the 10 year period of 
4.22%. This is slightly below the CBC target of 5% but this can be off-set 
by the social and health benefits of the proposed scheme. 
 
The preliminary costs of £81k will be funded by the Trust from their cash-
flow.  The projected net cash outflows in the first three years of the capital 
scheme, as detailed in paragraph 4.3, will also need to be absorbed within 
the Trust’s revenue budgets. 
 
Contact officer: 
Sarah Didcote 
GO Business Partner Manager (West) 
Sarah.Didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk 
01242 264125 

Page 38



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 3 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Legal implications The Authority has power under Section 19 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to provide the loan to the 
Cheltenham Trust (the Trust). 
 
If approved by full Council, the Authority will be providing a loan at a lower 
interest rate than offered by financial institutions and advice has been 
given to officers about state aid. It is considered that the assistance is not 
state aid because the assistance will not affect trade between member 
states because the activities carried on at Leisure-at-Cheltenham are of a 
local nature. On 19 July 2016 the European Commission published  
“Notice on the notion of State aid as referred to in Article 107(1) of the 
Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union” which stated the 
following; 
 
“The Commission has in a number of decisions considered, in view of the 
specific circumstances of the cases, that the measure had a purely local 
impact and consequently had no effect on trade between Member States. 
In those cases the Commission ascertained in particular that the 
beneficiary supplied goods or services to a limited area within a Member 
State and was unlikely to attract customers from other Member States, 
and that it could not be foreseen that the measure would have more than 
a marginal effect on the conditions of cross- border investments or 
establishment.” The Notice referred to a number of examples which 
included “sports and leisure facilities serving predominantly a local 
audience and unlikely to attract customers or investment from other 
Member States” 
 
The Trust occupy Leisure-at-Cheltenham under a lease granted for a term 
of 15 years which commenced on 1st October 2014. The Lease will 
automatically end before the expiry of the 15 years should the 
management agreement be terminated earlier or is not extended at the 
end of year 10. The Lease requires the prior written consent of the 
Authority as freeholder of the building before any works can be carried 
out. The consent will be documented by both the Authority and the Trust 
entering into a Licence for Alterations.  
 
It is intended that the Trust employs the building contractors, design team 
and other professionals and contractors. The Council will not be party to 
these contracts so in order to protect the Authority’s position as freeholder, 
the Authority will need to be supplied with collateral warranties from each 
professional and contractor in a form approved by the Authority. 
 
The Lease and the Management Agreement contain provisions about the 
ownership and maintenance of equipment. It may be that variations to are 
required depending on the agreement reached regarding the new 
equipment and facilities being provided.  
 
The terms of the loan and repayments will be documented in a loan 
agreement.  
 
Contact officer: 
Donna Ruck, Solicitor, One Legal  
Tel:  01684 272696 
Donna.ruck@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
 

Page 39



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 4 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

No HR implications identified with this report 
 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

Leisure@ Cheltenham is currently leased to the Trust on a 15 year term 
starting on October 2014.  
 
To undertake the Phase 1 there will be a requirement for ‘A Licence for 
Alterations’. This is also subject to the works occurring within the term of 
the lease. There will be two elements to this: 

• Works to the structure and fabric of the building 

• Works that change and alter fixtures and fittings and maintenance 
and repairing liabilities 
 

As part of the licence to alteration, consideration will need to be given to  

• Ownership of the ‘Assets’ (depreciation) 

• How changes effect repair and maintenance responsibilities 

• Exit strategies (for the Council or the Trust) 
 
These elements will require negotiation between the two parties. 
 
In addition, as there are other capital works being undertaken in the next 
year or so (such as replacing the air conditioning units in the gym, the 
installation of a changing places toilet and potential improvement works 
funded by Sport England’s Swim Local programme), consideration should 
be given to coordinating these works as a whole which may help reduce 
the costs of those works and minimise disruption to customers.  
 
Contact officer: 
Abigail Marshall 
Estates Surveyor 
Abigail.Marshall@cheltenham.gov.uk - 01242 775166 

Page 40



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 5 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Key risks As set out above in the financial implications, there are two areas of risk 
for the council: 
 
The Council is proposing to grant a loan to the Trust which will be 
unsecured because the Trust does not itself own any land or buildings. 
This is a risk to the council because in the event of default on the loan, 
there will be no property that CBC can repossess. This is a risk that CBC 
has taken at least once before other external organisations operating from 
within council owned buildings. The Council owes a fiduciary duty to its 
council tax payers to ensure that the business case is sound so that it can 
be sure that the repayments will made.  
 
Secondly, the term of the loan is 10 years, and there is less than 8 years 
of the certain term of the management agreement with the Trust 
remaining. If the Council were not to extend the management agreement 
and as a result if the Trust needed to wind itself up, it must clear all its 
debts. If it cannot repay the remainder of the loan, the council would need 
to seize any assets of value (assuming CBC takes a floating charge over 
its assets under the loan agreement) and potentially write off any 
remaining repayments.  
 
In mitigation against these two risks, as CBC owns the building, the loan 
will be spent on improving its asset and the works may add value to it and 
to CBC’s financial position.  
 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

Successful delivery of the project by the Cheltenham Trust will help the 
council deliver its corporate strategy outcome: 

• People live in strong, safe and healthy communities 
 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

The range of improvements to Leisure-at-Cheltenham will be built in 
accordance with the environmental specifications set out in the latest 
building regulations.   

 

  

Page 41



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 6 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

1. Background 

1.1 The Cheltenham Trust were established as a consequence of a commissioning review into how 
best the Council could continue to support the delivery of its leisure and cultural services, and the 
management of five properties (The Wilson, Town Hall, Pittville Pump Room, Leisure at 
Cheltenham, Prince of Wales Stadium)  whilst delivering best value to the taxpayer.   

1.2 The Trust went live in October 2014 and are in receipt of a declining management fee from the 
Council: 

Year 2014 15 2015 16 2016 17 2017 18 2018 19 Total 

Management Fee £1,666k £968k £764k £648k £641k  

Net reduction £0 -£698 -£204 -£116 -£7 -£1,025 
 

1.3 The Council has encouraged the Trust to develop a vision for the Leisure Centre and Prince of 
Wales stadium.  

1.4 The Trust has subsequently come back with an initial vision. This is: 

To develop a hub within the town that encourages public participation in diverse experiences that 
touch and inspire people be it through sport, culture, play, competition, heritage, learning, health 
and wellbeing.  The ambition is to put Cheltenham at the forefront nationally, creating a unique 
place that contributes to the social, cultural and economic value of the town and enriching the 
lives of residents and visitors.  

1.5 In March 2016 the Cheltenham Trust commissioned an initial feasibility study and developed a 
two-phase approach to creating a hub at Leisure-at-Cheltenham.  The proposals were presented 
to the Council in the autumn of 2016 and the first phase element (described in section 3) was 
endorsed as a robust first step to delivering the broader vision. The second phase included works 
to re-orientate the entrance and reception along with the provision of a large adventure play 
facility and outdoor trampoline park and it was agreed not to progress these at this point.  

1.6 In summary, the phase 1 project is to update and upgrade the wellbeing facilities at the leisure 
centre and develop a new aquatic play space.  It is planned to obtain funding through a loan from 
Cheltenham Borough Council and for the new facilities open to be open to the public for January 
2018.  

2. Current arrangements 

2.1 Leisure-at-Cheltenham is currently leased to the Trust on a 15 year term that started on October 
2014. It hosts over 570,000 visits per year and welcomes visitors from cradle to grave.  
Customers come to the facilities from Cheltenham and surrounding areas and its regional and 
national competition events attract people from all over the UK. 

2.2 Many services are delivered in partnership with 19 other providers across health, education, 
social services and sport.  The proposal aims to ensure that the facilities remain attractive to 
these partners. 

2.3 In terms of its wider operations, the Trust remains very successful at delivering a range of 
outcomes for local residents. Performance is assessed at a quarterly review meeting chaired by 
the Cabinet Member Healthy Lifestyles.  

2.4 To support the council’s understanding of the performance of the Trust, a value for money study 
is to be undertaken this year which will assess the Trust’s contribution to social, cultural and 
economic outcomes against a picture of how much it costs to support the Trust.  

Page 42



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 7 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

3. Details of the proposal 

3.1 The proposed improvements are as follows: 

• Convert two existing squash courts into new studios to enable an increase in the number of class 
and activity programmes. 

• Upgrade the existing dry-side changing spaces to reflect the quality of offer that customers expect 
and that competes well with the local market. 

• The provision of a new sauna and steam room suite adjacent to the new changing rooms, 
strengthening the link with health and fitness and replacing the outdated existing health suite 
facilities. 

• Extend the existing fitness suite on the ground floor into the current dance studio enabling an 
increased capacity to meet demand and enable improved functional training space and health 
support related activities. 

• Conversion of the existing health suite into an aquatics play space, developing and extending the 
aquatics opportunities for families with young children and also the commercial hires for children’s 
birthday parties 

4. Business Plan Assessment 

4.1 The estimated capital costs of the project are shown below: 

Phase 1 

Preliminary costs 81,000 

Build costs 666,000 

Equipment 557,000 

Contingency costs (8.1%) 106,000 

Project Management & Delivery 90,000 

Total 1,500,000 

 

4.2 Based on a 3% loan over the 10 year term of the loan, the total interest payments equate to 
£247,372.  

4.3 The revenue forecast is shown below – assuming a loan at £1.5m: 

 Years 

SUMMARY 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

Income 273 344 389 418 434 429 425 421 417 412 

Expenditure 127 131 135 137 139 139 139 139 139 139 

Lost income  24 40 39 39 40           

Surplus  122 173 215 242 255 290 286 282 277 273 

                      
Loan repayment 174 174 174 174 174 174 174 174 174 174 

                      
Net Surplus -52 -1 41 68 81 116 112 108 103 99 

                      
Cumulative Surplus -52 -53 -12 56 137 253 365 473 576 675 

 

Page 43



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 8 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

4.4 The revenue forecast is based on the following assumptions: 

• Income grows from years 1 to 5 and then shows a marginal decline from years 5 – 10 

• Squash retains 80% of income through fully utilising capacity in the remaining courts 

• Splash pad utilisation rates are based on term time v holiday time attendance levels 

• Attrition rate on membership based on 5% v actual of 4.8% 

• Capital loan repayments shown as full cost in year one 

• Food and beverage spend estimated at 10p per user on new attendances and 50p in café spend 

• Staff costs for new role based on UK Living wage at £8.45 from April 2017 

• Loss of squash income and health suite income are factored into the business plan up to year 5 
 

5. Project governance 

5.1 The project will be co-sponsored project between The Cheltenham Trust and Cheltenham 
Borough Council with oversight being provided by the Joint Commissioning Group. The Joint 
Commissioning Group is the mechanism by which Cheltenham Borough Council and The 
Cheltenham Trust work together using a co-commissioning approach to deliver capital 
development projects relating to CBC owned and TCT managed venues.  

5.2 Current membership of the Group is: 

Jaki Meekings-Davis Trustee, The Cheltenham Trust 
Cllr Flo Clucas Cabinet Member, Cheltenham Borough Council  

Julie Finch  CEO, The Cheltenham Trust 

Riah Pryor  Head of Content & Programmes, The Cheltenham Trust 

Mark Sheldon Director Corporate Resources & Projects, Cheltenham Borough Council   

Richard Gibson Lead Commissioner for the Trust, Cheltenham Borough Council  

Jackie Rigby Programme Manager, Cheltenham Borough Council 

 

5.3 Scrutiny of the project will be via the Cheltenham Trust’s Audit and Governance Committee and 
the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

5.4 Delivery of the project will be through a development partner, which is a tried and tested formula 
model to ensure delivery on time and within budget. The Trust will manage the procurement of the 
development partner which will be achieved through national frameworks to ensure speed and 
compliance with procurement regulations.  

6. Suggested conditions for the offer of a loan 

6.1 If council are minded to offer a loan, it is suggested that it is offered with the following conditions: 

6.2 The maximum loan that will be offered to The Cheltenham Trust will be £1.5m at an interest rate 
of 3% per annum.  

6.3 The offer of the loan will remain open for 12 months from the date of the Council meeting. 

6.4 The offer of the loan is only to be used in connection with the proposed improvement scheme as 
detailed in section 3.  

6.5 The Trust will bring forward detailed costings for the improvement scheme and this work will be 
funded in the first instance by their own cash-flow though will be later refunded from the loan. 

6.6 The Trust will agree to enter into a licence for alterations and associated collateral warranties as 
detailed in the property and legal implications.  

6.7 Subject to the detailed costings for the scheme not being greater than £1.5m, the loan will then be 

Page 44



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 9 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

agreed by the s.151 officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance. 

 

7. Reasons for recommendations 

7.1 The proposed loan of £1.5m to fund the proposed improvement scheme is being recommended 
for the following reasons: 

• The loan will be repaid by the Trust in full over a 10 year period. 

• It will enable much needed investment into leisure-at-Cheltenham, which is owned by the council 
and leased to the Trust. This will ensure the building remains an attractive leisure destination for 
local residents within a competitive market.   

• The investment will increase footfall and therefore income for the Trust.  

• The improvement scheme will have direct benefits for local residents increasing their health and 
wellbeing 

• The improvement scheme will support the work of 19 partners who deliver health and wellbeing 
related activities at leisure-at. 

8. Alternative options considered 

8.1 The Council and the Trust have explored two other options:  

8.2 DO NOTHING: Continue to maintain the existing facility to ensure it is fit for purpose within 
resources, in the knowledge that Leisure – at will not be able to meet the demand for business 
and customer expectations, with reducing appeal and subsequent declining retention and 
reputation with increased wear and tear on kit and facilities.  There will be a negative impact upon 
economic viability of the business and the Trust. This option has therefore been dismissed.  

8.3 COMMERCIAL FUNDING: The Cheltenham Trust could fully fund the capital investment 
programme without contribution by CBC through seeking a commercial loan. Although on the face 
of it, this would minimise the risk to the Council in that the Trust business activities would fund the 
repayments, the Council would need to act as a guarantor for the loan. That would mean 
assigning an equivalent sum in our reserves to fund this in case the Trust failed. In addition, the 
cost of the loan would have been higher at an estimated 5%. On advice from the s.151 officer, 
this option has been dismissed.  

9. Consultation and feedback 

9.1 It is suggested that, prior to the loan being finally agreed by the s.151 officer and the Cabinet 
Member Finance, the works should be discussed by the Asset Management Working Group. 

10. Performance management – monitoring and review 

10.1 If a loan is entered into, this will be managed via the agreed terms and conditions as set out in the 
loan agreement.  

 

Page 45



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 10 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Report author Contact officer: 

Richard Gibson 
Strategy and Engagement Manager 
Richard.gibson@cheltenham.gov.uk 
01242 235 354 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. Business Plan 

3. Project Assessment Tool  

Background information  

 

Page 46



 

   

$gudvis50 Page 11 of 11 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date 
raised 

Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

 If the Trust defaults on the loan, 
there will be no property that CBC 
can repossess. Therefore the 
Council owes a fiduciary duty to its 
council tax payers to ensure that the 
business case is sound.  
 

s.151 
officer 

20.2.17 3 2 6 Accept Ensure that the business case 
is sound so that it can be sure 
that the repayments will made. 
 
 

Feb 2017 Sarah 
Didcote 

 

 As the term of the loan is 10 years, 
and there is less than 8 years of the 
certain term of the management 
agreement with the Trust remaining, 
if the Council were not to extend the 
management agreement and as a 
result if the Trust needed to wind 
itself up the loan repayment 
agreement would not be fulfilled.  

s.151 
officer 

20.2.17 4 2 8 Reduce The council would need to be 
in a position to seize any 
assets of value. This therefore 
suggests that CBC should take 
a floating charge over its 
assets under the loan 
agreement 

Sept 
2017 

Donna 
Ruck 

 

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

 
 

P
age 47



Page 48



 

 

Phase 1 development of leisure-at-cheltenham 

 

Stephen Petherick, January 2017 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The Proposal 

Sport England recommends 150 minutes of activity per week as an absolute base line.  

Leisure at can become a venue where it becomes easier to take part in ‘activity’ of many 

kinds.  This will be a place where the dwell time is increased by the very fact that the choices 

for families, friends and communities enable multiple opportunities to get active, socialise, 

participate and compete.  This will be a place that will enable everyone to ‘find their thing’, 

to take part and love life.  This development proposes to make the following changes to the 

facilities within leisure-at-Cheltenham: 

 

• Convert 2 existing squash courts into two new studios enabling development of class 

and activity programmes. 

• Upgrade the existing dry side changing spaces to reflect a quality of offer that customers 

expect and that competes well with the local market 

• Provision of new sauna and steam room suite adjacent to the new changing rooms, 

strengthening the link with health & fitness and replacing the out dated existing health 

suite facilities. 

• Extend the existing fitness suite on the ground floor into the current dance studio 

enabling increased capacity to meet demand and enable improved functional training 

space and health support related activities. 

• Conversion of the existing health suite into an aquatics play space, developing and 

extending the aquatics opportunities for families with young children and also the 

commercial hires for children’s birthday parties 

• Opportunities for new employment, job creation, learning and volunteering. 

 

Together, this will enable growth in income and footfall, delivering an increased surplus to 

meet the charitable objectives of the Cheltenham Trust and social objectives of the Council. 

 

 

Appendix 2 Page 49



 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 

 

 

 

Page 51



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



1.3 Context 

The Cheltenham Trust made a bid to Cheltenham Borough Council for North Place Funding 

in December 2014 to develop the concept of a Sport and Play Hub, these proposals were 

not supported in that round of funding and the Council asked the Trust to look at 

commercial options for funding. The Council confirmed that it wished to work with The 

Cheltenham Trust to develop a broader vision for the leisure centre and stadium as well as 

the redevelopment of the Town Hall. 

The broad vision is to develop of a hub within the town that encourages public participation 

in diverse experiences that touch and inspire people be it through Sport, Culture, Play, 

Competition, Heritage, Learning, Health and Wellbeing.  The ambition to put Cheltenham at 

the forefront nationally, creating a unique place that contributes to the Social, Cultural and 

Economic value of the town and enriching the lives of residents and visitors.  

In March 2016 the Cheltenham Trust commissioned an initial feasibility study and developed 

a proposal to create a Hub at Tommy Taylors Lane for Sport, Wellbeing and Culture.  The 

initial proposals were presented to the Council in the autumn of 2016 and the phase 1 

element being suggested as a first step. 

The phase 1 project is to update and upgrade the wellbeing facilities at the leisure centre 

and develop a new aquatic play space.  It is planned to obtain funding through loan from 

CBC and the new facilities open to the Public for January 2018.  

1.4 Financial context 

In common with many other Charities the Trust faces significant financial challenges.  To 

have a positive impact on the people who live, work, visit and study in Cheltenham, the 

Trust must remain sustainable.   

 

The Trust will meet these challenges through developing its content and product mix, capital 

investments, growth in commercial business, efficiency and active fundraising.  As an 

example Table 1 below shows the reduction in Council funding years 1 to 5. 

 

Year 2014 15 2015 16 2016 17 2017 18 2018 19 

Management Fee 1672 974 770 654 647 

Net reduction 0 -698 -204 -116 -7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



1.5 Audience 

 

Attracting over 570,000 visits per year Leisure-at-Cheltenham welcomes a wide range of 

people.  Its services support people from the unborn child through to those nearing the end 

of life.  Customers come to the facilities from Cheltenham and its surrounds and its regional 

and national competition events attract people from all over the UK and internationally. 

 

Many services are delivered in partnership with other providers across Health, Education, 

Social Services and Sport; this with the facilities available, ensure that the places are 

accessible and services targeted around need.  The proposal aims to ensure that the 

facilities attract more people more often – with quality, value and opportunity being the 

main drivers of growth.  Table 2 provides examples of the key partners and groups. 

Partner Activity Social Wellbeing Learning 

University of 

Gloucestershire 

1. Teacher Training (PE) 

2. Universal Sport  

3. Sport (Talent) 

4. Sport (Professional) 

5. Placements 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

Glos College 1. Universal Sport 

2. Placements 

X X X 

X 

Primary Schools (36 slots) Key Stage 2 Swimming X X X 

CCG  Exercise on referral X X X 

NHS (Chelt Gen & St Pauls) Physiotherapy X X X 

NHS (Chelt Gen) Cardiac Rehab & Respiratory Failure X X X 

NHS (2gether Trust) 1. Swimming 

2. Trampolining 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

GRFC Wheel Chair Rugby Disability Sport X X X 

Chelt & District SAD Disability Sports X X X 

CSWPC Water Polo, Swimming & Synchro Coaching X X X 

Harriers 1. Athletics Coaching 

2. Athletics Competition 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

CBC Concessions Disabled, 60+, Unemployed, Students, Low 

Income, Free Swims for U16 

X X X 

Netball Leagues / Clubs Netball X X X 

Soccer Leagues / Clubs Soccer X X X 

Skaters Fun Club Roller skating X X X 

Roller Torrent Roller Derby X X X 

St Vincents & St Georges  Leisure activities access X X X 

The Key Disability Access to sport X X X 

Gloucestershire CCC 1. Cricket Coaching 

2. Cricket Youth Team Practice 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

Badminton England 1. Coaching 

2. Social schemes  

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

 

 

 

Page 54



1.6 Civic role of leisure at cheltenham 

Leisure-at-Cheltenham plays a crucial civic role within the life of the town Table 3 below 

highlights some key aspects of this. 

Civic Function Activity Social Health & 

Wellbeing 

Learning / Culture 

Democracy Election Count centre for 

Local, National & EU 

elections 

X  X 

Civil Emergency Rest centre for local 

communities in the event 

of emergency 

X X  

Community A place to meet that is 

accessible and open to all 

X X X 

Community A place that offers safe 

and secure access to 

public services and 

information 

X X X 

 

1.7 The role of leisure at cheltenham in relation to disabilities & health 

 

Long standing and new activities are delivered directly or with partners to help improve the 

quality of life of local people.  Table 4 below outlines some of the core activities and their 

impact.   

Health Partner Activity Physical  Mental  Emotional  

Clinical Commissioning 

Group 

Reactive Exercise on prescription & 

concession scheme 

x x x 

NHS CGH Back 2 Fitness x x x 

NHS CGH ACL x x x 

NHS CGH Respiratory Failure x x x 

NHS 2gether Trampolining x x x 

NHS 2gether Swimming x x x 

St Georges & St Vincent’s Activities x x x 

NHS CGH LEAP x x x 

Social The Key x x x 

CSAD Sport & Swim x x x 

GRFC Wheelchair Rugby x x x 

Special Olympics Host / Partner x x x 

Milsom Street Centre  Sexual Health x x x 

Dept of Health PIP Assessment x   

Eddystone Trust Sexual Health HIV/ Hep C x x x 

Winston’s Wish Bereavement/Meeting place drop in x x x 

GFA (WFA) & Active Glos Powerchair Football x x x 

 

Page 55



2 Business Plan 

 

2.1 Capital Cost and repayment 

 

The capital costs of the project are shown in Table 5 

Phase 1 

Build and preliminary costs 747,000 

Equipment & contingency costs  602,000 

Project Management & Delivery 90,000 

Total 1,439,000 

 

The repayments based on the 3% Public Works Loan Board loan over the term of the loan 

the total interest payments on the initial loan equate to £237k. 

 

2.2 Revenue Forecast 

 

Table 6 provides a summary of the revenue split growth in income over ten years.  Table 7 

shows the revenue position over the duration of the loan.  Trading enters surplus in year 2 

and over the term provides a net cumulative benefit of £739k, a return on investment of 

51% over 10 years.  An updated cash flow can be seen in Appendix 1. Key assumptions: 

Description Budget Additional Income 

Income  EXISTING 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

Health & Fitness (membership) 726 79 145 184 209 218 

   

216  

   

214  

   

212  

   

209  

   

207  

Health & Fitness Casual 143 15 15 16 16 17 

     

17  

     

17  

     

16  

     

16  

     

16  

Splashpad 0 155 158 161 165 168 

   

166  

   

165  

   

163  

   

161  

   

160  

Secondary Spend (Retail, F&B) 202 23 26 28 29 30 

     

30  

     

29  

     

29  

     

29  

     

29  

Total Income Growth 1,071 272 344 389 419 433 429 424 420 416 412 

 

• Income grows from  years 1 to 5 and then shows a marginal decline from year 5 – 10 

• Squash retains 80% of income through fully utilising capacity in the remaining  courts 

• Splash pad utilisation rates are based on term time v holiday time attendance levels 

• Attrition rate on membership based on 5% v actual of 4.8% 

• Capital Loan repayments shown as full cost in year 1 

• F&B spend estimated at 10p per user on new attendances and 50p in café spend 

• Staff costs for new role based on UK Living wage at 8.45 from April 2017 

• Loss of squash income and health suite income are factored into the business plan 

 

Page 56



SUMMARY 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

Income 273 344 389 418 434 429 425 421 417 412 

Expenditure 127 131 135 137 139 139 139 139 139 139 

Surplus (including lost income) 122 173 215 242 255 290 286 282 277 273 

Capital Payment 125 129 133 137 143 147 149 154 159 163 

Interest Payment 42 38 34 30 26 22 17 13 8 3 

Net Operating Surplus -   45 6 47 74 85 120 118 114 110 106 

Cumulative Net Surplus -   45 -   38 9 83 169 290 408 523 633 739 

 

2.3 Governance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Manag 

 

 

2.4 Project Management (Procurement, Delivery, Timeframe & Contract Structure) 

 

2.4.1 Procurement of the Development Partner (DP) through National Frameworks will 

ensure speed and compliance with procurement regulations. For example 

a)  Minor Works Framework SCAPE  

http://www.scapegroup.co.uk/services/procure/frameworks/minor-works  

b) Development Partner Leisure Facilities Framework  

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=JAN11773

1  

2.4.2 Delivery of the project would be through a Development Partner Model, this ensures 

delivery on time, within budget and utilises a nationally tried and tested formula. 

2.4.3 The Development Partner must deliver within the agreed budget and timeframes.   

2.4.4 The Development Partner reports to the Joint Project Board on progress against the 

project deliverables. 

2.4.5 Project would include the 5 stages of Gateway review: 

Sponsoring Groups: 

 

TCT Board of Trustees  Council 

Capital Dev  Commitee               Cabinet & Cabinet Member 

Finance Committee  Working Groups 

TCT Executive   SLT   

CBC Executive Team 

Project Sponsors  

TCT Julie Finch 

CBC Mark Sheldon  

Project Scrutiny  

TCT Audit &    CBC Overview &  

Governance Committee Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Joint Project Board  

TCT Representatives 

CBC Representatives 

Development Partner 

Evaluation Panel  

TCT Representatives 

CBC Representatives 

 

Page 57



• Brief developed in line with business needs – completed (INCEPTION) 

• Solution matched to best business outcomes - Feasibility Report and confirm 

affordability programme (completed) – Sign off PID (including business case) CBC/TCT 

(out-standing) (FEASIBILITY) 

• Social Value & Local spend agreed – appoint design team, mitigate risks and maximise 

opportunities – project costs agreed on order (PRE-CONSTRUCTION) develop design 

• Best VFM solution – contract information agreed and costs 100% market tested – cost 

agreed on project order (PRE-CONSTRUCTION) detailed design 

• Quality build delivered on time and in budget with performance measurement at all 

stages – contract sum (CONSTRUCTION).  

• Occupy new facilities, client value report & post project review, final accounts (IN USE) 

 

 

2.4.6 Joint Project Board  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In summary we already have the feasibility, the business case and governance model, 

approach (joint board) model require sign off once agreement between the Cheltenham 

trust and council is in place.  

 

 

 

 

 

The Cheltenham Trust 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Joint Board 

Project Delivery  

Development Partner 

Appoints and delivers with 

specialist suppliers/services 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

(provides PWLB loan) 

Page 58



 The estimated timeframe of the project is evidenced in table 7 below 

 

  Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Jan 

  16 16 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 18 

Phase 1 Business Case                         

Phase 1 PID                         

TCT Exec Sign Off                         

TCT Sign Off of Phase 1                         

CBC S151 Officer Sign Off                         

CBC Exec Board Sign Off                         

CBC Cabinet Sign Off                         

CBC Council Sign Off                         

TCT Budget Sign Off                         

CBC Budget Sign Off                         

Loan Approval                         

Procure & Appt Dev Partner                         

Agree Project Cost & timeframe                         

Project Initiation                         

Consultation & Pre Planning                         

Planning                         

Build (20 weeks) Open 01/18                         

Convert Squash Courts                         

Convert Changing Rooms                         

Convert Fitness Suite                          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



3 Consultation 

 

An analysis and engagement plan template is a sensible way to reflect this.  Consideration 

must be given to keeping stakeholders aware of changes to project costs, timescales, 

quality, scope, risk profile and benefits.  The table below indicates the stakeholders and 

level of interest in the project.   

 Stakeholder Group 
What is their 

Role? 

What is their 

level of interest 

(high/med/low) 

and influence 

(high/med/low) 

in the project? 

What are the Key 

Messages we 

wish to send 

Ongoing and 

Future Activity 

Board of TCT 

Trustees and CBC 

Cabinet 

Owners of the 

project  

High interest 

High Influence 

Project on time, 

budget 

Monitoring and 

evaluation 

Audit & Governance 

Ctte 

Assurance High Interest  

High Influence 

Project is being 

delivered within 

plan 

Scrutiny of 

project and its 

deliverables 

TCT Exec Project driver High Interest 

High influence 

As above As above 

CBC Cabinet 

Member, Cabinet 

and SLT 

Landlord, 

funding 

provider & 

client 

monitoring of 

the 

management 

agreement 

High Interest  

High Influence  

As above As above 

Customers / 

Customer Groups 

Principle users 

of the facilities 

High Interest  

High Influence  

Improvement of 

services  & 

facilities, 

expansion of the 

offer and 

increased 

inclusivity, 

accessibility 

Consultation 

Health & Fitness 

Members 

Users of 

facilities and 

services 

High Interest  

High Influence 

Improvement, 

extension and 

broadening of the 

offer, increased 

quality and value 

Consultation 

Sport England Overarching 

NGB for sport 

High Interest  

High Influence  

Alignment of 

project to national 

values and 

objectives around 

Consultation and 

possible funding / 

grants 

Page 60



 Stakeholder Group 
What is their 

Role? 

What is their 

level of interest 

(high/med/low) 

and influence 

(high/med/low) 

in the project? 

What are the Key 

Messages we 

wish to send 

Ongoing and 

Future Activity 

physical activity & 

engagement 

UK Active Health & 

Fitness 

National Body 

Medium Interest 

Medium 

Influence  

As above linked 

into Sport England 

and Dept. of 

Health 

Consultation 

ASA Nat Governing 

Body 

Swimming 

Medium Interest  

Medium 

Influence 

Improved services 

and accessibility 

to broaden 

engagement in 

aquatics 

Consultation and 

possible funding 

Tenants SME’s based 

within leisure 

centre 

High Interest   

Medium 

Influence  

Possible impact 

upon their 

business 

Consultation  

Active 

Gloucestershire 

Customer and 

Partner 

High Interest  

Medium 

Influence 

Project will 

contribute to 

Active 

Gloucestershire 

and The 

Cheltenham Trust 

objectives around 

engagement and 

growing 

participation 

especially 

amongst target 

groups 

Consultation 

Police Advice on 

security 

Low Interest 

Medium to High 

Influence 

Consideration 

given to deliver 

improvement 

Consultation 

 

4 Risk 

 

The management of Risk is a key element of the development and a summary of risks 

associated with the project can be found in Appendix 2. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



5 Recommendation 

To proceed with the project in light of the following factors: 

• Time - The project build time of 20 weeks in combination with the methodology of 

development partner will reduce risks and ensure that the project is delivered on time 

and within budget. 

• Social Impact – The projects improvements will enable more people to be active more 

often.   

• Equalities – The project through design will improve accessibility to people with 

disabilities, target groups around Health, Older people, Families and Older people, 

Young people. 

• Partnerships – Ability to increase the work with partners around health & education 

• Learning – The project will provide new opportunities for informal learning and play 

• Opportunity - Opening of new facilities coincides with peak season in the marketplace - 

if the project commences in Sept 2017. 

• Affordability - The term of the loan repayment at 10 years ensures the project 

completed within the existing lease agreement between the Council and The 

Cheltenham Trust. 

• Financial opportunity - The growth in revenue, opportunity for engagement and 

employment with a prudent budget delivers a net return on investment of 57% with 

interest at 2% dropping to a return of 49% if interest is charged at 3.5%.  

• Financial sustainability - Increased net surplus provides additional and critical income for 

the Trust to meet its charitable objectives, business plan and need to ensure a 

sustainable future. 

Stephen Petherick 

Cheltenham Trust 

Page 62



 

 
Page 4 

 
Name of proposal Version and date last 

assessed 
Lead Officer 

Improvements to Leisure-at-
Cheltenham 

v.1.1 Richard Gibson 

Brief description of project for use in public documents 

The proposed improvements are as follows: 

• Convert two existing squash courts into new studios so enabling an increase in the number of class 
and activity programmes. 

• Upgrade the existing dry-side changing spaces to reflect a quality of offer that customers expect and 
that competes well with the local market. 

• The provision of a new sauna and steam room suite adjacent to the new changing rooms, 
strengthening the link with health and fitness and replacing the outdated existing health suite 
facilities. 

• Extend the existing fitness suite on the ground floor into the current dance studio enabling increased 
capacity to meet demand and enable improved functional training space and health support related 
activities. 

• Conversion of the existing health suite into an aquatics play space, developing and extending the 
aquatics opportunities for families with young children and also the commercial hires for children’s 
birthday parties 

The improvement scheme will deliver much needed investment into Leisure-at-Cheltenham to keep it 
competitive and to enable a growth in income and footfall. Although gym equipment was refurbished in 
2013, there has been no significant investment into the fabric of the building since the post-flood 
refurbishment in 2007.  

The management arrangement between the Trust and the Council provide for a year on year reduction 
in funding by the Council.  This project will help to strengthen the financial viability and performance of 
Leisure-at Cheltenham creating a surplus for reinvestment and development by the Trust.   

The council plans to support this request via a loan of £1.5m which will be repaid by the Trust at an 
interest rate of 3% per annum. 

 
  

Cheltenham Borough Council – Project Assessment Tool 
Section 1:  Business case for capital projects 

Appendix 3 Page 63



 

 
Page 4 

 

What is the Timescale of this project (critical milestones)? 

The estimated timeframe of the project is evidenced in table 7 below 

 

  Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Jan 

  16 16 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 18 

Phase 1 Business Case                         

Phase 1 PID                         

TCT Exec Sign Off                         

TCT Sign Off of Phase 1                         

CBC S151 Officer Sign Off                         

CBC Exec Board Sign Off                         

CBC Cabinet Sign Off                         

CBC Council Sign Off                         

TCT Budget Sign Off                         

CBC Budget Sign Off                         

Loan Approval                         

Procure & Appt Dev Partner                         

Agree Project Cost & timeframe                         

Project Initiation                         

Consultation & Pre Planning                         

Planning                         

Build (20 weeks) Open 01/18                         

Convert Squash Courts                         

Convert Changing Rooms                         

Convert Fitness Suite                          
 

 

What are the alternatives options to delivering the project (include doing nothing) 

DO NOTHING: Continue to maintain the existing facility to ensure it is fit for purpose within resources, in 
the knowledge that Leisure – at will not be able to meet the demand for business and customer 
expectations, with reducing appeal and subsequent declining retention and reputation with increased 
wear and tear on kit and facilities.  Negative impact upon economic viability of the business and the 
Trust. This option has therefore been dismissed.  
 
COMMERCIAL FUNDING: The Cheltenham Trust fully fund capital investment programme without 
contribution by CBC through seeking a commercial loan. Although on the face of it, this would minimise 
the risk to the Council in that the Trust business activities would fund the repayments, the Council would 
need to act as a guarantor for the loan. That would mean assigning an equivalent sum in our reserves to 
fund this in case the Trust failed. In addition, the cost of the loan would have been higher at an 
estimated 5%. On advice from the s.151 officer, this option has been dismissed.  
 
CBC FACILITATED LOAN: The council secures funding for the investment on the Trust behalf.  This will 
be a rate of 3%. The loan repayments will be met through growth in Trust business.  The relationship 
between Trust / Council will require clarification and ongoing issues of security of tenure, asset 
ownership.  Officers and members have expressed a preference for this model and a joint approach to 
delivering the project. 
 

What will be the impact of the project on other parts of the CBC; property services, legal, procurement, 
finance etc? 

It is proposed to utilise a development partner, a well tried and established route that at cost removes 
any direct pressure on capacities within the Trust.  This can be secured through existing national 
frameworks.  The development partner owns and covers the risk of delay and cost of exceeding agreed 

Page 64



 

 
Page 4 

project costs. 
 
The development would be overseen by a joint Trust CBC project board.  The project management of 
the delivery would be through a Development partner who would be contracted to deliver on time and 
within budget a turn-key solution.  This is a well-used process with robust evidence of delivery to 
support the approach.  
 
 
Will the proposal involve any longer term commitments from the council particularly in terms of long-
term financial and staffing commitments? 

Yes, the project involves a 10 year loan to the Trust which will be re-paid at an interest rate of 3%. 
 
The asset will remains in control of the Council and the Council would benefit ultimately in the 
improvement of its buildings. 
 
Staffing costs for operating the facility will sit with The Cheltenham Trust and have been built into future 
calculations 
 
There are no long term revenue commitments for the council although replacement of equipment will 
continue to be planned at 5 year intervals. Though the new equipment will come with 5 year parts and 
labour service agreement. 
 
 
How will the views, opinions and concerns of the community and partners be considered in planning the 
proposal? 

Customer comment, stakeholder engagement and operational concerns have in part motivated this 
project. Further consultation will be included within the delivery of the project. The project will 
contribute significantly to improved service delivery and meeting customer needs, as well as ensuring 
the offer at Leisure-at remains fresh and at the top end of Cheltenham’s competitive leisure market.  
 
Consultation is planned as part of planning processes to assure any concerns with regard to the built and 
heritage environment and security. 
 
Further to this, the Stakeholder Event on 24th November 2014 held by TCT highlighted the need to be 
competitive in growing market place; the provision of improved facilities also supports use of those 
individuals from deprived areas or targeted communities eg special needs. 
 

 

 

Page 65



 

 
Page 4 

 

 
These figures are drafted as viewed from the Trust 
Preliminary costs 

Architect fees £30,188 

Mechanical and electrical advice £17,250 

WFC Construction £11,500 

Local Authority Fees (Building 

Control, signage etc) 
£  4,025 

Structural Engineer Fees £  9,775 

Hippo £  3,500 

ALS / SPC £  5,000 

Total £81,238 

 
Capital costs 

Preliminary costs 81000.00 

Squash courts to Studio's  135000 

Extend gym 63000 

Refurb dry change & sauna / steam 129000 

First Floor corridors 16000 

Health suite to splash pad 63000 

M&E 243000 

build prelims 17000 

Build Total 666000 

Fitness Equipment 216000 

Splash Pad Equipment costs 341000 

equipment total 557000 

Project Management & Delivery 90000 

Contingency costs 106000 

Total 1500000.00 

Cheltenham Borough Council - Project Assessment Tool 
Section 2:  Financial details of proposal (at current pay and price levels) 
 

P
age 66



 

 
Page 4 

 
Loan Repayments and return on investment calculation: 
 

Principal £1,500,000         

Rate 3.00% Fixed   

Years 10   

Half years 20   

semi-annual   

annuity payment £87,368.60   
Annual 

repayment  £174,737.21   

Due Date 
Opening 
balance 

annuity 

payment interest paid principal repaid closing balance 

  

 

£1,500,000 

1 £1,500,000.00 £87,368.60 £22,500.00 £64,868.60 £1,435,131.40 

2 £1,435,131.40 £87,368.60 £21,526.97 £65,841.63 £1,369,289.76 

3 £1,369,289.76 £87,368.60 £20,539.35 £66,829.26 £1,302,460.51 

4 £1,302,460.51 £87,368.60 £19,536.91 £67,831.70 £1,234,628.81 

5 £1,234,628.81 £87,368.60 £18,519.43 £68,849.17 £1,165,779.64 

6 £1,165,779.64 £87,368.60 £17,486.69 £69,881.91 £1,095,897.73 

7 £1,095,897.73 £87,368.60 £16,438.47 £70,930.14 £1,024,967.59 

8 £1,024,967.59 £87,368.60 £15,374.51 £71,994.09 £952,973.50 

9 £952,973.50 £87,368.60 £14,294.60 £73,074.00 £879,899.50 

10 £879,899.50 £87,368.60 £13,198.49 £74,170.11 £805,729.39 

11 £805,729.39 £87,368.60 £12,085.94 £75,282.66 £730,446.73 

12 £730,446.73 £87,368.60 £10,956.70 £76,411.90 £654,034.82 

13 £654,034.82 £87,368.60 £9,810.52 £77,558.08 £576,476.74 

14 £576,476.74 £87,368.60 £8,647.15 £78,721.45 £497,755.29 

15 £497,755.29 £87,368.60 £7,466.33 £79,902.27 £417,853.01 

16 £417,853.01 £87,368.60 £6,267.80 £81,100.81 £336,752.21 

17 £336,752.21 £87,368.60 £5,051.28 £82,317.32 £254,434.88 

18 £254,434.88 £87,368.60 £3,816.52 £83,552.08 £170,882.80 

19 £170,882.80 £87,368.60 £2,563.24 £84,805.36 £86,077.44 

20 £86,077.44 £87,368.60 £1,291.16 £86,077.44 £0.00 

  £1,747,372.08 £247,372.08 £1,500,000.00   

            

 
loan £1,500,000.00 

interest £247,372.00 

Total 1,747,372 

Cumulative surplus  739,000 

RO1 -10 years 42.20% 

ROI per annum 4.22% 

P
age 67



 

 
Page 4 

 
These figures are drafted as viewed from CBC          

CAPITAL COSTS PROFILE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Buildings 666,000     666,000 

Infrastructure e.g. parks and gardens, landscaping       

Vehicles, plant or equipment 557,000     557,000 

Project Management 90000     90000 

Contingency 106,000     106,000 

Prelim costs 81,000     81,000 

Total capital cost of project 1,500,000     1,500,000 

       

CAPITAL FUNDING PROFILE (please state if confirmed) 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Loan to The Cheltenham Trust 1,500,000     1,500,000 

Total capital funding of project 1,500,000     1,500,000 

Net capital cost to CBC 1,500,000     1,500,000 

       

ADDITIONAL REVENUE COSTS PROFILE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Direct staffing / Additional support services staffing       

Maintenance       

Heating/lighting/NNDR etc.       

Other       

Total additional revenue cost of project 0     0 

       

INCOME / SAVINGS / MATCH FUNDING PROFILE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Loan repayment £174,737 £174,737 £174,737 £174,737 £174,737 873,685 

Cashable savings       

Non-cashable savings       

       

NET CONTRIBUTION TO BRIDGING THE GAP 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Please profile the net contribution to the bridging the gap programme   25,000    

       

 

Cheltenham Borough Council - Project Assessment Tool 
Section 2:  Financial details of proposal (at current pay and price levels) 

P
age 68



 

 
Page 4 

 

What contribution will the 

project make: 

 

assessment Please describe how the project will 

contribute to the delivery of the council’s 

strategic objectives and outcomes and what 

the constraints are to delivering these 

outcomes 

s
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

m
o

d
e

ra
te

 

w
e

a
k

 

n
o

n
e

 

u
n

d
e

rm
in

e
s
 

Cheltenham's environmental quality and heritage is protected, maintained and enhanced 

Green space improvements / 

maintenance and enforcement 

   X  None anticipated  

Public realm improvements / 

maintenance and enforcement 

   X  None anticipated 

Being environmentally sustainable 

 

 X    The project will introduce new equipment and 

fittings eg lighting air-con etc will be at a 

higher level of carbon efficiency and will 

reduce the carbon footprint of the facilities 

further 

Sustain and grow Cheltenham’s economic and cultural vitality 

Economic growth 

 
 X    Continuing to invest in Cheltenham’s leisure 

offer is important as it strengthens Cheltenham 

as a place where people wish to live, work and 

play. 

Cultural vitality 

 
X     The Trust actively seeks to explore 

opportunities to expose its customers to sport 

arts and culture across all its venues through 

cross fertilisation. 

Improving connectivity 

 
 X    Many services are delivered in partnership with 

19 other providers across Health, Education, 

Social Services and Sport.  The proposal aims 

to ensure that the facilities remain attractive to 

these partners 

People live in strong, safe and healthy communities 

Safety and wellbeing of 

individuals and communities 

 

X     The activities delivered will contribute directly 

to the safety and wellbeing of local residents 

through building communities and social 

cohesion, in particular with some of the target 

populations that use the facilities 

Decent and affordable housing    X  None anticipated 

Strong and healthy communities 

 
X     The activities delivered will contribute directly 

to the strength and health of local residents; 

the scheme will increase access to facilities for 

the public that both improve physical, mental 

and emotional wellbeing 

Our council can continue to facilitate the delivery of our outcomes for both Cheltenham and its 

residents 

Effective use of assets 

 
X     The proposal makes a significant investment 

into leisure-at to keep it competitive and to 

enable a growth in income and footfall. 

Although gym equipment was refurbished in 

2013, there has been no significant investment 

into the fabric of the building since the post-

flood refurbishment in 2007. 

Commissioning      None anticipated 

Organisational development      None anticipated 

Cheltenham Borough Council - Project Assessment Tool 
Section 3:  Assessment against corporate strategy objectives and outcomes 

Page 69



 

 
Page 4 

 

  

 

 

 

See risk assessment in main body of Cabinet report 

Please identify the main risks 

associated with the project (financial, 

health and safety, reputation) 

Impact 

1-5 
Likelihood 

1-5 
Score 

out of 

25 

How would you manage 

the risk 
Risk Manager 

If the Trust defaults on the loan, there will 
be no property that CBC can repossess. 
Therefore the Council owes a fiduciary duty 
to its council tax payers to ensure that the 
business case is sound.  
 

3 2 6 Ensure that the business 
case is sound so that it can 
be sure that the repayments 
will made. 
 
 

Sarah Didcote 

As the term of the loan is 10 years, and 
there is less than 8 years of the certain 
term of the management agreement with 
the Trust remaining, if the Council were not 
to extend the management agreement and 
as a result if the Trust needed to wind itself 
up the loan repayment agreement would 
not be fulfilled.  

4 2 8 The council would need to 
be in a position to seize any 
assets of value. This 
therefore suggests that CBC 
should take a floating 
charge over its assets under 
the loan agreement 

Donna Ruck 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council - Project Assessment Tool 
Section 4:  Risk assessment 

Page 70



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 1 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Cabinet – 7th March, 2017 

Council – 27th March, 2017 

Progress update regarding the new crematorium project including 
business case decisions regarding access road and second 

chapel option 

 

Accountable member Cllr Chris Coleman, Cabinet Member for Clean and Green Environment 

Accountable officer Mike Redman, Director of Environment 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key/Significant 
Decision 

Yes 

Executive summary This report provides an update on the development of Cheltenham’s 
new crematorium as it moves through its design stage. 

It is proposed that a permanent exit route from the new facility is built 
immediately to the south of the cemetery emerging onto Bouncers 
Lane and that this is included within the planning application, which is 
timetabled for submission in April/May. 

It is also proposed that a second new chapel is built as an integral part 
of the development of the facility. 

A further round of public consultation is taking place, including a 
staffed event at the Municipal Offices to which all members have been 
invited. An update on the results of this consultation will be available 
to help inform decision-making on 7th March, with a particular focus 
on the second chapel option, proposed road and construction access 
issues. 

Recommendations Cabinet is recommended to: 

1. Approve the approach to providing public access to and from 
the new crematorium, including the development, subject to 
planning consent, of a new permanent road linking the new 
facility to Bouncer’s Lane (See option ‘Route B’ at Appendix 2); 

2. Approve the appropriation of land on prior’s farm playing field 
from use as open space to cemetery use and delegate authority 
to the Head of Property and Asset Management to carry out the 
appropriation should planning permission for the development 
of the crematorium and access road be granted; 

3. Note that a temporary route for construction traffic leading to 
the new crematorium will be required, with the preferred route 
to be informed by professional advice and the results of public 

Agenda Item 8
Page 71



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 2 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

consultation, provided in a supplementary update; 

4. Approve, subject to Council agreeing the additional project 
budget, the construction of a second chapel in conjunction with 
the new crematorium. 

5. Agrees to programme further work to review the options for 
repurposing the existing chapels and how the associated costs 
can be further mitigated to improve scheme viability. 

Cabinet recommends that Council: 

6. Allocates the budget for the construction of a second new 
chapel, including the use of the capital receipt of £275,000 from 
the sale of the cemetery lodge and £373,000 from the revenue 
budget reserve arising from the introduction of new 
crematorium fees in 2017-18, with the balance of £352,000 being 
supported by prudential borrowing. 

 

Financial implications A range of financial models have been drawn up to compare the financial 
return, the total cost and the impact on the medium term financial strategy 
for the options surrounding the use of the existing chapels and the 
proposed 2nd new chapel. 

The financial implications are detailed throughout this report. In summary, 
the proposed option for the construction of a second chapel, whilst 
temporarily mothballing the existing chapel, pending consideration of its 
future use, will incur capital costs of £1million.  

The proposed funding will be from the use of £275k capital receipts, £373k 
use of reserves and Public Works Loan Board borrowing of £352k.  
Members will need to take account of how these funding arrangements 
represent a loss of opportunity to fund other schemes going forward. 

The business case has been prepared over 25 years, generating an 
internal rate of return of 4.5% and total additional revenue income of 
£2.6m over this period.  However, this assumes an increase in the volume 
of activity from 2027 onwards, as per the expected growth in the local 
population and age profile.  The risk of this growth not being achieved is 
detailed in Section 7 and the Risk Appendix 1 to this report. 

When taking into account the additional costs and savings from this 
proposal, although there is a positive impact on the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy over a 25 year period, there is a deficit impact over the 
first 9 years, totalling £283k, prior to the expected increase in demand in 
year 10 of the business case. However, a small increase in fees from 
2018-19 onwards will offset this shortfall, as shown in Appendix 4. 

Contact officer:  Sarah Didcote,                
sarah.didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264125 

Page 72



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 3 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Legal implications The Authority owns the land upon which it is proposed to build the new 
crematorium and associated car parking. The land on which the 
crematorium will be constructed lies within the administrative area of 
Tewkesbury Borough Council. 
 
By virtue of Sections 214(1) and (3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
Section 4 of the Crematorium Act 1902, the Authority has the power to 
build and operate a crematorium outside of its own administrative area. 
The Authority is complying with its obligations under the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 by accessing a framework to engage with project 
managers, Pick Everard and build contractors Willmott Dixon to work up 
designs for the new crematorium prior to a build contract being entered 
into. 
 
The framework being accessed (the SCAPE framework) expires on 7 May 
2017 and the Authority is able to enter into a build contract with Willmottt 
Dixon up to that date. If this deadline is not achieved, whilst the Authority 
may join the new framework issued by SCAPE, there is no guarantee that 
Willmottt Dixon will be on the new SCAPE framework or that the prices 
fixed by the current framework will remain the same. Therefore, many of 
the costs incurred to date could be abortive costs if the authority has to 
contract with a different contractor either through the new SCAPE 
framework or another procurement route. 
 
The land on which the Authority wishes to construct a permanent access 
to the new crematorium is open space used for the purposes of public 
recreation. The Authority is therefore required to appropriate the land 
under Section 122(1) Local Government Act 1972 to change the use of the 
land from open space to cemetery use. This section requires that the land 
is no longer needed for recreational purposes. Case law has held that this 
does not mean that the land has to have fallen into disuse; the Authority is 
entitled to strike the balance between comparative local interests; between 
the need for one land use over another, taking account of  wider 
community interests. Therefore, when deciding whether or not to 
appropriate the land, Cabinet will need to first consider the interests of the 
users of Priors Farm Playing Field and the current and future users of the 
Crematorium, together with the need for the access to be provided on land 
currently used for public recreation.  
 
S122(2) Local Government Act 1972 required the Authority to cause notice 
of its intention to appropriate the land to be advertised in two consecutive 
weeks in a local newspaper and to consider any objections to the 
proposed appropriation. Notices were placed in the Gloucestershire Echo 
on 12th and 19th January 2017, with a 3 week period within which to make 
objections. No responses were received to these notices. However, 
representations have been received in relation to the outline planning 
application for potential access roads. Whilst these objections are not 
directly related to the issue of appropriation of the public open space, 
Cabinet should take these into account when making its decision about the 
appropriation. The representations are set out in Appendix 5. 
 
 
 

Page 73



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 4 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

  Part of the land at the cemetery, including the North chapel is consecrated 
ground. Advice has been given to officers that should the intention be to 
use this land for secular use, it needs to be either deconsecrated or 
consent obtained for the proposed use. Further enquiries regarding this 
issue will need to be made with the Bishop of Gloucester. 
 

When considering potential uses for the existing chapels, the Authority will 
need to comply with and have regard to the provisions of the Local 
Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977. Advice has been given to officers 
about the provisions of the Order. 

Contact officer:  Donna Ruck, donna.ruck@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 
272696 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

There are no immediate HR implications arising from the content of this 
report however, should the decision to construct a second chapel proceed 
then a review of operational staffing levels will be required once the 
building is completed.   

Contact officer:  Julie McCarthy,   
julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264355 

Key risks Business case assumptions are set out at section 7 and key risks are set 
out at Appendix 1. 

The project to deliver a new crematorium is primarily driven by the need to 
replace the existing two cremators, which have a limited lifespan and are 
currently giving rise to significant maintenance and business continuity 
concerns. 

The development project has a detailed risk register which currently 
contains 34 risks and mitigating actions, which are subject to regular 
review. There is a further risk register relating to the safety and business 
continuity of the existing crematorium, which also helps evidence the need 
for a new facility. 

The new build crematorium is viewed as the primary means by which the 
Council will stabilise and improve upon its current bereavement services 
offer, providing a more financially sustainable commercial operation which 
better aligns to the needs of our customers.  

A second new chapel would provide customers with the same advantages 
as those for the new main chapel, but it would add cost that is unlikely to 
significantly increase income. There is also a risk that the existing chapels 
could remain vacant for some time, whilst proposals for repurposing them 
are refined. The effect of this risks putting additional financial pressure on 
the medium term financial strategy (MTFS). 

 

Page 74



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 5 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

The new crematorium will help to underpin the continuation of the 
Council’s bereavement service and contribute to the following high level 
objectives:- 

• Cheltenham's environmental quality and heritage is protected, 
maintained and enhanced.  

• Transform our Council so it can continue to enable delivery of our 
outcomes for Cheltenham and its residents.  

Whilst the provision of a cremation service is discretionary, there is 
insufficient capacity within the catchment area of our current facility to 
cater for demand were it to close.  

The Council has run this service successfully for very many years and our 
experience and level of customer satisfaction is such that there is 
considerable community support for the authority continuing to do so. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

The Council currently pays around £53k per annum into a national scheme 
called CAMEO which helps to offset the impact of mercury emissions from 
our current cremation plant. The proposed new facility will have mercury 
abatement plant which will minimise our emissions and remove the need 
for the authority to pay into the CAMEO scheme. Indeed, this may even 
generate a cash return from CAMEO based on our mercury abatements in 
respect of the proposed new plant. 

It is also anticipated that the new gas cremators will be significantly more 
efficient than those we currently use, reducing our carbon emissions. 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

If the delivery of a second new chapel is to be considered, it should be 
predicated on the financial viability and income generation forecasts for a 
new use of the existing facility, or there is a risk that the existing chapel 
buildings which are Grade II listed will remain vacant for an extended 
period.  
 
This issue is addressed under recommendation 5. 
 

Contact officer: David.Roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264151 

Page 75



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 6 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

1. Background 

1.1 In September 2015, Cabinet approved the principle of building a new crematorium on Council-
owned land to the east of the current cemetery and in October 2015, Council approved a total 
budget of £7,443,100 for the proposed development. £6,523,000 of this budget is allocated to the 
‘design and build’ phases of the project. 

1.2 Subsequently, a programme team was formed to lead the work and determined that the SCAPE 
Procurement Framework was the best approach for securing contractors. SCAPE is a public 
sector owned organisation which specialises in providing compliant frameworks to public bodies 
in the UK. 

1.3 Using the SCAPE framework, Pick Everard was appointed in April 2016 to provide project 
management and quantity surveying support and in June 2016, Willmottt Dixon was appointed as 
principal contractor. 

1.4 As anticipated in the report brought to Cabinet in November 2016, further decisions are now 
required on important issues. It is imperative that decisions are made in order to maintain the 
programme’s momentum and minimise the period where the service is dependent on the existing 
cremators, which continue to give rise to concerns about their reliability and life expectancy. 

1.5 This report builds on the Cabinet decisions already taken in relation to the project and seeks 
approval for a preferred new access (exit) road for the new facility, a decision about whether to 
build a second new chapel now as part of the development and if so, what use should be made of 
the existing chapel buildings. 

1.6 Consultant advice which informs the rationale for the conclusions and recommendations within 
the report are appended and referenced where appropriate. 

2. Crematorium development options 

2.1 In broad terms, three principal options were considered for taking the project forward, with the 
advantages and disadvantages of each set out on pages 6-7 of the Pick Everard report at 
Appendix 3. 

2.2 The options are as follows:- 

Option A Build one new chapel with two cremators at the new site and use one 
existing chapel 

Option B  Build one new chapel with two cremators at the new site and use one 
existing chapel in the short term, but build a second chapel later 

Option C Build two new chapels now at the new site, identify funding to support 
this and release the existing chapels to enable their deployment for a 
new commercial venture 

 

2.3 Option A is the one which already has Cabinet and Council support in terms of funding and 
Option B was discounted at an early stage, as there would be significant additional costs and 
service impacts in seeking to deliver a second chapel at a later date. In addition to increased 
preliminaries in relation to site set up costs, there would be lost income arising from disruption 
and downtime of the service. Our contractors advised that in practice, services in the new main 
chapel would need to stop for several months. 

Page 76



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 7 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

2.4 In the absence of further information, this analysis makes a good argument for Option C, i.e. the 
building of two new chapels now. 

2.5 The report goes on to examine a number of commercial options, including the repurposing of the 
existing chapel buildings and identifies that a number of them would be revenue positive over a 
25 year period. The most favourable options from a financial viewpoint include the provision of 
offices, boutique-style holiday accommodation, or a mix of wake facilities with catering and 
business units. 

2.6 None of the options account for the costs associated with building out the second chapel building. 
If these costs are included, none of the options presents a viable financial case. 

2.7 In appraising options, both financial and non-financial criteria should be considered in assessing 
the investment decision. . The assessment of non-financial criteria has indicated a preference for 
a conversion of the existing chapels to a wake facility with catering and some associated business 
units on the site. 

2.8 This does not of course resolve the financial challenges regarding the funding of such an option, 
which would require up-front investment of £1.0M, representing a major project in its own right, 
with considerable resource implications and risks attaching to it. 

2.9 In view of the Council’s challenging financial situation, including a lack of capital for reinvestment, 
a number of options have been modelled for funding the new second chapel, including some 
which would not involve immediately reinvesting in an option for the reuse of the existing chapel 
buildings. This analysis has identified how the second chapel might be funded, utilising a capital 
receipt from the sale of the cemetery lodge building and income from an early uplift in cremation 
fees to help offset the total borrowing that would otherwise be required. Using this approach to 
funding and the assumptions set out in section 7 below, the project is cash positive over 25 years, 
but has some negative impact on the MTFS in years one to nine. This impact is modest and it 
would only take a small fee increase to cover the extra costs profiled in the early years.  

2.10 However, Cabinet should note that it does not allow for the foregone opportunity cost of using 
internal capital and revenue resources to part fund the option. This is because the suggestion is 
that £275,000 is funded from the receipt from the sale of the cemetery lodge (an asset which was 
previously aligned to the service) and that £373,000 is funded from income from increased 
cremation fees which will be received before the Council draws down the PWLB loan for the main 
scheme.  

2.11 Based on the Pick Everard option analysis and the accountancy analysis at Appendix 4, Cabinet 
is recommended to pursue the delivery of a second chapel now and to undertake further work to 
examine how the costs associated with the development of the existing chapels might be 
managed down to improve scheme viability. Members need to be mindful of the assumptions and 
risks relating to this recommendations as set out in this report. 

3. Budgeted increase in cremation fees 

3.1 The Council’s proposed budget for 2017-18 includes the following in relation to fee increases 
relating to the service:- 

Current cremation fee = £620  

• + £12.40  2% inflation (£620 + 2% = £632.40) 

• + £168.71 to support the new crematorium development (£632.40 + £168.71 = £801) 

• + £26.50 Environmental fee (CAMEO mercury abatement) (£801 + £26.50 = £827.50) 

• + £25 Medical Fees (£827.50 + £25 = £852.50) 
 

Page 77



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 8 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

New cremation fee = £852.50 

3.2 Memorial and Burial fees will increase by:- 

• 5% on burial fees – i.e. interment and exclusive rights 

• 2% increase on all other fees. 

3.3 The following benefits will be delivered through the provision of the new facility:- 

• A more reliable and efficient service; 

• More space for larger services; 

• Modern up-to-date flexible facility; 

• Better parking, including disabled provision; 

• Future proofing with equipment to meet modern funeral requirements, including audio-visual 
technology; 

• Pricing comparable to other neighbouring crematoria. 
 
 

4. Access Roads 

4.1 In the work carried out in 2015, the building of an additional permanent egress road through the 
cemetery was proposed to serve the new facility. However, it was identified early on that further 
work would be needed to confirm its feasibility. Also, it was recognised that providing a route for 
construction vehicles through the cemetery would be extremely disruptive and hence a temporary 
haul route to the south of the cemetery was also proposed. 

4.2 Subsequently, following a recommendation by Pick Everard, an investigation of the potential 
access options was commissioned through Willmottt Dixon as part of the feasibility work. 

4.3 The conclusions of the resulting studies are set out at Appendix 2 and have been considered by 
the programme team, resulting in a preferred access route and identified costs which are within 
the original programme estimate, together with a fall-back approach in the event of any show-
stopping risks arising.  

4.4 The preferred egress ‘Route B’ takes the line of a farm track which runs east to west, to the 
immediate south of the existing cemetery site and emerges onto Bouncers Lane at its western 
extremity. 

4.5 Whilst there are risks associated with this option, including potential ecology, archaeology, tree, 
playing field/public open space and ground condition impacts, specialist reports and input from 
planning officers have informed the view that these should be manageable.  

4.6 The proposed ‘inward access’ to the new crematorium would follow existing road routes within the 
site, which may need some upgrading, but represents a relatively low cost and low risk option. 

4.7 An outline planning application (ref: 17/00011/OUT) was submitted to provide public transparency 
about the Council’s likely intentions regarding an egress route across Priors Farm land, which is 
in Council ownership.  

4.8 A range of representations have been received in relation to this undetermined application and 
these are set out at Appendix 5. Cabinet is requested to have regard to these representations in 
considering the recommended option for providing public access to and from the new 
crematorium, including the development and subject to planning consent, a new permanent road 
linking the new facility to Bouncer’s Lane. A plan of the recommended route is also included 
within Appendix 2a page 49. 

Page 78



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 9 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

4.9 If the access route through Priors Farm is agreed in conjunction with the planning application for 
the new crematorium, it will be necessary to appropriate some existing Public Open Space for this 
purpose; the necessary advertisement for this has already taken place and no objections were 
received. However, the relevance of representations to the outline planning application set out in 
para 4.8 above should be taken into account in considering recommendation 2 of this report.  

4.10 Cabinet needs to consider the balance of interests between the current users of the land, the 
impact of the proposed development on them and the necessity (or otherwise) to interfere with 
those uses because of the needs of the cemetery and its users.  

4.11 Access route options summary 

Option Advantages Disadvantages Programme Board / Exec 
Board view 

Route A – 
through the 
existing 
memorial 
gardens 

Relatively cheap 
option, primarily 
utilising existing 
roads 

 

Unsatisfactory as 
permanent route due 
to service conflicts 

H&S concerns 

Damaging to 
tranquillity of 
memorial gardens. 

Risk of damage to 
memorials. 

Not suitable for 
construction traffic 
haul route, which 
would still need to be 
provided across 
Priors Farm. 

This is a fall-back option 
which could be used 
temporarily. 

Requires certainty that a 
more permanent route 
would be provided within a 
reasonable timescale (i.e. 
two years). 

Not the most attractive 
option for the project, but 
may be appropriate if 
wider development of 
Priors Farm area 
considered viable. 

Route B – to the 
immediate 
south of the 
cemetery site 

Provides a 
potential 
permanent 
egress route 

Relatively 
discreet route 
adjoining 
boundary of 
existing site  

Services can 
follow road route 

No direct long 
term impact on 
Imjin Road 

Preference of 
ward members 

 

More expensive 
option than following 
existing roads 

Some risk, 
particularly  around 
ecology 

Impacts on 
properties backing 
on to the farm lane 

Recommended egress 
route 

Route C – via 
Imjin Road  

Provides a 
potential 
permanent 
egress route 

Severance of playing 
area and changing 
facilities 

High risk in relation 

Not recommended 

Page 79



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 10 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Would support 
wider potential  
development of 
Priors Farm land 

to site archaeology 

Landscape impact 

Likely to attract most 
resident opposition 

Route D - to the 
south of the 
cemetery site, 
then linking 
with Imjin Rd 

Provides a 
potential 
permanent 
egress route  

Would avoid 
traffic exiting the 
site through Imjin 
Road 

Similar risks to C, but 
with additional costs 
as longer route 

Impacts on 
residential properties 
backing onto Priors 
Farm  

Not recommended 

Route E – via 
Prestbury 
playing field off 
Roberts Road 

Provides a 
potential 
permanent 
egress route  

Shortest route 

Unsuitable road 
access via bridge 
which would need 
replacing 

Unsatisfactory 
narrow approach 
through residential 
area 

Would require 
landowner consent 

Developer has 
advised this option is 
unworkable 

Not recommended 

 

4.12 There will need to be a haul route provided to service construction traffic accessing the new 
crematorium site. This is likely to follow the line of the proposed permanent access (Route B) for 
much of its length, but there are options about where the route links to the existing road system. 
One option is for this to be temporarily accessed via the lower end of Priors road playing field site 
via Imjin Road, or the route could emerge either adjacent to, or at the existing entrance to the 
cemetery site. 

4.13 There are a range of considerations in this respect, including the impact on local residents, 
highway issues and potential conflicts with funerals and other service users of the Bouncers Lane 
cemetery site. This issue forms part of the public consultation regarding the project and will be 
subject to a supplementary update report to Cabinet on 7th March. 

5. Second chapel business case 

5.1 The construction of a second new chapel was outside the scope of the original crematorium build 
programme, but there were enduring concerns that if the construction of a second chapel were to 
take place once the new facility had begun operating, it would be extremely disruptive to the 
service. It was also identified that this approach would have significant service delivery, quality 
and financial implications. In particular, there were considerable operational concerns that splitting 
the operation between the existing and new chapels could have a negative impact on the 
business. Funeral directors have advised that they believe there will be customer concerns about 
moving coffins between buildings which could impact on cremation numbers. 

5.2 The suggestion therefore, was that the scope of the programme should be extended to include 
the creation of a business case to identify whether there were any viable options to help meet the 

Page 80



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 11 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

costs of a second new chapel (for example, from a commercial use for the existing chapel 
buildings).  

5.3 In November 2016, Cabinet thus approved the increase in the scope of the programme, to include 
the development of a business case for a second new chapel, in order to identify whether it was a 
financially viable proposition. 

5.4 Cabinet also agreed that a second (optional) new chapel consistent with the main programme’s 
scope would be included in the planning application for the new facility. This maintained the 
option of either partially or fully building out a second new chapel, subject to the viability of the 
business case. 

5.5 When Cabinet originally gave approval for the building of a new crematorium, including a single 
chapel, one of the existing chapels (North) was expected to be retained for small ceremonies. It 
was intended that the scheme would allow scope for future expansion in the medium to long term. 
At that time, initial estimates had shown that the construction of a second new chapel was 
unaffordable at an additional cost of £1.7M. 

5.6 Following Cabinet approval in November 2016, subsequent feasibility and design work has 
incorporated the potential for a second new chapel (with the intention of seeking full planning 
approval for a two chapel design) whilst recognising that the approved scheme allows for only a 
single chapel to be funded and built initially.  

5.7 The continuing feasibility and design work has allowed our contractors to re-estimate the cost of 
the second chapel, on the basis that it is constructed at the same time as the first. Even with due 
allowance for contingency and internal costs, the revised build estimate is £1.0M, considerably 
less (-41%) than the earlier estimate in 2015. 

5.8 The study of the potential business options has been undertaken by Pick Everard and is included 
in this report as Appendix 3. 

5.9 In their study, Pick Everard set out the advantages and disadvantages of using two new chapels 
as opposed to using a single new chapel. They also looked at the option of continuing to operate 
one existing chapel, with the possibility of constructing a second new chapel later. Pick Everard 
also looked at the opportunities for re-purposing the existing chapel buildings and the potential for 
generating a commercial return which might support a second new chapel. Financial modelling 
and an analysis of non-financial benefits were undertaken for the three most viable options: 

1. A wake / café facility with office / retail accommodation for bereavement related 
services; 

2. Serviced offices; 

3. Boutique style visitor accommodation. 

5.10 GOSS Finance has used the analysis from Pick Everard to assess the overall financial impact of 
options, taking account of how the additional investment costs might be funded. The return on 
investment, payback period and impact on the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) have 
been assessed. The results of this analysis are detailed in Appendix 4. 

5.11 The main advantages of constructing a second new chapel along with the first chapel are: 

• Construction will not disrupt the ongoing service. Later construction of an additional chapel will 
likely lead to the first new chapel being out of action for months with a consequent impact on 
mourners and on the Council’s income. As a result, later construction is not thought to be a 
likely scenario in practice. 

Page 81



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 12 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

• Construction now will be less costly. Later construction will entail additional start-up costs. 

• Focussing services on one site will simplify the experience of mourners. There will be a single 
set of access routes to and from the crematorium, a single car park and chapels will be 
located close to each other. The likelihood of confusion, for example mourners going to the 
wrong chapel, will be much reduced. 

• Focussing services on one site will lead to operational savings. Bereavement services will not 
need to staff both locations, nor will a vehicle be required to move coffins from the existing 
chapels to the new crematorium (a consequent saving has been estimated in the financial 
modelling). Maintenance costs for two buildings might not need to be met by Bereavement 
Services (assuming a new use is found for the existing buildings) 

• The risk that the transfer of coffins from the existing chapels to the new crematorium leads to 
negative comments and services being moved to other crematoria would be eliminated. 

• Increasing the quality of the construction helps to protect against loss of business to 
competitors and may help to deter new competitors, thus protecting the Council’s revenue 
from the overall service. 

• Delaying construction risks reputational damage, as it is perceived as missing an obvious 
opportunity to improve the service. 

• Both existing chapels will be available for alternative uses from the outset, unfettered by the 
constraint of an operational chapel in the same building. 

• Informal contact with funeral directors suggests that they are in favour of a two chapel 
scheme.  

5.12 The main disadvantages of constructing a second new chapel along with the first chapel are: 

• There is no guarantee that two new chapels will generate any more custom and income than 
one new chapel and one existing chapel; 

• There is a risk that the lack of a traditional chapel option may lead to some services being 
moved to other crematoria; 

• Undertaking the construction of an additional chapel will put additional pressure on the 
Council’s finances and resources.  

5.13 The non-financial advantages of re-purposing the existing chapels depend on the uses to which 
chapels are put. The potential advantages are: 

• Some provision of support for economic growth through the encouragement of small 
businesses; 

• Improving the experience of mourners at the crematorium and cemetery, possibly thereby 
increasing the attraction of the crematorium for holding funeral services (e.g. due to the 
availability of an on-site wake facility); 

• Ensuring the listed buildings have a function and are not left to deteriorate. 

The programme team’s analysis against a number of non-financial criteria suggests that the 
option of a wake / café facility with adjacent office / retail accommodation for bereavement related 
services, is the most favourable. Inevitably, there are a number of risks and uncertainties 
associated with re-purposing, which are detailed in the Pick Everard report. 

Page 82



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 13 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

5.14 The conclusions of the financial analysis of constructing a second new chapel and potential re-
purposing of the existing chapels are: 

• The additional capital costs of constructing a second new chapel are approximately £1.0M 
(Willmottt Dixon estimate adjusted to include internal CBC costs) – this cost would add to the 
current budget of £7.4M for the approved project based on a single chapel. 

• The estimated capital costs of re-purposing the existing chapels are £0.94M (Pick Everard 
estimate adjusted to include internal CBC costs). Pick Everard have commented that 
reduction of these costs may be possible if a ‘light touch’ refurbishment is used, but does not 
have confidence in such an approach without more detailed work. This can be revisited at a 
later date and a more detailed assessment of possible uses / disposal options will be 
considered. Given the options work that has been carried out, there is a high degree of 
confidence that a scheme can be achieved which will provide a better than cost neutral future 
for the existing chapels.  

• CBC financial modelling has taken place on 11 options with a variety of assumptions, with the 
preferred option recommended in this report attached at Appendix 4 and subsequent funding 
analysis based on the assumptions set out in Section 7. 

• None of the options for re-purposing the existing chapels has demonstrated a significant 
financial business case for the construction and operation of a second new chapel. 

• The most favourable financial option considered is the construction of a second new chapel, 
whilst not immediately re-purposing the existing chapels; with capital costs funded by the early 
fee increase, use of Cemetery Lodge capital receipt and borrowing; and factoring in 
reasonably projected extra deaths over 25 years. It has a payback period of 12 years, an 
internal rate of return (IRR) of 4.5% and a total return of £2.6M over 25 years. However, it has 
a cumulative negative impact on the MTFS of £283K over the first nine years (from 2019-20), 
Prior to the expected volume increase in accordance with population projections. This impact 
on the MTFS could be offset by the increase in fee charges of £26.50 per cremation, 
representing a permanent environmental fee. This funding is in addition to the funding from 
the capital receipt, PWLB loan and reserves, as detailed above. 

• The main financial risks are uncertainty over the precise borrowing rate; some limited 
uncertainty as to whether the projected increased mortality will materialise (assumptions are 
based on an assessment using national statistical data from OPCS); the risk of competition 
from other operators reducing our income; uncertainty over utility costs and business rates 
treatment for the new facilities. 

5.15 None of the models constitute a favourable return if the options are considered in purely financial 
terms. However, the financial implications of the options need to be weighed against the non-
financial considerations set out above.  

6. Alternative options considered 

6.1 The range of option considered for utilising the existing chapel buildings with a view to assisting 
the funding for the second chapel, is set out in the report by Pick Everard at Appendix 3, with 
further detailed financial assessment undertaken by our accountancy team, as set out at 
Appendix 4. 

6.2 Alternative access road options are set out in the report and subsequent update from our 
consultants WSP, which form Appendix 2 to this report. 

 

Page 83



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 14 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

7. Assumptions in relation to recommended option 

7.1 There are a number of key assumptions which generate associated risks in relation to the 
recommendation to build out a second chapel now.  

7.2 The table below sets out the key assumptions, together with the risks which are further assessed 
within Appendix 1 against the Council’s corporate risk score card. Cabinet is advised to have 
regard to the reasonableness of these assumptions in determining whether or not to accept the 
report recommendations. 

Key assumptions Sensitivity considerations Key risks 

That the base demand for cremations is 
assumed to be 1,900 per annum, but 
this figure is itself subject to annual 
fluctuations. 

In most recent years, cremations have 
exceeded 2,000, providing some 
resilience within the business case, 
despite the unreliability of the current 
cremators. 

In the 2016 calendar year, 
there were 2,043 
cremations (+7.5% on 
baseline assumption) 

Additional cremations have 
been assessed to generate 
an 80% margin. 

Business continuity 

Competition from new or 
improved service offers 

Technological 
alternatives to cremation 

That there will be a 28% increase in 
cremation activity in the next 20 years, 
linked to population growth within the 
Cheltenham catchment, based on 
OPCS death rate data and JCS growth 
projections for the catchment. 

If the JCS growth attracts a 
greater proportion of 
younger people to the area, 
this may moderate the 
expected additional demand 
for cremations.  

Financial - cremation 
demand does not grow 
at the anticipated rate. 

Capital borrowing costs have been 
assessed at the PWLB loan rate, 
currently fixed at 2.4% from date of 
drawdown. This has not been applied to 
the other sources of funding to be 
applied to the project – i.e. there is no 
internal rate of return on capital receipts 
or revenue funding from fee income. 

The PWLB loan rate could 
rise before the project is 
completed. 

Financial – an increase 
in the PWLB rate prior to 
completion of the new 
facility. 

Demand will not be affected by the 
transition from traditional to new 
modern chapels. 

Options within the 
Cheltenham catchment are 
currently limited, but we are 
aware of one new facility 
being proposed by a private 
operator. This could 
potentially reduce demand 
within our catchment by up 
to 150 cremations per 
annum (7.9%). 

Financial – potential for 
reduction in service 
demand and associated 
fee income. 

The costs of the new two chapel 
crematorium will be managed within the 
estimated budget. 

The project is being 
managed with a reasonable 
level of contingency. 

Financial - as with any 
major building project, 
costs will need to be 
actively managed, but 
may be subject to 
pressures outside of the 

Page 84



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 15 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

control of the 
programme e.g. 
materials inflation. 

No allowance has been made for an 
increase in custom as a result of the 
new facilities offering a higher standard 
to customers. 

Improvements to parking 
and chapel capacity may 
result in a marginal demand 
increase. 

This may help to 
mitigate other financial 
risks. 

 

8. Consultation and feedback 

8.1 A discussion report was taken to Overview and Scrutiny on 16th January 2017, which focussed 
upon programme progress and timeline, major risks (including access roads and the second new 
chapel business case) and contingency plans in the event that the current cremators fail. 

8.2 A joint consultation event was held on 23rd January 2017, for the cross-party Cemetery and 
Crematorium Cabinet Member Working Group and local Funeral Directors. At that meeting, the 
Council’s architects and lead contractors presented the developing design and an update was 
given on both access roads and the second chapel. Useful feedback was given on the routing of 
vehicles in the immediate vicinity of the new buildings and this has led to adjustments in the 
designs. There was quite general support for the building of a second new chapel although it was 
noted that some members of the public do have an attachment to the Victorian chapels.  

8.3 Local ward members continue to be kept in touch with the programme, particularly on those 
aspects such as access roads which most affect people in the locality, with dedicated briefings in 
October 2016 and February 2017. Members generally are informed of progress and issues 
through the Member Briefing. 

8.4 A public consultation will take place in the week commencing 27th February. The main event will 
be a drop-in session at the Municipal Offices from 2.30pm to 7.30pm on 1st March at which 
members of the public and key stakeholders will be able to view the designs and discuss them 
with the architects and lead contractors. Designs may also be viewed on 
www.cheltenham.gov.uk/Cem-and-Crem until 10a.m. on 2nd March and in the foyer of the 
Municipal Offices on 27th and 28th February All those viewing the designs will be encouraged to 
feedback on a questionnaire which will also ask for views on access roads and on the 
construction of a second new chapel. 

8.5 It is intended that the results of the consultation will be reported to Cabinet on 7th March. 

9. Performance management – monitoring and review 

9.1 The programme is managed by a Programme Board led by the Director of Environment and 
which includes the Cabinet Member for Clean and Green Environment. 

9.2 The programme uses the ‘Managing Successful Programmes’ methodology. 

9.3 The programme reports every four weeks to the Council’s Senior Leadership Team and as 
required, to the Council’s Executive Board. 

Report author Contact officer:  Mike Redman, Director of Environment,  
mike.redman@cheltenham.gov.uk,  

01242 264160 

Page 85



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 16 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. WSP reports on access routes 

a. original study  

b. update covering routes B and C  

c. Gardens of Remembrance route 

3. Two Chapels Options Study – Pick Everard 

4. Financial Model for second chapel  

5. Outline planning application for possible access roads – public 
representations received 

Background information 1.  

 

Page 86



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 17 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date raised Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred 
to risk 
register 

1 If Cabinet/Council  
fail to make timely 
decisions in 
relation to the 
project, there is 
an increased risk 
that the 
programme will 
not be delivered 
on time or within 
budget. 

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 4 4 16 Reduce Approve report 
recommendations. 

March 
2017 
 

Director 
Environment 

 

2 If sufficient 
maintenance 
funds are not 
made available 
for the upkeep of 
the existing 
chapels whilst 
they are not being 
used, there is a 
risk to the future 
of the Grade II 
listed buildings, 
for which the 
Council has a 
statutory 
responsibility. 

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 3 4 12 Reduce Consider the 
implications for the 
existing Grade II 
listed chapel 
building in the 
context of 
temporary 
mothballing. 
 
Ensure that the 
need for 
maintenance of the 
existing chapels is 
considered in 
relation to the 
business case. 

March 
2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
On-
going 

Programme 
Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Property 
Services 

 

3 If the Cabinet 
agrees to support 
the construction 
of 2nd new chapel 
at the same time 
as delivering the 

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 3 4 12 Reduce The timeline for the 
project has been 
re-evaluated to 
show the 
implications of 
constructing a 2nd 

Mar 
2017 

Programme  
Manager 

 

P
age 87



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 18 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

original new 
crematorium 
programme there 
is a risk that the 
delivery timeline 
could increase 
with a consequent 
delay to the 
opening of the 
new facility. This 
in turn could 
impact on; 

1. service 
delivery 
because 
of the 
unreliabilit
y of the 
current 
facility, 

2. the 
reputation 
of the 
Council to 
manage to 
an agreed  
plan, and 

3. fee 
income 
and 
programm
e costs.   

chapel and this can 
be achieved with 
minimal impact on 
the overall 
programme. 
 
As with any 
building 
programme, there 
are financial and 
project timeline 
risks that will need 
to be managed and 
these will be 
proportionately 
greater in relation 
to a larger project. 

4 If Cabinet does 
not support the 
construction of a 
second chapel at 
the same time as 
the first, there 

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 3 3 9 Reduce Approve report 
recommendations. 

Mar 
2017 

Director 
Environment 

 

P
age 88



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 19 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

may be 
reputational 
damage to the 
authority arising 
from any future 
forward planning 
(linked to 
population growth 
etc.) for 
maintaining a 
sustainable 
service. 
Operational 
limitations may be 
significant and a 
later construction 
would have a 
detrimental 
impact on 
customer service 
and income. 
 

5 If the Council 
does not include 
the design of a 
2nd Chapel within 
the Planning 
Application, it will 
lose the 
opportunity to 
provide a closely 
linked facility that 
is capable of 
expanding to 
meet future 
service needs 
and expectations.   

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 3 2 6 Reduce Include scope for 
the provision of a 
second chapel 
within the Planning 
Application for the 
new facility. 

Apr 
2017 

Director 
Environment 

 

7 If the Council Director 04/11/2016 4 3 12 Reduce Follow the agreed Apr Programme  

P
age 89



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 20 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

does not agree a 
Delivery 
(Construction) 
Agreement with 
Willmottt Dixon 
before 7th May 
2017 it will need 
to re-procure 
construction 
services with a 
consequent 
impact on costs, 
timescales and 
customer service 

Environment pre-construction 
plan with adequate 
contingency for 
reaching 
agreement 

2017 Manager 

8 If projected future 
population growth 
and the resulting 
increase in 
demand for 
cremations does 
not arise, or 
competitor 
facilities are built, 
there is a risk that 
the income from 
the crematorium 
may fall, exposing 
the authority to 
increased 
financial risk. 
 

Director 
Environment 

01/02/2017 3 3 9 Accept Careful 
consideration has 
been given to the 
likelihood of 
increased demand 
for the service over 
time and estimates 
are considered 
reasonable. 
 
The future-proofing 
of our crematorium 
facility is one of the 
best means of 
countering the risk 
of competitor 
facilities, which is a 
risk borne by the 
current service. 
 
 

N/A Bereavement 
Services 
Manager 

 

9 If the new chapels 
do not provide a 
quality experience 

Director 
Environment 

01/02/2017 3 3 9 Reduce It is important that 
adequate 
investment is put 

Mar 
2017 

Director 
Environment 

 

P
age 90



 

   

$g41coeo1 Page 21 of 21 Last updated 24 February 2017 

 

for mourners, 
there is a risk that 
some bereaved 
families may 
choose to have 
funeral services 
elsewhere 

into the new 
facility, such that 
the design and 
materials used in 
the new facility, 
including space 
standards and 
technological 
improvements can 
be funded.  

10 If the 2nd chapel 
project is 
approved utilising 
the sources of 
funding identified, 
this will have a 
negative impact 
on the Council’s 
MTFS position 
and increase the 
Council’s 
exposure to 
external 
borrowing  

Director 
Environment 

01/02/2017 3 3 9 Accept The Cabinet will 
need to identify 
additional savings 
or income to bridge 
the increased 
MTFS funding gap. 
 
The income levels 
for the facility will 
need to be closely 
monitored to 
ensure delivery of 
increase targets 
which support the 
scheme and part 
finance borrowing.  

N/A Section 151 
officer 
 
 
 
 
 
Bereavement 
Services 
Manager 

 

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

 

P
age 91



Page 92



REPORT N
O
 70024730 V4 

CHELTENHAM BOROUGH 
COUNCIL, PROPOSED 
CREMATORIUM 
ACCESS ROAD STUDY 

OCTOBER 2016 

Page 93



Project no: 70024730 
Date: October 2016  

WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
King’s Orchard, Queen Street 
Bristol BS2 0HQ 

Tel: +44 (0) 117 930 2000 
www.wspgroup.com 
www.pbworld.com 

CHELTENHAM BOROUGH 
COUNCIL, PROPOSED 
CREMATORIUM

ACCESS ROAD STUDY 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Page 94



iii

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016 

Q U A L I T Y  M A N A G E M E N T  

ISSUE/REVISION FIRST ISSUE REVISION 1 REVISION 2 REVISION 3

Remarks Draft Issue Final Issue Final Issue Final Issue 

Date September 2016 October 2016 October 2016 October 2016 

Prepared by James Morgan James Morgan James Morgan James Morgan 

Signature

Checked by James Morgan / 
David Baber 

James Morgan / 
David Baber 

James Morgan / 
David Baber 

James Morgan / 
David Baber 

Signature

Authorised by David Baber David Baber David Baber David Baber 

Signature

Project number 70024730 70024730 70024730 70024730

Report number V1 V2 V3 V4

File reference \\uk.wspgroup.com\central data\Projects\700247xx\70024730 - CBC, New 
Crematorium\C Documents\Reports 

Page 95



iv

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
 October 2016 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
1 INTRODUCTION ...........................................................................1

2 SITE OVERVIEW ..........................................................................3

3 PROPOSED ROUTE OPTIONS .................................................11

4 ROUTE OPTIONS – OPPORTUNITIES AND 
CONSTRAINTS ..........................................................................18

5 FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS ..................................................28

6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION ................................................35

Page 96



v

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
 October 2016 

A P P E N D I C E S  

A P P E N D I X  A CBC’S ACCESS ROAD BRIEF

A P P E N D I X  B STUDY AREA CONSTRAINTS

A P P E N D I X  C ATC SURVEY DATA AND SERVICE TIME INFORMATION

A P P E N D I X  D PREVIOUS ROUTE OPTION STUDIES

A P P E N D I X  E PETER MITCHELL ASSOCIATES REPORT

A P P E N D I X  F TREE SPECIALIST REPORT

A P P E N D I X  G ADDITIONAL ECOLOGICAL DETAILS

Page 97



vi

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
 October 2016 

R O U T E  O P T I O N  P L A N S  

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-01 REV A – EXISTING 
ACCESS ROUTE 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-02 REV A – PROPOSED 
ACCESS ROUTE 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-03 REV B – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTIONS 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-04 REV A – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION A 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-05 REV B – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION B 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-06 REV A – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION C 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-07 REV B – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION D 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-08 REV A – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION B – ACCESS OPTIONS 1 AND 2 

Page 98



1

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND 

1.1.1 WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has been commissioned by Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) to 
undertake an independent options appraisal and impact assessment study to identify potential 
vehicular access and egress routes (for both construction and operational traffic) to and from a 
proposed new Crematorium, in Cheltenham.   

1.1.2 The proposed new Crematorium will replace the existing Crematorium and North Chapel buildings 
located within the existing Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium. 

1.1.3 This study has been commissioned on the basis that the existing internal road network which 
currently serves Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium (herein referred to as ‘the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium’) is deemed insufficient to serve the proposed new Crematorium.  

1.1.4 This report considers the potential transport / highways, flood risk, ecological, and environmental 
opportunities and constraints presented by various proposed vehicular route options to and from 
the proposed new Crematorium.  

1.1.5 This report presents the findings of a detailed desktop study supplemented by a site visit, which 
took place on Friday 16

th
 September, 2016.  

1.1.6 This report does not seek to highlight the preferred vehicular route option, but instead provides a 
review of opportunities and constraints presented by each vehicular route option, which in turn will 
assist CBC in making their decision of the preferred access strategy for the proposed new 
Crematorium.  

1.1.7 For reference, CBC is the relevant planning authority for which the site is located in, and 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is the relevant highway authority.  It is understood that the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium is operated by CBC.  It is also worth noting that the proposed 
development site falls under the planning jurisdiction of Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC).  

1.1.8 This report has been prepared in line with CBC’s ‘Access Road Brief – Initial Draft’ document, 
which is included at Appendix A.

1.1.9 In support of this study, WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has obtained additional specialist advice 
from: 

Peter Mitchell Associates – Independent Grave Specialist; and 

Chris Chavasse – Senior Tree Officer (CBC). 

1.1.10 WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has also sought advice from GCC highways department; however a 
response has not been received in sufficient time to inform this report.   

1.2 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SITE AND STUDY AREA 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SITE 

1.2.1 The site for the proposed new Crematorium comprises of undeveloped fields (two in total) which 
are located to the immediate east of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  The fields border 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium to the west, and are currently bounded by existing trees 
and hedgerows.  

Page 99



2

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

1.2.2 There is currently no formal vehicular access arrangement to the proposed development site, 
other than local field access.  

STUDY AREA 

1.2.3 The ‘study area’ comprises of: 

The existing Cemetery and Crematorium, which is currently accessible directly from Bouncers 
Lane via a gated entrance.  Internally, there are a number of existing vehicular routes to 
access the various areas of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, including the North and 
South Chapels and Crematorium buildings (located within the western half of the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium) and the Garden of Remembrance (located within the southeast 
section of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium); 

Existing agricultural land, which is located to the south and east of the proposed development 
site;  

Oakley Playing Fields (comprising up to three pitches and associated changing facilities and 
parking for approximately 20 cars), which are located to the south of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium. Oakley Playing Fields are accessible directly from Imjin Road; and 

An existing residential estate, which is located to the southwest of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, and is accessible directly from the B4075 Priors Road and/or Bouncers Lane.  

1.3 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS 

1.3.1 CBC is intending to build a new Crematorium to the immediate east of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium  At present, it is understood that CBC are considering two potential options, 
comprising of either one or two Chapels, with associated infrastructure and parking. 

1.3.2 In conjunction with the development proposals, it is understood that CBC intend to close the 
existing Crematorium and North Chapel and transfer all activity to the proposed new 
Crematorium.  However, it is understood that the South Chapel will remain open to the general 
public.  

1.3.3 CBC has indicated that vehicular access to the proposed new Crematorium is intended via the 
internal road network which currently serves the existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

1.3.4 Owing to the constraints of the existing internal road network, CBC is currently investigating 
potential options to provide a new vehicular route for vehicles to exit the proposed new 
Crematorium (which would be used specifically during services).  In addition, CBC has indicated 
that there is a requirement to provide a temporary route for construction traffic to access and 
egress the proposed new Crematorium (during the construction phase of the development).  

1.4 REPORT STRUCTURE  

1.4.1 Following this introduction, the remainder of the report is structured as follows:  

Chapter 2: Site Overview;  

Chapter 3: Proposed Route Options;   

Chapter 4: Route Options – Opportunities and Constraints;  

Chapter 5: Further Considerations; and 

Chapter 6: Summary and Conclusion.   

Page 100



3

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2 SITE OVERVIEW

2.1 INTRODUCTION 

2.1.1 This Chapter of the report provides an overview of the proposed development site and wider 
study area, including the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, agricultural land, Oakley Playing 
Fields, and existing residential estate.  

2.1.2 This Chapter also provides an overview of the local highway network, flood risk, ecology and 
conservation.  

2.2 CHELTENHAM CEMETERY AND CREMATORIUM  

2.2.1 The existing Cemetery and Crematorium is located approximately 2.5km to the east of 
Cheltenham Town Centre, within a built up area consisting of primarily residential uses (albeit the 
undeveloped agricultural land to the east).  It is understood that the older western section of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium, which comprises the North and South Chapels and 
Crematorium buildings, is Victorian era, whilst the newer eastern section is effectively a modern 
extension. 

2.2.2 The existing Cemetery and Crematorium is currently accessible directly from Bouncers Lane via a 
gated entrance and internal two-way access road (which varies in width between 5.0m and 5.5m).  
Internally, the two-way access road runs for approximately 150m before it splits to provide 
designated one-way access and egress routes to the various areas of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, including the North and South Chapels and Crematorium (located within the older 
western half of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium) and the Garden of Remembrance 
(located within the southeast section of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium).  There is also 
an existing car park which is located approximately 100m to the southeast of the South Chapel.  

2.2.3 A designated pedestrian entrance / footway is provided to the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium from Bouncers Lane.   

2.2.4 For reference, the existing vehicular access and egress routes within the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium are illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing SK-01.

2.2.5 In terms of its operation, it is understood that the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is open to 
the general public seven days a week (including Good Friday, Christmas Day and bank holidays), 
between the following hours: 

1
st

April to 30
th
 September – 9am to 7.30pm; and 

1
st
 October to 31

st
 March – 9am to 4.30pm. 

2.2.6 Over the course of a typical year, it is understood that up to 2000 cremations and 200 burials are 
held at the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (equating to an average of 5-6 cremations and 1 
burial per day).  It is understood that all services currently use the access from Bouncers Lane 
and internal road network to access the North or South Chapel, Crematorium, and associated car 
park.   

Page 101



4

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.2.7 The existing Cemetery and Crematorium has been formally landscaped with mature trees, 
shrubs, flower beds, paths and grassland areas, as well as ornamental ponds and water-courses.  
A large area of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium on the southern boundary has been given 
over to deciduous woodland.  For a full report on the habitats present within the survey area 
please refer to the Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey report prepared by Lepus Consulting.   

2.3 AGRICULTURAL LAND 

2.3.1 The area to the south of the proposed development site comprises of namely agricultural land 
(fields segregated by trees and hedgerow).   

2.3.2 Currently there are no formal vehicular arrangements to the agricultural land, other than local field 
access.  Pedestrians can currently access the agricultural land via Oakley Playing Fields to the 
west or via the residential areas to the north.  

2.3.3 The agricultural fields have become scrubbed over from lack of management in recent years, 
therefore the dominant species are rank grasses and tall ruderal species with scattered mature 
and semi-mature trees and shrubs scattered throughout. 

2.3.4 To the east of the proposed development site, part of the agricultural land is designated as 
Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) (see Figure 5 provided in Appendix B of 
this report).  

2.3.5 A number of Public Footpaths run through the agricultural land to the east of the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium (see Figure 6 provided in Appendix B of this report).  

2.3.6 It is understood that the majority of the agricultural land falls within CBC’s ownership.  

2.4 OAKLEY PLAYING FIELDS  

2.4.1 Oakley Playing Fields are located to the immediate south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium. The playing fields are designated recreational ground, and comprise of up to three 
football pitches with associated changing facilities and parking (for approximately 20 cars).  It is 
understood that the existing football fields fall under FA regulation.  In addition to the football 
fields, there is also an existing children’s playground located at the southeast boundary of the 
playing fields.  

2.4.2 Vehicular access to the playing fields is currently provided from Imjin Road, which is a two-way 
road which serves the residential areas to the west.  There is also a designated paved footpath 
provided along the southern boundary of the playing fields which links Imjin Road and the 
children’s playground,  

2.4.3 On reviewing the topographical survey that is available (and observations from the site visit ), 
there is a notable difference in height between the western and eastern extents of the football 
fields (approximately 5.0m between the car park and the football field, and a further 4.0m between 
the football fields and top of the bank at the eastern extent of the fields), and between the 
southern and northern extents of the fields (approximately 2-3m between the footpath to the south 
of the football fields and the football fields itself, and a further 1-2m between the football fields and 
the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium). 

2.4.4 The playing fields are predominantly amenity grassland maintained as close cut turf with areas of 
scrub and semi-mature trees on the boundaries.  During the site visit, a stream was identified 
running to the south of the playing fields and hedgerows were observed to the east. Residential 
housing and associated gardens are located to the west and the north is bordered by areas of 
woodland marking the border with the existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

Page 102



5

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.4.5 It is understood that Oakley Playing Fields fall within CBC’s ownership.  

2.5 EXISTING RESIDENTIAL ESTATE 

2.5.1 To the southwest of the proposed development site, south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, and west of Oakley Playing Fields, there are currently a number of residential 
streets which take their access namely from the B4075 Priors Road (via Ladysmith Road and 
Imjin Road).  

2.5.2 There are currently no restrictions on parking within the residential estate.  

2.6 LOCAL HIGHWAY NETWORK  

DESCRIPTION OF HIGHWAY NETWORK  

2.6.1 There is currently no formal vehicular access arrangement to the proposed development site, 
other than local field access.   

2.6.2 The existing Cemetery and Crematorium is accessible directly from Bouncers Lane via a priority 
junction.  Internal, the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is served by a mix of one-way and 
two-way routes. 

2.6.3 Bouncers Lane links to the B4075 Priors Road to the west, via a priority junction.  To the 
immediate south of the existing access from Bouncers Lane, Ladysmith Road provides access to 
an existing residential estate.  In addition, Ladysmith Road also provides access to an existing 
Farm Track which skirts the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (see 
WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing SK-01). 

2.6.4 Further south, Imjin Road is accessible directly from the B4075 Priors Road via a priority junction.  
Imjin Road provides access the residential estate located to the south of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium.  Imjin Road also provides access to Oakley Playing Fields, where there is an 
existing car park (which includes approximately 20 parking spaces). 

2.6.5 Further afield, the B4075 Priors Road links to Prestbury Road to the north, via a priority junction, 
and to Harp Hill / Hewlett Road / Hales Road via a double mini-roundabout.  It is also worth noting 
that to the south of the Imjin Road, the B4075 Priors Road links to Redmarley Road which 
provides access to Sainsbury’s Supermarket, and also Oakley Farm housing development.  

TRAFFIC FLOWS 

2.6.6 In order to understand the existing traffic volumes (and vehicular speeds) using the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium over the course of a given weekday and weekend, an Automatic 
Traffic Count (ATC) survey was undertaken along the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access 
road (inside the initial gated entrance point from Bouncers Lane).   

2.6.7 The ATC survey was undertaken between Saturday 6
th
 August (00:00) and Friday 12

th
 August 

(23:59).  For reference, a copy of the ATC survey data is included in Appendix C.

2.6.8 Details of the existing traffic volumes entering and exiting the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, as recorded by the ATC survey, are summarised in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1 Average Daily Flows (derived from ATC Survey) 

INBOUND OUTBOUND TWO-WAY

Weekday  468 470 938

Weekend  303 304 607

Page 103



6

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.6.9 Table 2.1 shows that on a typical weekday there was an average daily flow of 468 vehicles 
entering and 470 vehicles exiting the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, respectively. On a 
typical Saturday or Sunday there was an average of 303 vehicles entering and 304 vehicles 
exiting the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, respectively. 

2.6.10 In order to ascertain the number of vehicles that utilise the existing Cemetery and Crematorium 
during a typical weekday and weekend period, CBC has provided details (times and durations) of 
all services that were held between Monday 8

th
 August and Friday 12

th
 August 2016 (which 

coincides with the dates of the ATC survey).  CBC has confirmed that services are currently held 
between Monday and Friday only (generally between the hours of 10:00 and 16:00), with no 
services being held on weekends.  It is also understood that the duration of services is usually in 
the region of 45 minutes, with vehicles arriving / departing approximately 30 minutes either side of 
a service.   On average there were 9 services held per day between Monday 8

th
 August and 

Friday 12
th
 August 2016.  For reference, a copy of the service information, which includes the start 

and end times, is included in Appendix C.

2.6.11 Based on the information provided by CBC, the ATC survey data was further interrogated to 
understand the traffic flows associated with a service taking place, and when there is no service 
taking place.  For ease of reference, average and peak hour weekday and weekend traffic flows 
are highlighted separated. The results of which are shown in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2 Average and Peak Hour Flows (Non-Service and Service) 

WEEKDAY

Period  Inbound Outbound Two - Way 

Average Hour (across 5 days) 

Non-service (average hour) 18 20 38

Service (average hour) 59 62 121

Peak Hour (day specific) 

Non-service (peak hour) 09:00 –
10:00

97 22 119

Service (peak hour) 10:00-11:00 –
Highest Entry Flow* 

113 36 149

Service (peak hour) 11:00-12:00 –
Highest Exit Flow** 

49 159 208

Service (peak hour) 11:00 – 12:00 
– Highest Two-Way Flow** 

110 103 213

WEEKEND 

Period Inbound outbound Two - Way 

Average Hour (across 2 days) 

Non-service (average hour) 26 26 52

Peak Hour (day specific) 

Non- Service (peak hour) 11:00 –
12:00

54 43 104

Note: Average hour taken as all service hours / all non-service hours 
* Highest entry flow recorded on Friday 12

th
 August 2016 between 10:00 to 11:00  

** Highest exit flow recorded on Friday 12
th
 August between 11:00 to 12:00 

*** Highest two-way flow recorded on Tuesday 9
th
 August 2016 between 11:00 to 12:00 

2.6.12 It should be noted from the above, that there is potential that some of the traffic movements may 
not be associated with a specific service, and could just comprise of people visiting the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium separately.  

2.6.13 Table 2.2 shows that on a typical weekday, during service periods, on average 121 (two-way) 
vehicles were recorded using the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access.

Page 104



7

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.6.14 During weekday service periods, the highest recorded entry flow was 113 vehicles (which 
occurred between 10:00 and 11:00) and the highest recorded exit flow was 159 vehicles (which 
occurred between 11:00 and 12:00).  The highest recorded two-way flows were 213 vehicles 
(which occurred between 11:00 to 12:00). 

2.6.15 During weekday non-service periods, the highest recorded two-way flow was 119 vehicles (which 
occurred between 09:00 to 10:00 on Friday 12

th
 August 2016).  

2.6.16 On a typical weekend where there are no services held, on average 52 vehicles (two-way) were 
recorded using the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access. The highest recorded two-way 
flow on a typical weekend was 104 vehicles (11:00 to 12:00 on Sunday 7

th
 August 2016).  

2.6.17 In addition to recording the volume of traffic, the ATC survey also recorded average vehicle 
speeds along the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road.  For reference, these are 
summarised in Table 2.3.

Table 2.3 Seven Day Average & 85th Percentile Speeds (mph) 

CEMETERY ACCESS ROAD 

INBOUND  OUTBOUND 

Average Speed 85
TH

percentile speed Average Speed 85
TH

percentile speed 

16 21 17 22

HIGHWAY SAFETY  

2.6.18 In order to understand the existing highway safety conditions on the local highway network, 
Personal Injury Accident (PIA) data was obtained from CRASHMAP for a five year period 
between 2011 and 2015. A summary of the total number of recorded accidents within the study 
area for a five year period is provided in Table 2.4.  The area investigated includes the access 
road to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, Bouncers Lane, Priors Road, and Imjin Road. 

Table 2.4 Summary of Recorded Accidents  

SLIGHT SERIOUS FATAL

Number of Accidents 7 0 0

2.6.19 In total there were seven slight incidents recorded over the past five year period, of which: 

Two incidents were recorded on Bouncers Lane; and 

Five incidents were recorded on Priors Road. 

2.6.20 No incidents were recorded along the access road to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, not 
along Imjin Road.  

Page 105



8

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.7 FLOOD RISK 

EXISTING FLOOD RISK 

2.7.1 The online Environment Agency Flood Map
1
 shows that the entirety of the study area lies within 

Flood Zone 1, which means that there is less than a 0.1 per cent chance of flooding from rivers in 
any given year. However, this designation is principally due to the lack of hydraulic modelling that 
has been undertaken in the area, therefore placing the site in Flood Zone 1 by default. 

2.7.2 The Gardens of Remembrance located in the southeast of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium is bound to the south by an Environment Agency Main River – a tributary of the 
Wyman’s Brook. The headwaters of this watercourse flow from the north and east as minor 
drains. The other Main River – the main channel of the Wyman’s Brook – is located to the south 
of Oakley Playing Fields. 

2.7.3 A more accurate assessment of risk has been undertaken by CBC as part of the Whaddon Flood 
Alleviation Scheme (FAS) Feasibility Study (ch2m, 2016). This included using the Surface Water 
Management Plan hydraulic model to understand the likely flood extents close to the site. The 
resultant 1 in 200 year flood map, which can be said to be assessing the study area for a 
combination of surface water and fluvial sources is shown in Figure 2.1.

Figure 2.1 Flood Map Taken from Whaddon FAS Consultation Showing Flood Surface Water/fluvial 
Flood Risk at the Site 

2.7.4 The resultant flood map shows the majority of the study area to be outside the fluvial/surface 
water floodplain, thus presenting a very low risk. No significant areas of floodplain are predicted, 
with flooding mostly constrained to the watercourse channel and immediate surrounds. 

1
 See: http://maps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/wiybyController?x=394500.0&y=222500.0&topic=floodmap&ep=map&scale=9&location=Cheltenham, 

Gloucestershire&lang=_e&layerGroups=default&distance=&textonly=off#x=396943&y=223157&lg=1,2,10,&scale=11

Page 106



9

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

WHADDON FLOOD ALLEVIATION SCHEME 

2.7.5 The Whaddon FAS Consultation Note (ch2m, 2016) states that: 

“Whaddon, Lynworth and Prestbury experienced severe flooding during the June and July 2007 
flooding events. The peak event was identified as 1 in 125-year annual probability event. During 
the July 2007 event over 300 properties are known to have experienced internal or external 
flooding… 

Flooding was principally caused by excess surface runoff from the escarpment to the east 
exceeding the capacity of the culverted watercourses, which resulted in surface runoff entering 
the urban environment, following the natural (or man-made) topography, and ponding in low spots 
within the catchment (e.g. immediately to the north of Cheltenham Town Football Club). 
Anecdotal evidence gained from the public consultation confirmed that the flood water was 
extremely fast as it flowed down roads and into properties.”

2.7.6 To try and alleviate further flooding the Whaddon FAS scheme is being taken forward as a 
preferred option for construction. This involves the construction of two flood storage areas at 
Noverton Farm (immediately east of the proposed Crematorium extension) and Priors Farm (to 
the south of the Gardens of Remembrance). Ensuring that the future construction of these flood 
storage areas are not compromised by the Access Route Options, is considered to be a key 
constraint to the proposed development.  The timescales for delivery of the proposed Whaddon 
FAS scheme are unknown at this stage.  

2.7.7 Modelling of the 1 in 200 year event with the flood storage areas in place demonstrates no 
increases in flood risk to the site; as illustrated on Figure 2.2.

Figure 2.2 1 in 200 Year Flood Extent with Flood Storage Areas in Place 

Page 107



10

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.8 ECOLOGY AND CONSERVATION 

OVERVIEW  

2.8.1 The ecological site overview is included in Appendix B of this report.   

2.9 STUDY AREA CONSTRAINTS  

2.9.1 Consideration has been given to the constraints presented by the overall study area.  For 
reference, these are detailed in Appendix B.

Page 108



11

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3 PROPOSED ROUTE OPTIONS

3.1 INTRODUCTION 

3.1.1 This Chapter provides details of the various vehicular route options which are currently being 
considered as part of this study, to serve the proposed new Crematorium.  

3.2 PROPOSED NEW CREMATORIUM 

3.2.1 CBC is intending to build new Crematorium to the immediate east of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium.  At present, it is understood that CBC are considering two potential options, 
comprising of either one or two Chapels, with associated infrastructure and parking. 

3.2.2 In conjunction with the development proposals, it is understood that CBC intend to close the 
existing Crematorium and North Chapel and relocate activity to the proposed new Crematorium.  
However, it is understood that the South Chapel will remain open to the general public 

3.3 PREVIOUS VEHICULAR ROUTE OPTION STUDIES  

3.3.1 It is understood that both Robert Potter and Partners architects and Willmott Dixon has previously 
undertaken studies which have considered potential route options to and from the proposed new 
Crematorium.  

3.3.2 Robert Potter and Partners considered the potential for providing a new 2.5m wide route internally 
within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (which roughly follows the alignment of WSP | 
Parsons Brinckerhoff’s Route Option A – see Section 3.5).   The route alignment is shown on 
Robert Potter and Partners plan ‘6333-SK02, Proposed Link Road’, which is included in 
Appendix D.

3.3.3 Willmott Dixon has previously produced a Draft Stage 2 Feasibility Report for the proposed new 
Crematorium (Ref: CC/S2/JM/180716) in which they have undertaken a high-level access/egress 
appraisal of two potential Route Options: 

Option 1 – the provision of a permanent egress route through the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium; and 

Option 2 – the provision of a segregated permeant egress route. 

3.3.4 Willmott Dixon’s report identified high level opportunities and constraints presented by each 
option.  For reference, a copy of the relevant section of Willmott Dixon’s Draft Stage 2 Feasibility 
Report is provided in Appendix D.

3.4 PROPOSED VEHICULAR ACCESS ROUTE 

3.4.1 CBC has indicated that vehicular access to the proposed new Crematorium would be via the 
internal road network which currently serves the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.   

3.4.2 More specifically, on entry to the site vehicles would follow the existing-one way route, which runs 
to the north of the existing Chapels and Crematorium.  From this point vehicles would join the 
section of one-way road, which links the older western and newer eastern sections of the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium, before travelling north then east (within the new eastern section of 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium where the roads are wide enough to accommodate two-
way traffic movements) to the proposed new Crematorium.   

Page 109



12

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3.4.3 For reference, the proposed access route is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing 
number SK-02.

3.5 PROPOSED VEHICULAR EGRESS ROUTES (OPTIONS A, B, C, AND D) 

3.5.1 A total of four possible vehicular routes have been identified as part of this study, a detailed 
description of which is outlined in the following sections.  In reviewing the four routes, 
consideration has been given to the potential for the routes to accommodate both construction 
traffic (temporarily) and operational traffic (permanently).   

3.5.2 It should be worth noting that, at this stage Route Option A has been ruled out for accommodating 
any construction traffic, on the basis that CBC does not want any construction vehicles travelling 
through the main area of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.   

3.5.3 If Route Option A was pursued, then a separate haulage routes would need to be provided as 
outlined for Routes Option B, C or D below.   

3.5.4 Routes A, B, C or D would be required to serve the proposed new Crematorium (as an egress 
route only).   

3.5.5 For reference, the four egress routes which are currently being considered as part of this study 
are illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing SK-03.

ROUTE OPTION A 

3.5.6 Route Option A is intended as an egress route only to the proposed new Crematorium, and would 
only accommodate operational traffic associated with the proposed new Crematorium.  It is not 
proposed to use Route Option A for construction purposes.  

3.5.7 Route Option A includes the use of part of the existing internal access roads between the main 
entrance to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium and the car park located to the immediately 
west of the Garden of Remembrance.  From this point it is proposed to provide a new 3m wide 
road which would skirt the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (to the 
immediate north of the Garden of Remembrance), linking the existing car park and the proposed 
new Crematorium.   

3.5.8 It is proposed to use the roads which serve the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, it is not 
proposed to alter the existing widths or alignments of the existing roads.  However, there may be 
a requirement to undertake some minor carriageway repairs / resurfacing, the details of which 
would be subject to a separate study.   

3.5.9 It is not proposed to provide any footways along the new section of road.  Instead, it is envisaged 
that pedestrians would use the routes provided within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium to 
access and egress the proposed new Crematorium.  

3.5.10 It is understood from CBC that Route Option A would only be used to allow vehicles to exit the 
proposed new Crematorium following a service.  During all other times, the route would not be 
available for general use (albeit the existing two-way section of road between the two gated 
entrances which would remain in use to serve the existing Cemetery and Crematorium). 

3.5.11 For reference, the proposed access route alignment is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing number SK-04.

Page 110



13

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3.5.12 Route Option A has a total length of approximately 725m (between the existing gated entrance to 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (from Bouncers Lane) and the proposed new 
Crematorium); of which newly constructed carriageway would be 300m.  The elevation of the road 
increases from 83.615m at the western end to 93.233m at the eastern end and will climb at an 
even gradient of approximately 3.3% (1 in 30). 

3.5.13 Further to the site visit it is evident that part of the land required to accommodate Route Option A 
is heavily populated with gravestones.  To help understand the potential impacts on the existing 
graves and the feasibility of delivering Route Option A, Peter Mitchell Associates has been 
commissioned to undertake a separate study.  The findings of which are summarised in Chapter 4 
of this report, and are included in Appendix E.

3.5.14 In addition to the above, it was also noted during the site visit that there are a number of well-
established trees which could be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  To help understand 
the potential impacts on the existing trees, WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has discussed the 
proposed route alignment with Chris Chavasse (Senior Tree Officer) at CBC.  For reference, 
Chris’s comments are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, with a full copy of his comments 
provided at Appendix F.

ROUTE OPTION B  

3.5.15 Route Option B has been considered for use by both construction and operational traffic.   

3.5.16 Route Option B includes the use of part of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road, 
between the two gated entrance points, with the construction of a new 3m wide access road 
which would link to the existing access roads (in the vicinity of the internal gated entrance point) 
skirting the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  

3.5.17 At present it is envisaged that the proposed new section of road would follow the alignment of the 
existing Farm Track.  Owing to the presence of an existing Badger Sett, an option has also been 
considered which shifts the alignment of the road approximately 30m south.    

3.5.18 For reference, the proposed access route alignment is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing number SK-005.  It should be noted from the plan that where there is sufficient space, an 
indicative outline (dashed line) has been provided along the Route Option alignment which 
denotes a 9.5m wide carriageway, which allows for the provision of a two-way route (with 
footways) to serve any potential future development to the south of the proposed new 
Crematorium.  

3.5.19 During the construction phase of the proposed new Crematorium, CBC has indicated that their 
preference is not for construction traffic to use any of the existing internal access roads within the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  However, CBC has not discounted the use of the existing 
internal section of the road between the two gated entrance points.  As such, consideration has 
been given to two potential options for accommodating construction traffic internally along this 
section of road, which are as follows: 

Option 1 retains the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road as one-way (at 3m 
wide), and introduces a segregated construction traffic route which relies on use of the 
remainder of the carriageway and the introduction of localised widening (to accommodate a 
3m wide haulage route).  In this Option both operational and construction traffic would use the 
existing gated entrance via Bouncers Lane.  As such there would be a likely requirement to 
either widen the existing main entrance gates or control traffic movements (via the 
introduction of a banksman or similar).  In this option it is envisaged that hording could be 
introduced to split normal operational and construction traffic movements.  In the section of 
one-way workings, measures to control traffic movements, such as temporary traffic lights, 
would be required; and 

Page 111



14

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

Option 2 proposes the introduction of a segregated construction route which would make use 
of the existing grass / landscape verge and existing Farm Track located to the immediate 
south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road.  In this Option, construction 
traffic could potentially use the existing Farm Track access, which links to Ladysmith Road, as 
opposed to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium main entrance gates.  In this Option, the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road would continue to operate as two-way.  

3.5.20 CBC has indicated that on completion of the proposed new Crematorium, there would no longer 
be a need to retain either of the options detailed above (as construction traffic would no longer 
need to access the proposed Crematorium).  As such, the intention would be to re-instate the 
route to reflect its current arrangement (including the re-introduction of trees and hedgerow).  For 
reference, both of the Options described above are illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing SK-08.

3.5.21 Route Option B has a total length of approximately 740m (between the main gates to the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium (from Bouncers Lane) and the proposed Crematorium).  For 
operational purposes, the route would comprise of approximately 617m of new carriageway 
(excluding the route intended for construction traffic using / adjacent to main access to the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium). The elevation of the road increases from 75.576m at the 
western end to 93.109m at the eastern end. The road climbs at approximately 2.09% (1 in 48) for 
the first two thirds of its length and then increases to 3.94% (1 in 25) for the final third flattening off 
as it enters the proposed new Crematorium. 

3.5.22 Further to the site visit it is evident that part of the land required to accommodate Route Option B 
forms part of the usable (working) space within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  On this 
basis, to help understand the potential impacts on the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, Peter 
Mitchell Associates has been commissioned to undertake a separate study.  The findings of which 
are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, and are included in Appendix E.

3.5.23 In addition to the above, it was also noted during the site visit that there are a number of well-
established trees which could be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  To help understand 
the potential impacts on the existing trees, WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has discussed the 
proposed route alignment with Chris Chavasse (Senior Tree Officer) at CBC.  For reference, 
Chris’s comments are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, For reference, Chris’s comments 
are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, with a full copy of his comments provided at 
Appendix F.

ROUTE OPTION C 

3.5.24 Route Option C has been considered for use by both construction and operational traffic.   

3.5.25 Route Option C includes the provision of a new 3m wide access road which would skirt the 
southern extent of Oakley Playing Fields and the agricultural land to the south of the proposed 
development site, and would link the proposed new development to Imjin Road at its western 
extent.  The land required to provide Route Option C is within adopted highway and / or under 
CBC’s ownership.    

3.5.26 At the southern extent of Oakley Playing Fields, it is envisaged that the route would skirt the 
northern edge of the existing changing facilities building and would either i) travel through or, ii) to 
the north of the existing children’s playground.  

3.5.27 It is understood that part of this route (between Imjin Road and the southeast extent of Oakley 
Playing Fields) was previously used as a haulage route for construction traffic when constructing 
the footbridge over Wyman’s Brook.   

Page 112



15

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3.5.28 For reference, the proposed access route alignment is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing number SK-06. It should be noted from the plan that where there is sufficient space, an 
indicative outline (dashed line) has been provided along the Route Option alignment which 
denotes a 9.5m wide carriageway, which allows for the provision of a two-way route (with 
footways) to serve any potential future development to the south of the proposed new 
Crematorium. 

3.5.29 Route Option C has a total length of 613m (between the point where it intersects Imjin Road and 
the proposed new Crematorium).  The 613m would comprise of completely new carriageway.  
The elevation of the road increases from 75.576m at the western end to 93.109m at the eastern 
end. The road climbs at approximately 2.32% (1 in 43) for the first two thirds of its length and then 
increases to 4.34% (1 in 23) for the final third flattening off as it enters the proposed development 
site. 

3.5.30 Owing to the proposed alignment of Route Option C, there is potential for the route to conflict with 
existing established trees located to the south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium and the 
proposed development site.  This has been considered by both WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff and 
also CBC’s Tree Office; the comments are summarised in Chapter 4 and Appendix F.

ROUTE OPTION D 

3.5.31 Route Option D has been considered for use by both construction and operational traffic.   

3.5.32 Route Option D is a hybrid of both Route Options B and C.   

3.5.33 In this Option, a 3m wide road is proposed which would run between Imjin Road, up the western 
boundary of Oakley Playing Fields, and along the northern boundary of Oakley Playing Fields 
(along the same alignment as Route Option B – i.e. following the existing Farm Track alignment). 
The land required to provide Route Option D is within adopted highway and / or under CBC’s 
ownership.  As per Route Option B, owing to the presence of an existing Badger Sett, an option 
has also been considered which shifts the alignment of the road approximately 30m south.    

3.5.34 For reference, the proposed access route alignment is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing number SK-07.  It should be noted from the plan that where there is sufficient space, an 
indicative outline (dashed line) has been provided along the Route Option alignment which 
denotes a 9.5m wide carriageway, which allows for the provision of a two-way route (with 
footways) to serve any potential future development to the south of the proposed new 
Crematorium. 

3.5.35 Route Option D has a total length of approximately 637m (between the point where it intersects 
Imjin Road and the proposed new Crematorium).  The 670m would comprise of completely new 
carriageway.  The elevation of the road increases from 75.031m at the western end to 93.060m at 
the eastern end. The road climbs at approximately 3.18% (1 in 31.4) for the first 80m of its length 
and then decreases to 1.77% (1 in 56.33) for the next 310m before increasing to 4.13% (1 in 24) 
for a further 250m. The final 220m of the road is at approx. 4.13% (1 in 24) except for the 
flattening off as it enters the proposed new Crematorium. 

3.5.36 Owing to the proposed alignment of Route Option D, there is potential for the route to conflict with 
existing established trees located to the south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium and the 
proposed development site.  This has been considered by both WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff and 
also CBC’s Tree Office, who’s comments are summarised in Chapter 4 and Appendix F.

SUMMARY  

3.5.37 For ease of reference, the four Route Options and their potential use (i.e. construction and / or 
operational traffic) is summarised in Table 3.1.

Page 113



16

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

Table 3.1 Route Options and Indicative Use  

ROUTE CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC (TWO-WAY) OPERATIONAL TRAFFIC (EGRESS ONLY)

A No Yes

B Yes (Two Options) Yes

C Yes Yes

D Yes Yes

3.6 FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS  

DRAINAGE  

3.6.1 Although drainage has not been considered in detail as part of this study, it is envisaged that 
Surface Water Run-off from proposed roads within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium could 
be collected by a conventional gulley and pipe system and attenuated to Qbar for rainfall return 
periods up to 1 in 100year + 40% climate change.  Due to space constraints attenuation is to be 
within oversized pipes under the proposed road with controlled discharge to the existing culvert 
system within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

3.6.2 Surface Water Run-off from proposed roads outside of the cemetery (B, C, and D) could be via 
shallow ditches located adjacent to the carriageway which would discharge to a small detention 
area within the open space.  Discharge from the detention area would be at Qbar for rainfall 
return periods up to 1 in 100year + 40%. Discharge would be to Wymans Brook or adjacent 
Surface Water Sewer.  Sections of road below the open space would be drained and attenuated 
as per proposed existing Cemetery and Crematorium roads. 

UTILITIES  

3.6.3 At this stage no utility searches have been carried out, but it is envisaged that there is enough 
flexibility within the road designs that utility diversion/protection works could be avoided where 
needed.

LIGHTING  

3.6.4 It is envisaged that there may be a requirement to provide lighting for some / all of the Route 
Options (in particular Route Options B, C, and D).  This would be considered further once the 
preferred Route Option is taken forward.    

GROUND RISK AND REMEDIATION  

3.6.5 It should be noted that Route Options B, C and D skirt Oakley Playing Fields, which is an historic 
landfill site.   The stability (or level of contamination) of the land, and potential implications in 
terms of the preferred route alignment and carriageway make-up, is unknown at this stage.  It is 
recommended that a ground risk assessment is undertaken prior to any construction works.   

FUTURE ADOPTION 

3.6.6 Should it be required, it is envisaged that Route Options C or D could potentially be upgraded to 
adoptable standards, to serve any potential future development.  However, please note 
[depending on the initial specification of the carriageway] that there would be a likely requirement 
to upgrade the carriageway sub base and base course, and drainage and lighting.    

Page 114



17

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3.7 ROUTE OPTIONS EXCLUDED FROM THIS STUDY 

EXISTING INTERNAL CEMETERY AND CREMATORIUM ROADS 

3.7.1 As detailed above, one of the main constraints to achieving both access and egress to the 
proposed new Crematorium from within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is the presence 
of a solitary one-way road which links the older western and newer eastern sections (which is 
lined by existing gravestones). 

3.7.2 Although this route is excluded from this study, Peter Mitchell Associates (grave specialist) has 
been commissioned to undertake a separate study to determine the potential implications 
associated with using / modifying the existing internal route to serve the proposed new Cemetery.  
In addition, Peter Mitchell Associates has also considered the implications of potentially upgrading 
an existing internal pedestrian footpath to provide vehicular access.     

3.7.3 The findings of Peter Mitchell Associates report are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, and 
are included in Appendix E.

ALTERNATIVE ROUTE OPTIONS TO NORTH AND SOUTH 

3.7.4 CBC in their brief has outlined the following alternative potential vehicular route options and 
subsequent reasons for their exclusion from this study: 

Via Prestbury village and Noverton Farm from the north - farm land not owned by the Council; 

Via Prestbury village and Finchcroft Lane from the north – costs and legal issues associated 
with need to bridge Noverton brook; and 

Via Oakley Farm housing development from the south - costs and legal issues associated 
with need to bridge Wyman’s brook and complications of traffic flow through Oakley Farm 
housing estate. 

Page 115



18

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

4 ROUTE OPTIONS – OPPORTUNITIES 
AND CONSTRAINTS 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 

4.1.1 This Chapter of the report considers the opportunities and constraints presented by the proposed 
vehicular Access Route, and by each of the proposed vehicular Egress Routes (Options A, B, C, 
and D), as detailed by Chapter 3 of this report. 

4.1.2 For ease of reference, the opportunities and constraints presented by each of the routes have 
been numbered, and have been marked on the relevant Route Option plans (SK-002, SK-004 to 
SK-007 and SK-08).  Where the points identified are general to the route, these are highlighted in 
the key of the relevant Route Option plan. 

4.1.3 This Chapter also summarises the advice received from Peter Mitchell Associates and CBC’s 
Tree Officer.  

4.2 OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS  

ACCESS ROUTE  

4.2.1 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-02.

4.2.2 It is worth noting that in this option, there would still be a requirement to provide a temporary 
haulage route to the proposed new Crematorium (see opportunities and constraints for Route 
Options B, C and D).  

Opportunities  

1. The proposed access route does not require the construction of any new roads internally or 
externally to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  

2. This proposed access route would not result in any displacement of traffic onto the local 
highway network, nor would this route impact on any existing operation of / parking along 
local streets (i.e. along Imjin Road). 

3. The proposed access route relies on existing roads which currently serve the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium; as such it would not impact on any existing hedgerows / trees / 
habitats. 

Constraints 

4. The existing Grade II listed gates (main entrance and inner) on entry to the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium restrict vehicle movements to one-way.  Although, in this option the gates 
would not be required to be widened, it is worth noting that there would likely still be an issue 
with queuing and delays experienced at the main entrance (as per the current situation).  

5. This Option would result in increased traffic movements internally within the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium.  In particular, there would be a likely increase in traffic using the 
one-way section of road which skirts the northern boundary of the older western section of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium (which is currently used to access the wider existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium).  This could result in increased congestion internally within the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium.      

Page 116



19

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

6. The existing internal Cemetery and Crematorium roads are narrow in places.  As such, any 
intensification of use of these routes (resulting from the relocation of the Crematorium) could 
result in internal congestion / delays and increased safety risks to pedestrians.  

7. In general, the existing internal roads, in particular within the older western section of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium are observed to be in poor condition (the road surface is 
cracked / breaking up in numerous locations).  This is likely to be exacerbated as a result of 
the relocation of the Crematorium and the intensification of traffic using these roads.  

ROUTE OPTION A  

4.2.3 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-04.

4.2.4 It is worth noting that in this option, there would still be a requirement to provide a temporary 
haulage route to serve the proposed new Crematorium [please see opportunities and constraints 
for Route Options B, C and D].  

Opportunities  

1. Route Option A is contained within the curtilage of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  
As such it does not rely on the use of any existing [or proposed] external roads. 

2. The length of the proposed new road section [in isolation] required for Route Option A is 
considerably less than the proposed new road sections proposed for Route Options B, C and 
D.

3. Route Option A does not impact on existing housing estates to south (i.e. noise / pollution). 

4. Route Option A does not impact on Oakley Playing Fields to the south.   

Constraints  

5. This Option would potentially result in the loss of parking internally within the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium (where it is proposed to use the existing car park located to the 
immediate west of the Garden of Remembrance). 

6. This Option involves crossing one Ordinary Watercourse (Wyman’s Brook Tributary), which 
will likely need a simple assessment of flood risk and water quality impacts in consultation 
with GCC as Lead Local Flood Authority. 

7. The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  Any works within 
30 m of the sett will require further consideration.  Should the badger sett be directly affected 
a licence would be required to close the sett.  Should works be required within 30 m of the 
sett, a pre-works check and subsequent ecological method statement would be required.  The 
pre-works check should be carried out within eight weeks of the construction start date in 
case a licence is required. 

8. The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great crested newts.  A 
record of Great crested newt was returned by the desk study, located 180 m from the survey 
area.  Previous Great crested newt surveys did not identify any Great crested newts within the 
pond surveyed.  However, only one of the three suitable ponds was surveyed.  The Natural 
England Great crested newt Risk Grading Tool was applied to ascertain the risk of causing an 
offence under Great crested newt legislation.  The results of this were ‘Amber: Offence 
Likely’.  It is therefore recommended that presence/likely absence surveys for Great crested 
newts be undertaken, which would then inform further recommendations. 

9. The proposed route alignment skirts near existing trees that are suitable for roosting bats.  
Micro-siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not affected.  Should 
tree works be required further survey for bats may be necessary.  This could include aerial 
assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for bats within the bat activity season. 

Page 117



20

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

10. The area in which the route is proposed is considered to contain habitats suitable for breeding 
birds.  Clearance works should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (considered 
to be March - September).  If this were not possible, additional ecological input would be 
required.  This could include pre-works breeding bird checks and ecological supervision of 
clearance works. 

11. The area in which the route is proposed is considered to be suitable habitat for reptiles.  It is 
recommended that a detailed Method Statement be written to control vegetation clearance 
methods and ensure legal compliance. 

12. Habitats of Principal Importance, specifically existing hedgerows and lowland woodland have 
potential to be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  This would likely be taken into 
consideration at the planning stage to comply with relevant legislation.  These habitats should 
ideally be avoided by the proposed route and where this is not possible. 

13. The proposed alignment would likely impact directly on Bouncers Lane Cemetery, which is a 
Grade II listed Park and Gardens, and includes the following Grade II Listed buildings / 
structures:

13.1 Main entrance and inner gates to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium; 

13.2 Cemetery Lodge; 

13.3 North and South Chapel; and 

13.4 Octagonal Lodge (located approximately 15m northwest of the North and South 
Chapel). 

14. The proposed alignment would directly impact on existing deciduous woodland which is 
identified within the Priority Habitat Inventory.

15. The proposed alignment would directly impact on the following tree types:

15.1 Common Beach (Category A1 tree); and 

15.2 Copper Beach (Category A1 tree). 

16. The proposed alignment could directly impact on existing graves. 

ROUTE OPTION B 

4.2.5 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing numbers SK-05.

4.2.6 It should be noted that Route Option B could also be used as a temporary haulage route for 
construction traffic, in which two potential options have been considered for the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium access road section (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-08).

Opportunities  

1. Route Option B would result in the bulk of traffic being taken away from the existing internal 
Cemetery and Crematorium roads (albeit the section of road located between the two existing 
gated entrance points), which in turn would reduce internal congestion / delays.   

Constraints  

2. For the operational phase, this Option would require the provision of a new internal junction 
where the proposed new section of road (external to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium) 
would tie into the internal section of road located between the two existing gated entrance 
points.  There is potential for increase congestion / conflict as a result of the proposed 
arrangement. 

Page 118



21

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3. The existing Farm Track, which skirts the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium is narrow and observed to be in poor condition.  This would likely require 
upgrading and resurfacing.  

4. Of the two options for construction access which are currently considered for the internal 
section of road located between the two existing gated entrance points (see WSP | Parsons 
Brinckerhoff drawing SK-08): 

1. In Option 1 – construction traffic would be directed to use the existing Farm Track via 
Ladysmith Road.  This would require that the existing access is upgraded to 
accommodate construction traffic.  

2. In Option 2 – the narrowing of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road 
(to accommodate the construction route) would require the introduction of one-way 
controlled workings (such as temporary traffic lights).  This arrangement would likely 
lead to increased congestion and delays (particularly during peak hours).  

3. In Option 2 – this arrangement would likely lead to increased traffic movements at the 
existing [modified] access. 

4. In Option 2 – there would be a potential requirement to widen the main entrance 
gates to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (or control movements). 

5. In both Options – it is noted that there are currently areas of parking located along the 
existing access which could restrict movements / result in congestion.  

6. In both options – there would be an intensification of traffic movements, in particular 
construction vehicles, on the local highway network in the vicinity of the existing 
access which could result in increased congestion and delays (particularly during 
peak hours).   

5. Potential highway safety implications associated with bringing construction traffic through the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium access.  

6. This Option involves crossing a Main River (Wyman’s Brook Tributary) which will likely need a 
simple assessment of flood risk and water quality impacts in consultation with the 
Environment Agency. 

7. This Option crosses the proposed ditch / culvert offtake from Wyman’s Brook Tributary for the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage Area. The timing of construction and future proofing of the FSA 
Scheme should be considered in conjunction with its designers. 

8. This Option appears to run within 8m of the Environment Agency’s Main River (Wyman’s 
Brook Tributary), alongside the football pitches. An Environmental Permit is required from the 
Environment Agency for any works within this distance from top of bank 

9. The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  Any works within 
30 m of the sett will require further consideration.  Should the badger sett be directly affected 
a licence would be required to close the sett.  Should works be required within 30 m of the 
sett, a pre-works check and subsequent ecological method statement would be required.  The 
pre-works check should be carried out within eight weeks of the construction start date in 
case a licence is required. 

10. The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great crested newts.  A 
record of Great crested newt was returned by the desk study, located 180 m from the survey 
area.  Previous Great crested newt surveys did not identify any Great crested newt within the 
pond surveyed.  However, only one of the three suitable ponds was surveyed.  The Natural 
England Great crested newt Risk Grading Tool was applied to ascertain the risk of causing an 
offence under Great crested newt legislation.  The results of this were ‘Amber: Offence 
Likely’.  It is therefore recommended that presence/likely absence surveys for Great crested 
newts be undertaken, which would then inform further recommendations. 

11. The proposed route alignment skirts near existing trees which trees that are suitable for 
roosting bats.  Micro-siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not 

Page 119



22

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

affected.  Should tree works felling be required further survey for bats may be necessary 
required.  This could include aerial assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for 
bats within the bat activity season. 

12. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable breeding bird habitat.  Clearance 
works should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (considered to be March - 
September).  If this were not possible, additional ecological input would be required. This 
could include pre-works breeding bird checks and ecological supervision of clearance works. 

13. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable habitat for reptiles.  It is 
recommended that a detailed Method Statement be written to control vegetation clearance 
methods and ensure legal compliance. 

14. Habitats of Principal Importance, specifically existing hedgerows, running water and lowland 
woodland, have potential to be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  This would likely 
be taken into consideration at the planning stage to comply with relevant legislation.  These 
habitats should ideally be avoided by the proposed route and where this is not possible. 

15. The proposed alignment would likely impact directly on Bouncers Lane Cemetery, which is a 
Grade II listed Park and Gardens, and includes the following Grade II Listed buildings / 
structures:

15.1 Main entrance and inner gates to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium; 

15.2 Cemetery Lodge; 

15.3 North and South Chapel; and 

15.4 Octagonal Lodge (located approximately 15m northwest of the North and South 
Chapel). 

16. The proposed alignment would directly impact on existing deciduous woodland which is 
identified within the Priority Habitat Inventory.

17. The proposed alignment would directly impact on the following tree types:

17.1 Cedar (Category B1/C1 tree). 

18. The proposed route would impact on areas of mixed vegetation (trees, hedgerows), which 
have not been included as part of the arboriculture survey, and may be of potential local 
conservation importance. 

19. The route would skirt the northern boundary of Oakley Playing Fields, which is an historic 
landfill site.  The stability of the landfill site is unknown, and would likely require a separate 
Ground Investigation Study.  

20. The proposed route would directly impact on the existing residential properties (approximately 
16 in total) (in terms of noise and pollution) which skirt the southern boundary of the Farm 
Track.  There is also potential that the existing playing fields could be contaminated.   

21. The option crosses a water body.  This means riparian species have potential to be 
impacted.  Depending on the final route alignment, further surveys for otters, water vole and 
white clawed crayfish may be required.

22. The route alignment would impact on the existing basketball court and northernmost football 
pitch. 

ROUTE OPTION C 

4.2.7 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-06.

4.2.8 It should be noted that Route Option C could also be used as a temporary haulage route for 
construction traffic.

Page 120



23

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

Opportunities  

1. Route Option C would not impact on the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  

2. The provision of a new separate road to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium would 
reduce traffic movements at the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access (from Bouncers 
Lane).

3. The proposed route alignment would not directly impact on the existing car park which serves 
Oakley Playing Fields.  

4. Route Option C could be used to access potential future development land / proposed flood 
alleviation scheme located to the south of the proposed new Crematorium. 

Constraints  

5. This Option would require traffic (construction and operational) to use Imjin Road.  The 
potential implications associated with this are as follows: 

1. Potential for access to be obstructed by motorists parking along both sides of Imjin 
Road; and 

2. Potential congestion / delays resulting from increased traffic using Imjin Road;  

3. Increased safety concerns resulting from increased traffic using Imjin Road; and 

4. Potential impacts on wider network, including along B4075 Priors Road.  

6. This Option involves crossing a Main River (Wyman’s Brook Tributary) which will likely need a 
simple assessment of flood risk and water quality impacts in consultation with the 
Environment Agency. 

7. This Option crosses two proposed culverts associated with the Priors Farm Flood Storage 
Area. The timing of construction and future proofing of the FSA Scheme should be considered 
in conjunction with its designers. Suitable cover should be sought over the culvert. 

8. This Option appears to run within 8m of the Environment Agency’s Main River (Wyman’s 
Brook Tributary), alongside the football pitches. An Environmental Permit is required from the 
Environment Agency for any works within this distance from top of bank. 

9. The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great Crested Newts.  
A record of Great Crested Newt was returned by the desk study, located 180 m from the 
survey area.  Previous Great Crested Newt surveys did not identify any Great Crested Newt 
within the pond surveyed.  However, only one of the three suitable ponds was surveyed.  The 
Natural England Great Crested Newt Risk Grading Tool was applied to ascertain the risk of 
causing an offence under Great Crested Newt legislation.  The results of this were ‘Green: 
Offence Highly Unlikely’ due to the location of the ponds and the extent of habitat to be 
affected.  Therefore no surveys are required in this instance.   It is recommended that once 
the exact scope of works has been agreed this assessment is confirmed.   It is recommended 
that should Option C be taken forward, all works are carried out under a precautionary 
method of working for great crested newts. 

10. The proposed route alignment skirts near existing trees that are suitable for roosting bats.  
Micro-siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not affected.  Should 
tree works be required further survey for bats may be necessary.  This could include aerial 
assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for bats within the bat activity season. 

11. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable breeding bird habitat.  Clearance 
works should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (considered to be March – 
September inclusive).  If this were not possible, additional ecological input would be required.  
This could include pre-works breeding bird checks and ecological supervision of clearance 
works. 

Page 121



24

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

12. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable habitat for reptiles.  It is 
recommended that a detailed Method Statement be written to control vegetation clearance 
methods and ensure legal compliance. 

13. The option crosses one water body and comes in close proximity to another.  This means 
riparian species have potential to be impacted.  Depending on the final route alignment, 
further surveys for otters, water vole and white clawed crayfish may be required. 

14. Habitats of Principal Importance, specifically existing hedgerows, have potential to be 
impacted by the proposed route alignment.  This would likely be taken into consideration at 
the planning stage to comply with relevant legislation.  These habitats should ideally be 
avoided by the proposed route and where this is not possible impacts should be minimised. 

15. The proposed route would impact on areas of mixed vegetation (trees, hedgerows), which 
have not been included as part of the arboriculture survey, and may be of potential local 
conservation importance. 

16. The route would skirt the southern boundary of Oakley Playing Fields, which is an historic 
landfill site.  The stability of the landfill site is unknown, and would likely require a separate 
Ground Investigation Study. There is also potential that the existing playing fields could be 
contaminated.   

17. The proposed route alignment would impact on the existing football fields and associated 
changing facilities (effectively bisecting the two).  

18. The proposed route alignment would impact on the existing children’s playground.  

19. The proposed route alignment would require re-profiling of land / potential introduction of 
retaining wall along the southern boundary of the Oakley Football Fields.

ROUTE OPTION D 

4.2.9 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-07.

4.2.10 It should be noted that Route Option D could also be used as a temporary haulage route for 
construction traffic. 

Opportunities  

1. Although Route Option D would skirt the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, it would not impact directly on any existing graves. 

2. The provision of a new separate road to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium would 
reduce traffic movements at the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access (from Bouncers 
Lane).

3. The proposed route alignment would not directly impact on the existing car park which serves 
Oakley Playing Fields.  

4. Route Option D could be used to access potential future development land / proposed flood 
alleviation scheme located to the south of the proposed new Crematorium. 

Constraints  

5. This Option would require that traffic (construction and operational) would use Imjin Road.  
The potential implications associated with this are as follows: 

1. Potential for access to be obstructed by motorists parking along both sides of Imjin 
Road; and 

2. Potential congestion / delays resulting from increased traffic using Imjin Road;  

3. Increased safety concerns resulting from increased traffic using Imjin Road; and 

Page 122



25

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

4. Potential impacts on wider network, including along B4075 Priors Road.  

6. This Option involves crossing a Main River (Wyman’s Brook Tributary) which will likely need a 
simple assessment of flood risk and water quality impacts in consultation with the 
Environment Agency. 

7. This Option crosses the proposed ditch / culvert offtake from Wyman’s Brook Tributary for the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage Area. The timing of construction and future proofing of the FSA 
Scheme should be considered in conjunction with its designers. 

8. This Option appears to run within 8m of the Environment Agency’s Main River (Wyman’s 
Brook Tributary), alongside the football pitches. An Environmental Permit is required from the 
Environment Agency for any works within this distance from top of bank. 

9. The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  Any works within 
30 m of the sett will require further consideration.  Should the badgers sett be directly affected 
a licence would be required to close the sett.  Should works be required within 30 m of the 
sett, a pre-works check and subsequent ecological method statement would be required.  The 
pre-works check should be carried out within eight weeks of the construction start date in 
case a licence is required. 

10. The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great crested newts.  A 
record of Great crested newt was returned by the desk study, located 180 m from the survey 
area.  Previous Great crested newt surveys did not identify any Great crested newt within the 
pond surveyed.  However, only one of the three suitable ponds was surveyed.  The Natural 
England Great crested newt Risk Grading Tool was applied to ascertain the risk of causing an 
offence under Great crested newt legislation.  The results of this were ‘Amber: Offence 
Likely’.  It is therefore recommended that presence/likely absence surveys for Great crested 
newts be undertaken, which would then inform further recommendations. 

11. The proposed route alignment skirts near existing trees which trees that are suitable for 
roosting bats.  Micro-siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not 
affected.  Should tree works felling be required further survey for bats may be necessary 
required.  This could include aerial assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for 
bats within the bat activity season. 

12. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable breeding bird habitat.  Clearance 
works should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (considered to be March - 
September).  If this were not possible, additional ecological input would be required.  This 
could include pre-works breeding bird checks and ecological supervision of clearance works. 

13. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable habitat for reptiles.  It is 
recommended that a detailed Method Statement be written to control vegetation clearance 
methods and ensure legal compliance. 

14. Habitats of Principal Importance, specifically existing hedgerows, running water and lowland 
woodland have potential to be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  This would likely 
be taken into consideration at the planning stage to comply with relevant legislation.  These 
habitats should ideally be avoided by the proposed route and where this is not possible 
impacts should be minimised. 

15. The proposed alignment would likely impact indirectly on Bouncers Lane Cemetery, which is 
a Grade II listed Park and Gardens, and includes the following Grade II Listed buildings / 
structures: 

15.1 Cemetery Lodge; 

15.2 North and South Chapel; and 

15.3 Octagonal Lodge (located approximately 15m northwest of the North and South 
Chapel). 

16. The proposed alignment would directly impact on existing deciduous woodland which is 
identified within the Priority Habitat Inventory.

Page 123



26

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

17. The proposed route would impact on areas of mixed vegetation (trees, hedgerows) which 
have not been included as part of the arboriculture survey, and may be of potential local 
conservation importance. 

18. The route would skirt the north and west of Oakley Playing Fields, which is an historic landfill 
site.  The stability of the landfill site is unknown, and would likely require a separate Ground 
Investigation Study.  There is also potential that the existing playing fields could be 
contaminated.   

19. The proposed route would directly impact on the existing residential properties (approximately 
8 in total) (in terms of noise and pollution) which skirt the western boundary of Oakley Playing 
Fields. 

20. The proposed route alignment would require re-profiling of land / potential introduction of 
retaining wall along the western boundary of the Oakley Football Fields. 

21. The option crosses one water body and comes in close proximity to another.  This means 
riparian species have potential to be impacted.  Depending on the final route alignment, 
further surveys for otters, water vole and white clawed crayfish may be required.

22. The route alignment would impact on the existing basketball court and northernmost football 
pitch

4.3 EXTERNAL ADVICE   

GRAVE SPECIALIST  

4.3.1 As detailed in Chapter 3 of this report, Peter Mitchell Associates has also undertaken a separate 
study which identifies the issues surrounding the potential use / modification of the existing 
internal road (and potential pedestrian footpath) which links the older western and newer eastern 
sections of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

4.3.2 In addition, Peter Mitchell Associates has also considered the implications, in terms of impacts on 
existing graves resulting from the proposed Route Options (namely Route Options A and B) 
identified within this report.  

In summary, Peter Mitchell Associates report identifies: 

“In my view, there is no legislation that is applicable to authorising the removal of memorials 
and burials in an operational local authority cemetery; 

Based upon the information that I have received, of the routes identified by WSP | Parsons 
Brinckerhoff which impact directly on the cemetery (namely A and B), I recommend that 
Route B shown in purple on the WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK03 is regarded as 
having a much greater chance of being feasible than Route A shown in yellow, due to the 
clear indications of coffin burials along Route A; 

Similarly, Route B shown in purple on the WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK03 avoids 
areas clearly used for coffin burials within the areas shaded orange and red on the RES 
Surveying Topographic Survey Sheet 13; and 

The proposals threaten to disturb a place where the bodies and ashes of deceased people lie 
and thereby have the potential to cause great distress to bereaved people, which must be 
recognised by the team working on this project.” 

4.3.3 For reference, a copy of Peter Mitchell Associates report is contained in Appendix E.

Page 124



27

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

TREE SPECIALIST  

4.3.4 As detailed in Chapter 3 of this report, to help understand the potential impacts on the existing 
trees internal and external to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, WSP | Parsons 
Brinckerhoff has discussed the proposed Route Options with Chris Chavasse (Senior Tree 
Officer) at CBC. 

4.3.5 For reference his comments are summarised below for each Route Option (A-D), with a copy of 
the Chris’s full comments included at Appendix F.

Route A would incur the most tree related damage/removals and may be the most expensive 
to construct but would ultimately fit best into this landscape on the assumption that a 
generous landscaping scheme could mitigate for tree loss/damage.  This may be technically 
the most challenging route to achieve due to the “no-dig” requirement where the route 
deviates into the root protection area of existing large trees; 

Route B would incur some loss of boundary screening and trees along front of drive (if drive is 
to be widened).  However, re-landscaping could mitigate for this loss.  This new route would 
fit aesthetically well into the local environment; 

Route C would not incur significant tree loss but the proposed new road may look 
incongruous through this open space.  Some ground cover would have to be removed; and 

Route D would also not incur significant tree loss but some ground cover would need to be 
removed.  The road would fit more discretely into the landscape. 

Page 125



28

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

5 FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 INTRODUCTION 

5.1.1 This Chapter considers the potential additional tasks that could be required should any of the 
proposed Route Options be progressed further.  More specifically, the Chapter considers potential 
future survey requirements, consultation, cost implications and deliverability.  

5.2 POTENTIAL SURVEY REQUIREMENTS 

TRAFFIC IMPACTS  

5.2.1 When compared to the existing service time information provided by CBC, the ATC survey 
recorded a maximum of 113 and 159 vehicles entering and exiting the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, respectively (which occurred during two separate hours).  This equates to 
approximately 1.5 vehicles per minute in either direction.  

5.2.2 Assuming that the hours of operation of the proposed new Crematorium would reflect that of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium (i.e. services would be held between 10:00 and 16:00), traffic 
generated by the proposed new Crematorium would not be anticipated to conflict with the peak 
hours of operation of the local highway network.  

5.2.3 Notwithstanding this, given that two of the routes identified in this report rely on the use of Imjin 
Road for access, GCC, as relevant highway authority, may request that further analysis is 
undertaken (as part of any assessment required to support a planning application) to understand 
the potential impacts that the development proposals, in terms of traffic generation, could have on 
the existing local highway network (in particular Imjin Road / Priors Road).   

5.2.4 Based on the traffic volumes derived from the ATC survey (and in the absence of any detailed 
assessment) we do not envisage that there would be a need to undertake any significant 
upgrades to the existing Imjin Road / Priors Road junction.  This is however subject to discussions 
with GCC highways department.  

5.2.5 Internally, vehicles are currently permitted to park along the existing access road between the 
main entrance and inner gates.  However, CBC has indicated that they would potentially look to 
prohibit parking in this location once the proposed new Crematorium is in place.  Should this be 
the case, then there may be a requirement to assess the likely impacts on parking displacement 
(although this is not envisaged to be substantial). 

5.2.6 Externally, it is also worth noting that, should there be a requirement to use Imjin Road to access 
the proposed new Crematorium, there may also be a need to undertake a parking beat survey to 
understand existing parking demand and any impacts associated with the potential displacement 
of parking.     

Page 126



29

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

PROTECTED SPECIES 

BADGERS

5.2.7 The proposed route alignments are in close proximity to an active badger sett.  Any works within 
30 m of the sett will require further consideration.  Should the badgers sett be directly affected a 
licence would be required to close the sett.  Should works be required within 30 m of the sett, a 
pre-works check and subsequent ecological method statement would be required.  The pre-works 
check should be carried out within eight weeks of the construction start date in case a licence is 
required.   

5.2.8 The peak time to survey badgers is February to April.  Should a licence and sett closure be 
required it should be noted that no closures can take place between December and June due to 
the dependence of juveniles upon their mothers. 

RIPARIAN

5.2.9 The route options potentially cross one water body and comes in close proximity to another.  This 
means riparian species have the potential to be impacted.  Depending on the final route 
alignment, further surveys for otters, water vole and white clawed crayfish may be required.   

5.2.10 The optimal time of year to carry out surveys for water vole is from mid-April to September, whilst 
otter survey can be undertaken at any time of year.  Surveys carried out after heavy rains are not 
advisable, as field signs are often washed away.  White clawed crayfish should be surveyed 
during late summer (July to September). 

BATS

5.2.11 The proposed route alignments skirt near existing trees that are suitable for roosting bats.  Micro-
siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not affected.  Should tree works 
or felling be required further survey for bats may be necessary required.  This could include aerial 
assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for bats within the bat activity season (May to 
September).   

5.2.12 Preliminary ground level roost assessments of trees are best carried out in winter due to the lack 
of foliage.  

5.2.13 Should trees identified as being of moderate roost suitability or high roost suitability need to be 
removed or affected then the following surveys would need to be undertaken under best practice 
guidance (BCT Guidelines, 2016): 

Table 5.1 Potential Bat Surveys   

Low roost suitability Moderate roost suitability High roost suitability 

No further surveys required Two separate survey visits.  One 
dusk emergence and a separate 
dawn re-entry survey. 

Surveys undertaken between May 
to September, with at least one 
survey between May and August. 

Three separate survey visits. At 
least one dusk emergence and a 
separate dawn re-entry 
survey.  The third visit could be 
either dusk or dawn. 

Surveys undertaken between May 
to September, with at least two 
surveys between May and August. 

Page 127



30

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

BREEDING BIRDS 

5.2.14 The areas in which the routes are proposed are suitable breeding bird habitat.  Clearance works 
should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (February to August).  If this were not 
possible, additional ecological input would be required.  This could include pre-works breeding 
bird checks and ecological supervision of clearance works. 

5.2.15 The breeding bird season is considered to be February to August.  Vegetation clearance within 
this time would require ecological supervision.  

GREAT CRESTED NEWTS 

5.2.16 Ponds within the survey area were identified as being suitable for Great crested newts and 
records of Great crested newts were returned within 180 m of the survey area by a previous third 
party survey.   

5.2.17 It is recommended that presence/absence survey be undertaken under best practice guidance in 
the event that options A, B or D are selected.  Should option C be selected it is recommended 
that a detailed Method Statement be written to protect against breaches of legislation.   

5.2.18 Presence absence survey would consist of four survey visits between mid-March to mid-June, 
with at least two of these visits during mid-April to mid-May. 

ADDITIONAL ECOLOGICAL DETAILS   

5.2.19 Further detail regarding the potential ecological survey requirements and implications on the 
programme for delivery is included in Appendix G.

HERITAGE 

5.2.20 Consultation should be undertaken with the relevant CBC Planning and Conservation Officers at 
the earliest opportunity. Widening of the Grade II listed entrance pillars will require listed building 
consent prior to works commencing. 

5.2.21 The timescales for achieving listed building consent will vary depending on the outcomes of 
consultation with CBC planning and Conservations Officers (and / or any third parties).   

5.2.22 Landscape consultation should be undertaken with the Cotswold AONB Conservation Board at 
the earliest opportunity. The proposed scheme may impact on the setting of the AONB; therefore 
it is advisable to inform the Board of the proposals.  Although not envisaged to be significant, the 
potential implications of constructing a new route adjacent to the AONB, would not be fully 
understood until discussions have been held with the Cotswold AONB Conservation Board. 

5.2.23 It is also worth noting that the proposed Route Options (namely Route Options A and B) would 
impact upon the existing Bouncers Lane Cemetery, which is a Grade II listed Park and Gardens. 
As such, CBC as Local planning Authority would likely have to liaise directly with Historic England 
to understand the potential implications associated with the preferred Route Option.  

GROUND INVESTIGATION 

5.2.24 The Oakley Playing Fields historical landfill site has been identified as a potential risk to delivery 
of Route Options B, C and D.  Construction on or in the vicinity of a landfill site can give rise to 
abnormal costs which need to be considered when assessing the feasibility and design of the 
various scheme options. Landfill material is often heterogeneous and contaminated which can 
give rise to a number of geotechnical and contaminated land constraints. 

Page 128



31

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

5.2.25 Depending on the route option under consideration and subject to further information in relation to 
the extent of the landfill, in order to evaluate the significance of potential constraints and abnormal 
constraints, an intrusive geotechnical and geo-environmental assessment is required. The 
assessment will need to obtain data on the composition of the landfill material and underlying 
geology, geotechnical parameters, contamination concentrations, hydrogeological and ground 
gas regimes.  

5.2.26 Potential measures which may be required to mitigate potential ground and contamination 
related  constraints may include the use of piled foundations, ground improvement / stabilisation 
of materials, retaining features and removal of unacceptable material; and the installation of long 
term leachate and / or ground gas control measures. 

SUMMARY 

5.2.27 Based on the above, it is anticipated that the following surveys could be required for each of the 
proposed vehicular egress Route Options 

Table 5.2 Potential Survey Requirements   

SURVEY TYPE ROUTE OPTION A ROUTE OPTION B ROUTE OPTION C ROUTE OPTION D

Traffic X X

Badger X X X

Riparian X X X X

Bats X X X X

Breeding Birds X X X X

Great crested newts X X X X

Ground Investigation X X X X

5.3 OFF-SITE HIGHWAY WORKS 

5.3.1 Although this report does not take into consideration the design and construction of the preferred 
route option, it should be noted that where it is intended to link into the existing highway network 
(i.e. Imjin Road) there may be a need to enter into a S278 minor works agreement (or similar 
agreement) to undertake any necessary works. This could also be the case should there be a 
requirement to undertake any off-site highway improvements on the local highway network (i.e. 
Imjin Road / Priors Road junction).  

5.4 CONSTRUCTION PERMITS FOR WORKS NEAR WATERCOURSES 

5.4.1 Works within 8m of an Environment Agency Main River (Wyman’s Brook and Tributary) will 
require an Environmental Permit. The process and timescales for this will vary depending on the 
final design. However, early consultation with the Environment Agency is recommended, and 
between 4 and 12 weeks are required for determination. Prior to the granting of the permit no 
works should be undertaken within 8m of the top of bank. 

5.4.2 It is recommended that more detailed consultation is undertaken with Gloucestershire County 
Council to identify who will approve any required Land Drainage Consents prior to construction. 
Powers have been delegated to Cheltenham Borough Council but it is expected they are unable 
to self-approve an application. 

5.5 CONSULTATION  

5.5.1 Owing to the proposed alignment of each of the Route Options considered and their associated 
impacts, CBC are likely to have to enter into discussions / consultation with: 

General Public; 

Page 129



32

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

GCC (Highways Authority); 

Environment Agency; 

Historic England; and 

Natural England. 

5.5.2 Please note that the above list is by no means extensive, and is intended to provide an indication 
of likely third parties that would need to be consulted.    

5.6 COST IMPLICATIONS  

5.6.1 It is understood that Willmott Dixon will prepare a detailed cost estimate of each of the Route 
Options described in this report, which will be provided to CBC under separate cover.   Please 
note that there would be a likely difference in costs associated with constructing the 3m 
carriageway to serve the proposed new Crematorium, and any future upgrade of the route/s to 
meet adoptable standards.  

5.7 DELIVERABILITY 

PLANNING RISK 

5.7.1 Owing to the complexities surrounding each of the proposed Route Options, it is difficult to gauge 
the level of planning inputs required and subsequent time-frames for their delivery.    

5.7.2 However, based on the information presented in this report, it is considered that: 

Route Option A would impact directly on graves / ash scatterings within the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium, which could carry significant risk in terms of achieving planning / 
deliverability.    

Route Options B carries low to medium risk, in the respect that it relies on the use of external 
land (Farm Track) to provide a new road, which would likely impact directly on existing 
residents and existing trees / hedgerows located to the south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium).  

Route Option C and D carry higher risk, as they rely on land outside of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium, which could require considerable consultation / planning inputs.    It is 
considered that Route Options C and D would be the most expensive (to be confirmed by 
Willmott Dixon) of the four Route Options to implement (owing to their length and their 
variations in height).  

5.7.3 It is considered that CBC would take a view on the likely planning risks and subsequent 
timeframes for delivery of each Route Option following receipt of this report.  

CBC’S ‘ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT’ 

5.7.4 Each of the proposed Route Options has been evaluated against the points raised I CBC’s 
‘Access Road Brief – Initial Draft’, namely: 

Most positive impact on proposed Crematorium Redevelopment Project budgeted costs; 

Least negative impact on Crematorium Redevelopment Project timescales; 

Maximise likelihood of planning permission, taking account of the sensitivity of the location; 
the nearby Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and public green space aspirations; 

Ability to deal with expected traffic volumes; 

Page 130



33

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

Least negative impact on local facilities, e.g. cemetery, sports facilities including paying fields, 
playground etc.; and 

Greatest social value through enabling or not constraining flood alleviation schemes; 
allotment provision; local green space designation and potential for future housing 
development. 

5.7.5 In respect of the first two points, these are addressed through the earlier points raised in this 
report.  The latter points are considered in Table 5.3, over page.  

Page 131



34

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Access Road Study Project No 70024730 

October 2016

Table 5.3 Route Options Appraisal (Against Points Highlighted by CBC’s Brief) 

ROUTE 

OPTION 
AONB 

PUBLIC GREEN 

SPACE
TRAFFIC VOLUMES

LOCAL FACILITIES 

– CEMETERY

LOCAL FACILITIES 

– OAKLEY 

PLAYING FIELDS

LOCAL FACILITIES 

- PLAYGROUND

FLOOD ALLEVIATION SCHEME 

(FAS) 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Access No Impact No Impact 

Potential 
implications 

internally with re-
distribution of 

traffic 

No Impact No Impact No Impact No Impact 
Not considered feasible 
to facilitate any future 

development  

A* No Impact No Impact 

Potential 
implications 

internally with re-
distribution of 

traffic 

Direct impact on 
existing graves / 
memorial area 

No Impact No Impact No Impact 
Not considered feasible 
to facilitate any future 

development 

B
Indirect 
Impact 

(setting) 

Direct impact 
on Public 

Green Space 

Potential 
implications 

internally with re-
distribution of 

traffic 

Direct impact on 
main access to 

existing 
Cemetery and 
Crematorium 

Indirect impact 
(skirts north of 
Oakley Playing 

Fields) 

No Impact 

Indirect impact on location of 
FAS scheme   

Direct impact in respect that 
proposed alignment crosses 
culverts associated with the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage 

Area 

Not considered feasible 
to facilitate any future 

development (owing to 
use of existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium access 

road / and road width 
constraints presented by 

Farm Track) 

C
Indirect 
Impact 

(setting) 

Direct impact 
on Public 

Green Space 

Direct impact on 
Imjin Road 

No Impact Direct impact 

Direct / Indirect 
Impact – 

depending on 
preferred route 

alignment  

Indirect impact on location of 
FAS scheme   

Direct impact in respect that 
proposed alignment crosses 
culverts associated with the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage 

Area 

Considered feasible to 
facilitate any future 

development 

D
Indirect 
Impact 

(setting) 

Direct impact 
on Public 

Green Space 

Direct impact on 
Imjin Road 

No Impact Direct impact No Impact 

Indirect impact on location of 
FAS scheme   

Direct impact in respect that 
proposed alignment crosses 
culverts associated with the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage 

Area 

Considered feasible to 
facilitate any future 

development 

* Please note that in Route Option A, a separate haulage route would need to be considered (i.e. Route Options B, C and D).  

P
age 132



35

WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff                                                                                                                                  WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Access Road Study                                                                                                                                                          Project No 70024730                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                      October 2016

6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

6.1 SUMMARY

6.1.1 This report summarises the transport / highways, flood risk, ecological, and environmental 
opportunities and constraints presented by various potential Route Options which are proposed to 
serve a new Crematorium in Cheltenham.  

6.1.2 This study has been commissioned on the basis that the existing internal road network which 
currently serves the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is deemed insufficient to serve the 
proposed new Crematorium. 

6.1.3 This report does not seek to highlight the preferred vehicular route option, but provides a review of 
opportunities and constraints presented by each vehicular route option, which in turn will assist 
CBC in making their decision of the preferred access strategy for the proposed new Crematorium. 

6.1.4 The proposed Route Option alignments presented in this report are intended to serve the 
proposed new Crematorium.  However, where sufficient space allows, an indicative outline 
(dashed line) has been provided along the Route Option alignments which denotes a 9.5m wide 
carriageway, which allows for the provision of a two-way route (with footways) to serve any 
potential future development to the south of the proposed new Crematorium. 

6.1.5 In support of this study, WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has obtained additional specialist advice 
from: 

Peter Mitchell Associates – Independent Grave Specialist; and 

Chris Chavasse – Senior Tree Officer (CBC). 

6.1.6 WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has also sought advice from GCC highways department; however a 
response has not been received in sufficient time to inform this report.  

6.1.7 This report has also been informed by a number of existing ecological / environmental surveys 
which were commissioned by CBC at the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  

6.1.8 Based on the information available and points raised by this report, there will likely be a 
requirement to undertake additional surveys (see Chapter 5) prior to implementing the preferred 
Route Option.   In addition, there would be likely requirement to consult with third parties.  

6.1.9 It is understood that Willmott Dixon will prepare a detailed cost estimate of each of the Route 
Options described in this report, which will be provided to CBC under separate cover. 

6.1.10 For ease of reference, the Route Options are summarised in Table 6.1, along with a description of 
the key opportunities and constraints and an indication of the likely level of risk of delivery (low to 
high).  

6.2 CONCLUSION  

6.2.1 This report demonstrates that, by virtue of its nature and location, there are a number of potential 
constraints which need to be considered and addressed prior to the implementation of any of the 
potential Route Options (A, B, C, and D) to serve the proposed new Crematorium.   

Page 133



36

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Access Road Study Project No 70024730 

October 2016

Table 6.1 Route Options Summary  

ROUTE 

OPTION
DESCRIPTION

POTENTIAL USE 

(CONSTRUCTION /
OPERATIONAL)

KEY OPPORTUNITIES KEY CONSTRAINTS RISK

Access
Use of existing internal roads to 
access the proposed new 
Crematorium 

Operational [only]  The proposed access route does not require the construction of any new 
internal or external roads. 

 This proposed access route would not result in any displacement of traffic 
onto the local highway network. 

 The proposed access route would not impact on any existing hedgerows / 
trees / habitats. 

 Existing main entrance gates restrict access to one-way.  

 Likely intensification of traffic along specific internal routes resulting in internal 
congestion / delays.  

 Existing internal roads are narrow and observed to be in poor condition in places. 

Low

A

Relies in part on the use of the 
existing internal Cemetery roads, 
and the provision of a new 3m wide 
access road which would skirt the 
northern boundary of the Garden of 
Remembrance. 

Operational [only] 

 The proposed access route would be contained within the curtilage of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

 The length of the proposed new road section [in isolation] required for 
Route Option A is considerably less than the proposed new road sections 
proposed for Route Options B, C and D 

 The proposed access route does not impact on Oakley Playing Fields / 
residential estates to the south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.

 Impacts on existing graves.  The proposals threaten to disturb a place where the 
bodies and ashes of deceased people lie and thereby have the potential to cause 
great distress to bereaved people (Grave Specialist) (see Section 4.3).  

 Would potentially result in loss of internal parking. 

 The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  

 The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great 
crested newts.  

 Would impact on existing established trees / hedgerows. 

 Route A would incur the most tree related damage/removals and may be the 
most expensive to construct but would ultimately fit best into this landscape on 
the assumption that a generous landscaping scheme could mitigate for tree 
loss/damage (Tree Officer) (see Section 4.3). 

High 

B

Relies on use of part of the existing 
internal Cemetery access road, 
between the two gated entrance 
points, and then the provision of a 
new 3m wide access road which 
would link to the existing access 
road (in the vicinity of the internal 
gated entrance point) and would 
skirt the southern boundary of the 
existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium.  Consideration has 
also been given to two potential 
options to split construction and 
operational traffic within of the 
existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium.  

Construction and 
Operational  

 Traffic would be taken away from existing internal Cemetery and 
Crematorium roads. 

 Preferred Route Option by Grave Specialist which does not impact on 
existing graves (Grave Specialist) (see Section 4.3). 

 Provision of new junction onto existing internal Cemetery and Crematorium 
access road could lead to potential congestion / conflict. 

 Construction access: 
- Option 1 - Farm Track likely to require significant upgrading. 
- Option 2 – Would require introduction of one-way workings 
- Option 2 –Would potentially require the widening of the Grade II Listed main 

entrance gates (or introduction of control measures). 

 Potential highway safety implications associated with bringing construction traffic 
through the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access. 

 Proposed Route Option alignment would cross Main River, which would require 
consultation with Environment Agency / Environmental Permit.  

 The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  

 The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great 
crested newts.  

 Would impact on existing established trees / hedgerows, and residential 
dwellings located to south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access 
road.

 Proposed Route alignment would skirt northern extent of Oakley Playing Fields, 
which is an historic landfill site.   The stability of the landfill site is unknown.  

 Route B would incur some loss of boundary screening and trees along the 
access road (if drive is to be widened).  However, re-landscaping could mitigate 
for this loss.  This new route would fit aesthetically well into the local environment 
(Tree Officer) (see Section 4.3). 

Medium / High 

C

Includes the provision of a new 3m 
wide access road which would skirt 
the southern extent of Oakley 
Playing Fields and the agricultural 
land to the south of the proposed 
development site, and would link the 
proposed new development to Imjin 
Road at its western extent. 

Construction and 
Operational 

 The proposed access route would not impact on the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium 

 The provision of a new separate road would reduce traffic movements at 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access. 

 The proposed access route could be used to access potential future 
development land / proposed flood alleviation scheme located to the south 
of the proposed new Crematorium. 

 Potential highway operation and safety implications resulting from additional 
traffic movements along Imjin Road.  

 Proposed Route Option alignment would cross Main River, which would require 
consultation with Environment Agency / Environmental Permit.  

 Route crosses proposed ditch / culvert offtake from Wyman’s Brook Tributary for 
the Priors Farm Flood Storage Area.   

 The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great 
crested newts.  

 Proposed Route alignment would skirt southern extent of Oakley Playing Fields, 
which is an historic landfill site.   The stability of the landfill site is unknown. 

Route C would not incur significant tree loss but the proposed new road may look 
incongruous through this open space.  Some ground cover would have to be 
removed (Tree Officer) (see Section 4.3). 

High 

D

Hybrid of both Route Options B and 
C.  Includes the provision of a new 
3m wide road is proposed which 
would run between Imjin Road, up 
the western boundary of Oakley 

Construction and 
Operational 

 The provision of a new separate road would reduce traffic movements at 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access. 

 The proposed access route could be used to access potential future 
development land / proposed flood alleviation scheme located to the south 
of the proposed new Crematorium. 

 Potential highway operation and safety implications resulting from additional 
traffic movements along Imjin Road.  

 Proposed Route Option alignment would cross Main River, which would require 
consultation with Environment Agency / Environmental Permit.  

 Route crosses proposed ditch / culvert offtake from Wyman’s Brook Tributary for 

High 

P
age 134



37

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Access Road Study Project No 70024730 

October 2016

ROUTE 

OPTION
DESCRIPTION

POTENTIAL USE 

(CONSTRUCTION /
OPERATIONAL)

KEY OPPORTUNITIES KEY CONSTRAINTS RISK

Playing Fields, and along the 
northern boundary of Oakley 
Playing Fields (along the same 
alignment as Route Option B – i.e. 
following the existing Farm Track 
alignment. 

the Priors Farm Flood Storage Area.   

 The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  

 The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great 
crested newts.  

 Proposed Route alignment would skirt southern extent of Oakley Playing Fields, 
which is an historic landfill site.   The stability of the landfill site is unknown. 

 The proposed route would directly impact on the existing residential properties 
(approximately 16 in total) (in terms of noise and pollution) which skirt the 
southern boundary of the Farm Track. 

 Route D would also not incur significant tree loss but some ground cover would 
need to be removed.  The road would fit more discretely into the landscape (Tree 
Officer) (see Section 4.3). 

P
age 135



ROUTE OPTION PLANS

Page 136



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 137



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 138



1

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 139



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 140



1

 

WSP Group Ltdc

 

P
age 141



1

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 142



1

 

WSP Group Ltdc

 

P
age 143



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 144



Appendix A 
CBC’S ACCESS ROAD BRIEF  

Page 145



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 1 of 6

Introduction & Background 

Cheltenham Borough Council is intending to build a new crematorium on land it owns immediately to the 

east of its existing Cemetery and Crematorium off Bouncers Lane, Cheltenham. See Diagram 1.  

An independent options appraisal undertaken in 2015 by Robert Potters and Partners, identified possible 

entrance and exit routes to and from a new crematorium and car park, producing some initial ideas for 

routes within the existing cemetery and land owned by the council to the south. See Diagram 2. 

Principal Contractor for the project, Willmott Dixon has recently completed a feasibility study of a 

conceptual plan for the new facilities which includes a comparison of two alternative exit routes, one 

inside the existing grounds and one to the south known as Prior’s Farm. 

While studies so far have been useful conceptually, it is clear the Council and its partnering Contractor 

require a comprehensive impact assessment study and detailed appraisal of possible operational access 

routes taking account of all relevant factors. This need was also suggested in a strategic development 

report undertaken by the lead planning Officer who advises the Crematorium Redevelopment Project 

Board.

The crematorium development project is constrained by an allocated budget which has no provision for 

land purchase. Therefore certain possible access route options have been ruled out for further 

consideration. As such, the following possible routes can be discounted for the reasons stated: 

a. Via Prestbury village and Noverton Farm from the north - Farm land not owned by the Council 

b. Via Prestbury village and Finchcroft Lane from the north – Costs and legal issues associated with 

need to bridge Noverton brook 

c. Via Oakley Farm housing development from the south - Costs and legal issues associated with need 

to bridge Wyman’s brook and complications of traffic flow through Oakley Farm housing estate 

Objectives 

Provide a comprehensive report, which is able to support any forthcoming planning application, to 

Cheltenham Borough Council and Willmott Dixon, analysing options for: 

- The preferred operational access routes to and from the proposed new crematorium and car park 

- Construction traffic haul road ( Principal Contractor’s temporary Works) 

- Reducing Project risk in terms of practical implementation and costs 

Scope

Ingress to the proposed new facilities via the existing entrance to the cemetery has always been the 

preferred operational option. However the options for a permanent egress route are numerous, and the 

following shall be included and considered in this study. See Diagram 3: 

- Utilising existing routes through the cemetery investigating all reasonable alternative routes therein 

- Utilising the existing redundant farm track to the southern boundary of the cemetery and 

investigating all variants thereof 

- Utilising existing land within Prior’s Farm and the playing field leading from Imjin Road to the south 

In conjunction with the operational access route options the study shall investigate and consider the best 

option for the Contractor’s temporary Works construction traffic haul road, taking into account both 

time and cost to the project delivery programme. 

The study shall reference all necessary legislative and regulatory requirements pertaining to roads, civil 

engineering, trees, conservation restrictions, burials, playing fields, traffic and environmental impact 

assessments and the like, in order to provide a definitive report that can be used to support future 

planning application/s.

Page 146



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 2 of 6

Constraints 

Conceptual plans for the location of the new crematorium and car park. See Willmott Dixon feasibility 

study.

Deliverables 

1. A report to the Council and Willmott Dixon setting out: 

- Options considered  

- Assessment against criteria including development and operational costs, timescales and 

risks

The report should set out in CAD format: 

- Road routes 

- Road characteristics, including but not limited to, separation; drainage; width; lanes; surface; 

footpaths; lighting, future adoption; etc. 

The report must include 

- An assessment of likely traffic volumes taking into account the option to build a second 

chapel in the future. 

- An assessment of likely traffic volumes along local roads. 

- Adequate engineering drawings to support the feasibility of the chosen option, including any 

topographical surveys required. 

2. A presentation supporting the report to be given to the Council, Willmott Dixon and other 

relevant parties. 

Quality 

Options should be evaluated against the following assessment criteria: 

- Most positive impact on proposed Crematorium Redevelopment Project budgeted costs 

- Least negative impact on Crematorium Redevelopment Project timescales 

- Maximise likelihood of planning permission, taking account of the sensitivity of the location; the 

nearby Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and public green space aspirations. 

- Ability to deal with expected traffic volumes 

- Least negative impact on local facilities, e.g. cemetery, sports facilities including paying fields, 

playground etc. 

- Greatest social value through enabling or not constraining flood alleviation schemes; allotment 

provision; local green space designation and potential for future housing development 

Assumptions 

It’s assumed that local residents will be consulted as part of the planning application process and 

therefore no public consultation is required during this study. 

Report Delivery Timescales 

To be agreed with Willmott Dixon and CBC 

Reporting 

To: 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Senior Responsible Officer (Mike Redman) 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Senior Property Surveyor (Garrie Dowling) 

Page 147



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 3 of 6

- Project Principal Contractor (Willmott Dixon) 

Stakeholders 

- Crematorium Programme Team 

- Cabinet Member 

- Ward Members 

- Cabinet Member Working Group 

- Project Design Team (Willmott Dixon / Pick Everard / Roberts Limbrick) 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Senior Engineer (Flood Alleviation Scheme lead Officer) 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Green Environment Service Manager (Allotments & Playing Fields) 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Managing Director (Place and Economic Development) 

Attachments

- Willmott Dixon feasibility report (draft) 

- Lead Planning Officer’s report on Prior’s Farm 

Site investigation and survey works undertaken to date and available include:  

- Topographical surveys of the Cemetery & Crematorium 

- Cemetery & Crematorium Heritage statement of significance  

- Ecology Surveys (Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey; great crested newt survey; reptile survey; badger 

survey; bats surveys)  

- Arboricultural surveys  

- Hydro-geotechnical (Tier 1) survey  

- Archaeological survey (Heritage Desk-based assessment and geophysical survey)  

Page 148



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 4 of 6

Diagram 1 – Location Plan 

P
age 149



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 5 of 6

Diagram 2 – Site Plan 

P
age 150



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 6 of 6

Diagram 3 – Potential Routes 

P
age 151



Appendix B 
STUDY AREA CONSTRAINTS 

Page 152



APPENDIX B - STUDY AREA 
CONSTRAINTS 

INTRODUCTION 

The following Sections consider the existing constraints presented by the overall study area (see 
Chapter 4 of the main report for individual Route Options opportunities and constraints).  

For ease of reference, the site-wide constraints have been split out by discipline (transport, flood risk, 
ecology, and environmental).  

TRANSPORT AND HIGHWAYS 

EXTERNAL ROAD NETWORK 

There is currently no formal vehicular access arrangement to the proposed development site, other 
than local field access.  As such motorists would rely on either the existing [potentially upgraded] 
access to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium from Bouncers Lane, a new access assuming use 
of the existing [upgraded] farm track located to the immediate south of the existing access, or via a 
new access road linking to Imjin Road further south.  

Although it is not anticipated that any additional trips would be generated by the proposals, 
consideration may need to be given to the potential impacts of any displaced traffic (i.e. to a new 
route) onto the existing highway network, including at the existing roads and junctions of: 

B4075 Priors Road; 

Imjin Road;  

Bouncers Lane; 

Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium / Bouncers Lane priority junction; 

Bouncers Lane / B4075 Priors Road priority junction; 

Bouncers Lane / Ladysmith Road priority junction (including Burma Avenue and the existing Farm 
Track); and 

B4075 Priors Road / Imjin Road / Whaddon Road crossroads.  

The existing road network that serves the residential estate to the south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium comprises of predominantly residential streets, where there are currently no restrictions 
on parking.  Should any of these streets be used to serve the proposed new Crematorium (in 
particular by construction traffic) there could be a requirement to restrict parking (so that sufficient 
width can be achieved for access) which in turn could result in potential displacement of parking onto 
the wider network.  Taking Imjin Road for example, the existing carriageway is between 7.5m and 8m.  
However, when taking into consideration parking (which currently occurs along both sides of the 
carriageway) the road width is effectively narrowed to below 4m (which is insufficient to accommodate 
two-way vehicular movements).  

Consideration would also have to be given to the potential safety implications associated with using 
these routes to access the proposed new Crematorium. 

Page 153



On-site observations of the Farm Track, which skirts the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium indicates that the track is narrow (to the north of the residential dwellings the Farm 
Track varies in width from 2.5m at its western extent to 1.4m at its eastern extent) and overgrown.  
Furthermore, the track abuts existing properties to the south.  Significant works could be required to 
upgrade this route to serve the proposed new Crematorium.   We understand that CBC control the 
Farm Track between the existing Cemetery and Crematorium and the northern edge of the residential 
estates.  

INTERNAL ROAD NETWORK 

In respect of the internal access roads which currently serve the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, 
the following constraints have been identified: 

The existing Cemetery and Crematorium / Bouncers Lane priority junction is informal and lends 
itself to confusion; 

The existing gates on entry to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium are not wide enough to 
accommodate two-way vehicle movements; 

Part of the access road (between the main entrance and inner gates) is unrestricted; as such 
parked vehicles can impede access.  This is particularly evident during peak periods of operation 
(i.e. when a service is held);  

There is only one road which links the older western and newer eastern sections of the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium.  This route is one-way at present and is lined by numerous graves / 
stones (which limit the potential for any localised widening works to accommodate future two-way 
movements); and 

The existing internal routes, in particular within the older western section of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium are observed to be narrow and in poor condition (the road surface is cracked / 
breaking up in numerous locations). 

For reference, the existing vehicular access and egress routes within the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium are illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing SK-01.

As detailed above, one of the main constraints to achieving both access and egress internal within the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium is the presence of a solitary one-way road which links the older 
western and newer eastern sections of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (which is lined by 
existing gravestones).    

FLOOD RISK 

As discussed in Chapter 2 of this report, the study has a low flood risk, with flooding predicted to be 
constrained to the watercourses and immediate surrounds. The overall study area constraints are as 
follows: 

Crossings of watercourses, which will require Ordinary Watercourse Consent and/or 
Environmental Permit applications. Box culverts may be allowed but the impacts on ecology and 
water quality will have to be discussed with the Lead Local Flood Authority and Environment 
Agency where appropriate; and 

Ensuring that the future construction of the Whaddon FAS Scheme is not compromised by the 
development works. 

The latest design drawings for the Whaddon FAS Scheme have been obtained from CBC’s 
consultant’s ch2m and overlain with the route options.  The location of Whaddon FAS Scheme in 
relation to the proposed Route Options (considered in Chapter 4 of this report) is shown on WSP | 
Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK-03.  As can be seen from the plan over page, all but Route Option 
A cross the proposed scheme. 

For reference and extract of WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing (SK-03).  

Page 154



Figure 1 Extract of Flood Alleviation Scheme Drawing with Proposed Routes 

ECOLOGY

Between 2015 and 2016, CBC commissioned a number of surveys at the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, which included: 

Badger Survey (undertaking by Lepus Consulting in July, 2015); 

Reptile Survey (undertaken by Lepus Consulting in June, 2015); 

Extended Phase I Habitat Survey (undertaken by Lepus Consulting in April, 2015); 

Bat Survey (undertake by Aspect Ecology in February, 2016); 

Great Crested Newt Survey (undertaken by Lepus Consulting in June, 2015); and 

Arboriculture Survey (undertaken by Tree King Consulting in November, 2015).   

The following Sections detail the findings of the above-detailed reports.   

DESIGNATED SITES AND PROTECTED HABITATS 

Designated areas of note include the Cleeve Common SSSI (2.1km north-west) and the Puckham 
Woods SSSI (3km east). 

HABITATS OF PRINCIPLE IMPORTANCE 

During the site visit, four Priority Habitats were identified within the study area, comprising of 
deciduous woodland, running water, standing water and hedgerows.  

Page 155



PROTECTIVE SPECIES  

BADGERS

The badger survey identified two badger setts within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium area.  
These were located in the north west corner of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (the Nursery 
sett) and in the south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium near the entrance to the Garden of 
Remembrance ( the Garden of Remembrance sett).  For further details please refer to the Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey report prepared by Lepus Consulting’s 

The entire scheme area is considered suitable for use by badgers for foraging, commuting and sett 
building. Badgers are protected under the Protection of Badgers Act (1992).  As such, it is an offence 
to wilfully take, kill, injure or ill-treat a badger, or possess a dead badger or any part of a badger.  
Under the Act, their setts are also protected against obstruction, destruction, or damage in any part. 

Sett interference includes damaging or destroying a sett, obstructing access to a sett, and disturbing a 
badger whilst it is occupying a sett.  The Act defines a badger sett as ‘any structure or place, which 
displays signs indicating the current use by a badger’ and Natural England (NE) takes this definition to 
include seasonally used setts.  

Work that may disturb badgers or their setts or damage or destroy a sett may take place under a 
licence from the relevant statutory body.  In England, licences are administered by NE.  This will 
usually require mitigation measures to be put in place as a condition of the licence. 

RIPARIAN SPECIES 

Two streams were identified by the Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey.  The streams are unknown 
stream that runs through the centre of the survey area and Wyman Brook, which runs immediately to 
the south of the survey area.  The streams were both observed during the constraints walkover and 
were both considered suitable to support riparian species (otter (Lutra lutra), water vole (Arvicola 
amphibius) and white clawed crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes)).

Water voles are fully protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981, as amended) (WCA).  It 
is an offence to possess, control or sell water voles or to intentionally or recklessly kill, injure or take 
water voles.  It is also an offence to intentionally or recklessly damage, destroy or obstruct access to a 
place that water voles use for shelter or protection or disturb water voles whilst using such a place.   

Otters are fully protected under Schedule 2 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2010 (as amended)(Conservation Regulations) which defines “European protected species of 
animals”, and also receive partial protection under the WCA. 

Taken together the Act and Regulations make it illegal to: 

deliberately kill, injure or capture otters;  

deliberately disturb otters (whether in a resting place or not);  

damage, destroy or obstruct access to a resting place used by an otter;  

possess or transport an otter or any part of an otter, unless acquired legally; or to 

sell, barter or exchange or advertise for such purposes an otter. 

Development activities that could result in impacts on otters should be modified to avoid/minimise the 
likelihood of an impact occurring in the first instance.  If impacts are unavoidable then the works may 
need to be carried out under a European Protected Species development licence, granted under the 
Conservation Regulations. 

White-clawed crayfish receive partial protection under Schedule 5 of the WCA.  This prohibits the 
taking of any native crayfish for any purpose except under licence.  They are listed on Annex II of the 
European Communities Habitats Directive (1992), which allows sites to be designated based on the 
species being present. 

Page 156



Otters, water voles and white-clawed crayfish are also Species of Principal Importance in England 
under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC). 

DORMICE 

The habitats within the survey area were considered sub-optimal for dormice (Muscardinus 
avellanarius) as reported within the 2015 Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey by Lepus Consulting.  The 
constraints walkover observed sub-optimal habitat for dormice within the survey area and surrounding 
landscape. 

Dormice are therefore not considered further in this report. 

BATS

A bat tree inspection was undertaken in the eastern extent of the survey area, focussing on the area 
highlighted for the proposed new Crematorium works.  In the survey, Aspect Ecology identified 
several trees with potential to support roosting bats (for further detail please see Aspect Ecology’s 
report). 

The constraints walkover noted numerous tress in the south, east, and centre of the survey area that 
were suitable for roosting bats, although a full assessment was not within the scope of the constraints 
walkover. 

All 18 native UK bat species receive partial protection under Schedule 5 of the WCA.  The 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CRoW) has amended the WCA in England and Wales and 
this act adds additional enforcement.  Barbastelle (Barbastella barbastellus), Bechstein’s bat (Myotis
bechsteinii), greater horseshoe bat (Rhinolophus ferrumequinum) and lesser horseshoe bat 
(Rhinolophus hipposideros) are also listed on Annex II of the Habitats Directive. 

Together this legislation makes it illegal to: 

Deliberately kill, injure or capture bats; 

Deliberately disturb bats whether in a roost or not, disturbance includes anything that is likely to 
impair their ability to survive, breed, reproduce or rear their young, or impair their ability to 
hibernate or migrate; 

Intentionally or recklessly disturb roosting bats or obstruct access to their roosts; 

Damage or destroy a bat roosting place (even if bats are not occupying the roost at the time); 

Possess or transport a bat or any part of a bat unless acquired legally; and; 

Sell or exchange bats, or parts of bats. 

Certain bat species are also Species of Principal Importance in England under Section 41 of the 
NERC Act.  These species need to be taken into consideration by a public body when performing any 
of its functions.  The species are: greater horseshoe bat, lesser horseshoe bat, Bechstein’s bat, 
noctule (Nyctalus noctula), soprano pipistrelle (Pipistrellus pygmaeus), brown long-eared bat 
(Plecotus auritus) and barbastelle.   

BREEDING BIRDS 

The survey area (Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium) contained numerous areas suitable for 
breeding birds, in particular areas of deciduous woodland, scrub and tall ruderal vegetation. 

All birds, their nests and eggs are protected by the WCA.  It is an offence to intentionally kill, injure, or 
take any wild bird, or take or destroy an egg of any wild bird.  It is also an offence to damage or 
destroy the nest of any wild bird (whilst being built, or in use).  Birds listed under Schedule 1 of the 
WCA are afforded additional protection with regard to intentional or reckless disturbance while nest 
building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such a bird. 

Page 157



REPTILES 

The survey area contained numerous areas suitable for reptile, in particular areas of woodland edge, 
scrub and tall ruderal vegetation to the south and east of the survey area. 

The reptile survey was undertaken in the south and east of the survey area.  The survey did not 
identify any reptiles.  

The four common reptile species, adder (Vipera berus), grass snake (Natrix natrix), common lizard 
(Zootoca vivipara) and slow-worm (Anguis fragilis), are protected under Schedule 5 of the WCA 
against intentional killing, injuring and trade.  The natural range of the rarer UK reptile species 
(smooth snake (Coronella austriaca) and sand lizard (Lacerta agilis) does not include 
Gloucestershire, thus they are not considered further in this assessment.   

The widespread reptile species are also listed as Species of Principal Importance in England under 
Section 41 of the NERC Act. 

GREAT CRESTED NEWTS 

A survey for great crested newt (Triturus cristatus) (GCN) was undertaken of a single pond within the 
survey area.  Several other ponds were identified as suitable for GCN but were scoped out of the 
2015 survey by Lepus Consulting.  The survey did not identify any GCN. 

The constraints walkover identified two ponds that were considered suitable to support GCN. 

GCN receive full protection under the Conservation Regulations Schedule 2 and are also partially 
protected under the WCA Schedule 5.  It is illegal to deliberately capture, injure or kill, to intentionally 
or recklessly disturb, or to deliberately take or destroy the eggs of GCN.  It is also illegal to damage, 
destroy or intentionally or recklessly obstruct access to a breeding or resting place used by GCN.  All 
life stages of GCN are afforded the same level of protection. 

INVERTEBRATES (EXCLUDING WHITE CLAWED CRAYFISH)  

The habitats observed within the survey area during the ecological constraints walkover were 
considered unlikely to support a diverse range of invertebrate species (excluding white clawed 
crayfish). 

Invertebrates are therefore not considered further in this report. 

FLORA (INCLUDING INVASIVE SPECIES) 

No protected or invasive flora species were recorded within the existing Extended Phase 1 report by 
Lepus Consulting.  In addition, no protected or invasive flora species were observed during the 
ecological constraints walkover.  It must be noted however that no targeted invasive species surveys 
were undertaken; therefore, their absence is not confirmed.  

Protected or invasive flora species are not considered further in this report. 

ENVIRONMENTAL  

CBC commissioned Justin Ayton Ltd to prepare a Statement of Significance (dated January, 2015) to 
help formulate long-term plans for the evolution of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  The 
report has been used to inform the following sections if this report.   

Page 158



AIR QUALITY 

The entire proposed development site falls within an Air Quality management Area (AQMA). The 
whole borough of Cheltenham was declared an AQMA on the 18

th
 September, 2011, due to 

heightened levels of Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) sourced from road traffic.  Figure 2 illustrates the extent 
of the AQMA in Cheltenham.   

Figure 2 Cheltenham AQMA 

There are a number of air quality sensitive receptors located within the vicinity of the overall study 
area, which include: 

Adjacent residential properties and residents; and 

A school is located 250m North West of the Cemetery. 

ARCHAEOLOGY AND CULTURAL HERITAGE 

In respect of archaeology and cultural heritage: 

The land adjacent to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is classified as a Grade II listed park 
and garden; 

The two the existing Cemetery and Crematorium Chapels are Grade II listed; and 

There are also two lodges, and two gateways (including the main entrance) and a tomb on the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium grounds, which are all Grade II listed structures. 

Figure 3 illustrates (black triangles) the Grade II Structures and Land which surround existing the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium.   

Page 159



Figure 3 Grade II Structures and Land surround Cemetery site 

CONTAMINATED LAND 

The Environment Agency interactive online map indicates that there are two historic (the exact date of 
their use is unknown, however it is understood that their last use was likely to be during the Victorian 
era) landfills in the immediate vicinity of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.   

One is located directly to the north (Land at the Old Sand Pit), while the other is located directly to the 
south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (Recreation Ground at Oakley) which forms part of 
the study area. For reference, the locations of the landfill sites are illustrated on Figure 4.

Page 160



Figure 4 Historic Landfills located around Cemetery site 

LANDSCAPE 

The study area is located to the immediate east of a designated Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB), as illustrated by Figure 5.

Figure 5 Illustrative Extent of Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  

Page 161



NOISE AND VIBRATION 

There are a number of noise and vibration sensitive receptors located within 200m of the study area, 
including the existing residential properties located to the south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium and to the west of Oakley Playing Fields.  

ARBORICULTURE 

There are a number of existing trees located within the study area which fall within the following 
categories:  

Class A: Exceptionally good trees or arboriculture features with >40 years useful safe life.  

Class B: Good trees with a minimum of 20 years useful safe life.  

Class C: Unremarkable trees of limited merit.  Minimum safe life of 10 years.  

Class U: Unsuitable for retention.  Likely to have <10 years useful safe life. 

The arboriculture survey, previously undertaken by Tree King Consulting, considered the 
classification and quality of the trees in the vicinity of the proposed vehicular route options.  The 
survey has been used to inform this study.   

CBC has confirmed that there are some trees (namely beech trees which are located to the north east 
of the chapel and adjacent to the rear garden of 6 Blackberry Field) which are subject to Tree 
Preservation Orders (TPO’s).  There are no trees with TPO’s in the vicinity of the proposed vehicle 
route options. 

It is worth noting however, that there are number of well-established trees, in particular along the 
southern boundary of the access road (between the main entrance and inner gates), and along the 
northern boundary of the Gardens of Remembrance.  

SOCIAL 

To the immediate south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, Oakley Playing Fields are 
designated as recreational ground. In addition, it is worth noting that there is also an existing 
children’s playground located at the southeast boundary of the playing fields. 

There is an existing public footpath which skirts the southern boundary of Oakley Playing Fields, and 
travels through the agricultural fields to the south of the proposed development site.  

For reference, the existing public footpath is illustrated on Figure 6.

Page 162



Figure 6 Indicative Location of Public Footpaths 

Page 163



Appendix C 
ATC SURVEY DATA AND SERVICE TIME INFORMATION 

Page 164



���������
�

	��
�
���

��
��
���
��

��������
��	��
�
���

����������

���������

�

���������	
���

���

��������	
���

��

����������������������������������������� �� �!�

��"��������� ������������������������ �� �!�

#�$��������%&&�����

'�����(�%&&����)�����*������+���*�

'�����(*�,�����!*�)-�
��+.�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

����� �!"#$�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

��%�%�&��'��(&)'�*+&	����

�	+� +'	���

� ����&�+,�

�

��&�+,�&+%�& �

/#%01)��2% � 


��

)'1)314� 5 2%##6.�

47�1� �
8��8	��
�

)%2�7)�� 2 ��%%21�

#1-6.6%2� �

Page 165



� �

� � $��-�.��	+� +'	���

� � � � ����� �!"#$�

� � � � � ����&�+,�

�

��' +' ��

�

6������������

�

4��$������9�:�������+��������/����

�

.����2������

�

.����/;���$��<;��

�

7<<������7�9�-�;�����)���$�������

�

7<<������=�9�7������������&&���)�����4����

Page 166



� �

� � $��-�.��	+� +'	���

� � � � ����� �!"#$�

� � � � � ����&�+,�

�

)' &�/�� )�'�

�

2����������4����)����������>24)?����������������"(�,./�/�������=����!��;�&&�����������!���������������

���&&���������>7�)?����);�����;��*�:����������;��� �

�

7�$����������������<�������$�@������4��$����� �

�

�

�0�12����� ��

����10���

�

�;���������������&&�����������>7�)?�������������������;��&�������$�����������

�

.�������);�����;���)������(�������*�%.:#��.%��
�

�	���
�

�

/�����1��
���1��

�

7�5����������

�����������������������&&����������*������;������<�����������"��*��������������;������ ��

�;������������������������&�����<�������&������!����������$�.������(�
�;�7�$����	��
 �

�

�;����������$������&�����;�@��"��������(�������<��������<����������������������;����(������@��� �4��������&�

�;�� @�;����� ����$������ A� �<���� "��� ������&��������� ���� $�@��� ��� 7<<������ 7*� ���� �� ��<(� �&� �;�� ����� ���

������������7<<������= �

�

�;����������������������3����;�� 3;�������<$���< �������������(��
�;�7�$��� �

�

/��3��2�#�4��
�
�����1����1��%����

.��@�(�

.����

Page 167



� �

� � $��-�.��	+� +'	���

� � � � ����� �!"#$�

� � � � � ����&�+,�

�

���
�'1�
��

�

� �����
��1�
��5�/����60������

�

�;��7�)��������������������;����������������������<��������!��(�����&&�����;��������� �

�

���
�%71�13��87�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Page 168



����������

	
��
�
����
����
�

Page 169



����������	
����


�����
�����

��
�
�
���
�����������


�
�������	����
�������

����� ���� � !��"�# $#�% &'�'(�$��� !�(#%'%$���)#"�� �**��*'$�

� ������

�����	
������
�������

������������� �� � �������������������

� ������

	
������	���� �

!�"�� �#!$ �%������ �

&�"
����� 	� �

����'����� �

������(�������������

( �#����) (

	
����*�+��"���*������ �

����,�� �
��� ����� 	�* +

"��-.��( �

����'����� �

������(��� �

����'��������

������( # )

� � *+���������-�/����
-� *
� , ����'(�������������

( �

*
�����������-�/����


-� *
( � ������(���"��-.���

'( � 0�-���������-�/ *# � �����'(���"��-.���

( (

*
���������

�����-������,�
�����

���1�"���,�
���������

������� 21*( -

����'(��� �������(���

"��-.��(

��'��

���&�"
��

�������-��

�������������

�������������

����'(���

��������#���"��-.�'�

�������������

�������������

����'(���

������)���"��-.�'�

'�3 '�

	������������������

�����-������,�
�����

���1�"���,�
���������

������� 21*3 ��

������3���"��-.�'�����

�����'3���"��-.��(

'3 #


�$�-4������5��,��

��-�/������������ 
$ �� "��-.��#��������'3

'3 '�)

$�-4���������.��������

���������5��,����-�/�

�����+������������

�������� $1* �� "��-.�'�)��������'3 (��5��,��

# '�

0�-������������-������

,�
��������1�"���

,�
���������������� 21*# .

) '�

0�,������������-������

,�
��������1�"���

,�
���������������� 21*) �

Appendix A - vehicle categories ATC 
NDC for

WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff

Page 170



����������	
����


�����
�����

��
�
�
���
�����������


�
���&��!�/����0�!�
�����!����

��'1#%* ��'1#%*

��2�� 3&�	

��2��� 3&�	4

��2��
3�	��

��&�

���2���
3�	�4�

��&�

���2��� 3�	��!5


���2�+� 3�	�4��!5


+��2�+� 
�'%

+��2�,� �  �.�

,��2�,�

,��2���

���2���

!��"�# $#�% !��"�# $#�%

	.����4����������6���)��.
 7��������
����
��.�������.���������

	.����4����������)����6��.
 7��������
����
��.�������.���������������.�������"�

	.����4�����������6����)��.

7��������
���2�89��2������������:��
��:�8������9::�������

����������2�89����8	&����6;<��.


	.����4�����������)����6��.
 7��������
���2�89����.�����������.�������"�

	.����4�����������6����)��.

7��������
���$0*��$�.��������0���*����.���������������$0*����

8	&�.�-���)�.
�

	.����4�����������)���(6��.
 7��������
���$0*����.�����������.�������"�

	.����4����������(6���()��.
 2,���"���.���

	.����4����������()���#6��.
 =)�
�.�����������.���

	.����4����������#6���#)��.


	.����4����������#)���)6��.


	.����4����������)6���))��.


���2���

���2���

���2�-�

-��2�-�

-��2�.�

.��2�.�

.��2���

���2���

���2����

����2����

����2����

����2����

����2����

����2����

����2��+�

�+��2��+�

�+��2��,�

	.����4����������))���36��.


	.����4����������36���3)��.


	.����4����������3)����6��.


	.����4�����������6����)��.


	.����4�����������)���=6��.


	.����4����������=6���=)��.


	.����4����������=)���>6��.


	.����4����������>6���>)��.


	.����4����������>)����66��.


	.����4�����������(6����()��.


	.����4�����������()����#6��.


	.����4�����������66����6)��.


	.����4�����������6)�����6��.


	.����4������������6�����)��.


	.����4������������)�����6��.


	.����4������������6�����)��.


	.����4������������)����(6��.


Appendix A - vehicle categories ATC 
NDC for

WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff

Page 171



���������	

�
��
���������������
�������

Page 172



����������	
����


�����
�����

��
�
�
���
�����������


�����

���
	�
������ 
���
�����

������

	�������

��	�

�����

������
���� ����
����
������

����
����
��
�������  �
�������

����!�

������

	�����

"��!�������

	�����

����!�

�#�$�

	�����

"��!��#�$�

	�����

����!�
%��

	�����

"��!�
%��

	�����

&����

�����

'�"����

�����

����(�)�� *��
����+,��)-)���

.+*,

/���*.��)-)���

.+*,
.01' 1,' 1.* *'�0 ,2�*  '� .,�, ** +�1 *,�� .+�,

3���(�)�� *��
����+,��)-)���

.+*,

/���*.��)-)���

.+*,
.0� 1 + 1.. .+'�  +�� *+*1 21�2 .* +� * �2 .*� 

�4��4�� *��
����+,��)-)���

.+*,

/���*.��)-)���

.+*,
�0+� 02' '11 2011 ,,�' * 00 2+�� 2. +�� *,�0 .*�2

#����������#��������

�

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�

0,'���.2+*�

++*

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 173



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


������������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .*�� �

+,++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+ ++  . � + + + + + + + + + + 1 � �* . .'�, + + *1�0 �

+'++ ' + ' + + + + + + + + + +  ' �� 1 �+ + + *0�0 �

+0++ 2+ + .0 + * + + + + + + + + . 0+ ** 2,� + + *'�2 ..�1

*+++ .* + .* + + + + + + + + + + *' '�� ' 2'�* + + *'�1 ..�1

���� *� � *� � � � � � � � � � � ** -+0� �, +*0� � � �-0� ��0�

���� *� � ** � � � � � � � � � � �, ,,0� �* *,0� � � �,0, ��0,���� *� � ** � � � � � � � � � � �, ,,0� �* *,0� � � �,0, ��0,

*2++ 2+ + .0 + * + + + + + + + + .' 02�2 *, �2�2 * 2�2 .+ .2� 

*1++ .1 + .* + 2 + + + + + + + + .* ' �� *1 �'�2 + + *0�� ..�1

*�++ .+ + *0 + * + + + + + + + + *' 0+  2� + + *'�1 .*��

*,++ .+ + .+ + + + + + + + + + + *1  +  2� + + * �' .*� 

* ++ *0 * *' + + + + + + + + + + * '0�� *. ,2�. + + *0�* ..�*

*'++ *. * *+ + + + * + + + + + + , �+ . *,� + + *��* *'�*

*0++ 1 + 1 + + + + + + + + + + 2  � 2  � * .� .1�0 �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ��� � ��� � , � � � � � � � � ��� -* ��* +�0� � �0+ �-0+ ��0+

��1�� ��� � ��� � , � � � � � � � � ��* -�0� ��� +*0� � �0, �-0� ��0�

��1�� ��� � ��� � , � � � � � � � � ��* -�0� ��� +*0� � �0, �-0� ��0�

��1�� �,� � ��, � , � � � � � � � � ��+ -* ��, +*0* � �0, �-0� ��0�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 174



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


��$��,������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .��2 �

+,++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+ ++ � + � + + + + + + + + + + � *++ * .+ + + * �

+'++ .* . *' + * + + + + + + + + *2 ,*�0 � .2�' + + *,�. *0� 

+0++ .+ + .+ + + + + + + + + + + *�  � ' 1+ * � *0�* .2�0

*+++ 1+ + 1+ + + + + + + + + + + 21 '� *1 2� + + * � .+�1

���� �+ � �+ � � � � � � � � � � +� -�0� �� +-0� � � �� ��0-

���� *� * *� � � � � � � � � � � *� ,�0� �� +� � � �-0� ������ *� * *� � � � � � � � � � � *� ,�0� �� +� � � �-0� ��

*2++ 2� * 22 + + * + + + + + + + .�  *�1 0 .�� + + *,�' *0��

�+�� *� � *, � � � � � � � � � � �- ,�0- �� *�0- � � ��0, ��0�

*�++ .� * .1 + + + + + + + + + + *'  .  .' + + * �2 .*� 

*,++ 2+ 2 . + + + + + + + + + + .+ ,,� 0 2+ + + *,�2 .*�0

* ++ *, . *1 + + + + + + + + + + ** ,'�' , 2 �� + + *,�1 .+�1

*'++  +  + + + + + + + + + +  *++ �  *�1 + + .*�2 �

*0++ 1 + 1 + + + + + + + + + + 1 *++ 2  � + + .*�, �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� **� �* *�+ � � � � � � � � � � ��* ,�0+ ��- *�0� � �0* �,0� ��

��1�� **� �* *�- � � � � � � � � � � ��, ,�0, ��� *�0� � �0* �,0� ��

��1�� **� �* *�- � � � � � � � � � � ��, ,�0, ��� *�0� � �0* �,0� ��

��1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0- ��� *�0* � �0* �,0, ��0*

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 175



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



 $��-������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ + + + + *��� �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ + + + + *' �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .1� �

+ ++ ** . 0 + + + + + + + + + + , �1�� 2 . �2 + + *,�, .*

+'++ , + , + + + + + + + + + + 1 ,,� . 22�2 + + *,�, �

+0++ *' + * + * + + + + + + + + *. ,,� , 22�2 + + *,�. *0��

���� -� � ,� � * � � � � � � � � �, ,�0* �+ *� � �0* �,0� ��0-

**++ �0 + �. +  + + + + + + + + 2� �0�2 * .'�' + + *, .+�1

*.++ �+ + 1, + 1 + + + + + + + + *, 2. * . + + *1�* *,�'*.++ �+ + 1, + 1 + + + + + + + + *, 2. * . + + *1�* *,�'

�*�� ,� � ,* � + � � � � � � � � �� *�0� � ��0+ � � �*0� �,0�

*1++ 10 * 11 + 1 + + + + + + + + .� �* ' *,�2 + + *��* *0��

*�++ .. + .* + * + + + + + + + + *2 �0�*  2*�' + + * �1 ..�1

*,++ *1 + *. + . + + + + + + + + 0 ,1�2 1 .'�, + + * �2 .+�1

* ++ *2 * *. + + + + + + + + + + *+  ,�0 1 2+�' + + *,�' .+�'

*'++ *2 * *. + + + + + + + + + + ' ,*�� , 1,�. + + *,�0 *0�0

*0++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + . *++ . *++ + + .+�� �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�+ - *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� �� �� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�, - *-* � �� � � � � � � � � ��* �*0� �+ ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�, - *-* � �� � � � � � � � � ��* �*0� �+ ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�� - *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0, �+ ��0+ � �0� ��0� ��0�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 176



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



�����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *1�� �

+,++ 2 * . + + + + + + + + + + . ,,� . ,,� + + ..�0 �

+ ++ *1 . *+ + . + + + + + + + +  �+ � 2�� + + *��, .+�'

+'++ 0 + 0 + + + + + + + + + + , ,,� . ..�. + + * �* �

+0++ �� + �. + 2 + + + + + + + + 1*  1�� .2 1*�' + + *'�* .*� 

*+++ '' .  0 * , + + + + + + + + ,2  *�, .2 .,�* + + *,�0 .+�,

���� ��� � ��� � � � � � � � � � � �� +�0� �, ��0� � �0- ��0- ��

���� ,, � ,� � � � � � � � � � � +, �� �� �,0* * *0� �-0� ��0-���� ,, � ,� � � � � � � � � � � +, �� �� �,0* * *0� �-0� ��0-

*2++ .. + .+ + . + + + + + + + + *� ,'�. 2 *2�, + + *, *'�2

*1++ �, * 10 + � + + * + + + + + 2. � �* *2 .2�. + + *��1 .+�,

*�++ 22 * 2+ + * * + + + + + + + *' �1�� , *'�. + + *��. *0�.

*,++ *. * *+ + * + + + + + + + +  �'�2 . *,� + + *��� *'�*

* ++ *2 2 *+ + + + + + + + + + + ' ,*�� 1 2+�' + + *,�. .+�,

*'++ ** + ** + + + + + + + + + + 0 '*�' , �1�� + + *'�' .*��

*0++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *+�. �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ��� �* +�� � *� � � � � � � � � *�* ��0� ��� �� � � ��0, ��0�

��1�� ��+ �+ +�� � *� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� ��, ��0� � � ��0, ��0�

��1�� ��+ �+ +�� � *� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� ��, ��0� � � ��0, ��0�

��1�� ��� �+ +�� � *� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0+ ��, ��0� � � ��0, ��0�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 177



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


2�3���������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *2�1 �

+,++ . * * + + + + + + + + + + . *++ + + + + *��* �

+ ++ *2 2 *+ + + + + + + + + + + 0 ,0�. , 1,�. + + * �, *0�0

+'++ *2 * ** + * + + + + + + + + 0 ,0�. 1 2+�' + + * �, .2��

+0++ .1 + .2 + * + + + + + + + + *  +�' 0 2 �� + + * �. .+�1

���� �- � �- � � � � � � � � � � +� ,�0+ �� *�0� � � �,0� ��

**++ �1 + 10 + � + + + + + + + + 21 ,2 *2 .1�* + + *,�2 .+�'

*.++ 2* * .0 + * + + + + + + + + ..  * 0 .0 + + *,� .+�'*.++ 2* * .0 + * + + + + + + + + ..  * 0 .0 + + *,� .+�'

*2++ ,2 . �� + , + + + + + + + + ., 1*�2 *. *0 + + *� *0�.

�+�� ��� � �� � � � � � � � � � � *- *,0* � +0� � � �+0+ �,0�

*�++ 2. * 2+ + * + + + + + + + + *, �+ 2 0�1 + + *1�� *'�*

*,++ .. . *' + . + + + + + + + + *1 ,2�,  2*�' + + *,�1 .+�1

* ++ * . *� + + + + + + + + + + 0 �.�0 1 .2�� + + *��2 *0

*'++ *. + *. + + + + + + + + + +  �'�2 1 22�2 + + * �, .*��

*0++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ++� �+ +�� � �� � � � � � � � � �+* ��0� �, �� � � ��0� ��0�

��1�� ++* �� +�� � �� � � � � � � � � �+� ��0* �, ��0� � � ��0� ��0�

��1�� ++* �� +�� � �� � � � � � � � � �+� ��0* �, ��0� � � ��0� ��0�

��1�� +++ �� +�, � �� � � � � � � � � �+� ��0� �, ��0- � � ��0� ��0,

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 178



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



4����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *2�. �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ . * * + + + + + + + + + + * �+ + + + + *��0 �

+ ++ *+ . ' + + + + + + + + + + , ,+ . .+ * *+ * �1 �

+'++ 0 + ' + * + + + + + + + +    �' 1 11�1 + + *'�2 �

+0++ *1 + *2 + * + + + + + + + + **  '�, 2 .*�1 + + *,� *0�0

*+++ 2 + 2, + * + + + + + + + + .2 ,.�. ' .*�, + + *,�� .+�'

���� �� � -� � � � � � � � � � � �� ��0� �� ��0* � �0� �+0� ��

*.++ �1 * �* + . + + + + + + + + 2, ,,� ' *1�' + + *�� *'�2*.++ �1 * �* + . + + + + + + + + 2, ,,� ' *1�' + + *�� *'�2

*2++ ,1 . ,+ + . + + + + + + + + 2, �,�2 *+ *��, + + *��� *'�,

�+�� -* * ,� � � � � � � � � � � �� *+0� �� �� � � �*0� �-0�

*�++ .� + .2 + . + + + + + + + + *0  , 0 2, + + * �� .*

*,++ *' * * + + + + + + + + + + *. ,,� 1 ..�. + + *,�2 *0�.

* ++ *+ * ' + * + + + + + + + +   + 1 1+ + + *,�, �

*'++ 0 + 0 + + + + + + + + + +    �' 1 11�1 + + * �� �

*0++ 2 * . + + + + + + + + + + * 22�2 * 22�2 + + *1�� �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�� �� *�, � �, � � � � � � � � �+� �,0� -� ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +*� �* +�� � �, � � � � � � � � �+, �,0+ -� ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +*� �* +�� � �, � � � � � � � � �+, �,0+ -� ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +*� �* +�� � �, � � � � � � � � �+, �,0* -� �� � �0� ��0� ��0�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 179



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


�5����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *1�1 �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + **�0 �

+ ++ ** 2 ' + + + + + + + + + +  ,2�, , �1�� + + *'�1 ..�'

+'++ *2 + *2 + + + + + + + + + + ** '1�,  �2�' + + *0 ..�'

+0++ 0 + 01 + 2 + + + + + + + + ,'  +�* .+ .+�, + + *,�1 *0�.

���� ��* � ��+ � , � � � � � � � � ,* �+0� �� ��0� � � ��0� ��0�

**++ 10 . 1* + � + + * + + + + + . ���* *2 .,�� + + *1�' .+�,

*.++ 1. * 2' + 2 + + + + + + + + 2.  ,�. *' 1.�0 + + *'� ..�'*.++ 1. * 2' + 2 + + + + + + + + 2.  ,�. *' 1.�0 + + *'� ..�'

*2++ �� 1 1� + , + + + + + + + + 2* �,�1 *, .0�* + + *�� .+�*

�+�� -+ � -� � * � � � � � � � � �� ��0� �� ��0� � � ��0� ��0�

*�++ .. + .* + * + + + + + + + + *,  .� ' 2,�1 + + * �2 .*�0

*,++ .* + .+ + * + + + + + + + + * '*  22�2 + + * �, .+�*

* ++ *1 * *2 + + + + + + + + + + 0 ,1�2 1 .'�, + + *,� *0��

*'++ *0 2 *, + + + + + + + + + + *. ,2�. 2 *��' + + *��0 *'�*

*0++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +  �1 �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

�,1�� �+� �� +�+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0, �+� �, � � ��0+ ��0+

��1�� �+� �, +�� � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� �+� ��0� � � ��0* ��0+

��1�� �+� �, +�� � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� �+� ��0� � � ��0* ��0+

��1�� �+* �, +�� � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0+ �+� ��0� � � ��0* ��0+

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 180



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


(�5���!�/�6�7,8


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 22�2 + + + + *1�2 �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + ,+ + 1+ + + *'�� �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * ,,� + 22�2 + + *'�, �

+ ++ *+ . ' + + + + + + + + + + , ,. 1 2��. + *�1 *,�' .*

+'++ ** + *+ + + + + + + + + + + '  .�. 1 2��1 + + * �, .2��

+0++ 2 + 2� + * + + + + + + + + .  1 ** 2* + +�1 * �2 .+�,

*+++ ,. * �0 + . + + + + + + + + 11  +�0 *' .'�* + +�. * .+�,

���� �� � �� � + � � � � � � � � +� ��0� �, ��0- � �0, ��0� ��0�

*.++ 1 * 12 + . + + + + + + + + 2+ ,1�2 *. .,�. + +�0 * �* .+�'*.++ 1 * 12 + . + + + + + + + + 2+ ,1�2 *. .,�. + +�0 * �* .+�'

*2++ �+ . 1� + 2 + + + + + + + + . �2�1 ** .*�, + +�2 *��1 *0� 

�+�� �� � �- � * � � � � � � � � *� ��0� �� �-0� � � ��0� ��0�

*�++ ., + .1 + * + + + + + + + + * ,��0  .,�2 + + *,�, .*

*,++ .+ * *' + * + + + + + + + + *2 , �0 , .0�. + + *,�' .+�1

* ++ *� . *2 + + + + + + + + + + *+ ,0�, � 2 �2 + + *,�' .+�,

*'++ *. * ** + + + + + + + + + + ' , �� 1 2,�* + + * �. .*��

*0++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + * ,,� * ,+ + ,� *0�. �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�, �� *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��* �*0� ��� ��0+ � �0* ��0+ ��0�

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� ��� ��0� � �0+ ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� ��� ��0� � �0+ ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� ��� ��0� � �0+ ��0� ��0�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 181



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� ����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


(�5���!�2��9�7�8


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


&�� 1*0 ' 2'� + ., + + + + + + + + ..� �2� 01 ..�1 * +�. *��, .+�*

�)� �+� *1 1�, * 2* . + * + + + + + 2+� ,+�1 *. .��* � * *,� .+�,

3�� 111 *� 1+ + .. + + + + + + + + .1� ���. 0 .*�' + + *��0 *0� 

��) 12* *2 1+* + * + + + + + + + + .1 � �2 '. *0 . +�� *��� *0��

/�� �12 * 10, + .0 + + * + + + + + 2�� ,��1 *1, .,�0 + + *,�2 .+�1

<��� . + � .� +  + * + + + + + + ..1 '2 ** 12�2 . +� *'�� ..�,

<�)� 22, *2 2*0 + . * * + + + + + + .�'  ,�' *.. 2,�2 * +�2 * � .*�2

��/�6��:�0 +�- �* +�� � �� � � � � � � � � �,� �-0- ��� �*0* � �0+ ��0� ��0�

,�/�6��:�0 +�� �� *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� ��� ��0� � �0+ ��0� ��0�

11 ��+- -� �,�� � �*+ * � � � � � � � �-�� �*0� ,-� ��0� �� �0+ ��0� ��0�

,++

8�

:

0+

*++

�
�
�
�
�
56
��
5�
)
4
�

+

*++

.++

2++

1++

�++

&
�
�

�)
�

3
�
�

��
)

/��

<
�
�
�

<
�
)
�

�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�

 
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
0�
 
"�
(
�
4
�#
!�
�

:


�8�,

�8��

�8�1

�8�2

�1

�:2

�:.

���

��

&#	

+

*+

.+

2+

1+

�+

,+

 +

'+

&
�
�

�)
�

3
�
�

��
)

/��

<
�
�
�

<
�
)
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�

 
�

�
�
��
�
�
�

�
)
�
�
3 &���

'�"���

!��	"

!�	*"

!�	."

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 182



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ +

+ ++  

+'++ '

+0++ 2+

*+++ .*

���� *�

���� *�

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


������������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . * 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * 1 + 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 *0 ' + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 ** , * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � + �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� *�

*2++ 2+

*1++ .1

*�++ .+

*,++ .+

* ++ *0

*'++ *.

*0++ 1

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ���

��1�� ���

��1�� ���

��1�� �,�

� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + . *1 *. * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 *+ ** + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . *2 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + , ' � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * *  0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 1 1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + * * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � *� ��- ,- �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � *, ��- ,� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � *, ��- ,� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � *, ��- -� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 183



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ +

+ ++ �

+'++ .*

+0++ .+

*+++ 1+

���� �+

���� *�

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


��$��,������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  ** * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � 0 1 * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * � .� 0 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � - �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � , �- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

���� *�

*2++ 2�

�+�� *�

*�++ .�

*,++ 2+

* ++ *,

*'++  

*0++ 1

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� **�

��1�� **�

��1�� **�

��1�� **�

� � , �- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * 0 .. . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �� �+ * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * , ** � . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 2  *. ' + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 2  1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + . 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� �, �,� ,� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �, �,� ,* �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �, �,� ,* �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �, �,� ,* �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 184



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ *

+�++ *

+,++ *

+ ++ **

+'++ ,

+0++ *'

���� -�

**++ �0

*.++ �+

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



 $��-������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 2 . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 1 0 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �* +� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ ' *, .1 *+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 2 2* *� * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

����1�

���

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

*.++ �+

�*�� ,�

*1++ 10

*�++ ..

*,++ *1

* ++ *2

*'++ *2

*0++ .

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +�+

��1�� +�,

��1�� +�,

��1�� +��

+ 2 2* *� * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* �� *� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ � *0 *0 , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 0 ' � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 , * . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* * *  . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 � 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +� �+� ��� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �+� ��� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �+� ��� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �+� ��, �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 185



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ 2

+ ++ *1

+'++ 0

+0++ ��

*+++ ''

���� ���

���� ,,

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



�����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 2 1 . 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + *1 .� *� * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+  *' 1� *, . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� - �� *, �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� * �, *� �* � � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� ,,

*2++ ..

*1++ �,

*�++ 22

*,++ *.

* ++ *2

*'++ **

*0++ *

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ���

��1�� ��+

��1�� ��+

��1�� ���

� * �, *� �* � � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * , *2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *. *. .. 0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ , 0 *1 . . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 � . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 2 1 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . , 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� +* ��+ ��- -� � � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

� +* ��� ��- -� �� � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

� +* ��� ��- -� �� � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

� +* ��, ��- -� �� � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 186



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ .

+ ++ *2

+'++ *2

+0++ .1

���� �-

**++ �1

*.++ 2*

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


2�3���������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 , 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 � 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * , ** , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �� �, �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ , *1 .2 0 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ .  *, , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

*.++ 2*

*2++ ,2

�+�� ���

*�++ 2.

*,++ ..

* ++ * 

*'++ *.

*0++ +

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ++�

��1�� ++*

��1�� ++*

��1�� +++

+ .  *, , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ � 2. *'  * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� + �� *� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ , *+ *2 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  *+ 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . ,  . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � 1 . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �- �,� �,� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �- �,� �,- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �- �,� �,- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �- �,� �,- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 187



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ *

+�++ +

+,++ .

+ ++ *+

+'++ 0

+0++ *1

*+++ 2 

���� ��

*.++ �1

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



4����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 � + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . � * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 0 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 1 *+ *� , . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� �* +* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . *, 2+ , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

����1�

���

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

*.++ �1

*2++ ,1

�+�� -*

*�++ .�

*,++ *'

* ++ *+

*'++ 0

*0++ 2

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +��

��1�� +*�

��1�� +*�

��1�� +*�

+ . *, 2+ , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 1 .1 2* � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � +� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * � *2 � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 1 *+ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * . , * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . � . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� +� �*� ��� +� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� +� �+� ��, +� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� +� �+� ��, +� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� +� �+� ��, +� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 188



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ *

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ **

+'++ *2

+0++ 0 

���� ��*

**++ 10

*.++ 1.

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


�5����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 . 2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . 1 , * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 1 .� �' 0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� + *� �� �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

. *. ' *  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + *+ *, *1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

*.++ 1.

*2++ ��

�+�� -+

*�++ ..

*,++ .*

* ++ *1

*'++ *0

*0++ *

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� �+�

��1�� �+�

��1�� �+�

��1�� �+*

+ + *+ *, *1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

*  *, .. 0 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �* �� *- �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + , 0  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 *. � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 ' * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 2 1 *+ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +� �*� ��� -� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �*, ��� -� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �*, ��� -� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �*- ��� -� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 189



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ *

+ ++ *+

+'++ **

+0++ 2 

*+++ ,.

���� ��

*.++ 1 

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


(�5���!�/�6�7,8

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 1 . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 � . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 0 .+  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . *, 2. ** * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� , �- �, �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . *� .+ 0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

*.++ 1 

*2++ �+

�+�� ��

*�++ .,

*,++ .+

* ++ *�

*'++ *.

*0++ .

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +�,

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

+ . *� .+ 0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* � * *0  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �+ �� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ .  *. 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * � 0 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 � . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� *� ��� �-+ �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� *� ��� �-� ,� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� *� ��� �-� ,� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� *� ��* �-� ,� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 190



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

&�� 1*0

�)� �+�

3�� 111

��) 12*

/�� �12

<��� . +

<�)� 22,

��/�6��:�0 +�-

,�/�6��:�0 +��

11 ��+-

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


(�5���!�2��9�7�8

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

1 1* *10 *� ,. � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 12 *� .+' '* ** + + + . + + + + + + 2 + + + + + + + + + + +

+ .' * * * ' ,. � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* 1* *1. *0 1*  . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

1 1, *2' .�� '0 ** + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 0 2 *.' '+ *1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ ** , * *  2 *2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� +� ��� ��� �, - � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� *� ��* �-� ,� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� ��� -�� ���+ +-- �� � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

2++

�
�
�
�
�
56
��
5�
)
4
�

+

�+

*++

*�+

.++

.�+

+
��
�

�
��
*
+

*
+
��
*
�

*
�
��
.
+

.
+
��
.
�

.
�
��
2
+

2
+
��
2
�

2
�
��
1
+

1
+
��
1
�

1
�
��
�
+

�
+
��
�
�

�
�
��
,
+

,
+
��
,
�

,
�
��
 
+

 
+
��
 
�

 
�
��
'
+

'
+
��
'
�

'
�
��
0
+

0
+
��
0
�

0
�
��
*
+
+

*
+
+
��
*
+
�

*
+
�
��
*
*
+

*
*
+
��
*
*
�

*
*
�
��
*
.
+

*
.
+
��
*
.
�

*
.
�
��
*
2
+

*
2
+
��
*
2
�

*
2
�
��
*
1
+

�
 
0�
 
"�
(
�
4
�#
!�
�

�)��3�.�$�

&��

�)�

3��

��)

/��

<���

<�)�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 191



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


������������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ + + + + *' �

+ ++ 1 + 1 + + + + + + + + + + 2  � . �+ + + *0�1 �

+'++ , + , + + + + + + + + + + 1 ,,� 2 �+ + + *0�1 �

+0++ *0 + *0 + + + + + + + + + + *�  '�0 , 2*�, + + * �0 .+�*

*+++ ., + .� + * + + + + + + + + *' ,0�. , .2�* + + *,�1 *0��

���� *� � *+ � � � � � � � � � � �� -�0� �- ��0+ � � �� �+0-

���� +� � +� � � � � � � � � � � *� -,0- �, +�0� � �0+ ��0, ��0,���� +� � +� � � � � � � � � � � *� -,0- �, +�0� � �0+ ��0, ��0,

*2++ .2 + .2 + + + + + + + + + + .+ ' ** 1 �' * 1�2 .+�1 .�� 

*1++ .� + .2 + . + + + + + + + + .2 0. *2 �. * 1 *0�, ..�*

*�++ .� + .. + 2 + + + + + + + + .2 0. *, ,1 + + .+�� .2��

*,++ .. + .* + * + + + + + + + + *0 ',�1 ' 2,�1 + + *'�1 .*��

* ++ .+ * *0 + + + + + + + + + + *' 0+ *2 ,� + + .+�* .1�.

*'++ ** + ** + + + + + + + + + +  ,2�, � 1��� + + *'�. .1�1

*0++ 0 * ' + + + + + + + + + + 1 11�1 1 11�1 * **�* *0 �

.+++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .��, �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ��, � �+- � , � � � � � � � � ��� -*0, ��- +�0� * �0� ��0� �*0�

��1�� ��- * ��- � , � � � � � � � � ��� -�0� ��* +�0� + �0� ��0� �+0�

��1�� ��- * ��- � , � � � � � � � � ��� -�0� ��* +�0� + �0� ��0� �+0�

��1�� ��- * ��- � , � � � � � � � � ��� -�0� ��* +�0� + �0� ��0� �+0�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 192



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


��$��,������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *1�, �

+ ++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + * �+ * �+ + + *,�, �

+'++ *+ * 0 + + + + + + + + + + 0 0+ 1 1+ + + *0�2 �

+0++ ., * .2 + . + + + + + + + + .* '+�' 0 21�, + + * �� .*

*+++ 2+ + 2+ + + + + + + + + + + .' 02�2 *' ,+ + + *0�� .��2

���� +* � +� � � � � � � � � � � +� �* �� ++0� � � ��0� �+0�

���� �� * +, � � � � � � � � � � ++ -- �� �� � � ��0� �+0����� �� * +, � � � � � � � � � � ++ -- �� �� � � ��0� �+0�

*2++ 2' + 2 + * + + + + + + + + ., ,'�1 *2 21�. + + * �' ..�*

*1++ 2* . .' + + + * + + + + + + * �1�'  ..�, + + *��' *0

*�++ 2, * 21 + * + + + + + + + + 2* ',�* ** 2+�, * .�' *'�. .+�*

*,++ .� + .� + + + + + + + + + + *'  .  .' + + * �* .+�,

* ++ .' 1 .1 + + + + + + + + + + .2 '.�* ** 20�2 + + * �0 .*� 

*'++ *. * ** + + + + + + + + + + *. *++  �'�2 * '�2 .+�1 ..�'

*0++  +  + + + + + + + + + + �  *�1 �  *�1 + + *0 �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � �,� -�0� �** +�0� � �0� �-0+ ��0�

��1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � �,� -�0� �*- +�0, � �0� �-0+ ��0-

��1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � �,� -�0� �*- +�0, � �0� �-0+ ��0-

��1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � �,� -�0� �*- +�0, � �0� �-0+ ��0-

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 193



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



 $��-������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + . *++ * �+ + + *0�. �

+ ++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + *0� �

+'++ 2 + 2 + + + + + + + + + + * 22�2 * 22�2 + + *��, �

+0++ ** + *+ + * + + + + + + + + , �1�� 2 . �2 + + *��� *0�.

*+++ .' . .� + * + + + + + + + + .1 '�� *+ 2�� * 2�, *'� .*� 

���� +, � ++ � * � � � � � � � � *� ,�0� �� *+ � � �,0- ��0�

���� �� � -� � - � � � � � � � � �� ,*0* �- *�0� � �0� �,0� ��0����� �� � -� � - � � � � � � � � �� ,*0* �- *�0� � �0� �,0� ��0�

*2++ �� . �* + . + + + + + + + + 2' ,0�* *1 .��� + + *,�, *0� 

*1++  ' *  * + � + + + + + * + + 10 ,.�' *0 .1�1 + + *,�1 .+�,

*�++ 2' + 21 + 1 + + + + + + + + 2* '*�, *2 21�. + + * �' .+�'

*,++ 20 . 2 + + + + + + + + + + 2. '.�* *' 1,�. + + *'� ..�,

* ++ * * *� + * + + + + + + + + *2  ,�� ' 1 �* * ��0 *0 .,�.

*'++ *1 * *2 + + + + + + + + + + **  '�,  �+ + + *0�1 .��2

*0++ 0 * ' + + + + + + + + + + , ,,� 1 11�1 + + * � �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + '�* �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�� �� *-+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�- ,*0� �*- *�0- * �0, �,0+ ��0*

��1�� +** �* *�+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ,* �+* ** * �0, �,0+ ��0*

��1�� +** �* *�+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ,* �+* ** * �0, �,0+ ��0*

��1�� +** �* *�+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ,* �+* ** * �0, �,0+ ��0*

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 194



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



�����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ * *++ 2.� �

+ ++ � + � + + + + + + + + + + � *++ . 1+ + + *'� �

+'++  + � + . + + + + + + + + 1 � �* * *1�2 + + *��� �

+0++ * + *, + * + + + + + + + + *� ''�. *.  +�, + + .+�2 .2��

*+++ 21 * 2+ + 2 + + + + + + + + .  0�1 *1 1*�. + + *'�0 .2� 

���� ��* � �- � * � � � � � � � � ,� ��0� ** *� � � �,0* ��0*

���� �� � �� � � � � � � � � � � ,* ,*0, *, *,0+ � � �,0- ��0����� �� � �� � � � � � � � � � � ,* ,*0, *, *,0+ � � �,0- ��0�

*2++  0 +  2 + , + + + + + + + + �  .�. .� 2*�, + + * �* .+�1

*1++ 1� + 1* + 2 * + + + + + + + 2* ,'�0 0 .+ + + * .+�1

*�++ 1, * 1* * 2 + + + + + + + + 2�  ,�* *+ .*� + + *,�' *0�.

*,++ ., . .* + 2 + + + + + + + + *, ,*�� ' 2+�' * 2�' * �* ..�'

* ++ *� * *2 + * + + + + + + + + *+ ,,� ' �2�2 * ,� *0�. .2� 

*'++ ** * *+ + + + + + + + + + + 0 '*�' 2 . �2 + + * *0

*0++  * , + + + + + + + + + + 1 � �* . .'�, + + * �1 �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�' �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +-, � +++ � *� * � � � � � � � *�+ ,�0, ��� **0* * �0� �,0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� +�� � *� * � � � � � � � *�� ,�0+ ��� **0* + �0- �,0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� +�� � *� * � � � � � � � *�� ,�0+ ��� **0* + �0- �,0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� +�� � *� * � � � � � � � *�� ,�0+ ��� **0* + �0- �,0� ��0�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 195



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


2�3���������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�* �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + **�* �

+ ++ . * * + + + + + + + + + + * �+ + + + + *��* �

+'++ ' * , + * + + + + + + + + � ,.�� 1 �+ + + * �, �

+0++ ** + *+ + * + + + + + + + + '  .� � 1��� + + .+�* .��*

*+++ .0 + .0 + + + + + + + + + + .� ',�. *� �*� + + *0�. .1�,

���� �� � +- � � � � � � � � � � ** �� �, *+ � � �, ��0,

*.++  0 *  2 + � + + + + + + + + �+ ,2�2 *, .+�2 + + *,�. *0�0*.++  0 *  2 + � + + + + + + + + �+ ,2�2 *, .+�2 + + *,�. *0�0

*2++ 2� . .' + � + + + + + + + + .   �* .* ,+ * .�0 .+ .��*

*1++ �2 * 10 + 2 + + + + + + + + .0 �1� *� .'�2 * *�0 *��� .+�*

���� ��, � ��� � � � � � � � � � � �, ��0� �* ��0� � � �� ��0�

*,++ 1+ . 2 + * + + + + + + + + .0  .�� *+ .� + + *,�. .+�,

* ++ *, . *1 + + + + + + + + + + ** ,'�' 1 .� + + *,�1 .*

*'++ *0 . * + + + + + + + + + + ** � �0 , 2*�, + + *,�0 .*�2

*0++ 1 * 2 + + + + + + + + + + 2  � . �+ + + .* �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *+�. �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ++� �* +�* � �* � � � � � � � � ��� ��0� �*� *�0* � �0+ ��0- ��0*

��1�� +�� �� +�, � �* � � � � � � � � ��� ��0, �*- *�0* � �0+ ��0- ��0*

��1�� +�� �� +�, � �* � � � � � � � � ��� ��0, �*- *�0* � �0+ ��0- ��0*

��1�� +�� �� +�, � �* � � � � � � � � ��� ��0� �*- *�0* � �0+ ��0- ��0*

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 196



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



4����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + '�� �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .*� �

+ ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+'++  + , + * + + + + + + + + 1 � �* . .'�, + + *,�* �

+0++ ** + ** + + + + + + + + + +  ,2�, 1 2,�1 + + * �0 .*�2

*+++ .1 + .2 + + + + + * + + + + *, ,,�  .0�. + + * .*�2

���� +� � *, � � � � � � � � � � *� ,,0� �� �� � � �-0� ��0-

*.++  2 * , + � + + + + + + + + ,+ '.�. .. 2+�* * *�1 * �' .+�'*.++  2 * , + � + + + + + + + + ,+ '.�. .. 2+�* * *�1 * �' .+�'

*2++ �. . 1 + 2 + + + + + + + + 2. ,*�� *+ *0�. + + *, *0�0

�+�� ,, * ,� � + � � � � � � � � +- ��0* �� **0- � � ��0- ��0*

*�++ �0 2 �� + * + + + + + + + + 1* ,0�� .+ 22�0 + + * �� .+�,

*,++ 1, 2 1. + * + + + + + + + + 2�  ,�* *. .,�* * .�. * �2 .*� 

* ++ *+ + *+ + + + + + + + + + +   + + + + + *,�. �

*'++ ** * 0 + * + + + + + + + +  ,2�, 2 . �2 + + *,�� .*�2

*0++  * , + + + + + + + + + + �  *�1 2 1.�0 + + * �0 �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *+�2 �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�� �+ *,, � �- � � � � � � � � �-- ,�0� ��� *�0, � �0� �,0� ��0*

��1�� +�� �� *-+ � �- � � � � � � � � ��+ ,�0� �*� *� � �0� �,0� ��0*

��1�� +�� �� *-+ � �- � � � � � � � � ��+ ,�0� �*� *� � �0� �,0� ��0*

��1�� +�� �, *-+ � �- � � � � � � � � ��+ ,� �*� *� � �0� �,0� ��0*

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 197



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


�5����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�' �

+,++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + * �+ + + + + *.� �

+ ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+'++ 1 + 1 + + + + + + + + + + 1 *++ * .� + + *'�1 �

+0++ .. + *0 + 2 + + + + + + + + ' 2,�1 1 *'�. + + *1�� *0

*+++ 2, + 2. + 1 + + + + + + + + .* �'�2 *2 2,�* + + * �* .2�2

���� ��� � ��� � , � � � � � � � � *� ��0� �� �0� � � �0� ��0�

���� ,� * �� � � � � � � � � � � �+ ,�0� �� +�0- � � �,0- ��0*���� ,� * �� � � � � � � � � � � �+ ,�0� �� +�0- � � �,0- ��0*

*2++ �, * 10 + , + + + + + + + + 1*  2�. .. 20�2 . 2�, *'�. ..�,

*1++ �1 + �* + 2 + + + + + + + + 1 ' ., 1'�* * *�0 *0�. ..�*

*�++ �1 * �+ + 2 + + + + + + + + 1, '��. .0 �2� + + *0�. ..�1

*,++ 12 + 1. + * + + + + + + + + 2' ''�1 .. �*�. * .�2 *0�� .2�0

* ++ *� * *2 + * + + + + + + + + *. '+ 0 ,+ + + *'�0 .2� 

*'++ .� � .+ + + + + + + + + + + *, ,1 *+ 1+ + + * �0 .2��

*0++ . * * + + + + + + + + + + * �+ * �+ + + * �, �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�0 �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

�,1�� �*� �� +�� � *+ � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� �,� *�0, + �0, ��0, ��0,

��1�� �++ �* +�� � *+ � � � � � � � � *�� �� �,, *�0� + �0, ��0, ��0,

��1�� �++ �* +�� � *+ � � � � � � � � *�� �� �,, *�0� + �0, ��0, ��0,

��1�� �+� �+ +�� � *+ � � � � � � � � *�� �-0� �,, *�0� + �0, ��0, ��0,

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 198



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


(�5���!�/�6�7,8


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�* �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * ,,� + 22�2 + **�* *' �

+ ++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + .  '�, * 1.�0 + + *'�. �

+'++ , + , + * + + + + + + + + 1 ,'�0 . 2��, + + * �, �

+0++ * + *� + * + + + + + + + + ** ,'�1 , 2,�' + + * �� .*�0

*+++ 2+ + .' + * + + + + + + + + .2  ,�' *. 1+�* + +�� *'�. .2

���� �- � �� � * � � � � � � � � *� �,0� �� �-0� � � ��0� ��0*

���� ,� � �� � + � � � � � � � � �� ,�0� �� *+0- � �0- �,0- ��0,���� ,� � �� � + � � � � � � � � �� ,�0� �� *+0- � �0- �,0- ��0,

*2++ 1' * 11 + 2 + + + + + + + + 21  *�2 * 21�2 * *�. * �, ..�*

*1++ �. * 1' + 2 + + + + + + + + 2� , �. *, 2*� + +�' * .*�2

*�++ �. * 1' + 2 + + + + + + + + 20  ��* * 22�1 + +�2 * �� .*

*,++ 21 * 2. + * + + + + + + + + .   �, *. 2��2 + *�. * �' .*�0

* ++ * * *� + + + + + + + + + + *2   � ' 12�' + *� *'�1 ..�'

*'++ *� . *2 + + + + + + + + + + *+  +�0 , 20�' + * *' .2� 

*0++ , * , + + + + + + + + + + 1 ,.�. 2 1,� + .�. *'�1 �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + *,� + *,� + + *.�2 �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�* �� *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��* ,�0- �+� *+0� * �0, �,0* ��0,

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0� �+� *+0* * �0, �,0* ��0,

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0� �+� *+0* * �0, �,0* ��0,

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0� �+� *+0* * �0, �,0* ��0,

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 199



���� ++* ����������	
����


	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����


���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


(�5���!�2��9�7�8


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' 
��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�


�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


&�� 122 *2 201 + .� + + + + + * + + 2*,  2 *12 22 2 +� * �1 .*�2

�)� 10, ** 1�* * 2+ 2 + + + + + + + 2�0  .�1 *,� 22�2 1 +�' * �� .*��

3�� 1�, *, 1* + .2 + + + + + + + + .00 ,��, *2' 2+�2 . +�1 *,�' .*�2

��) 1.+ * 2'1 + *' + + + * + + + + .01  + *2+ 2* . +�� * �. .*�2

/�� �1� *1 10� + 21 * + * + + + + + 2.* �'�0 *  2.�� 1 +� *�� .*� 

<��� .,' 2 .�' +  + + + + + + + + ..* '.�� *.2 1��0 1 *�� *0�* .1�.

<�)� 220 *2 2.+ + � + * + + + + + + . � '*�* *2' 1+� . +�, *'�1 ..�'

��/�6��:�0 +,� �+ +�- � �� � � � � � � � � *�- �,0, ��� *�0� * �0� ��0� ��0+

,�/�6��:�0 +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0� �+� *+0* * �0, �,0* ��0,

11 ���, -, �,�� � �+� + � � � � � � � ��-� ,�0� ���+ *+0* �� �0, �,0* ��0,

,++

8�

:

0+

*++

�
�
�
�
�
56
��
5�
)
4
�

+

*++

.++

2++

1++

�++

&
�
�

�)
�

3
�
�

��
)

/��

<
�
�
�

<
�
)
�

�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�

 
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
0�
 
"�
(
�
4
�#
!�
�

:


�8�,

�8��

�8�1

�8�2

�1

�:2

�:.

���

��

&#	

+

*+

.+

2+

1+

�+

,+

 +

'+

&
�
�

�)
�

3
�
�

��
)

/��

<
�
�
�

<
�
)
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�

 
�

�
�
��
�
�
�

�
)
�
�
3 &���

'�"���

!��	"

!�	*"

!�	."

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 200



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ 1

+'++ ,

+0++ *0

*+++ .,

���� *�

���� +�

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


������������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * * . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . * * . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 ** 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . , *1 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � � �� - � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � * �� , , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� +�

*2++ .2

*1++ .�

*�++ .�

*,++ ..

* ++ .+

*'++ **

*0++ 0

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ��,

��1�� ��-

��1�� ��-

��1�� ��-

� � * �� , , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + 2 *+ , 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . *1  * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . ' ** 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 *2 � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * * 0  . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 . 2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � + . * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� , *� ��� �* �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� , +� ��� �� *� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� , +� ��� �� *� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� , +� ��� �� *� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 201



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ .

+'++ *+

+0++ .,

*+++ 2+

���� +*

���� ��

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


��$��,������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * � 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 *1  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . + *2 *+ � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � * �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

���� ��

*2++ 2'

*1++ 2*

*�++ 2,

*,++ .�

* ++ .'

*'++ *.

*0++  

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� **�

��1�� **�

��1�� **�

��1�� **�

� � � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * ** *1 *+ . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . *. *1 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � .1 , + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * , *2 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � *�  * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + , 1 * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * * + 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� - �* ��� �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� ��� �� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� ��� �� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� ��� �� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 202



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ .

+ ++ *

+'++ 2

+0++ **

*+++ .'

���� +,

���� ��

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



 $��-������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 *�  * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �� �+ � * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �* �� �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

����1�

���

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���� ��

*2++ ��

*1++  '

*�++ 2'

*,++ 20

* ++ * 

*'++ *1

*0++ 0

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +��

��1�� +**

��1�� +**

��1�� +**

� � �* �� �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + * 2. � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . . 2� *. . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * , .2 , . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +  *' *. . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . . , 2 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 � 2 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * . 2 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � ��+ ��+ ,* �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� ��- ,, �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� ��- ,, �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� ��- ,, �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 203



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ �

+'++  

+0++ * 

*+++ 21

���� ��*

���� ��

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



�����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + 2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . �  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +  *� ' 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �� +, �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �+ +* �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� ��

*2++  0

*1++ 1�

*�++ 1,

*,++ .,

* ++ *�

*'++ **

*0++  

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +-,

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

� � �+ +* �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . .+ 1+ *, * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * *2 .2 , . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 0 2* . . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . ' *+ 1 * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � 1 � + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + .  . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 . * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� ��� �*� ��� �, * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� �*+ ��* �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� �*+ ��* �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� �*+ ��* �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 204



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ *

+ ++ .

+'++ '

+0++ **

*+++ .0

���� ��

*.++  0

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


2�3���������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 * 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 2 . 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 *. *+ 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� + �* �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . . 2 ** . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

*.++  0

*2++ 2�

*1++ �2

���� ��,

*,++ 1+

* ++ *,

*'++ *0

*0++ 1

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ++�

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

+ . . 2 ** . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  ' *2 � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* ' *� .+ ' + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� , ** �� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . 0 .* ' + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � ' 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  � � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * * * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� ��, �-, �� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �*� �-- �� �- � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �*� �-- �� �- � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �*� �-- �� �- � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 205



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ *

+ ++ +

+'++  

+0++ **

*+++ .1

���� +�

*.++  2

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������



4����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 . . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 2 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + ' *+ 1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � - �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + *2 1, ** . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

����1�

���

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

*.++  2

*2++ �.

�+�� ,,

*�++ �0

*,++ 1,

* ++ *+

*'++ **

*0++  

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

+ + *2 1, ** . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . *' .2 ' * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� + �� *� �+ + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + *' .0 0 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 0 .1 *+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 1 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . . . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � ��* ��+ ,� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � ��� ��� ,� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � ��� ��� ,� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� ��� ,� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 206



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ .

+ ++ +

+'++ 1

+0++ ..

*+++ 2,

���� ���

���� ,�

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


�5����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * *2 � 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* . *. **  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

** ,� �� �+ - � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� *� �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� ,�

*2++ �,

*1++ �1

*�++ �1

*,++ 12

* ++ *�

*'++ .�

*0++ .

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� �*�

��1�� �++

��1�� �++

��1�� �+�

� � �� *� �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . *2 .* *� 2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +  ., * 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + ' .+ .� * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 .* *. 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 �  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * ' ,  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

*+ -+ ��� �,+ ��� �� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

*+ -� ��* �,� ��� �� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

*+ -� ��* �,� ��� �� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

*+ -, ��* �,� ��� �� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 207



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ .

+'++ ,

+0++ * 

*+++ 2+

���� �-

���� ,�

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


(�5���!�/�6�7,8

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . . . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * � , 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * , *2  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� �* �+ �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� *� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

���� ,�

*2++ 1'

*1++ �.

*�++ �.

*,++ 21

* ++ * 

*'++ *�

*0++ ,

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +�*

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

� � �� *� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * *2 .* *+ . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . *1 .2 *+ . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * *. . *+ . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  * ' * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 ' � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 � 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . * . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� �+ �-* -- �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �* �� �-� �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �* �� �-� �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �* �� �-� �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 208



����

	�
�����


���
����


��� 
 ��!

&�� 122

�)� 10,

3�� 1�,

��) 1.+

/�� �1�

<��� .,'

<�)� 220

��/�6��:�0 +,�

,�/�6��:�0 +��

11 ���,

++* ����������	
����


#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
�
�
���
�����������


(�5���!�2��9�7�8

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ ** *+, .*'   *' 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* ** *.� .21 *+2 *' 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* ., *2+ *'' 0* *' . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *+ **, *0,  0 * . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

21 ' *+2 * � *.* .* 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+  1+ *.* ,� 2* 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 0 �� *,+ 0, * * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

, �� ��� ��� �+ �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �* �� �-� �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

*� ��� �,� ���� �*� �+� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

.�+

�
�
�
�
�
56
��
5�
)
4
�

+

�+

*++

*�+

.++

+
��
�

�
��
*
+

*
+
��
*
�

*
�
��
.
+

.
+
��
.
�

.
�
��
2
+

2
+
��
2
�

2
�
��
1
+

1
+
��
1
�

1
�
��
�
+

�
+
��
�
�

�
�
��
,
+

,
+
��
,
�

,
�
��
 
+

 
+
��
 
�

 
�
��
'
+

'
+
��
'
�

'
�
��
0
+

0
+
��
0
�

0
�
��
*
+
+

*
+
+
��
*
+
�

*
+
�
��
*
*
+

*
*
+
��
*
*
�

*
*
�
��
*
.
+

*
.
+
��
*
.
�

*
.
�
��
*
2
+

*
2
+
��
*
2
�

*
2
�
��
*
1
+

�
 
0�
 
"�
(
�
4
�#
!�
�

�)��3�.�$�

&��

�)�

3��

��)

/��

<���

<�)�

������4����
����#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Appendix D 
PREVIOUS ROUTE OPTION STUDIES 

Page 215



F
e
n
c
in

g

6
0
0
.2

4
9
 m

P
age 216



CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM 

DEVELOPMENT

Stage 2 Feasibility Report

Ref:CC/S2/JM/180716

Submitted: 15th July 2016

Valid Until: 18th August 2016

Page 217



During the feasibility study we have 

considered options for logistics and 

more specifically access and egress 

arrangements for construction 

materials, plant and operatives.

NB. Please refer to appendix G for options.

On a daily basis we will be bringing vehicles onto site and 

subsequently off site for materials, plant and operatives as well 

as taking away waste materials.

A major consideration is how we provide access and egress 

routes for this traffic.

Following discussions with our client we have looked at the 

viability of each of the  following options:

Option 1 – Provide a temporary Haul road off site which will be 

removed at the end of the contract. Construct a new exit route 

within the existing cemetery connecting to the existing road 

layout. 

Option 2 - Form a permanent road from the existing highways 

infrastructure to the construction site through land surrounding 

the cemetery (adjacent fields) to serve construction traffic and 

future permanent egress.

Benefits of constructing a permanent egress through the 

cemetery (option 1)

• Keeps the existing road network within the cemetery

• Less opposition from neighbouring community

Constraints of constructing a permanent egress through 

the cemetery (option 1)

• Constructing a new road creates a ‘construction site’ 

considered to be major disruption for a cemetery 

environment.

• Graves and memorials will need to be exhumed and 

relocated

• Legals, permission and licensing issues associated with 

grave and memorial relocation.  

• Ecology issues will need to be investigated and 

accommodated

• Trees and hedges will need to be removed, tree root 

protection required

• Working space requirements could impinge on adjacent 

graves, memorials and areas of cremated human remains.

• Construction activities immediately adjacent to mourners 

visiting graves.

• Accommodation of road drainage.

• Potential increase in programme duration due to downtime 

from sensitive cemetery events.

Benefits of a permanent egress road (option 2)

• All construction traffic provided with access and egress 

route completely segregated from cemetery

• Elimination of down time or risk allowances for periods 

when it would not be acceptable for construction traffic to 

use cemetery roads

• Provides potential for dedicated egress route for funeral 

traffic from new chapel to leave site.

• Enhances value of land along road route for future 

development

• Possible shared funding from temporary access haul roads 

of flood defence woks project

9

4. ACCESS/EGRESS APPRAISAL

Page 218



Constraints of permanent egress road (option 2)

• Ecology issues will need to be investigated and 

accommodated

• Disruption to playing field

• Opposition from residents.

• Potential relocation of sports field changing facilities. 

Cost based comparison

We have assessed each option and provided the following 

budget costs within out estimate of the works.

NB:  As there will already be a capital expenditure required 

to construct a haul road to service the construction site it 

would be beneficial to convert the haul road into a permanent 

service road to maximise on this investment and eliminate any 

disruption to the cemetery

High Level Cost Assessment of Haul Road v's Internal Cemetery Road

Option Description

1
Cost of a Haul 

Road
2400 m2  120.00  288,000.00 

Cost of Internal 

road through 

Cemetery

997.5 m2  100.00  99,750.00 

 387,750.00

2
Permanent Exit 

and Haul Road
2400 m2  150.00  360,000.00 

Recommendation

Having taken the above considerations into account we would 

recommend option 2 as the best option to proceed against.  

Our site layout and logistics plan (SL-01) illustrates this proposal 

and allows the existing Cemetery roads to continue to be used 

for its intended use on a day to day basis without impact from 

large scale volumes of construction traffic and effect to the 

Cemetery and its visitors.

We recommend that this permanent egress road be completed 

as an enabling works package prior to the main contract to 

maintain a completion date of Phase 1 in June 2018.

   

10

4. ACCESS/EGRESS APPRAISAL

Page 219



Appendix E 
PETER MITCHELL ASSOCIATES REPORT 

Page 220



Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium 

Route Options Appraisal 

Peter Mitchell Associates 

September 2016 

Page 221



Contents 

Contents ................................................................................................................................ 2

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................ 3

About the Author ................................................................................................................... 4

Basis of this report ................................................................................................................. 5

Key Issues .............................................................................................................................. 6

Legal issues ............................................................................................................................ 6

Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium .......................................................................................... 8

Consecrated areas ....................................................................................................................... 11

Unconsecrated areas ................................................................................................................... 12

Practical issues ..................................................................................................................... 13

Financial issues .................................................................................................................... 14

Legal costs ....................................................................................................................................... 14

Practical costs.................................................................................................................................. 14

Public Relations.................................................................................................................... 15

Page 222



Executive Summary 

This report provides a high-level overview of the issues surrounding the potential creation 

of access through Cheltenham Cemetery. 

In my view, there is no legislation that is applicable to authorising the removal of memorials 

and burials in an operational local authority cemetery.  

Based upon the information that I have received, of the routes identified by WSP | Parsons 

Brinckerhoff which impact directly on the cemetery (namely A and B), I recommend that 

Route B shown in purple on the WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK03 is regarded as 

having a much greater chance of being feasible than Route A shown in yellow, due to the 

clear indications of coffin burials along Route A. 

Similarly, Route B shown in purple on the WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK03 avoids 

areas clearly used for coffin burials within the areas shaded orange and red on the RES 

Surveying Topographic Survey Sheet 13. 

The proposals threaten to disturb a place where the bodies and ashes of deceased people 

lie and thereby have the potential to cause great distress to bereaved people, which must 

be recognised by the team working on this project. 

Page 223



About the Author

I  am  Peter  Mitchell  and  I  have  worked  at  all  levels  in  the  Bereavement  Services  sector  in  

both public and private sectors since 1983. Since 2002 I have been an independent 

consultant, specialising in all matters relating to burial, cremation and exhumation. 

I wrote the IBCA Exhumation Handbook in 1998 and have project managed the exhumation 

of approximately 30,000 burials, mainly in the UK, but also in Luxor, Egypt and Jakarta, 

Indonesia. These exhumations have ranged from single bodies to large numbers of burials 

and the type of client and their reasons for requiring exhumation have also varied widely. 

I have been featured in 3 TV documentaries on exhumation, including being the subject of 

‘The Exhumer’, a 50-minute documentary broadcast on Channel 4 in July 2009. 

Page 224



Basis of this report 

My understanding of the proposed route options is informed by the following drawings: 

Company Drawing Ref Date

RES Surveying Ltd Topographic Survey Sheet 13 13/04/2015

WSP / Parsons Brinckerhoff 4730-SK03 Rev B

Overview Map 

Proposed Route Options 

September 2016

WSP / Parsons Brinckerhoff 4730-SK04 Rev A

Proposed Route A 

September 2016

WSP / Parsons Brinckerhoff 4730-SK05 Rev A

Proposed Route B 

September 2016

I have also had the benefit of seeing 17 photographs of the areas shaded Blue, Orange and 

Red on the RES Surveying Topographic Survey Sheet 13. 

The various route options under consideration relate to an operational cemetery and 

crematorium site. I have not made a site visit nor sought any information directly from the 

client, Cheltenham Borough Council. 

The ‘Proposed Route Options’ drawing shows areas shaded Blue, Orange and Red, which all 

directly impact upon areas of the cemetery previously used for burial. The area shaded in 

blue forms part of WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s Route Option A.  

This same drawing shows Route B in purple, which does not appear to affect graves as such, 

but may impact upon an area adjacent to the site entrance drive, previously used for the 

burial or scattering of ashes. 

Page 225



Key Issues 

The key issues for consideration include: 

Legal 

Practical

Financial 

Public relations 

Legal issues 

The redevelopment of land previously used for burial is not unusual in the UK and there is a 

statutory framework in place to enable this to happen, subject to the particular 

circumstances of each case. These circumstances do not necessarily have to involve the 

disturbance of buried human remains. 

A significant factor in understanding which legislation applies within England is the status of 

the land in terms of its formal consecration by a Bishop of the Church of England. Whilst 

liaison and gaining consent may be required when dealing with churchyards in Wales or 

Scotland, in England only consecration has a legal status recognised in statutes relating to 

exhumation.  

Regardless of the ownership of the land, its consecration by a Bishop of the Church of 

England places it under the Faculty Jurisdiction, which places restrictions upon what can be 

done on the land without applying for faculty permission.  

The statutes relevant to the use or redevelopment of land used for burial include: 

Burial Act 1857 

Disused Burial Grounds (Amendment) Act 1981 

Page 226



Town and Country Planning Act 1990 & Town and Country Planning Regulations 

1950

Open Spaces Act 1906 

Mission and Pastoral Measure 2011 

Care of Churches and Ecclesiastical Jurisdiction (Amendment) Measure 2015 

Private Acts of Parliament  

Examples of relevant private Acts of Parliament include the Channel Tunnel Rail Link Act 

1996 and the Crossrail Act 2008. 

Statutes have provisions relating not only to the actual burials, but also to the treatment of 

memorials on graves, which technically remain the property of the person who originally 

paid for their installation. 

In general, there are requirements to give public notice of the intentions regarding the land 

previously used for burial and arrangements relating to objections from relatives and others 

and to compensation for loss of burial rights. 

In terms of creating access for vehicles over old burials, the Disused Burial Grounds 

(Amendment) Act 1981 provides that the Secretary of State may issue an Order dispensing 

with the requirements to exhume burials in areas of old burials where no building is to take 

place. The provision is used to enable the redevelopment of an old non-conformist chapel 

so that burials in the area redeveloped as entrance and car park are left undisturbed. The 

formality  of  what  is  known  as  a  Dispensation  Order  is  required  as  the  work  results  in  the  

graves being made inaccessible. 

The Church of England sometimes grants faculty permission for raft type foundations to be 

used for the extension of church buildings to bridge over old graves. 

It  is  important  to  note  that,  regardless  of  the  location  and  status  of  the  site,  graves  

containing Commonwealth War Burials have special protection. These are defined in the 

Page 227



Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 1977 (LACO) as a burial of any member of the forces of 

His Majesty fallen in the war of 1914-1921 or the war of 1939-1947. 

It is also important to note that cremation ashes are also classified as human remains for 

the purposes of legislation. This applies where ashes are buried, whether in a container or 

otherwise. The situation where ashes are scattered is less clear and is considered below. 

Another factor that may be relevant is that the original part of the cemetery is registered 

under the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the Register of 

Historic Parks and Gardens by English Heritage (now Historic England) for its special historic 

interest.  It  was  Grade  2  listed  in  2003.  This  does  not  apply  to  20
th 

Century cemetery 

extensions, in which the proposed route options currently being considered may be located. 

Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium 

The Cheltenham site under consideration is neither a churchyard nor a disused burial 

ground, but an operational cemetery. This means that it does not readily fit in with any of 

the statutory provisions listed above. 

I suspect that, in common with most other local authority cemeteries, a significant 

proportion of the site may be consecrated. 

The  memorials  visible  in  the  photographs  that  I  have  seen  suggest  to  me  that  the  graves  

lying in the Blue, Orange and Red areas are purchased graves, although there may be 

unpurchased graves in the Blue area. 

‘Purchased’ means that the burial authority sold the exclusive rights of burial in the grave to 

a relative of the person first buried in it. That owner may have subsequently also been 

buried in the grave. The sale of the exclusive rights is a legally binding contract between the 

burial authority and the purchaser and in subject to the terms and conditions of the grant of 

rights. 

Page 228



I do not know the age of the burials along the 3 potential routes, but in the photographs the 

memorials generally look quite old. I therefore suggest that the exclusive rights in the graves 

may have been sold prior to 1974 in perpetuity. This needs clarification from the cemetery 

records, but it means that the rights were not sold for a limited period, as they have been 

since 1974, and they do not simply expire. In all probability the rights are still extant, even if 

the registered owners of those rights are themselves deceased. There are appropriate 

procedures for the rights to be transferred to those legally entitled, usually but not 

necessarily a direct descendant. 

‘Unpurchased’ means that no-one purchased any exclusive rights and unrelated people may 

have been buried over a period of time in the same grave. Some burial authorities permit 

memorials on unpurchased graves, so the presence or absence of a memorial does not 

define the status of a grave. 

In addition to any consideration of the potential disturbance of burials, there should also be 

factored in the exclusive rights of burial and the property rights in memorials. These matters 

are dealt with in the legislation relating to disused burial grounds, but this is an operational 

cemetery regardless of the age of any burials that might be affected by new access routes. 

The area shaded in blue which forms part of WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s Route Option A 

may  appear  to  have  good  potential  as  an  access  route,  due  to  the  smaller  number  of  

memorials visible in the photographs. However: 

The  absence  of  a  memorial  does  not  indicate  that  there  is  not  a  grave  in  which  

burials have taken place. 

There appears to be a CWGC headstone in one of the photographs (P1080270). 

There appears to be evidence from photographs of vases (P1080248) and a 

memorial feature (P108262) that ashes have been scattered or buried in the area on 

the Blue route. A site inspection is required to confirm this. 

Page 229



The  Purple  Route  B  appears  not  to  affect  graves,  but  it  may  affect  an  area  used  for  the  

scattering or burial of ashes where it links to the main drive close to the main entrance to 

the cemetery. 

If ashes have been buried in containers the affected area, particularly if individual burial 

plots have been sold, then legally there is no difference from graves containing bodies. 

When scattered, ashes are not identifiable or recoverable. 

The Ministry of Justice publishes guidance notes with its exhumation licence application 

form, which state: 

It is not practical to remove scattered remains. They are not considered to be buried and no 

licence is therefore required if they are to be disturbed. 

If the remains have been placed in the grave without a container, it may not be practicable 

to  remove  them.  Any  application  for  a  licence  to  do  so  will  be  considered  in  the  light  of  

advice from the burial authority.

Whilst the legal implications of scattered ashes many seem to be minimal, other aspects are 

discussed in the Public Relations section below. 

In London only, local authorities have powers to extinguish exclusive rights of burial granted 

in perpetuity if the most recent burial in the grave concerned was 75 years or more ago. The 

wording  of  the  legislation  -  the  Greater  London  Council  (General  Powers)  Act  1976  s.9  –  

specifically refers to extinguishing rights where there is depth remaining in the grave for at 

least one further burial. Last year, I sought the opinion of the Ministry of Justice team as to 

whether these powers could be used to extinguish exclusive rights in order to create a new 

pedestrian access through 3 rows of graves.  

I  made  my  original  request  on  5
th

 November  2015,  but  did  not  receive  a  reply  until  24
th

March 2016. The reply included the following: 

Page 230



“… I’m afraid MoJ is not in a position to provide the information you’re seeking. As you’ll 

know, neither the City of London (Various Powers) Act 1969 nor the Greater London Council 

(General Powers) Act 1976 were pieces of government legislation and, therefore, it’s not 

possible for us to speculate on the policy intention behind the provisions you have queried. In 

any event, the issues you have raised are essentially matters of legal interpretation and, as a 

Government department, we’re unable to give advice of this kind.  I can only suggest that 

you should seek this from an independent adviser.”  

I think that the words of the legislation in this specific example do not extend to permit the 

creation of access routes. The situation for a local authority outside of London seeking to do 

something similar, but lacking even powers to extinguish exclusive rights in graves that have 

been used for burial, seems even less likely to find a successful legal outcome. 

Regardless of the merits of improving access, one cannot simply remove memorials from 

graves  and  create  a  new  route  or  widen  an  existing  route  by  covering  graves  partially  or  

completely or exhume burials as part of this process. 

In general terms, in my view the options for gaining legal consent to encroach upon graves 

in Cheltenham Cemetery, whether involving the disturbance of burials or building access 

routes over graves without disturbing burials, are very limited. There appears to be no 

provision in law to authorise these works.  

Consecrated areas 

Discussion with the Gloucester Diocesan Registrar to explore how the Church of England 

views the proposals. These discussions should be informed by clear maps and other 

information showing the number of graves, memorials and burials potentially affected by 

the creation of new or wider routes. 

Page 231



Unconsecrated areas 

Discussion with the Ministry of Justice along the same terms. As discussed above, I am not 

optimistic that the Ministry team would have the capacity or willingness to commit to 

providing any helpful advice. 

The time required to successful engage in dialogue and reach conclusions with these 2 

bodies could be considerable. Based upon my own and others’ experience, it would not 

surprise me if  up to one year or  even two years  were spent on this  process and yet  there 

would be no guarantee that a successful outcome could be achieved. 

In the absence of any alternative, the client could consider seeking powers within a new and 

specific private Act of Parliament, but there would be no guarantee of success.  

Subject to site investigations to confirm the situation on the ground regarding ashes of body 

burials, the Purple Route B appears to offer the least legal obstacles. 

Page 232



Practical issues 

If legal authority could be obtained to authorise the removal of memorials and build a road 

over old graves, the practical issues would be relatively straightforward. Even if some or all 

of the burials were to be removed, this would not present significant practical challenges. 

The memorials and burials could be relocated to another part of the cemetery. Where 

disused burial grounds are cleared, normal practice is to rebury exhumed remains in 

communal  graves in order to save space in existing cemeteries.  In  this  case,  however,  the 

sensitivities of the situation would require the reinterment of burials and the re-erection of 

memorials  to be on a grave by grave basis.  If  50 graves were affected,  the memorials  and 

burials would be relocated to 50 new graves elsewhere in the cemetery.   

The dismantling and re-erection of memorials would require care to minimise any damage. 

The memorials would have to be re-erected to modern standards in terms of foundations 

and fixing of components to ensure safety. If burials were to be exhumed, the work would 

need to be screened from public view and undertaken in liaison with the local authority’s 

Environmental Health Officer. In view of the specific nature of the project, each burial would 

likely be reinterred in a new individual coffin. Both activities would need to be completed by 

people suitably experienced in the work, with BRAMM / NAMM registration applicable to 

the memorial work. 

The time taken to complete this work would obviously depend upon the number of 

memorials and/or burials involved. However, I would expect completion within a matter of 

a few weeks rather than months. 

Purple Route B appears to offer the least practical difficulties. There may be no need to 

move any memorials  or  buried ashes or  bodies at  all.  The removal  of  lawn areas used for  

scattering ashes would need to be completed with an awareness of the sensitivity of the 

situation and manual excavation may be deemed more appropriate than mechanical 

excavation. The site and method of relocation of such ground would need consideration, 

with a location within the cemetery. 

Page 233



Financial issues 

Legal costs 

If the client wished to pursue the identified route options, the costs of seeking legal consent 

may  include  charges  made  by  the  Diocesan  Registry  for  the  time  of  the  Registrar  and/or  

Chancellor. These charges would likely be equivalent to lawyers’ fees. 

The Ministry of Justice would not make any charge.  

The  client  might  wish  to  engage  specialist  lawyers  to  act  on  their  behalf  in  the  hope  of  

increasing the chances of a successful outcome to the discussions with Diocese and 

Ministry. 

Practical costs 

The costs of dismantling and re-erecting the memorials are unlikely to be significant, in view 

of the modest size and design of memorials apparent in the photographs. I suggest an 

allowance of £250 to £500 per memorial. 

The costs of exhuming burials if required would again be modest. I suggest an allowance of 

£2,000 per coffin burial.  

In addition, there would be the costs of new coffins. I suggest an allowance of £300 per 

coffin. 

The client would be providing new graves for any reinterments and could excavate the 

graves as in the case of standard coffin burials. If an exhumation contractor were 

responsible for the reinterments, the costs would be minimal if carried out on the same site 

immediately following exhumation. 

Page 234



In  view  of  the  sensitivity  of  the  project,  the  client  might  wish  to  engage  the  services  of  a  

Funeral Director, for which quotations would have to be sought. 

Public Relations 

Perhaps even greater than the challenges of obtaining legal consent for the works, 

managing the public relations aspects of such a project is likely to be very difficult. 

As an example, within recent years Perth and Kinross Council have faced protests from 

members of the public disturbed by the prospect of a new road being constructed within 

the grounds of Perth Crematorium and potentially affecting areas where ashes had been 

scattered.  

(See: https://www.thecourier.co.uk/news/local/perth-kinross/238648/anger-over-new-link-road-near-perth-

crematorium/)

The use of social media, combined with what I perceive from experience to be a heightened 

awareness and sensitivity to the disturbance of the dead in the UK, enables even a relatively 

small minority to gain a high public profile for their objections to such a project.  

Any activity that threatens to disturb a place where the bodies and ashes of deceased 

people lie has the potential to cause great distress to bereaved people, which must be 

recognised by the team working on this project. This distress is not limited to those families 

whose graves are directly affected by any proposals, but includes relatives of others buried 

in this cemetery and also elsewhere. 

Ideally, the proposals to create access routes and discussions regarding legal authority for 

the works should be kept out of the public domain until there is certainty as to what might 

be the finally agreed solution. This would avoid causing unnecessary distress to bereaved 

people. 

Page 235



If any of the route options are to be pursued and legal authority successfully obtained, it will 

be essential to ensure the integrity of the work on the ground, maintain the identity of any 

memorials and burials affected, whether bodies or ashes. 

Page 236



L13

Cheltenham Cemetary and

Crematorium

Bouncers Lane

Topographic Survey

Sheet 13

SUR.1126

13/04/2015

ZA

KL

1:1000

RES Surveying Ltd

Unit 19.4

Highnam Business Centre
Highnam

Gloucester

GL2 8DN

T: 01452 506079
E: mail@ressurveying.co.uk

www.ressurveying.co.uk

A0

PROJECT NO

DATE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

SCALE

REV DATEDESCRIPTION

ADDRESS

DRAWING

P
age 237



1

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 238



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 239



1

 

WSP Group Ltdc

 

P
age 240



Appendix F 
TREE SPECIALIST REPORT  

Page 241



Cheltenham Cemetery-Proposed Route Options  

CBC Tree Section comment pertaining to WSP Drawing no 4730-SK-03 Sept 2016 

Route A-

Pros-

If constructed well, this would be the most visually pleasing route for mourners/visitors to 

the cremator as it meanders through several different well tree’d and more open areas 

throughout the cemetery.   

It would leave the southern existing boundary vegetation intact thus leaving functional 

screening into and out of the cemetery from the playing pitches and open space to the 

south.

Cons

A more expensive “no-dig construction” method for the road would need to be engineered 

to reduce damage to trees rooting environment. 

Route would likely need the removal of several trees from within the children’s cemetery as 

well as part of a hedge line within the cemetery.  This hedge line is species-rich and is 

composed of rowan, Berberis, smoke bush, yew, birch, Laburnum, cotoneaster, hawthorn 

etc.

Unless this road meanders significantly, it will involve the placing of the road right under the 

canopy of several large beech, hornbeam and oak.  Whilst this may be technically possible, 

some collateral damage will be incurred to these trees and indeed access facilitation pruning 

(in the form of crown lifting would be necessary-such crown lifting involves the removal of 

several large limbs off these trees to enable vehicle access under the canopy) would be 

required.  This pruning would likely detract from the visual amenity of these trees.    

Alternatively the road could meander away from trees, but this would likely involve the 

moving of grave stones. 

Road construction would be over an area where it is suspected ashes are scattered (there 

appears to be many bunches of flowers and other assorted mementos on the ground in this 

area).    

Any “new road” will take some time to “bed-in” and may look somewhat “shiny and new” in 

a mature amenity landscape.  It would likely take several years before it blends into the 

landscape.

No-dig construction specialist advice would be required to ascertain whether such an 

engineering construction is possible.  

Cedar tree and 2 mature lime trees near to the entrance would need to be removed if 

proposed entrance-widening is required. 

Page 242



Route B 

Pros

Little /no damage to trees within the cemetery assuming road follows route outside the 

palisade fence line. 

New road would not be highly visible within cemetery or externally from the open space or 

playing pitches. 

Relatively easy to construct-whether temporary or permanent. 

No high quality trees would need to be removed to facilitate construction or future visitor 

movement. 

Construction over cedar rooting area at top of drive should be relatively simple. 

Loss of southern hedge line could be overcome with renewed planting. 

If road route is to the south of the existing palisade fence line, then most internal trees could 

be retained without significant damage to root protection areas. 

No significant trees exist within private rear gardens along 62-41 Salamanca road inhibiting 

construction of new road/track. 

Traffic within the cemetery would not increase during the construction period. 

Cons

Cedar and limes adjacent to entrance would need removal should access widening be 

required.

Part of the hedgerow along the southern boundary would need to be removed.  This would 

open up views into/out of the cemetery 

There is a manhole cover along this existing track indicating the presence of underground 

services.  Construction methods/design would need to take account of this. 

Much valuable wildlife rich cover such as bramble, plum, blackthorn, willow, alder etc would 

need to be removed.  However there is a lot of such cover around the playing fields and 

open space to the south of the cemetery.  It would be a relatively small overall proportion of 

total cover. 

Route C 

Pros

No tree related damage or removals required (assuming route could easily avoid several 

mature oak and willow within open space to the east of the playing field).   

Page 243



If sensitively designed and the existing young oak trees within this open space to the east of 

the playing pitches are protected and further planting included, this would add to the overall 

tree-rich landscape. 

No increase of internal construction related traffic during the build. 

Cons

Some cover for wildlife would be lost-bramble, wild plum, ash etc to enable access into the 

open space to the east of the playing pitches.   

The new road/route through this open space could look somewhat incongruous through the 

existing landscape and could take several years to “bed in”. 

Route D 

Pros

Little/no damage to significant individual trees required.   

No loss of significant individual trees. 

Existing south boundary screening into/out of cemetery would be retained. 

No increase of internal construction related traffic during the build. 

Cons

Some ground cover loss (as per Route B) of overall woody vegetation.  

Conclusion 

Each option carries several positives and negatives-some of these carry more weight and are of 

more significance than others. 

Route A would incur the most tree related damage/removals and may be the most expensive to 

construct but would ultimately fit best into this landscape on the assumption that a generous 

landscaping scheme could mitigate for tree loss/damage.  This may be technically the most 

challenging route to achieve due to the “no-dig” requirement where the route deviates into the root 

protection area of existing large trees. 

Route B would incur some loss of boundary screening and trees along front of drive (if drive is to be 

widened).  However, re-landscaping could mitigate for this loss.  This new route would fit 

aesthetically well into the local environment. 

Route C would not incur significant tree loss but the proposed new road may look incongruous 

through this open space.  Some ground cover would have to be removed. 

Page 244



Route D would also not incur significant tree loss but some ground cover would need to be removed.  

The road would fit more discretely into the landscape. 

All comments are from a “trees-only” perspective and do not take account of inconvenience to 

neighbours, nuisance, cost,  the proposed Noverton and Priors flood alleviation scheme or the 

appropriateness of design.  CBC Tree Section considers that Route B may offer the best long term 

solution. 

A possible alternative solution may be to construct a temporary access road for the construction 

phase of this project and then, where necessary, upgrade existing  surfaces for future car users to 

the new cremator.  This would avoid the necessity to construct lorry-bearing roads within the 

existing cemetery.  Such a new temporary road surface could be constructed using eg Eve Trackway 

solutions.  This would avoid the need to construct expensive loadbearing roads internally as well as 

reducing the need for tree removal whilst still involving visitor movement within the tranquil 

environs of the Cemetery. 

Christopher Chavasse 

CBC Trees Officer 20.9.16 

Page 245



Appendix G
ADDITIONAL ECOLOGICAL DETAILS  

Page 246



APPENDIX G – ADDITIONAL ECOLOGY DETAILS 

The following Tables outline the potential ecological survey requirements, timeframes and mitigation measures (should they be required) for each route. 

Table 1 Potential Ecology Survey Requirements  

Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

A Badger – 
updated 
survey 

Updated 
survey to 
ensure no 
changes in sett 
locations have 
occurred 

Recommended Within 8 
weeks of 
construction 
start   

1 day Yes  Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

Should new badger excavation(s) be found 
then further survey would be required.  If 
works are required within 30m of any badger 
setts, a sett closure licence would be 
required to close the sett legally.   

Refer below for mitigation timeline for badger 
sett closure.     

Bat – Tree 
Roost

Bat roost 
assessment of 
trees to be 
affected 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Preferably 
during winter 
due to 
reduction in 
foliage 

1 day Yes Should potential roosting features be 
identified then aerial assessment for bats 
would be required.  These could be carried 
out at any time of the year.   

Should bat roosts be identified and the trees 
require works/ felling then a licence from 
Natural England would be required to carry 
out the works legally.  Dusk and dawn 
emergence / re-entry surveys would be 
required to inform a licence 
application.  Dusk and dawn surveys would 
need to be carried out in May – August.  

P
age 247



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

Worst case delay – 6 months 

Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

Great 
crested 
newt (GCN) 

Presence/likely 
absence 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Mid-March to 
mid-June, 
with at least 
two of these 
visits during 
mid-April to 
mid-May 

4 visits in 
suitable 
weather 
conditions 

Yes Should GCN be found to be present within 
the ponds on site, a licence application 
would be required.  This would take 2 weeks 
to prepare and 6 weeks for deliberation.  All 
information on the scheme (including 
justification for the works and consideration 
of alternatives) would be required for the 
application.  

Worst case delay – 2 months  

Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

B Badger – 
updated 
survey 

Updated 
survey to 
ensure no 
changes in sett 
locations have 
occurred 

Recommended Within 8 
weeks of 
construction 
start   

1 day Yes   B1.  Avoiding badger sett (more than 30m 
and no heavy impact works within 50 m).   

Update survey only.   

Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

If new excavation(s) found further survey 
required.  If works are required within 30m of 
any badger setts, a sett closure licence 
would be required to close the sett 
legally.  Refer to details below.   

Worst case delay – 9 months 

P
age 248



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

B2.  Not avoiding badger sett (works within 
30m) 

A licence would be required to close the 
badger sett.  Badger surveys would be 
required to determine the use of the badger 
sett and the sett would need to be closed 
within the closure period (July –
November).  A period of monitoring and 
excavations works are required as part of the 
licensable works.  

Worst case delay – 9 months 

Bat – Tree 
Roost

Bat roost 
assessment of 
trees to be 
affected 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Preferably 
during winter 
due to 
reduction in 
foliage 

1 day Yes Refer to bat tree roost mitigation timeline 
provided for Option A.   

Great 
crested 
newt (GCN) 

Presence/likely 
absence 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Mid-March to 
mid-June, 
with at least 
two of these 
visits during 
mid-April to 
mid-May 

4 visits in 
suitable 
weather 
conditions 

Yes Refer to great crested newt mitigation 
timeline provided for Option A.   

Combined 
otter, water 
vole and 
white 
clawed 
crayfish 

Habitat 
suitability/ 
Presence/likely 
absence and 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

April / May 
and
August – 
September 

2 days 
(combined 
survey over 
1 day, 
followed by 
an additional 

No
(incomplete by 
August)

Otter 
Should an otter holt be found, monitoring and 
a licence may be required to undertake the 
works legally.
Worst case delay – 3 months 

P
age 249



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

water vole 
survey on a 
second day) 

Water vole 
Should water vole be identified, mitigation 
measures would be required.  A licence may 
be required to undertake the works legally.   
Worst case delay – 3 months 

White clawed crayfish 

Should white clawed crayfish be found a 
licence may be required depending on an 
impact assessment.   Mitigation measures 
would be required for temporary loss of 
habitat. 
A trapping operation and seasonal 
restrictions on when works proximate to the 
watercourse may be required.  Works to be 
carried out under a Method Statement for 
white clawed crayfish.
Worst case delay – 1 month 

C Badger – 
updated 
survey 

Updated 
survey to 
ensure no 
changes in sett 
locations have 
occurred 

Recommended Within 8 
weeks of 
construction 
start   

1 day Yes  Refer to badger mitigation timeline provided 
for Option A.     

Bat – Tree 
Roost

Bat roost 
assessment of 
trees to be 
affected 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Preferably 
during winter 
due to 
reduction in 
foliage 

1 day Yes Refer to bat tree roost mitigation timeline 
provided for Option A.   

Combined 
otter, water 

Habitat 
suitability/ 

Recommended 
to ensure 

April / May 
and

2 days 
(combined 

No
(incomplete by 

Refer to otter, water vole and white clawed 
crayfish mitigation timeline for Option B.   

P
age 250



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

vole and 
white 
clawed 
crayfish 

Presence/likely 
absence and 
survey 

appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

August – 
September 

survey over 
1 day, 
followed by 
an additional 
water vole 
survey on a 
second day) 

August)

D Badger – 
updated 
survey 

Updated 
survey to 
ensure no 
changes in sett 
locations have 
occurred 

Recommended Within 8 
weeks of 
construction 
start   

1 day Yes   D1.  Avoiding badger sett (more than 30m 
and no heavy impact works within 50 m).   

Update survey required.  

Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

If new excavation(s) found further survey 
required.  If works are required within 30m of 
any badger setts, a sett closure licence 
would be required to close the sett 
legally.  Refer to details below.   

Worst case delay – 9 months 

D2.  Not avoiding badger sett (works within 
30m) 

A licence would be required to close the 
badger sett.  Badger surveys would be 
required to determine the use of the badger 
sett and the sett would need to be closed 
within the closure period (July –
November).  A period of monitoring and 
excavations works are required as part of the 
licensable works.  

P
age 251



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

Worst case delay – 9 months 

Bat – Tree 
Roost

Bat roost 
assessment of 
trees to be 
affected 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Preferably 
during winter 
due to 
reduction in 
foliage 

1 day Yes Refer to bat tree roost mitigation timeline 
provided for Option A.   

Great 
crested 
newt (GCN) 

Presence/likely 
absence 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Mid-March to 
mid-June, 
with at least 
two of these 
visits during 
mid-April to 
mid-May 

4 visits in 
suitable 
weather 
conditions 

Great crested 
newt (GCN) 

Refer to great crested newt mitigation 
timeline provided for Option A.   

Combined 
otter, water 
vole and 
white clawed 
crayfish 

Habitat 
suitability/ 
Presence/likely 
absence and 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration for 
planning 

April / May and 
August – 
September 

2 days 
(combined 
survey over 1 
day, followed 
by an 
additional 
water vole 
survey on a 
second day) 

No (incomplete 
by August) 

Refer to otter, water vole and white clawed 
crayfish mitigation timeline for Option B.   

Notes: 
-Please note that this schedule assumes that no additional protected species are encountered during the above surveys and that likely absence of additional badger setts, 
GCN, trees suitable for roosting bats and protected riparian species (otters, water vole and white clawed crayfish) is confirmed.  The potential impacts of protected species 
presence within the survey area are discussed below. 
-This schedule assumes that no works will be undertaken within 30 m of the known badger setts and no piling or similar works will be undertaken nearby (exact distances to be 
determined by the supervising ecologist on an individual basis). 
-Additional species constraints, such as breeding bird checks and method statements for reptiles, are considered elsewhere. This table should therefore not be considered as 
the full ecological recommendations of the report.  

P
age 252



The following table details a broad timeframe of potential works in the event a protected species has potential to be affected by the works.  The timeframes 
detailed below are deliberately vague, as specific mitigation and timing constraints can only be confirmed once the full details of the proposed works and 
species presence is known. 

Table 2 Timeframes of Potential Works   

Species Potential further works (in the event of potential impacts to protected species)

Badger Should the proposed works encroach within 30 m of a badger sett or require a sett to be closed a licence to disturb or displace badgers 
would be required from Natural England.   

In order to apply for a licence, Natural England would require additional surveys and mitigation to prove that no viable alternative is 
possible to prevent impact to badger and that no net negative effects will be experienced by the badger clan affected.  This could include 
surveys to understand the use of the area by badger, such as bait marking surveys, and mitigation to offset the loss of a sett, such as 
creation of an artificial sett.   

Exact mitigation and requirement for further survey would depend on the degree of effects to the sett and it should be noted that it cannot 
be guaranteed that Natural England will issue a licence.  

Great crested 
newt 

Should great crested newts (GCN) be identified in one or more of the ponds in the survey area further surveys and mitigation would be 
required. 

In the event that GCN are identified an additional two surveys would be required to give a population class assessment.  Once these 
surveys were completed mitigation would be required to ensure no breach of relevant legislation occurs, which could include a licence 
application in the event that trapping is required. 

The exact level of mitigation would depend on the level of impact and its proximity to breeding ponds.   

Otter, water 
vole and white 
clawed 
crayfish 

Should any protected riparian species (otter, water vole and/or white clawed crayfish) have potential to be affected by the work 
appropriate controls and mitigation would be required to ensure compliance with relevant legislation. 

The exact level of control and mitigation would vary by species and may include measures such as changes in the design of any culverts, 
licence applications to Natural England in the event that a water vole or otter resting place is to be affected and/or sympathetic methods of 
working. 

Bats Should a tree requiring removal or pruning be identified as suitable for roosting bats further surveys would be required.   

This would likely involve aerial surveys to determine whether suitable features are in use and/or presence/likely absence (summer) 
surveys.  Should a bat roost be identified within a tree to be affected, a licence would be required from Natural England in order for works 
to proceed, if the loss of the tree is unavoidable. 

Breeding birds In the event that vegetation clearance is required in the breeding bird season, ecological supervision would be required.  Should a nest in 
use be identified within an area to be cleared a suitable buffer would need to retained until the young had fledged and we no longer 

P
age 253



Species Potential further works (in the event of potential impacts to protected species)

dependant on the nest. 

P
age 254



��

�

�

�
�

���������	�
���
�����
���������������
���	�����
	�

����������	
�����
������	�����
������

���
����������

	��
��

������	�
��
�������������

��
�	
��������������

� �

�

����������������������� ����!!�"#������$��%��	�%�&���'��	�%�	�%�(�	�
������)��������%�!������'���	��'����
*���+��������	��,�#,��,�-�.�/�!���	���'��'���%�

��0�-��*	������-����	�����,��%�����	�	��	����1��	��+�-����	��������	�,����������2���,�-��*	�����3���0���!�	����'	����,���.�-�0������
��4���	*��

��*��	�%�!���!��	������5��	�+�	��������%��!���!���*�%�������3��������'��%��	�����!�	������	��*���'��	����(�	�
������),�	���!�**�0��+��%%�	����*���!����	��������


�����
	����%����'��%���%�
�������������������� ����!!6�

•� ��5��������	���	�����0�+����%�0�	�����''*���	�	�	���������%��

•� ��*�0�+����%����5�������%������5����!����%����	�����.�-�

•� ���!!���	�������*���	���
7����8�'��	��!����'���%�-����	������9+�����$��	��:('	����-;����8�����$��%�:%�	�%���3��3��;���%���*�	�%��%%�	����*�	��!!���

��%�'�� ��+����5���.�%�	����**��	����

•� ���*��������<��79�5�������	�*���%�<��	�������*�$�� �#��������	�:/�� �����%;�$�'��	�
�3���������7<9(7$��

•� 9��*�+���*�=���!���	�������5��������%�	�%�>�
�����������

•� ?'%�	�%����*��������9��*�+���*�#''�����*�$�'��	�%�	�%��������������

P
age 255



��

�

�

#%%�	����*���!����	���������*���
������%���5��*�
*��!�����	����'��	���,����'��	���*���!����	���%���+��	����0�� ��+����	���'��'���%�!*��%��**�5��	����

����������*�%��+��%%�	����*����*�+���*����5���,��������*�+���*���5��	�+�	������%���5���%�!*��%��**�5��	�����������%���+��3�������5���*���
������%���0����

�!�'��'���*��!�������0�������+�����������!��*%��	��	������	���!�	����1��	��+�����	���3�

#�'����
*��!��	�����+��������	���'	����5���	����1��	��+���	�����%��	����+��	���<��%�����!�$����
���������������	*��
���+���5��0�%�0�	����+��%��	��	��!!���

��!�	����%�5����*���0�'	�'�	�����*�������%����	��
�������%�����%��!���!���*�%�����������	���'��!����%��+��������	�����	���@
	�
�>�
�����3�

����!�**�0��+�	�
�*�	�%��'	�������%�����	����	�������1	���	�%�!�������	����A��!��������+���*�(�	�
������)�#������$��%��	�%����'��	�!���	���������	*��

�����%���%����	�������%�-���*����%��'%�	�%�������	���%%�%����	�����+�	����%���*����0�������0���!����	�����1��	������!���%��!�������������3�����������

������	�������%%�%,�	������+���**���%��	�!��%��''��	���	���������	����	������	������%���%�	��
���*	���%�
�������	���!����	���3��-�����	������*%�
�����%����

�������	����0�	��	������+���*�#������$��%��	�%����'��	,�	���%�	��*�%���!����	����*��	�%��
�5����%������������������� ����!!�����	����	��%��0��+�

��������7<#7���"-���	����	��*��&���5�������,�'��'���%�	���**��	��	��	��� ��0������������	����	����*�	�%�	��'�	��	��*����	�����.�-3�����

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

����
��
	�	���

���
�������������
������������������ ��!��"��#���$##�%�!���&��$"���$�$'�#��(�� ���)�����&�������$��
��(����'�$������($�����(���$���*$�!��������� ����%������#���$����%$����!�������� �������)�����&�
&$��������$�%��������+��� �% �������������������%��������$��%��&�������,����$'�-��

�

��
��
�	
���

���
.���� ������$����$��� $����� ������������������/������ �����0�������#�$�����������$��1��%������ ����
� �����������������%������#���$��*�)����$������ ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(+�����������
������ ��������$����%������#���$����%$����!�������� �������)�����&�&$��������$�%��������-��� �������
�������$��#�����%��$���%��&�������,�%��#��%��$��$���������#�� �����������$��$�&�(���-�

�

���
� ���)�����&�.$�(���$%"��� �% ��"������ ������ ����!����$�'��#�� ���)�����&���(����'�$���
���($�����(�����$�����$����!���0������!����������%��������-��� �����������"��'���/�������&�$���&�
$��������#$%��&-��

���� �0��*%����%�	��
����7����	���	�%�	����0����%�

�'���!���	���3��91��	��+�
�*�0�+����%����5�������5��


�����%��	�!��%��*��+�	�������	����4�����+�%���

����%���	������%����	�������!�	��������	���	���3��

���������0�0�%	���5��*�
*���	�	�����%��!�	�������	��

�%�����	�	��	���������+���	�	��0�**���4��������

�5����B�%��	����%�����+���		����	����'�'��	��
��

*��%�
�*�0�	�����0����%3���

P
age 256



��

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

���
�#�� ��������������#���%������%�����$%%����� �% �$���%�������'�%����������#���� ��������$����%������#�
��$����%$����!�������� �������)�����&�&$��������$�%���������*����2���3��$������
���%"�� �##�
��$���&������+4�

5-� ����������5�6�%������%�������$##�%�������!������%������������ ���)�����&�.$�(���$%"�0�$�
�$�'�(�� ���$�-��� �����������/������ $��� ���)�����&�$%%���������&�$�������
$%%�((��$���%������%�������$##�%-��

7-� ����������7�6�� ���$������&��#�� ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�$%%������$��*���
$%%�((��$���� ��%������%����������+���������/������ ���������%������#����8�$'�
%�������������"��&��*��% �$����(���$�'���$##�%���& ��+-��� ���$��$�&�(������������"��'�
��$�������%��$����%��&�������$������$'��*�$���%��$��'������&���$"� ����+-��

9-� ����������7�6�� ���$��$�&�(������������"��'���$�������%��$������$##�%�(�0�(�����$��� ��
�)�����&�:(���#���;�$%%���-�

<-� ����������7�6�� ����������!��$��������$����/����(�������������� ��($�������$�%��&$����
���� ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�*���%�������(�0�(����+-�

=-� ���!�� ���������6�������������� $��� ����$���%�������'�$��$���#��$�"��&���%$����$���&�� ��
�)�����&�$%%����� �% �%�����������%��(�0�(�����,�����������%��&������-��

>-� ���!�� ���������6�� ����������!��$���������#�%$������#���$##�%�(�0�(����������$���%��$��
%������%�����0� �%��������� ����%$�� �& �$'�������"����� ��0�%����'��#�� ���)�����&�$%%����
� �% �%�����������������%��$����%��&�������$������$'��*�$���%��$��'������&���$"� ����+-���

�3� ����*��+���'�	��	��*�����	���	����	��!!����������

!�**���	���*�	�%�C<=���%���	��%�	��
����4����%�

!���%�*�5�����!�	��������	����0��*%���5��

�1	����*��	�+�	��*�������������%�	���+��%���

0�**���	�	���
�		���D��%�+����	�����+����	���

*������%�0��*%���	�������	*��
���
*��	��

��+�	��	��	���'�%��	������������+���*��%��	�	���

��%��!�2�%����	��$��%3�������%�+�����!���7

%���+����%��������	�%���+�0�����''��5�*��

0��*%�	����!����
�����������3���

�

������1�	����	��:!����	����1��	��+�*������	��

2�%����	��$��%�������	�*���0���*��
����

�����%���%�!��������	���	����	��!!��,��!�

�����%���%������!�	����'�������	��+��������	��

!���-����	������	��!!���!��	�����	�%������%�

	��!!�����%�**��+��!�	����1��	��+�2���,�

2�%����	��$��%,����������2��������	����0��*%�


����4����%���%�*� �*��4������+�	�����

�����%���%3�

�

A3���8	������%���	��%�	��	�	�������	�+���!!����������

��������*� �*��	����''��	�0�%����+��!�	���+�	�����%����

������	����!�����	�0��*%�
��'��%��	�	���������	��	��

���������	��*��!�	��!!�����5����	����%�4�����+��	�	���

��������	������+�	���0�**�
�����������3�

�

���
�������$�� �& �$'��$#��'��(���%$������$���%�$������� �!���&��&�%������%�������$##�%�� ���& �� ��
�)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�$%%���-��

�

���
� ������������0��0���%������&�$�	$�����0���*2'($�?��
���"����!��$�'+�� �% ��������"��'������$�
��(����$�����(�����#�#��������"�$����$����/�$���'��(�$%������%������$�������� �� ����0����(����

8	������%���	��%�!����%�����������	��%�	��	��	�	���

0�	�����������*��
����������9�5�������	�#+�����

P
age 257



A�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

�&��%'-� E����$�5����	�	�����������!�	����1��	��+�����	����

��%����%�'��%��	����	����1��	�!���*�'��'���%�

'���	��!��������+��!�	���0�	��������,���*5��	�

�''��5�*�����*%�
����%��
��-�-�����''���%�	��	���

9�5�������	�#+����3�

���
� ����������%�������� ��������������% �,�%��0�����##�$"��#��(�2'($�?��
���"����!��$�'�#���� ��
�������.$�(�.���������$&�����$-�� ����(��&��#�%������%�����$���#����������#��&��#�� ��.����% �(��
� �����!��%�������������%��1��%�������� ���������&����-�

8	������%���	��%�!����	���%���+������!�	���>�#�

������,�-C�E,�	��	�����	���	�������%���	��
�+������

E������������%�0��*%�	����!����
���1'��	�%�	��
��

���'*�	�������
�	��	��**�����'*�	��
�!����

����	���	�����!�	�����0�-����	�������+��������%3���

8	�����*�����%���	��%�	��	�����5���%�>�#������������


������
��		�%�!���'*�����+�'����������0�����

��*���	���	�����	� ��%�	���	��	���9��	�0���������

�5��%�	������%�	���������	�0�	��	���'��'���%����	��

�����%3��������������0���	�
*�%��	������	��+�

��3��3���
�	�������	�������	*��
������%���5��*�
*��

	��������������!����	�	��	�����
���5��*��%�0�	��

	���������	�'�����	�'��'���*�3���������!��	����

�0������0�5���!�**�0��+�	������	��+���3��3���

	��	�!��	�����%���	���	��	��	���>�#������������

������	*��
���+���5��	�+�	�%�0�����0��*%�

'�	��	��**����	����	���%���+���*�����	��	��	�

������	*����%���	�%����-���	����	�/��0��+�

��������7<#7��3���

���
� ����������$���$������������� ���@(��#�� ����0����(�����&��%'?��	$�����0���*2'($�?��
���"�
���!��$�'+��$���&������ ��#���!$������% ��-������0����(���$�����(��������/������#��(�� ����0����(����
�&��%'�#���$�'����"����� ���� �������$�%��#��(������#�!$�"�

�

 ��
� �����������������$��&�(����������%��������)�(��'����$��$%��0��!$�&�������-����'����"����� ���9A�(�
�#�� ��������������/�����#��� ���%�������$����-��� ������ ��!$�&��������!������%��'�$##�%����$���%��%��
������!����/���������%������ ������-��� ��������"��!����/��������� ���9A�(��#�� ��������$����8���"��
% �%"�$�����!��/������%���&�%$��(�� �����$��(����������!����/�����-��� �����8���"��% �%"�

?'%�	�%���%�!��	������!����	����'��5�%�%����

�������?'%�	�%����*��������9��*�+���*�#''�����*�

$�'��	�%�	�%�������������3��

P
age 258



��

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

� �����!��%$������������� �����& �����"���#�� ��%������%�������$����$������%$���$���%��%�������/�����-�

����
� �����������������$��&�(����#$������� ���7=A�(��#�����������$!���#������$��%������������-����
��%�����#����$��%�������������$�����������!'�� �����"�����'����%$����5@A�(�#��(�� �����0�'�$��$-��
���0��������$��%���������������0�'����������������#'�$�'����$��%��������������� ���� �������
���0�'��-������0�������'������#�� ��� ��������$!����������$�����0�'��-��� ���$���$����&�$���
���$��%���������������"���$���&�������$��$����������$�%���$���� �����"��#�%$����&�$���##��%��������
���$��%��������������&���$����-��� �����������#�� ��������B�(!��4��##��%����"��'?-��������� ���#����
��%�((������� $��������%�,��"��'�$!���%�����0�'��#������$��%�������������!��������$"����� �% �
������� �����#��(�#��� �����%�((���$�����-�

�/
#�	��	��+��!�	���	0��'��%��0�	����	����1��	��+�

-���	����������%���	�
��-C�E����������	����0�	��

	���>�#�������,�������
���	����0�	��	���

	��%�	����*����5���
��2�'����!�	����
�%
����	�
*��'��%�

��%���	���*� �*���
�������!�<-
��������	�����	����%�

	����!����	������� F����	����	������0�����5�%3���

����
� �����������������$��&�(�����"�������$���)�����&�������� $��$�������$!���#����������&�!$��-��	�%��8
�����&��#�� ����$��$��&�(�������$�0���������������($�����������$�������$##�%���-��� �������������"��
#�����&�!����/������#��� ������0�'�#���!$���($'�!����%���$�'���/�����-��� ���%�������%�����$���$��
$�����(�����$��,������",�$����(��&��%�����0�'��#���!$������ ���� ��!$��$%��0��'���$����

8���%%�	���,������%���	��������*%�
��+�5���	��

'��	��	��+�	���	�����%����+�����	���	����0�� 3�

����
� ��$��$����� �% �� ��������������������%���$��������$!���!������&�!���� $!��$�-�����$�$�%�����"��
� �����!��%$�������������������#�� ��!������&�!������$����*%�������������!��	$�% �8������(!��+-���#�
� �����������������!����$�������$���%���&�%$��������������!����/�����-�� ���%�������%��������8���"��
!������&�!����% �%"��$����%���&�%$�������0�������#�%��$�$�%�����"�-��

(�����	����	��������
�����%��	�!��%������5��+�

'�	��	��*�	����''��	�
�����0*3������*%�('	������
��

	� ���!��0��%�������'��	����!�������+�	�����*%�
��

��%��	��!��	�����������	���'�	��	��*��!�	���	����	��

��''��	�
���%��+�
�����0*3���

����
� ��$��$����� �% �� ��������������������%���$��������$!��� $!��$��#�����������-����������%�((������
� $��$����$�����	�� �����$��(����!�������������%�������0�&��$�����%��$�$�%��(�� ����$����������
��&$��%�(���$�%�-�

�

����
�$!��$����#�����%��$���(����$�%������%�#�%$��'��)�����&� ��&�������������&��$����$�������$���
�����$���� $0���������$�����!���(�$%����!'�� �����������������$��&�(���-��� �����������"��'�!��
�$"��������%�������$�����$��� ����$����&���$&�����%�(��'���� �����0$�����&���$����-��� ���� $!��$���
� ��������$��'�!��$0������!'�� �����������������$���� ����� ���������������!���(���&$�����(�$������
($'�!����/�����-�

�

����
� �����������$��&�(������������"��'��(�$%������%��'����
���%�����$�����(����'��� �% ����$���$���
�����������$�"�$����$�������$�����%������� ��#�������&���$�������������!������&��,�����%�����4�

5=-5� 	$�������$�%��$���������&$�������� ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(C�

5=-7� ��(����'����&�C�

5=-9� ���� �$������� �� $���C�$���

�

P
age 259



)�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

5=-<� �%�$&��$�����&��*��%$����$����)�($���'�5=(����� ������#�� ������ �$������� �� $���+-�

����
� �����������$��&�(��������������%��'��(�$%������)�����&���%������������$���� �% ����������#����
��� ���� ���������'��$!��$����0�����'-�

�

����
� �����������$��&�(��������������%��'��(�$%������ ��#�������&�������'���4�

�� ���$��*�$��&��'�
5,�5�����+-�

�

����
� ������������������������(�$%�����$��$���#�(�)���0�&��$�����*������� ��&�����+��� �% � $0������
!������%������$���$����#�� ��$�!���%����������0�'��$���($'�!���#��������$����%$��%�����0$�����
�(����$�%�-�

�

� ��
� ���������������"����� ������ ����!����$�'��#��$"��'���$'��&�.�������� �% ����$�� ������%��$��#����
����-��� ����$!����'��#�� ���$��#��������������"������$�����������"��'���/�����$����$�$����������
��0����&$���������'-��

#�+����%���5��	�+�	�����	�%������
�������'�%���%�

�'���!��%���%����������	*����	�	��	��%��3�

����
� ���������������������������%��'��(�$%������ ���)�����&����������$�������������*$����)�($���'�5>����
���$�+�*������(���#�������$������������+�� �% ��"����� ������ ����!����$�'��#�� ��.$�(���$%"-��� ����
���$�����������$��� $��� ���)�����&���$'��&�#������%�����!��%���$(��$���-���

�

����
� ���������%�������$��$����!��'-��� ���(�$������$��$�����%���� $0���������$�����!��
�(�$%���-����������&����� ��#��$��������$��&�(�����#��� ������0�'��#������������$����0����$���� ����
%�$����%�$'#�� �($'�!����/�����-�

#���
�	�	����	�
�*�	�����������	�!���	������'������

��������*�%�%����'�	��	��*�*� �*����%���%�	����

����	����	F��� �������0�
������5�%3��

����
� ��������$��&�(�����������(�$%������ ���)�����&�!$�"��!$���%�����$������� ���(����#���!$������% -��

��������	����	��%��0��+���������7<#7���

%�����	��	�����'�	��	��*���*���	�����!�	����!!��	�%�

!��	
�**�'�	��3��8	������%���	��%�	��	������!������!�

'�	���%�����+�������1��	���%�	����!����'�	��	��**��

���%���*����+3�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

����
��
	�	���

���
��������������������������(�$%������ ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(-�

�

P
age 260



��

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

���
� �����0�������#�$��������$�$�����$������ ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�����������%��
��$##�%�(�0�(�����$��� ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�$%%����*#��(�
���%�����$��+-�

�

���
� �����������������$��&�(������������������%��'��(�$%������ ���)�����&�%$���$�"�� �% ����0���
�$"��'���$'��&�.�����-��

�

���
���������������%�����!����������$%%�����������$��#��������0����(�����$���,����������#�����
$���0�$������% �(����%$�������� ������ ��#�� ������������������($�����(-�

����������	�'��'���*��!���	���-����	�������+�����

���%�����!��������0�%�����%�'	�
*������	���	���3��

���*�	�	�������*%�'�	��	��**��
����������%����0�%	��

��%��'���!���	����	���**�0�0�%����+���%����5�������

	�����!�**�	0�70����%�'	�
*�����%��''��'���	��	����

������+�����������	���!�	����	����0��*%���5�*5��

�%%�	����*����	��*�����	���	����0�� ����%�

�����%���
*��%����'	������%�����	���	������	�5�	����

�����*�	����	�����%�0�� ����%����5����

�'+��%��+F��*����+�0��*�	�	������%�0�������	����%�

�����*�5��-����	�������+��������	�3��<�5���	������*��

��	�����!�	���'�	��	��*�������+��������'��'���*���	�

����*���*� �*��	��	�����!���*��'	����-����	��0��*%���	�

���������	����	�	��	���������+�'��'���*�3��

��
��
�	
����

���
� ������������������/�������$##�%�*%������%�����$�������$����$�+���������(1�����$�-��� ���������$��
�(���%$������$���%�$������� �� ���$���$��#������4�

5-� �������$��#���$%%�������!���!����%����!'�(����������$�"��&�$���&�!�� ��������#��(1���
��$�C�$���

7-� �������$��%��&�������,����$'����������&�#��(���%��$������$##�%�����&��(1�����$�C��

9-� ��%��$�����$#��'�%��%�������������&�#��(���%��$������$##�%�����&��(1�����$�C�$���

<-� �������$���(�$%������������������"����%�����&�$���&�
<AD=����������$�-��

>��	����	��!!�����%�'�� ��+�%�	����**��	������%�

���*�������������*�%�%�	��	��1��	��+���'���	���!�

8��������%���%�	���8�����$��%F�������$��%�����	����

�������'	�
*��!���	�����	���'�	�%�-����	������

�'���	����*�	��!!���5�*����3���

�

������5�%���!�	�������������%�'����
*������%��	�

�
���	�����������+�*�+�	�%����'����
*�3�

�

>�**�%�	��*������'��5�%�%����	�������*���	���
7���

%�	�%���
	�
�������������3�

P
age 261



@�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

���
� ������������0��0���%������&�$�	$�����0���*2'($�?��
���"����!��$�'+�� �% ��������"��'������$�
��(����$�����(�����#�#��������"�$����$����/�$���'��(�$%������%������$�������� �� ����0����(����
�&��%'-�

8	������%���	��%�!����%�����������	��%�	��	��	��	�	���

'��'���%�'���	��!��������+��!�	���0�	��������,�

��*5��	��''��5�*�����*%�
����%��
��-�-����

�''���%�	��	���9�5�������	�#+����3�

���
� ����������%��������������������%��0�����$���%�$������� �� ���������.$�(�.���������$&�����$-�
� ����(��&��#�%������%�����$���#����������#��&��#�� ��.����% �(��� �����!��%�������������
%��1��%�������� ���������&����-�����$!���%�0���� �����!�����& ���0���� ��%��0���-�

�����%���	��%�	��	�����	���	�����!�	���>�#�

����������������	*��%���	��������������E�����

��%�0��*%�	����!����
���1'��	�%�	��
�����'*�	��

�����
�	��	��**�����'*�	��'�����	������	���	�����!�

	����+��������%3������	����0�����%5���%�
��>�#�

%���+�����-C�E�%����+������	��+��	�-�-&���!!�����

�����3��3���	��	�	����������%���+����%�
����

��5���%���%���
��		�%�	��'*�����+���%���	��+�	���

�'�**0�����*���	�%�	��	������	���!�	���>�#���%�

������	��+�0�	������������� 3�������0��*%������

���	��-�0��*%���5��	��������	����'�**0��,���	����

�	�*����+�	����'�**0���������%����!�������
���������!�

�����%���*5��	����
��%+��+��	���	����3�������������

��%���	��%�	����5��
������
��		�%�!���'�����+�

�''��5�*�������	�������	*��
������%���5��*�
*��	��

�������	���5��*������	���-����	������'�����	�

'��'���*�3��>��	����	��	������	��+���3��3�����%�

��4���	��
��	���������+��������	���,�0��

��%���	��%�!��	��������%���	��	��	���>�#�

�����������������	*��
���+������%���%3�

���
� ����������$���$������������� ���@(��#�� ����0����(�����&��%'?��	$�����0���*2'($�?��
���"�
���!��$�'+��$���&������ ��#���!$������% ��-������0����(���$�����(��������/������#��(�� ����0����(����
�&��%'�#���$�'����"����� ���� �������$�%��#��(������#�!$�"-�

8	������%���	��%�!����%�����������	��%�	��	��	�	���

0�	�����������*��
����������9�5�������	�#+�����

E����$�5����	�	�����������!�	����1��	��+�����	����

��%����%�'��%��	����	����1��	�!���*�'��'���%�

'���	��!��������+��!�	���0�	��������,���*5��	�

�''��5�*�����*%�
����%��
��-�-�����''���%�	��	���

9�5�������	�#+����3�

P
age 262



D�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

 ��
� �����������������$��&�(����#$������� ���7=A�(��#�����������$!���#������$���������������-����
��%�����#����$����������������$�����������!'�� �����"�����'����%$����5@A�(�#��(�� �����0�'�$��$-��
���0��������$������������������0�'����������������#'�$�'����$������������������ ���� �������
���0�'��-������0�������'������#�� ��� ��������$!����������$�����0�'��-��� ���$���$����&�$���
���$������������������"���$���&�������$��$����������$�%���$���� �����"��#�%$����&�$���##��%��
���������$�����������������&���$����-��� �����������#�� ��������B�����4��##��%����& �'�
���"��'?�����
���� ����%$������#�� ��������$���� ���)������#� $!��$�����!��$##�%���-��� ���#����������0�'��$���
��/���������� �������$�%�-�����������%�((������� $����%��� ���)$%���%�����#����"�� $��!����$&�����
� ���$�����(�������%��#��(��-�����������%�((������� $��� ��������������!���$"���#���$����$������"��
$���%$����������������$����%$�����$�'�(�� ����#����"��&�#���&��$��%������������-�

#����	�%�!������	�����
�5�,�<���	�-���	�%�
�0	�

�/
#�	��	��+����	���	0��'��%��0�	����	����1��	��+�

��	��������	����%���+�	�5������*	�3��8�����
���	����

0�	��	���*� �*���
���	�����*�������!�	���'��5�����

2�'������5���	��	����
�%
�'��%��������%������5��+�

<-
�'�	��	��*,�<���	�-���	�%�
�0	���� �������0�
��

%������	�%����������	����	3�

����
� �����������������$��&�(�����"�������$���)�����&�������� $��$�������$!���#����������&�!$��-��	�%��8
�����&��#�� ����$��$��&�(�������$�0���������������($�����������$�������$##�%���-��� �������������"��
!����/������#��� ������0�'�#���!$���($'�!����%���$�'-��� ���%�������%�����$���$��$�����(�����
$��,������",�$����(��&��%�����0�'��#���!$������ ���� ��!$��$%��0��'���$���-�

8	����
�*��5�%�%��	��
�����	��	�����*�5��	�	���������


���5��%�%,������%���	����0��*%��*���
����4����%�

	��'��	��	����%����+�����	���	������	�5�	���3�

����
� ��$��$����� �% �� ��������������������%���$��������$!���!������&�!���� $!��$�-�����$�$�%�����"��
� �����!��%$�������������������#�� ��!������&�!������$����*%�������������!��	$�% �6������(!���
��%����0�+-���#�� �����������������!����$�������$���%���&�%$��������������!����/�����-��� ���%�����
��%��������8���"��!������&�!����% �%"��$����%���&�%$�������0�������#�%��$�$�%�����"�-�

�

����
� ��$��$����� �% �� ��������������������%���$��������$!��� $!��$��#�����������-����������%�((������
� $��$����$�����	�� �����$��(����!�������������%�������0�&��$�����%��$�$�%��(�� ����$����������
��&$��%�(���$�%�-�

�

����
� ���������%������������$����!��'�$���%�(������%��������)�(��'����$��� ��-��� ���(�$������$��$��
���%���� $0���������$�����!���(�$%���-����������&����� ��#��$��������$��&�(�����#��� ������0�'��#���
���������$����0����$���� ����%�$����%�$'#�� �($'�!����/�����-�

>��	�������5���0�� ���������*�%�%���
�	�	����

�����	�
*�,���� ��!�(		��,���	���=�*����%�-���!����

������0�
��%������	�%3�

����
�$!��$����#�����%��$���(����$�%������%�#�%$��'��)�����&� ��&������� $0���������$�����!���(�$%����!'�
� �����������������$��&�(���-��� �����������"��'�!���$"��������%�������$�����$��� ����$����&���$&�����
%�(��'���� �����0$�����&���$����-��� ���� $!��$���� ��������$��'�!��$0������!'�� �����������������
$���� ����� ���������������!����(�$%���� �����!��(���(����-�

�

����
� ������������������������(�$%�����$��$���#�(�)���0�&��$�����*������� ��&�����+��� �% � $0������
!������%������$���$����#�� ��$�!���%����������0�'��$���($'�!���#��������$����%$��%�����0$�����
�(����$�%�-�

�

����
� ���������������"����� ������ ����!����$�'��#��$"��'���$'��&�.�������� �% ����$�� ������%��$��#����

#�+����%���5��	�+�	�����	�%������
�������'�%���%�

P
age 263



���

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ����
��
	�	������
�
�	
���������
������ ��
��
�������

����-��� ����$!����'��#�� ���$��#��������������"������$�����������"��'���/�����$����$�$����������
��0����&$���������'-�� �������$�����������$��� $��� ���)�����&���$'��&�#������%�����!��%���$(��$���-��

�'���!��%���%����������	*����	�	��	��%��3�

����
� �����������������$��&�(�����������(�$%������ ���)�����&�#���!$���#������$���$���%�$����% $�&��&�
#$%��������*�##�%��0��'�!���%���&�� �����+-�

�

����
� �����������������$��&�(�����������(�$%������ ���)�����&�% ������?����$'&�����-�

�

� ��
� �����������������$��&�(������������/�������8���#����&��#��$���,��������$���������%������#����$����&�
�$���$���&�� ������ ����!����$�'��#�� ���$"��'�.���!$���.�����-�

�

�

��������

	��
��	���������������	�
�����
��
���������

�

�� !
�"���#�$��

/�� �	�'��	�%����%���	����5��	�+�	�������������	����0�	��	���>*��%�#**�5��	�����������������5��*�%��������*�+���*�!��	����3�������%���	��%���!�**�

��'��	��!�	�����	��0�� �������0�
�������'*�	�%���%�0�**�
�������*�	�%�����	*�3��������!����	����'��5�%�%�	��%�	������
������''�%���	��	���

����	����	��'*�����%�����
�������	��������%��0�	������+��!����	����	�����!����	��-3��-���	��#������*�+��	�-���*����������%5���%��	������	��+��	�-�-&��

�!!�������3��3���	��	�����������%�	������%�
������%��!�������������*�+���*���'��	����������	�	��
��������%���	�!���
�	�����	����.�-��'	�����
�	�

	��	�+�5��� ��0*�%+��+�	����%�!����	�����	��0�� ,��	�0��*%�
��*� �*��	��	���%�� �
���%����������	���%���	�+�	�������������0��*%�
����4����%�!���

���	��-���%���0�	����+�
���!���*��!������	���3��E�	�+�	�������������	�����	��-����*%�'����
*�����*�%��������+�*�5�*���!�	������%�	���5��%��1��5�	��+�

	����+��!��	����,�*���	��+�	���0�%	���!��������5�����	������������������*�+���*���5��	�+�	����	���1'������%������%�!��	�����'�����	������	���	���3�

�� %���	
$�&�"�'��

�����5��
������%���0�����!�'��'���*��!���!�	����������+����	���!��*%��	��	������	���!�	����1��	��+�����	���3�����'���*������*� �*��	����	����

����	��������
������	�����%�
���������	��-��*�+����	3�

�

P
age 264



���

�

�

�� (#��)�!##�*	��	�
�&�"�'��+��	$
��

$�5�������	��	���'��'���%��������>����>*��%��	���+��#����������'��	����!����
*���*�+����	,�*�5�*����%����
�����%����'*�1�	���!���*5��	�

�	���	�������4����%�!������	��-3���8	�����1'��	�%�
���%������+�	��!���7%���+���'	�����	��%�	��	��	����	����0�**����������������+*����*5��	��������	���>�#�

�������+�%�	����*	���+��	���*���	��������
����
���	�	������+�3�

�

�

P
age 265



P
age 266



1

70020522: Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium 

Technical Note 02: Egress Route Option Appraisal – Existing Gardens of Remembrance  

06
th

 February, 2017 

Introduction
WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has been commissioned by Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) to provide 
transport and highways advice in support of proposals to provide a new Crematorium on land located to the 
east of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, in Cheltenham.  

WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff previously undertook an independent Options Appraisal and Impact Assessment 
Study (dated October, 2016) to identify potential vehicular access and egress routes to and from the proposed 
Crematorium and their associated opportunities and constraints. 

This Technical Note (02) has been prepared at the request of CBC, to consider the feasibility of using the 
existing Gardens of Remembrance and Cemetery and Crematorium access roads (from Bouncers Lane) as an 
egress route (only) to serve the proposed Crematorium as a temporary route for operational traffic (and not 
construction traffic).  To achieve this, it is recognised by CBC that a new road link would need to be provided 
between the existing internal access roads that currently serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium, and the internal access roads that currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance.  For reference, 
the proposed egress route is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing number SK-05.  It should be 
noted that this route was not considered as part of the initial Options Appraisal and Impact Assessment Study 
(on the grounds that the use of the Gardens of Remembrance was politically sensitive and potentially fraught 
with safety related issues, namely to pedestrians). 

Following this introduction, this TN provides: 

 A description of the proposed egress route; 

 An overview of the potential opportunities and constraints presented by the proposed egress route; and 

 A summary of the suitability of the proposed egress route to accommodate traffic associated with the 
proposed Crematorium.  

For clarity, this TN does not provide details of potential geometries, or preliminary drawings of the proposed 
new road link, as detailed above.   

Overview of Proposed Egress Route
The proposed egress route comprises, in part: 

 The existing internal access roads that currently serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium; 

 The internal access roads that currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance (namely the southern 
section of the road that loops around the Gardens of Remembrance);  

 The existing internal access roads that currently serve the older, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium (namely the southern section of the road which loops around the existing North and 
South Chapels); and 

 The existing section of road between the main and inner gates to the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, from Bouncers Lane. 

In addition to the above, it should also be noted that the proposed route also incorporates the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium car park. 

The existing internal access roads that serve the eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium are newer 
in nature than those in the western section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and as such have been built to 
accommodate two-way vehicle movements.   

The existing internal road that currently serves the Gardens of Remembrance operates as a one-way clockwise 
loop road, and is accessed through the existing Cemetery and Crematorium car park.  The Gardens of 
Remembrance internal access road is wide enough to accommodate one-way traffic movements only.  It 
should be noted that the carriageway is kerbed, and lined with remembrance plaques (mounted along the kerbs 

Page 267



2

along both sides of the carriageway).   The nature of the road, in that it used by visitors to view the 
remembrance plaques, lends itself to low vehicular speeds.  

The existing internal access roads that currently serve the older, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium (in particular the section which forms part of the route being considered) is wide enough to 
accommodate one-way traffic movements only, and as such operates as a one-way route (westbound from the 
car park).  At its western extent it links to the existing section of road between the main and inner gates to the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium, from Bouncers Lane. 

For reference, the existing roads widths along the route are also shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s 
drawing number SK-05.

Opportunities and Constraints 
The following section considers the opportunities and constraints presented by using the route to egress the 
proposed Crematorium.  

For ease of reference, the opportunities and constraints noted along the route have been numbered, and have 
been marked on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing number SK-06.  Where the points identified are generic 
to the route, these are highlighted in the key.   

Where applicable, the safety implications associated with each of the identified constraints are also detailed in 
the following section.  

Swept Path Analysis 

The following swept path assessments have been undertaken to determine the suitability of the proposed 
egress route to accommodate vehicular movements associated with the proposed Crematorium.  

 Limousine (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-01, attached to this report); 

 Hearse (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-02, attached to this report); 

 Small Skip Lorry (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-03, attached to this report); 

 Rigid Vehicle (7m in length) (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-04, attached to this 
report); 

 Fire Tender (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-05, attached to this report); 

The results of the assessment demonstrate that all of the above vehicles could be accommodated along the 
proposed route.  However, it should be noted that the route is extremely tight in places (particularly within the 
Gardens of Remembrance) for the larger vehicles detailed above (including a small skip lorry, rigid vehicle, and 
fire tender).   

Opportunities 

1) This proposed egress route would not result in any displacement of traffic onto any other roads on the 
local highway network, above that currently used (i.e. Bouncers Lane); 

2) Albeit the need to provide a new road link (between the existing internal access roads that currently 
serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and the internal access roads that 
currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance), the majority of the proposed egress route relies on the 
use of existing roads which currently serve the existing Cemetery and Crematorium; 

3) It is not considered that there are any significant barriers (albeit an existing hedgerow and potential tree 
routes – see Point 22) to providing a new road link between the existing internal access roads that 
currently serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and the internal access 
roads that currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance; 

4) The existing internal access road that currently serves the older, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium (namely the southern section of the road which loops around the existing North and 
South Chapels) has recently been resurfaced.  As such the carriageway in this location is in good 
condition;  

5) It is assumed that, given the relocation of the existing Crematorium (North and South Chapels) and 
associated services, the level of use of the existing car park would drop significantly.  As such, any 
issues that are currently experienced relating to the over-use of parking (which could otherwise impede 
egress), would potentially subside; and   

Page 268



3

6) Further to point 5, it is assumed that fewer vehicles (associated with services) would park along the 
older, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium access road (namely the southern section of 
the road which loops around the existing North and South Chapels) in the future.  As such, the potential 
for obstruction would be reduced.  

Constraints  

7) As detailed by the Options Appraisal and Impact Assessment Study, the proposed egress route would 
still rely on the use of the existing section of road between the main and inner gates to the Cemetery 
and Crematorium, from Bouncers Lane.  Although there is not anticipated to be any uplift in traffic, it is 
worth noting that this section of road is understood to already experience congestion, owing to parked 
cars (particularly during services) and also the restrictive nature of the gates (which currently restrict 
traffic movements to one-way); 

8) Owing to the fact that the egress route proposes use of the existing car park, there is potential for 
increased conflict and blocking (leading to delays) to occur, particularly during busy periods of the day / 
larger services.  This is exacerbated by the narrow nature of the aisles in the car park, and the angle in 
which traffic enters the car park from the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road.  This could 
also be exacerbated by the larger nature of the vehicles (limousine and hearse) which are proposed to 
use the route on a frequent basis in the future; 

9) Further to point 8, it is not clear how well utilised the car park would be once the Crematorium is 
relocated (i.e. would it continue to be well used for burials?).  On-site observations reveal that the car 
park is over-used during services, leading to vehicles parking haphazardly around the entrance / exit to 
the car park and along the existing internal access roads that currently serve the older, eastern section 
of the Cemetery and Crematorium.  Again this could lead to potential issues with conflict / and blocking 
(leading to delays);    

10) It is considered that there is potential that vehicles could stop, to visit memorial plaques (or even break 
down), along the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road, which could lead to potential 
blocking (given the route is one-way with limited passing points), and subsequent delays.  Also, 
although it is not clear how well utilised the existing layby is located along the southern section of the 
Gardens of Remembrance internal access road, should this be over-used, or should a vehicle be 
awkwardly parked, this again could lead to potential blocking and delays; 

11) Vehicles were observed to park along the verges of the internal access road that currently serves the 
older, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium (namely the southern section of the road 
which loops around the existing North and South Chapels).  There is potential for blocking / delays to 
occur as a result of this; 

12) There are currently no road markings / physical barriers (such as kerbs) to denote the point where the 
Gardens of Remembrance internal access road (when entering from the car park) splits to travel north 
(to the immediate east of the kerbed island).  There is potential for motorists to get confused here, 
resulting in increased potential for conflict (especially given the uplift in traffic movements associated 
with the proposed Crematorium); 

13) Further to point 12, it is considered that the current road width (5.75m) and curvature of the road at the 
point where the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road splits (to the immediate east of the 
kerbed island) lends itself to a natural pinch point.  As a result, there is potential for increased conflict at 
this point (especially when used by larger vehicles);  

14) Sections of the carriageway along the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road were observed 
to be in poor condition (i.e. broken up, pot holed, ponding).  The carriageway condition could be 
worsened by the potential increase in traffic movements along the route;   

15) Owing to the projected increase in traffic movements through the Gardens of Remembrance, there is 
increased potential of damage occurring to the memorial plaques that currently line the kerbs.  

16) Although the swept path analysis demonstrates that the existing route could accommodate all vehicles 
assessed, it should be noted that the route is extremely tight in places (in particularly for larger service 
vehicles within the Gardens of Remembrance).  As such, there is increased risk of larger vehicles 
colliding with and damaging the kerbs; 

17) The carriageway is currently narrow (approximately 2.75m wide) at the point where it is proposed to 
link into the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road (at the northern extent).  There is potential 
for vehicles to clip the kerb in this location; 

Page 269



4

18) Visibility is somewhat restricted when looking right (by existing foliage) at the point where it is proposed 
to link into the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road (at the northern extent).  Furthermore 
(given the current layout) there are no priority workings in this location.  Combined, these points could 
lead to motorists failing to give-way in this location, leading to potential conflict;  

19) Forward visibility for vehicles at the southwest extent of the Gardens of Remembrance internal access 
road (when travelling westbound toward the car park) is somewhat limited by the curvature of the road 
and existing furniture / foliage lining the route.  On exiting the proposed Crematorium, there is potential 
for motorists not to see a pedestrian in the road at this point, leading to increased potential for vehicle 
to pedestrian conflict; 

20) Further to point 19, it should also be noted that pedestrian to vehicle visibility is also poor when looking 
left towards oncoming westbound traffic at the point where the existing footways intersect the road (at 
the southwest extent of the Gardens of Remembrance).  Again, owing to the projected increased 
vehicle movements associated with the proposed Crematorium, there is increased potential for vehicle 
to pedestrian conflict in this location; and  

21) Owing to the nature of the route, in particular through the Gardens of Remembrance, and the 
intensification of traffic movements, there is potential for increased safety risk to pedestrians.  This is 
exacerbated by: 

1. The position of the memorial plaques (which currently line the kerbs along the Gardens of 
Remembrance internal roads), which encourage residents to stand in the road for viewing;   

2. The narrow road widths along the Gardens of Remembrance internal roads (which varies between 
3.0m and 3.5m), in which there is insufficient space for a pedestrian to stand in the road whilst a 
vehicle passes;  

3. The network of footways within the Gardens of Remembrance, in which there are numerous points 
where pedestrians can cross the internal access road; and 

4. Where the route travels through the car park, there is potential for increased conflict with 
pedestrians entering / exiting vehicles. 

22) There is currently an existing hedgerow and tree-routes which would likely be impacted where it is 
proposed to provide road link between the existing internal access roads that currently serve the 
newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and the internal access roads that currently 
serve the Gardens of Remembrance. 

Potential Mitigation Measures   
Consideration has been given to possible measures to mitigate against the constraints identified above.  For 
ease of reference, where applicable, reference is made to the specific constraints.  

Points 8 and 9 

Consideration could be given to removing the car parking within the central aisle of the car park.  This would 
ease egress for vehicles exiting the proposed Crematorium.   

Furthermore, consideration could be given to managing the use of the car park, particularly during peak times 
of operation of the proposed Crematorium (subject to its projected level of use in the future). 

Point 10 

Consideration could be given to formalising the existing layby (by introducing white lining), to discourage 
vehicles from parking within the extents of the running carriageway. 

Point 11 

This is considered to be an internal management issue.   

Points 12 and 13 

Consideration could be given to: 

 Introducing formal road markings in this location to denote entry / exit lanes; 

 Introducing improved signage to make motorists aware of the current arrangement; and 

 Widening this section of road / or, if not possible, introducing give-way road markings on entry / exit, 
which would discourage two-way traffic from using the pinch point.  

Page 270



5

Point 14  

Consider repairing / resurfacing the areas of poor / damaged road surface. 

Point 15 

Consider relocating the memorial plaques. 

Point 16 

Consideration could be given to using an alternative route to egress the proposed Crematorium for larger 
vehicles (namely service vehicles).  

Point 17 

Consideration could be given to widening the existing carriageway in this location.  However, it is not known the 
extent of memorial plaques / ash scatterings in this location, and the issues surrounding any impacts on these.  

Point 18 

Consideration could be given to: 

 Trimming the existing foliage in this location to improve visibility (looking right); and 

 Introducing formal give-way road markings.  

Points 19 and 20 

Consideration could be given to introducing signage and / or physical measures (i.e. speed humps) to further 
slow speeds in this location (thus reducing the potential for conflict to occur). 

Point 21 

Consider relocating the memorial plaques.  See also potential mitigation measures detailed above for points 8, 
9, 19 and 20.   

General 

In addition to the above, consideration could also be given to deploying a member of staff to manage traffic 
flows along the route (particularly through the Gardens of Remembrance) during service times. 

Suitability of Proposed Egress Route   
Further to the above assessment, it is considered that there are no significant physical constraints (in terms of 
geometry) that would otherwise restrict the use of the route by general vehicles (i.e. large cars, limousines, and 
hearses) to egress the proposed Crematorium.  However, there are potential physical constraints (in terms of 
existing road widths, particularly within the Gardens of Remembrance) to using the route for larger vehicles 
(namely service vehicles).  As such, an alternative route should be considered for service vehicles.  

There are a number of potential safety related reasons in which the route may not be suitable to serve the 
proposed Crematorium, including the potential for increased risk to pedestrians, and also other motorists using 
and / or parked along the route.   

It is considered that there are no major physical constraints to providing a road link between the existing 
internal access roads that currently serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and 
the internal access roads that currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance.  Following the site visit it was 
observed that part of the fields in the southeast section of the cemetery, where it is proposed to provide the 
new road link, were occupied by graves.  However, it is considered that, at present, there is still sufficient space 
to the west of this area to accommodate the road link (albeit there may be a requirement to provide a non-
straight road link, which would skirt around the existing graves in this location).   There was also observed to be 
a slight difference in levels between the field and Gardens of Remembrance internal road.  However, this was 
not considered significant.   

Page 271



6

Conclusion
This Technical Note (02) has been prepared at the request of CBC, to consider the feasibility of using the 
existing Gardens of Remembrance and Cemetery and Crematorium access roads (from Bouncers Lane) as an 
egress route (only) to serve the proposed Crematorium. 

The following key points can be concluded from this TN: 

 It is considered that there are no significant physical constraints (in terms of geometry) that would 
otherwise restrict the use of the route by general vehicles associated with services (i.e. large cars, 
limousines, and hearses) to egress the proposed Crematorium; 

 It is recognised that there are potential physical constraints to using the route for larger vehicles 
(namely by a service vehicles).  As such, an alternative route should be considered for service 
vehicles; and 

 There are a number of potential safety related reasons in which the route may not be deemed suitable 
to serve the proposed Crematorium, including the potential for increased risk to pedestrians, and also 
other motorists using and / or parked along the route. 

Page 272



7

Figures

Page 273



P
age 274



6.29

1 4.238

Daimler Hearse
Overall Length 6.290m
Overall Width 2.108m
Overall Body Height 1.950m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.251m
Track Width 2.100m
Lock to Lock Time 6.00s
Wall to Wall Turning Radius 7.450m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 275



6.084

0.88 3.82

Limousine (2006)
Overall Length 6.084m
Overall Width 1.990m
Overall Body Height 1.583m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.276m
Max Track Width 1.950m
Lock to Lock Time 4.00s
Wall to Wall Turning Radius 7.000m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 276



7.17

1.2 4.19

FTA Design LG Rigid Vehicle (1998)
Overall Length 7.170m
Overall Width 2.300m
Overall Body Height 3.580m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.375m
Track Width 2.120m
Lock to Lock Time 3.00s
Kerb to Kerb Turning Radius 7.000m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 277



6.265

1.36 3.04

Small Skip Lorry
Overall Length 6.265m
Overall Width 2.390m
Overall Body Height 3.650m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.396m
Max Track Width 2.435m
Lock to Lock Time 6.00s
Kerb to Kerb Turning Radius 6.340m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 278



8.68

1.52 3.81

DB32 Fire Appliance
Overall Length 8.680m
Overall Width 2.180m
Overall Body Height 3.452m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.337m
Max Track Width 2.121m
Lock to Lock Time 6.00s
Kerb to Kerb Turning Radius 7.910m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 279



P
age 280



���

�
�

�

�

�
�
�

��������	
����
�����
����

����

�

��	

	�������������������
�

�

Page 281



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

)����	�
����
�����
�
(���	�� )�
	� ����	�
� ��
���� ��*+��
)���
�
,���
�
& �

 -.& ./& $�
&0.&/./& $�
 !.&/./& $�

)���
�& �
,���
�
'	1�������

����
����
����

2�3�
4��
23��'�
�

� � � � �
�

Page 282



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

���
	�
��
�

���� �����	
�����
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��

���� �������
�	
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��

���� ���
������
��
	�
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
� ��	�����	�
��	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	�������
�� 0�
� )	�������������)	����� 0�
� ��	��	�1��	�)	
�1	�����
����� #�

���� ���
����������
������
����
�������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
� )����
�����������	�
��	���	
����
�	�	5��
��������	
��������	�6���
�	�
� $�
� '	���	
�
�	�����	
��
�����1��	�������
�
������������	����
�1	�
��	����������1��	����

�	
�������
�	�����
�
���1	�
�	�
�����
�	��
�	�
� $�
� '	
	��	�
�	�����	
��
���	���	�����	���������
�
��	�	��
� $�
� ���6��	������	
���������	����
���	� $�
� 2�
	�
��
���
���������'	�	1	
���	�
�����,�
��	�7�	����
�	���������	
�� 8�

 ��� ���
����������
������
!�����"��"
����������������������������������������������������������������
#�
� ��9�*	�,���
�
����
��������
���������	������	
��
� -�
� �	�1��	�������	�,���
�
��  0�
� ���
�:�	��
�
	����������
����  !�
� ������
�������������
����
��  8�
� ��������������
�	�����	����
���
�����;�2������������� / �

$��� ���"������"
��	
���"�	�������"
%��
��	�&��������
�%
���
������"
�������������
���
� ��	��	��
����
	5
� /0�

���� ���
'��������
��%��������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
� ����
�
����
�� /#�
� 9��
	����	����
� /#�
� ���	����
	����
� /#�
� '	1	��	� /"�
� 2��6��*��	
�����	������ /"�
� ���
	�����
��������� /!�

(��� )���&�����
���
���%����	
"��
����
�������������������������������������������������������������������
���
� ��	��	5
��
��	�� /8�
� ���	�����
�	�2��<	�
� /8�
� �����1�
������4�1	�����	� /8�
� ������	������	�1��	� /8�

#��� �
�����
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���

!����	�*


!����	�*
!

��6
	���������

		��������������,		�6��*����	�
�*	��������
����
������
�����
����

!����	�*
�

/& !�,�������
�)�
�������	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	��

Page 283



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

!����	�*
�

���	��������
�=�
���
	�

!����	�*
)

9��
	����	����
����	
�
�
�
�
�

Page 284



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 �
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

 .& (�
�����
����
�
��	

	����� �������� ������
� ����	�

�� ��	��
	� �� ��	��
���� �	�1��	� ����� 
��� 4���	� ((� 
��
	��
����	
��
���
	�����
�	��	�
�	����
�	���	

	������	�	
	��.����	�����	
����	��	�
���
	�������	�������
���6	������	�����>�
�

• ��	�����	
���	�	���
��	����	��������	��
����?��������
�
�
�	����1	�6		������
	�?�
����
���
��
����
�
��	����������	�1��	�.�

• 2��*���� ���� ���	��� 
�� 
�	� ��
	� ��� 1	��� ����
����	�� ���� ����� �1	�� 6	
�		�� �	�	����	��
��	�
	����5�	
��������
�1���
�����
���
��	���	��
�	�������
��6	���
�������	�
	�
�1	.�

• ��	�	5��
������	��
������	���
�����
��������	

������		��
��6	��	�
��	�.�
�
����� �	���
� 	5�
��	�� 
�	� ����	����
� 1��6�
�
�� ��� ������ 
�	� 	5��
���� ����	
�� 
�� �	�	��
	� ��� �����	?�
���������
��
�	��	��6
	�����
����
���������
���	�
��	�
�	�������
��������	�
������6�
������	
���
�
�	�
���	�
��	.�
�
��	���
�����
����������	���
�	��	��
������	
���������	����
�	�	5��
��������	
��
���	��
	��?�������	��

���	�
������6�
������	
����
���	������
�
�	������
�	������
���
�	��������������	����
�	�
	�����	�
��
6	��	
�1	�	���������������
���	�
�
	.�
�
� �

Page 285



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

/�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

�

/.& ���*��������
�

(�� �	�
	�6	�� /& "?� ��6��	
� �����1	�� ��� �������
	� 
�	� 6��
����� ��� �� �	�� ��	��
������ ����
��6�	:�	�

�� ��� ��
�6	�� /& "� �����1	�� �� 
�
�
� ���<	�
� 6���	
� ��� @$?##0? &&?� ��
�� @!?"/0?&&&�
�

���
	�� 
�� 
�	� �	�� ����	
� �	1	
���	�
.� ��	�	� �����1�
�� �

��	�� ���� 
�	� A����	� ���� ��
��	�
	5�����������
�	��	�����
��
����
	��B.���
�
9�
��
�	�����	������
��	�1��	�������
����2��*�=1	���������9�

��

�)�5��?�6�
��������
	�����	��
�	�
����	� C�
����
� ,���	���*� ���� 2��<	�
� �����	��� ���� D���
�
�� ���1	����� ���� ��<��� 9��*�?�
�	��	�
�1	
�?����	���6�
�
���
��������6		������
	
	������
�	��	������	
.��
�
����������<��
�	�
������
	���
��������������	�?���	

	�������������������
����������
��������	��

�	� �	�

���
���� ��� �������� 
�� ������
� 
�	� �	1	
���	�
� ��� 
��� �	�� ����	
�.� � ��	� �����1�
� ���
�	�
	�6	�� /& "������
	�� ��	� �	�� ����	
.� � 2����� 
�� ���� �����
��	�6	��� �����1�
� ���� �� �	�����
����	
?�
�	���6��	
�������	�����������1	�����
�	��		
����8
��C�1	�6	��/& !?������������	������	�

��6	����	�
�*	��
�����	���
�	���
�����������
���
����6�
������	
������

��	���
������
��������	��

�	�����	����
������
���
������	%�	1	
������
�	�	5��
��������	
����������

	���
�1	���	.�
�
���	���
��
�	�����
���
������
	�����
��
�	��	������	
E�F����
�	���6<	�
�������	����
	��
���.��=5��
����
���	��� ����������

?��������� �
������
�������
�	��	�	
	��.� �������������?� �
� ���������	�	���	�	������
�������	����
	����
����������
�	�����
�������
�	�����
���
������������
����
��6	����������
	����
����

�	��������
����<	�
�6���	
.�
�
��*	�����*������	�
���	������	
�
����
��
�	��	
��6�
�
������
��	�	5�	�
��������
�	�	5��
������	��
�����
��
.��
��	

	�������������������
� ��	� �����

	�� 
�� ���
	�
���� 
�	� 	�1�����	�
�
� :��
�
�� ���� �	��
��	�
��
����
�	�
���
�
������	

�������1������
���
�6	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	�������
���	���	�
�.��C	����	��
����
�
��
� ��

� 6	� ���	� 	�����	�
?� ������	� 
	��� �����
� ��	
�� ���� �	���	� ��/� ���� �	������ 	��������.��
'	�
��	�	�
����
�	�	5��
�����
��
�����		�	��������	�
.�
�

�
�

�

� �

Page 286



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

0�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

0.& ��	���
�����
����
��	���������������	�����	1	
������
�����	
��
	�����	���	�
����
����	�
��������	�	��	����
���?�������
�	����
��6
����
����	��1�
�	��������	�.���������
�����
������

��		*�
��	�
�6
���>�
�

o ��	��	�1��	��	:���	�	�
���������	�
��	�1��	����	�������
�	�	5��
��������	
��

o ��	���
���������	�
�	�����
������

�����	
��	
���
����

o ��	���
	�
��
���
����������	%��	����
�	�
�������	
��
���	�	��
	����	��
����������
����6
	�

�����	�����
�	��
�	�
�

o ��	���1	�
�	�
�
��
����
��6	��	:���	��
���	���	
�
�	�����	
��
�����1��	����
�6
	�


���
��������������������	����
������
���
��

o ����
�������
��������
�	�������
���
��������������	����
���	.�

o )	����
��
	�
�	��1	����������������6�
�
�����
�	���	�	��	����
�
����

o (�	�
���������<	�
	��
��	
��	�
���	
�1	��
�	������1	�	�
��
��	����	�
�����
�������
��
�	�

������	���	������	
�+��	1	
���	�
�����	����	�������
����������	�1��	���	��
����

�������
�����
���.�

o (�	�
��������������
����*��
���������������	����
�1	�
��	�����������	����
���
����

�
��
	��	��

�
��	�	���	����6	��������*%�
�	������1�
1	�������

�
����
�	��������
����
�����1��	��������	�	���1	�
�	1�	����� ���� ��1	�
�	�
���
����.� �������
������

��	
������

����	�	�
� 
�	���
������ 
�	�������
	�
�������
�1	���
���������	�������	���	�
.�
�

 ��	�����	�
��	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	�������
���

(�� /& !?���	

	����� ��	��
������ ����
�
�
	�� /&#0� ��	��
����?� �1	������� 0-.0� �	���		*?� $.8!� �	��
���.����	�����	�
���	��
�������������	���
�����	�����	�����������
�	�����1��	���	
��6
	��	�1��	?��
�
���
��6	������6
	�
������	��	�
�	����6	�������	��
������	���������
�� #�6	
�		��
�	�
�������	
�.�
�
�	���	�1��	���	���������
�	�����	�
�
���
	����5�������	�
��
�	�����
����
��������	
��6
	���	��
���?�
���������
��	�����������
���-����
�
.����	�	�����
��������
����
�����1��	�����
���������������	�1��	�
���
�	���
��	.�
�
��������	
������
�����	��
������	��	:���	��
��������
�6�
������	�
��	�����������
	�
��
���
��	�
�	����������������	��6	
��.��(
�������	��
����
��
��	�1��	�������
������
����
�6	������
	��6����
�
�
��
	������
�	�����	
�?����	1	��
�	�	����
��6	�����	��	�����
�����
�����	������������������
�	�	5��
����
��
	� 
�� 
�	� �	�� ��	��
���� ����
�
�	�.� � ����� ���
�� �	���	� ����	�
� 
	1	
�� ��� �	1	��	� ��� �	

� ���
�������������
�	���
	�
��
�����
����
� �����	�
��
�����
�6	��	���	��
��������

	���
�1	���	����
�	�
����	
�.�
�

�

 )	�������������)	�����

����	�
� �
�
��
���� ������
	� 
��
� #-G� ��� 6	�	�1	�	�
� �	�1��	�� ��	� ���1��	�� ���� �	���	�
�� ���
��	

	����?���
�������
�	��#!."G�����	�1��	�������	��
	�
�1������
������ "%��
	�������������	

	�����
6�
���
���	

	��������������	���	�
�.�
�
(
�����������

�
�����<	�
���
��	���
	�
��
��	:���	�	�
�������	��
�����	�1��	��6��	��������	����������
6	��1����.� �4	�	��

�?��	� ��	� 
�1���� 
���	�� ���� 
�	� �����
� ��� ��
��	� ��1	���	�
� ��
���	�� E����� ���
�������
��������
��	�
� �������F��������������	���������������
���	�������

� �����
������	����
�	�
����1����
.���
�
,����
�	���6�C�
����
�2���
�
����2��<	�
�����E�C22F�/& #���
��
��
�����1��
�6
	?��
�����6	�����	�
	��

��
�����
�	���
���	�
���	�����
������ "%��
	�������������	

	����?�
�	�	����
��6	����	�
���
	��/8G�
����	��	�����	�
����1	��
�	��	5
�/&��	���.���
�

Page 287



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

#�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

��	� ����
� ���	� �
��
	��� E���F� 
	��?� ���� ��	� �	������6
	� ���� �
��
	���� �������� �
������� ���
��	

	����?�4
���	�
	�������	�*�6��������
�	��������	����	���
	��	��
���	�
�����
�?�������
	���
�
���

������	������	��	��������
�
����;� ��.�����
����
��	���������	1	���#��.��	���������	��
�	��C22�
��
�.� ����	1	�?���
�� �����������������������
�?� �
�������
��	�	�����
�� ��

���
��
�
�	�����
�
����
����	��	���

��	��

����������
����
	�����	��	�������
�
�
�	�.���
�
,���
�	�������	�����
�������	���	�
?��	���1	�6��	��������
��
�
�����������/8G�����	��	�����	�����
�1	��/&��	���.����	���
������	�
��
��
�
�	� ����	��	� ����	�
�����

������� ���
�	� 
�

	�����
����
�	�/&�
�	���?��

�������	���1	������	�����
�����
%
��	�����	��	.�
�
��	�	���	?� 6��	�� ����� 
�	�	� ������
����?� 
�	� ������
�� ��� 
��� ����	
�� ������
	�� 6�� 	�����	�
�
��	��
��������
�
�	����

�6	��6
	�
��������
����
��$&��	�1��	���	���		*?���
���	���������	�����?�6��	��
���������	�
��	������������
�?����
��"&��	�1��	���	���		*����
�	��	5
�/&��	���.�
�
��	��	:���	�	�
�����
����	������	
������
�	����
����6
	�	�����	����
��
�����6	�����	1	�������
���
�	����	��
������

����
	�
�
�	�6	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	����	������
�	��	�����
	��.���
�
�

 ��	��	�1��	�)	
�1	�����
������

��	��������
�����	
���	�	���
��	����	��������	��
�����	�1��	��������1	���6�	:�	�

��6		������
	��

�� ��
	�� ���� 
���� 
��	� ��� 6	�	�1	�	�
� �	�1��	.� � ���	1	�?� ��	� 
�� 
�	� ����
	5�
�� ��� 
�	� 	5��
����
�
���
��	?�
�	�����	�
��	�1��	����	��������������	����
��
���
	��1���������
�	������
	������������
�����

�	��	�1��	.��(������
���?�
�����	������������������
�	����
������	
�
��
�	���	��
��������
�
�	���	���
�	�
���
������	
?���1	�
��6	����	��

�������	��
��	����	�
�	�
�����	����������		
������	��	�
��
.�
�
��	���	��
�����
��
� ����	������
�	�	������ �
�+���	��
� 
��	������		���
��6	��	�
��	�.����������1��	����
���:�	������
���
������
�	���	

	�������������������
�
��������	��
�	��	�
��	�	�
����
�	�����	
��
��������
	
	��	
���
�������
�	���	��
��������
�
�	��
���	�?�������	�6��

�����	
�.���

�
��	���
	�
��
���
�������	>��
�
• ������
!>����
����	�����	
?���	���	����
�	�	5��
��������	
�?����1��	�
����	����	��
�����
�


�	��	����
	�

• ������
 �>� ���
�� ��	� ����	
?� ��	� ��	� ��� 
�	� 	5��
���� ����	
�� ��� 
�	� ����
� 
	��� ���� 6��
��

�	���������	
��
���
�
	����
	�

• ������
�>����
��6�
������	
�����?���1	�
������������������
�	�������	��
��������
.�

�
�

(���	�
	�6	��/& "?���6��	
������1	�� 
�	�����
���
���������	��	������	
���
�����1������ ���� 
���
�	����	��
���.���������
����������	�	��	�
������
�	����
���	����	������	����
�	�	5��
��������	
�.��
��	� �
�	�
�+� 6���	
� ���� �

��	�� ���� ���	� �����1	�	�
�� 
�� 
�	� �	�������� ����	
� 
�� 	��6
	� �
��
���
���	����	������6	�	�1	�	�
�����
�
�.�
�
��	�
�6
	�6	
���������	��
�	���1��
��	����������
����
�����	�������
�	�������	����
����>�
� �

Page 288



���������	
��
�
�
����
	�
�����	�

�����	
� �����	
� �����	
�

�����
�	

����
��
��

�	


�����	��
���
	
�
��
������
��


	
�
���


�����
�	

	
�
����
��
��

�	


�����	�
�	
��

�����
�
��
�	�


�����
�
��	�
����
�
���
��
���
	
�
��
������
��
	
�
���


�����
����
����
��
	���
���
��
��	��
����
���
�
�����
�
��


��������

	���

����
	
�
����
�����
�
	���

��

�����	�


����
��

����������	����
�����
��
	����	��	���	���
�
�����
���
������
�

�
���	��
�
����
	���������������
�������	������
���

����������	����
�����
��
	����	��	���	���
�
�����
���
���������

����������

�����������
�
�

�	
�	
����
�
��������
���	��������

�
���
�����
	���
���	��

��
����
��	���
����


�	
�	
����
�
��������
���	��������

�
���
�����
	���
���	��

��
����
��	���
����


�
����
�
����
�������������������
�������
���
���	������

����������	��	
�
�



���������	�����	
��
�������������	������
����������
�

�
�	�
	
	�
���
��
���
���	������
����
������
�������
���
��

�
����
����
����������	��	�
�
����	��
����
�
������
�
�

��
�
���	
�

���������	�����	
��
�������������	������
����������
�

�
�	�
	
	�
���
��
���
���	������
����
������
�������
���
��

�
����
����
����������	��	�
�
����	��
����
�
������
�
�

��
�
���	
�

 �	��������	�����������
�
���������
	
������������������

���������	�����
�

�
�
	���
����
��
����
����������	��	�
�
��

����	����
����
������
��
�
���������
�
���	
��

��
��
���
������
���
����
������
���
�
���
�
���������
�
	�

�������	��������
�����
���
����������
�����
���
���������	�

�
���
�������������
	������
���
���	������
��
��	����
�
�

!����
"����	����
�
����������
�
�
��
��
���������
���
����
��

������������	����
������
�������
��
#���
�
	������
	�

��
�
���	
����
�
��

$�
���	�������
���
�
����������	����
��
#���
��
����
�	
��

�
��������
��
	������
���
����
������
�
"����	���������
�

�
	
�
��������
���
���
��������
�����
���
��
��

�
	�

��
�����
���
���	���
��������
�
"����	����
�
����������
�

��
����������
����
�
������	
����������������	����
��
��	��

��
�
��

%
��	��������
�
���
���
�
�
�
����
���	���������	������
�
�

���
	��
���������������	�����	���%
��	���������
�
���
���
�
�

���
���	�������
����������

��������	
����
�����
�������

���������������� !"�#	��$
��#	%�"�����

������
��
���
�
	���
�����
����	������
�&��
�
����
	�������	��
	������
�
����
�
��
	�
�
��
	�����
��
	�
�
�����

��������	�

���������	
��
�
�
�
����
�	�
������	

����	���
�

�

P
age 289



�������� �������	 �������


	���
����������������������������������������������������

��������

	���
������������������������������������������������������
�

����
������
��������������������������������������������

	���
�������������������
���������
������������������������

��������������������������������������������������������

�������

���������	
��
�


�����������
�
��������
��������
�
��
�����

����
�������
��
����
�����


���������	
��
�


�����������
�
��������
��������
�
��
�����

����
�������
��
����
�����


���
���������
����

��������	��
�����������	���
��	������	�
��

	�
��


���

��������
��
����

���������������
������

����
�

	
���
�����
�������
��

��
�
��������

�����	
�
�������


��
����	������������
���

����������������
�

�
�������
�


��
�
��������

�����	
�
�������


��
����	������������
���

����������������
�

�
�������
�


����������
����������������
����������
�������
���


��

����

���
����� 
��
�����
�������
����� 
��


!�����

������
�
��
���������
�
���������������
�����
������

������
������
��

������

��
���������
�
����������
������������

�����
�������
�"������

!�����

������
�
��
���������
�
���������������
�����
������

������
������
��

������

��
���������
�
����������
������������

�����
�������
�"������

#�������

���
�$����
���
$�����
��������
���

���������
�����

	
����������������
��
�

%������������
����
��������	�������
 %������������
����
��������	�������
 ��
������
�
��������������������
�������������������

�����

����
��������
��
������
�������
��
���������
�
����������
�

�

����������


��

������
�����������������������������
��

��� 
��
�

!��
����������
�����
��������
�
���������
�
��
��
���
�����
�

������
������
����
&��
������
���������



!��
����������
�����
��������
�
���������
�
��
��
���
�����
�

������
������
����
&��
������
���������



����
�
�����������
�������
�����
������������	�����
��
������

���������
��������
���	��������
��������

����
����
�������

����
�

����
���������
�����������������������������
������

��
��������
������
������
�������
������
�

����
�
�����������
��������
���

����������������
����
�����
�����

��
�


!��
��������
�������������
��
������
������������
���������

���

�������������������
�����

������������
�������
�

��
���
��������
�������������������
�

������
������
�����
���
��

�����
�

���������
���
���������������
�
���


��
�
��
�
�����
�������	�����������������
����
��
���
����
��������

������������
�����
��
�

����&���������&���������
�������
�����

���
�������	
���
�����

���������
���
���
�

'
����������
�����
������	
�
��
�
���

����

���������������
�

����
�����������������������
�����
�

����
�
�����������
�������
�����
������������	�����
��
������

���������
��������
���	��������
��������

����
����
�������

����
�
�����������
��������
���

����������������
����
�����
�����

��
�


��������	
����
�����
�������

���������������� !"�#	��$
��#	%�"�����

����������	
���
�����
����
��������

����
��������

�

P
age 290



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

$�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

#.& ��	�����	����
������
���
���
��	�	5��
����
�������	
�����	�������:�	������
���
������������	����
�1	�
��	������	���

�������	����
1���	
�� ��� ��
����� 
�� 	5�
��	� ���� ����� ��	� ����
� ������
� ��� ����
����� 
�	� ���1������ ��� 
���
�
6	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	�.�

�

 )����
�����������	�
��	���	
����
�	�	5��
��������	
��������	�6���
�	�
�

�������
�������
���
��	�������
	����	�6���	�������
�	���������������
��������
����
�����	��	�����
�	1	��	.���	�
�������	
�?����4���	�((�
��
	��6��
��������

��		��
��6	�����
���	�����
�	����	�
��
���1��	�������	��
��	
��������
�	����
�������������	����.�(
����
��6	��	�	������
�����1��	���
	1	
����
�	�
������������
����
��	�1��	�������
�
��	��6
	�������
��������������
���	.�
�

 '	���	
�
�	�����	
��
�����1��	�������
�
������������	����
�1	�
��	����������1��	����

�	
�������
�	�����
�
���1	�
�	�
�����
�	��
�	�
�

'���	�������
	�
��
�����	����
���	����1	�6		���	1�	�	��������	�
��
	��6	
��.����	�	���	�
��		���	�?�
������������	�	�
���1��6
	�����	����
���
�
���?�����
�	�	���	��	1	
��	��������	��	
��
�
���������
�	������%��*���.�
�
�

 '	
	��	�
�	�����	
��
���	���	�����	���������
�
��	�	��
�

����� ���
�� 	��6
	� ��� ���	���
	� ��	� ���� ����	�
?� ��� 
�	� ����	
�� ���
�� 6	� �	
	��	�.� � 4�1	�� 
�	�

���
�������
�	�����	
�����
�	��	�
�	����
�	��	�	
	�������
��
�
�	�����	�����6	��	�
���
	��6��	5��
����
��1	���
��
�������
�������
�
�	�����	����
�1�
�	����
�	�����
�
�?������	��������������6
	�	1��	��	�
�����
�	�����	�
����*	
?��
������
�����
	��
��
�
�	����*	
�1�
�	����
�	�����	
�����
��6	����
�	��	�����
���@/"&?&&&�%�@0&&?&&&?���
������		�.�����	1	�?�
�������
���	�	���������
��������	����������6	����
����
	�� ���� �����	� ��� ��	� ���� 
�	� �	1���
���� ��� ���� �	�
���
�1	� ��1	���
�� 
��
� ���
�� ���	�	� �
��
��
	�
��
.��)	�	�������������
��	���	?���

��	�	�
���������1	����
������	�������
���1	�
��6	��

��	�.�
�
�

 ���6��	������	
���������	����
���	�

(
�����6	������6
	�
���	
������	������	����
�	�����	
�������	���	
�
�	�����
�������	�
�����1��	���
����	����
������
���
�.����������	5�
��	��������	��	
��
���
����
�	��	���
.�
�

�

�

�

�

�

� �

Page 291



�������� �	
����
����������� ����	
����
��

���������������
��������	
��
�����
�	�
��������������
��

���������

���������
������������������������

������������������������������������������

�
��
���
�����

�������
���������
�������������������
��

������
	������������������
��������������

�����������������
�������
����������������

�����
������
������������������������

�������������
���
����
��
���������������

�������

�����������������������
 �������������
�����������
���
����������
	�

���������
����������

�����������������������
���������������������

�������������������������!����������������

�����
����������
����������
"

�����������������������������
���
���#

����

�������������
��
��������������������������

�����
������
�������������
��
�����
�

�������������������	���������

�������
���������

���
���	���������������	�����

���
���	� ���	�������

�������	�����

����� ���	����������
������ $������������������������%

�����������������������

�
	���������������������

������
��������"

$�����
������
������������������
�������

����
����������
�����
���
	�������������

���������
��
����
�����������������

������������ &�����������
�������
��

������
�������
�����
��������������������

��'���
��������������
������������
��

�����������������������������

!����"������������
����

(�����
������������
���������#���
	���������

������������
�����
�����
�����"

�
��������
�����������
�����
�����������

��������������
��
����������������

(���������������������������
����
	�
	��

���������������
���
�����������������������

�����������������
���
	�
����
����������

�����������
�
������������#�����
������

��������������������������������������������

�����
���

��������������������������������

������#��������	������
���"�����

������$

(�������������������
��
����
�����

�
����������������
��	���
������
���������

�
������������������

$��������������
��������
�����
�����������

���������
	���
������
��
��������

�
����������
������
���
���'����������
���

�
�����
���
���
��"

�
���
���������������������	��
���
��������

����������������
��
�����

 ���������������������	�����

�%�����
��"����

)����������
��
���������������������������

��������������
��
���
��������
�
����������

��������
��
����
���������
����������
��

��
�������"

�
��������������������������������
��

���
��
�
����
��������������
�������������

��������
�����������
����"

*�������
������������������
�����
�������
�


���������������������
����
��
�������

�������
"

(��������
������
�	���
������
���������

��������
�����������������������������
��
��


����
����"

��������	
����
�����
�������

���������������� !"�#	��$
��%���	����

���������� �	�
���������&	���������"��'����"�����

+����
�����������������������
��������

+����
�����������������������
��������

+����
�����������������������
��������

(

Page 292



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

-�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

".& ��	�����	����
���
������������
���
(�����	��
�����	���
�	�����	����
������
���
��������
	�
��
��	1	��	�����������	%��	����
�	�����	
�?�
�	���1	����	�
�*	��
�	���

��������
�1�
�	�>�
�

o ,�

���
	���������
�

o ������
�����������	���
����	�
����0�
	����������	����
������
���
�	��

o (�	�
��������	�����

o 7������������6
	���
�?�	1��	��	�����	�	�
���
	���	�
��	
�.��

o =5�
������	��������6	�	��
�

o �		
�����������������������
��
���
������	�����
��
�*	��
�	���

�
��
	���	�	��������
�	�
���
����*	
��
��	����
�	���	

	�������	���������������������
���
����	�
�	�� 
��
� ��1	� 6		�� �	�	1	
��	�� ��� 
�	� �	�	�
� ���
� �	� ��1	� ��

��	�� 
��		� ��
	�
��
�
����	����
������
���
�	��
��	5�
��	�������	��	
��
>�
�
 . ����*	����	�����
�
����
�������	��	
��
����������
��������6	�	�1	�	�
��	
�
	���	�1��	�.�

/. �	�1��	�������	�����
�
��

0. ���
�:�	��
�
	�1���
������������
���?�����	5���
	��������*�����
�

�

�������
������������
���

�	5�
��	�	������
�������
���?�������	�����
�	���
	�
��
�����
�	����1	���������

�	�����	
��
��������	�	�
���	H������	�
���
����������	H�
�	�����
�
���1	�
�	�
��	:���	��
���	���	
�
�	�
	5��
���� ����	
�H� ���	��
���� 
�	� ����	����
� �	
���� 
��
� 	���� ��
���� ����
� �	
�1	�� 6��	�� �����
����	�
����*	
�������
���H�
�	�
���
����
	5
��������	
�
	����������������
�
�.����	�������
�������
��
�
�	�
�	%��	� ��� 
�	� ����	
�� ��

� ���1��	� �� �	�
�
� �	
���� ���� ��	

	����� �������� ������
?� *		�� 
�	�
6��
������ �����	��������
��6�
	�
��������	
�1	����� 
���
� ���
��
�1	��
��������
�����
������	��������
���
����6�
�
�.�
�
��	���
����
���	
������	����
�	�	5��
��������	
����������	��
����
�6	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	����
�� 
���
�

�	��	1	
���	�
�����

����
�	�	���
����>�

�
 . ����*	�����
�
��������������	������	
��
����������
����;���
�����
����
�������	�����
��6	�

�	
�1	�	�����
�	��	���	������	��1��
�6
	.��9�*	�����
�
�	�����
���		��
��6	����	��

���
���	��
��

�1�������	�	����������	�
�����	����������	�1��	�����
�	���<��	�
�����	
.����	����	�
����

�����	���	
��
�����
�
�	�����
��6	��	���	����
���
�
�	���*	����	�.�

/. �	�1��	�������	��;�
�	��	
���	����	������	�����	
����
������������

���	���	�
�	��1��
�6
	�����	�

�����	�1��	�������	�.��(������
���?�
�	�����	
��	�1��	�����
���
��	����	�
���
���������	�����
�	�

�����	�����
�	�	����
��6	�������������		��
��	����	�
���
	1	
���������	������������	�

��1	�	�
��������
�	�����
�
����������	�1��	�.��,�����
	�
��
�������	��?�
��������6	��		�	�����


���
���
���.�

0. ���������
����;�
�	��	
���	����	������	�����	
����
���	���	�
�	���
	�
��
��1��
�6
	���	���

�����	���	��	������
�	�	���	���
	�
��

����*	��
������
����	�
��	
�����%1��6
	.�

�
�

 ��9�*	�,���
�
����
��������
���������	������	
��
�

�
��	�������
�����
�������	������5	�����	�	����	����������	����	
��
?���
��6����	����	
�
	��

�� 
�	� ���	��
� �	�
��.� ,��� 	5���
	?� �����	� 6��	�� ���� ���	��
� ���	�
���?� ��

	
� ���� �����	�� ����
�
��	�������������
����
������	�������
������
�������I���
	�������*	�����
�
�.����	����I�����
�
�����
��

	��	�����������	��6��������	�	��	�
����1��	�.������	�

��
�	�	����������
���������
	���	�1��	���	��
�		*����?�����	

�����	��
���1���
��������
�	��	�	
	�����
	?����������
����6��	�������
	?����
�	�	����
��
6	��	�����6
	��	������������I����������*	�����
�
��
�

Page 293



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 &�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

��	��6�1	��	1	
���	�
���
������
	�
��

���	:���	��������
���������
����
��
�	�	5��
����6��
��������

�	� ����
�
�� ���� 6	� �	
�
�1	
�� ����
�� ��
�
� 
�� ���1��	� 
�	� �	:���	�� ���������
���.� � '	��1�
� ��� 
�	�
��	��
�������
��
����
��6	��	:���	��
����	���������	�6�
����	����
�	���
	���
���

�����
����1	�
��
6	��	��1	��6�
��1	��

�����	
�
�1	
���
�����
�������.�
�
(��
	��������
�������?�
�	����
�	�������	
����
���������	�����������
�������	����������
���?���
��

�	����	�
����������	JJ����	���������
����
��
������	�� ���
�	��	1	
��	��6��	�����
�
	�.����	����
�	���
����	
����
��
�	����
	�
��

������������I�K���*	�����
�
��������	������
�	��	��������	����	��
������

��
�	�=��
�����
������
	
���.����	�	5��
����6��*��������	���	������
��6	����1	�
	��
������	����	
��
�
���
� 
��
� ���� �������	� �
��	����	�
�� ��
	�� ������� �	��� �
��	�?� ������ ��
�� 
�	� ���	�
���� ��� ��
�	JJ����	����
�	��	1	
��	��6��	���	:���	���
.��7��
�#��������	�����
�	����
��	�	�
�6��
�����	5
	������
�������
��6	����

���	
�%���
���	�������	����������
������
���
������9������*�
��	�	

	��������
6	� ��	�� 6�� 
�	� ���	��
� ���	�
���� ��� �
�	�� ����
��� �	�1��	� ��� �	:���	�.� � ��	� 	5��
����9�����1������
���
��6	��	
���	��A���	5��
���B�������	�6�����
�� ?�/�K�0.�
�
��	�	5��
�����������*� ����
�
�������
	��	��6�����
��6	��
�
��	������ 
�	�	�����
��6	� ����	� ���� �	
��
�
���*���� ��� �	

� ��� �

	��		�� �
� 
�	� ��*	� ����
�
�.� � ��	�	� ���� 6	� �����
���
�� 
�� �	1	
��� ���	�
���	���6
	����*�����
�
�	�����
����
�	�����	
�?�
�����
�	�����1��	�	��	�������	��.�
�
,����
���	%���
���
���������

�
������
��
�	�����
�2
���������
����
��E�2�F����
��6	��	:���	������

�������	�	�
�����	�
����	5��
����*�������6	��?�6��	���������
���
�����
	���	��������6	�������	

����
�����	:���	�	�
��
���������
�	�	5��
������6�������
����4���	�/�
��
	��6��
����.�
�
�	
������������
��
���

��	����
�	���
	�
��
�����	�
��
����
��6	�����	1	��
����������	�
�����
�
�������

�	�
�������	
�>�

�

�
,��� >����6��	��9�*	������	�	�1	�	�
�������
������	��'	
��
�%�#�7��
�
�

����

	���
�1	���
��������
�	����	��1	��

���	?���0%���
���
�
��������
����1��
�6
	�
��
�
��*��
��
����	��	�
�	��1	��

���	�����7��
� 
�����������
	�7��
�#�����
�	�	5��
����9�����������
���?�
������������

��	
�	��
���	�������	�����
�
�.��7��
��/�K�0���

�
�	���	:���	����	�����
����
����*��
���
�	��
����	�
	�
�	�������9������*�
��	�	

	�����
�
�	�.�����	5���
	��������
�����������
����
��
���*�������������
�	�����	�6	
��>�

Page 294



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

  �
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

�
,���/>����6��	��9�*	������	�	�1	�	�
�������
������	��'	
��
�;�0�7��
.�

�
 ����	�
����*	
�������������

�
(�����	��
�����	���
�	���
	�
��
����*	
��������*	
�1�
�	���������������
�
�?��	���1	�������	�	�����
�	�
����
����
���	������1��
�6
	�����
�������	�
��	������	�����
	�������
�	�������	�����	�.��,���
������
���?�
�	� ��1	� 	5�
��	�� 6�
�� �	
��
��	�
�����
� ���	��� ���� �1��
�6
	� �����	� ���������
���.� � ��	�	� ��	�
�	
��
	��6	
��>�

�

". . .  �������6
	�'	
��
�'	�
�����
�����
�
�	��

�

Page 295



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 /�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

". . ./ �������6
	������	���	���	��

�
���	�� ����� 
���� �������
���?� �	� ���� 	�
���
	� 
��
� 
�	� �	���	

	�� �����	� ���� ���6��	��
���I��	�
�����
����������
��������
�6	�
	��	������@  %@ "��	���:�
.���������

��	�	�����������*	
�
���
�����
�
�	�
��	����
	�����?������
���?����*�����������	��.�
�
��	� 
�6
	� 6	
��� ���1��	�� �� 6�	�*����� ��� ��
	�
��
� 
	��	� 1�
�	� �	�� ���
� �
���	�� 
�� 
�	� ������	��
�
����
������,��� �

�

�
�
(
��������	�
	��
��
�
	��	������
��6	����		����������������"%�	���
	��?�
�����
��	���������
��	1�	��
���
	��	�1�
�	.�
�
�������
�����������	��
�	�
	��
����*�������	

	�������������������
.����	�	�����
�	�������
��

�����
	�
���� ���	��
� �	
�
	�� 6����	��� ���� ����	�

�� 
�	�	� ��� 
���
	�� ��*	� ����
�
�� ���	�� ��� 
�	� 
���
�
�.� � ��	�
������
� ���
�� ��
� 6	� �	������6
	� ���� ���� �
�
�
�� ���
�?� �����
���� ��� ����
	����	� ����
� ����� 
�	�
���������	��.�
�

���� �����	
��
	�
���� �
���	�	���	
��� ��

�	�
���	��


������ ���� 	�
��� 	
��������

�����
 �
�� 	����� 	
��������

�����
 ��� 	����� 	��������

������ ��
 	�
��� 	��������

���
� ����������

Page 296



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 0�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

 4	�	��
�(�
	�	�
��

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

 �	�1��	�������	�,���
�
��

�
��	� 
��� ����	
�� ��	� 4���	� ((� 
��
	�� ���� ��	�	�
� �� �	�

�� ��� �����?� ������
	�� ���� �����
	�
���
�
�����
���	� ���� ���
�� 6	� ��	�
� ���� �	�1��	�� �����	� ���������
���� 	��	���

�� ��
�� 
�	� 	5��
����
���������
������
�����	�
��
��		
������	������������ 
��	�
�	�� ���	.� �9��
�
� 
�	� 
���
������
���� 
�	�
�	�	
	��� ����
� �	
	�� ���	� ��
	�
��
� �������
�?� �
� ���
�� ���
� ���6�6
�� 	�������	� �
�	��� ����
�	:���	���:��	
��������	���
�:���*��
���
���.�
�
����
���
��
�	���*	�����
�
�?�
������
�����
����	:���	����
��������
���������
����
��
�	�	5��
����6��
�����
��
���	��1�
����
�	�	5��
������	��
���������������
	��	:����	�
.��(�
	�1	�
�������
	���������
	�
��
�
�	JJ����	��
���
��	������������
����
�	
	�	�
�������*?�6�
���
������
�����	
	����	���	�	�����.���

,���0>��	�1��	�������	�,���
�
��;�"����
��
�

(���4	���	�,��	��
��

����������	
�����
���
���	
�������	����	���������	������������	�������	���������������	����	�����������	���	�������������
�
����������������

���
��
����� ���!��"�������	������#$�%�&'$��()���)	��	��	�
����
��	���!���

 )�����	��	
��������!����)����
���������	���������������	���

�	
���	����������)�����

������K��
�*	��

������������)	���*	��
��
+����
�������	,���������������������

�����!�
�������)	!��	���������
�	������)����
��	�,����
��,�
������,������"�������
���)�������������������������	����	����
���	��	�,��	�������������,����
���������������)����
�������	����������!�����������"���	����)����

����������������)���	���

��
-
	�
���
���
����)�����	���	�,�	
��)����)���������������������	�������!�����	���
�
�����!�������������
���)	!���)���	���

���!����,��)��)����
�����
�

�	
������
��K����

���������-
��	��
�	����)��)	��
������
������

��)������

��
��
)���������
�������	���������������	�
��	�����	��

�	������
�������	�������	��������
���������	
�����)�������
�!�����	��	����	���

��%��	��
�1	�,��	��
����	�

���������*����	

���������
.����!�����	�����)	���
�,�����/�����	������	��������0
��������)��-�����������	����	�������	��
�������������)���	���	��	����	���������������)�

��)�������
�����
�����,�	
�������������
�����	��
�
�����,�����
��

��
�)����	�������������	�������
�����()������
��������
	�����������
��
�	�������������	������1�)���!��,��)��	������
���
����)�����	���	��	
������

���
�	�����

��)����
�	������������������	����
���

Page 297



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 #�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

7��
� ����	��	�
�1	
������	��6��
�	���	�����
�	����
�	�������	
?���
�����	JJ����	�
	1	
����	�
	�����
����
���������	�
����	�
	����	�����
����
� �
������	�.�������	JJ����	����
��6	����	��	��6�����	�������
�
�
������	� �������������
���� 
	1	
.�7��
�/� ��� 
���
	�� ��� 
�	� ���
������	
����� ���6����
�� 
�	� ���	����
7��
� ���
�����	���	JJ����	�������	�� ���
�	�1��

	�����������	.��7��
�0� ���������
	��
�	�	5��
����
�
��
� ����
�
�	�� ���� A6��*���� ����	B� ���������
���� ���� ������ �	�
��	�����	JJ����	� �
���
��	���
��
�	�� �����
� �
������	.� �7��
�� #�K� "� ��	�������	�� ������

	�� ����	�?������� ��	� ��	�
	�� ��� 
�	����
�
�	�	�
� 	5
	������ 
�� 
�	� 6��
����� 
��
� ����	�

�� ����	�� 
�	� ���
���� ��	�.� � �������
� 9�+�� ����
*�
��	����	�����	�����	�����
�	�6��
������	5��
����9��K�*�
��	�����������
���������������	�
����	�
��
���	�	�
�����	�*��������
������	�����
��6	���	�
	�����
�	�����	�
������	�
����	�1	�
�6�
	.���
�
(��
	����������*���������	�	������
��
�	�����
�2
��?��	����	��
����
��
� �����	��	��/"�/�����	:���	��
���������	����������
����E/!�����	���1	��

F?���������������6
	����
�	�	5��
�����������*������
	��	��6��

��
�	����
��=��
?�����	

���� �����	��	��/&��������	���6�
�
��;�
�������
��6	������6
	����	�

����<��	�
�

�	�6��
������
�	
�.�
�
,����
� ��	%���
���
���� �����

�
������
�� 
�	� �2�����
�� 6	� �	:���	�� ���� 
���� ���	�	?� �������
�� 
��
���	�
������	
�	�� 
�	� ������	�������	� ��� 7�	� ��� ��� ���	�
�6
	� ��
�
���� ���� 
�� 	����	� 
��
� ����
��
	�1	�
����� ������������
����� 
�� 
���� 
��
	�� 6��
����� ��	� ���	�
�6
	� ��� ��������
?� 6�� �	1�	����� 
�	�
����	�1�
���������	�.�
�

�
 ����	�
����*	
�������������

��	�	� ��	� ����	�

�� ���	� �1��
�6�
�
�� ��� �	�1��	�� �����	� ���������
���� ��� ��	

	����H� ���	1	�?�

�	�	�����	�
�	����	�����	���
�@//%@/"��	�� �:�
�����
�����

�� ��%
���
	����
����������	�6��

������	�
����
	5	�.�

�
"./. .  �������6
	��	�1��	�������	����������
����

Page 298



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 "�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

�
�

�
�

�
���	�� ����� 
�	� ���*	
� ������
���?� �
� ���� 6	� �����6
	� ���� ��	

	����� �������� ������
� 
�� ���	��
�	�1��	�������	����������
����
��	�������	��
��
����6����	��������
�������	
�
�1	��	�
�
��	����	�
��5��������������.�������������������1��	������
����
�1�
�	�
��
�	�
���
��������
�����������
����
�����	
��������	��6����	��������
���
�	�� ��� 
�	���	�.� ���	������	�����
��6	� ���
�6
	� ����6����	��	��
���� �	:���	� �����	� ����	� ��
�� ���	�
� �		�� ���� �
�	�
� �		
����� ��� ��
	?� ����� ��� �	����� �
�����H�
6	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	�H�������
��
������	�	��
������	�����
����
���
���.�

�
��	�
�6
	�6	
������6��	�������������	
�
�1	����*	
��	�
����@//��	���:�
>�
�

����	

�����	
��
	

�
����	

�
���	�	���	


���	

��

�	�
���	

��
	

������� ����� 	

���� 	�
��
�����

�����
� ��
�� 	

���� 	�
��
�����

�����
� �
�
� 	

���� 	
���������

������� 
�
� 	

���� 	���������

������� 

�� 	

���� 	���
�����

���
�	 �� �� �����������	

�
��	�	���	�����
����
�����	�
�����	��������	��
�������
��
�	��	�1��	�����������
������
���.����	�
�	�
����
�����
��	>�

o 7
�
�
�	��

o '�
	��

o �
	������

o (�������	�

o �������
�3�
��	��

o �	�1��	������	�

o 9�%,��

o 2��*����

��	�	����
��6	�������
����
�� ����	

�����

� 
�	�	� ����
��	���	�����������	�
�
� �����	.� � (������
���?�

�	�	�����6	������1�
��	�
����1	�����
	���
�?�����������	��	��
�	�����	�
�����	��+����
���������
��
�	��

������������
	�
������	.�

Page 299



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 !�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

�
9��
�
�
�	���
	�
��
��	
�������
������
�����������	�?�
���������
����*���		�����
�	����*����	��
�����
��
��������	��	�������	�
�
��	�1��	����
������
����
�6	������	�.�

�

 ���
�:�	��
�
	����������
����

�
��	

	��������������
�����	�?�6	���� 
���
	����
���������	�������
�
�������C�
����
��	��
�.� ���	�
��	�� ���	��� ���	��� 
�� 6	��
���
� ����
�����	?� 4	������� �����
	�
��	� ���� ��� 
�	� ���	� ��� 
�	� ���
�%
�	����	�����	�����	����
�	����	����	.��������	�����
�������:�	�
���
���?��	���1	���	�
���	��
�	�	�
���
��6	����		������ ��
	�	�
���?�:���*����
��������������
��������
���
��
�	��������*�����
.���	�
�������*� ����
� �	�
� ��
� ��
	�	�
���� 6��
������ ����� ��� ����	
�� ���� ��

�	�� ��� 
�����
� ��
���
��

��������
�
�	�73?��
�
��� 
�	��6�1	���
���?� 
�	����
� ��
�
� �����	

������� 
�	� ���	���� 
�	������	����������
���� ��
�
����
�
6	�
� ��
�
� �1	�� #� ���
�� ��� �����	�� 
�� "?� ��
�� 7��
��  � ���� /� ���������
	�� ��� 
�	� 
��� ����	
��
�	��	�
�1	
�.� 7��
� 0����
�� 
���
	�� ��� 
�	� 6��*%��%����	� ��	�� ����7��
� #����
�� 6	� 
���
	�� ��� 
�	�
�	�	�
����
������	������9������
���.���
�
�
�����	�1��	����

��		��
��6	��	%�����
���	��
��	�������
?�
��
�� �	:���	�	�
�� ��������
�������1	��	��	�� ���	�����	���	��	���������	�� 
��6	���� 
���
	�� �����	�
�	�
��
���	��;�
�����	�������	��	��1�
�������*��
��
�	�	5��
����6��
�����6	
�����������������
��
��
	�
��

�� �	��� ���
�	�� ��
	�1	�
���� ���� ��������
���� 
�� 
�	� ��6���� ��� 
�	� 	5��
���� 6��
����.��
�	JJ����	��
���
��	����	��
���������	������
������
����6�
�
�	�	���

�6	����	:���	�	�
����������
���
�

	���
�������
�	��
�����
���
��	����
�����������
�
���		
�
�	��	:���	�	�
��������
��������
��
.�

�
2
������� ������	��
����� �	�	���	���� 
�	������	� �������
���
���� �		�� ���� �������	����7�	� �
�������
���
���
���.� � ��	�	� ����
�� 6	� ��� 	5
	���
� ��	���	�
�� ����
� ����� �� ���

� �����
� ��� �����	�� 
��
����
�
�
	����
�#?�6�
�
�	�	���

�6	����	:���	�	�
�
��������	�
�	�
�	���
���6�������
�	�6��
�����
���

���
�	���	�
��
� ���������
���.� � ��	� 	5
	�
� ��� 
���� ���� ���� �
� ����
� 6	� ���
	�	�
	�� ���
�� �		��
���		����6	
�		��
�	��2������	�1�
���������	���������
��������
��
���
��
�	���
���	���
	�
��

��

��
� 
�	�	� ���
�� 6	� �� �	���	�� 
�	���
� �	��������	� ��� 
�	�� ��� �	
������� ��� ����� ��� 
�	� 	5��
����
�	�
��	�����
�	�
��
	��6��
�������������6
	.���
�
,������*���?��	����	��
����
��
�
�	�
���
��
������
���	:���	� ����*��������	��	��6	���������1��	��
;��������	�
��
��	����
�����6�6
�����������
	����	�

����
���	�
�	�6��
�������������	��
���
�
������

�	��	��6����%��
	��������*�����
�
�.�

�



�

Page 300



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 $�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

�
��	�	���	�
�����
	�
��
�����	����
���
�����������	�������������
���.�
�

 ���������
������
���� �

�
,�����	

	�������������������
�
�������	�
�	�
	

�������
�	�����1����
����
��
�	��	
1	�?�
	�1�����
�

��
�	����*	
�
���	
	����	�����������
	1	
�?����
�	��	��6�����������
	���1	�
���������������
����
�
��
�1�
�	�.� � ��	� ������
� ���
�� �		�� 
�� 	��
��� �
���� ���� �
	�����?� ����	*		����� ���� ���%
�%����
�����	�	�
����
�	�����
�
��������1	����������	�������%�����������
	����	.�
�
�
�

�
".0. .  ����
������������
����

�
�

���	�����
�������*	
���
�?��	���1	����	��	��
�	��	�
�
���
	�
��
����
����
��	�������������
���� ���
��	

	����>�

�

�

 �
��!���  ��
	"�
#������� ���	���	��$%�	�
��&	 ���
�	

'##��
�#(

��&	
���
�	

'##��
�#(

)�&	
���
�	

'##��
�#(

�����

��������������������������������

��� !����
�"��������
�"��!���#���

$ ��

	
����� 	��������� 	�
������� 	
��
�����

����


��
���%�����&����������������������

��� !�������'�(��$ ���
�"��������
�

"��!���
�

	
����� 	��������� 	�
������� 	
��
�����

����

�

���%������������������������

��� !������"���������"��!��
	������ 	��������� 	
��

���� 	
��������

�����

������%������������������������

��� !����
�"��������
�"��!��� 	������
	��������� 	
��

���� 	
��������

���
� �*+���� ���,������� ���)��+���� ���,�+�����

���������	
���
��������
��� ���
�

 �����

�

 ��	���
�

 �	���

�



Page 301



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 8�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

9��
�
� 
���� ���
�� 6	� ��� ��	�
� 
���
���� ���� �� :���*�?� ������
� �
��	� 
�� �
��?� ��
����� �	�
�
�� ��� 
�	�
��
���
�����	�����������	
�
�1	����*	
.������

���
�1���
���?�
�	���
���
����
���		��
��6	�6	��

�������

�	� 
���
���?� ��� ���	
����� �� 
�


	� ����	�	�
.� � �������� ����
	����	?� ���*	
���� ���
�� ���� 
�	�
���	�
���
�����������
��
�6��*����.�

�
 ���������
������
����/�

����

	���
�1	�
����
�����
	
�?�
�	�������
�����������	�?���6<	�
�
��
	���
�
�1	������1�
�?��	�
����
�	�
����� ���
�� ��
� ��� ��� �����	�� ����
� ��
�� 
	������ 6����.� � ��	�	� ��� ����� �	����� ���� �	�
	��
���������
���� ���� 
�	� ���*	
� ��� ����	�

�� �	������� �	�
�
� 1�
�	�� ���� ����
��� ��J	� ����	�
�	�� ���
@$"&.&&�%�@ /&&.&&����.�
�

�

 ������
�������������
����
��

(�� �	1	
������ 
���� ��
���� �
���?� �� ���6	�� ��� ������
����� ���� ����
����
�� ����
�� 6	� ��
	�� ����
���	��	��������
���������	�������
�������1	�
�	��	1	
���	�
����������	���
���.�

�
o ��	� ��
	� 23��
���4�� 5	
��  �������6� ��� 
��
	�� ��� �� ���
	� ;� �		� ������������� 
��
����

�����	�
��������
�	���������
���.�

�

o ��	�2(��� �������� )	����6� ��	��
��� �	����
	
�� 
��
	�������6��
�����;��		��������������

�����	�
��������
�	���������
���.�

�

o ��� 
�	� 6��
����� ��� 
��
	�?� �
� ��� 
�	�	���	� 
�*	
�� 
��
� ���� ��
	�1	�
����� ���	� 
��

���������
	�
�	��������
���	�	�����	��	:���	��
��6	����	���������������
��
�
�	������

6	��
���	�����A
	�������B����
��
�
�	�������
���1	�������1	��	������
����
�	�������
	��

���
�	�	5��
����6��
����.��������	����
��
����
	�����
���������	�
���

�6	��		�	������
�	�

������	�� ���*� 
�� 	����	� 
��
� �
� ��	�� ��
� ���	�
� 
�	� L��	���
� �����
	�
���
� ��� ���
�����

��
	�	�
L����
�	�����	
�6��
����.�

�

o ���������
������
��	����	�
��
�
�	��2�����������
�6
	���
��
�	��������
�?��
��������	�
	��


��
� �� ��	%���
���
�����		
������
�� 
�	� �2�� ��� �������	�� ��� ����� ��� �����6
	� 
�� ����	�


�	��� �	�����	.�� ��	� ��
���	� ��� 
�����		
������

� 
�	�� 6	

	�� ��1��	� ��� 
�	� ��
	�
��
�

���<	�
���������	.�

�

o 7�����	��
��
�	�
�	���
��	��������	����
�	�6��
�����	�1	
��	���

�6	��	:���	��������
����

����
����	���
��
�	����
�����'	��
�
�����6�
����
�	�6��
��������
��
	�?����	��
���	1�	����

�

6	� �	:���	�� ��
�� 
�	� 2
���	�?� 
�	� ����	�1�
���� �����	�?� ��	� ���
����� (���	�
��� ����

��
	�
��

��=��
�����	��
��	E���
�	��2���		����
��	�	�����F�
�����	��
���������	�
���
�����

���
�#(  ��
	"�
#������� -���%�(	����  ���
�	.�#�!�

�����

��������������������������������

��� !����
�"��������
�"��!���#���

$ ��

	��
����� 	���������

����


��
���%�����&����������������������

��� !�������'�(��$ ���
�"��������
�

"��!���
�

	��
����� 	���������

����

�

���%������������������������

��� !������"���������"��!��
	������ 	��������

�����

������%������������������������

��� !����
�"��������
�"��!��� 	������
	���������

���
� �)������� �),�������

���������	
������
��������	
������ 	
������� 	����
����

Page 302



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

 -�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

��� �	1	
���	�
� ���� 
���� 6��
����� ���� 
�� �		*� �	����
���� ���� ���� 6��
�����

���
��
���	:���	�	�
��
��
��������	���
����
�	��	:���	�	�
�����
�	����
�����
	��.�

�

o (
� ��� 
�*	
��
��
�	5��
���� �	�	�
��
����
��
�	��������
�����	
������
�6	�������	�?����	�
�	��

�	���������
�J������

��		��
��6	� ���������
	��
���

�	5��
������	�������������������

�

6	� �	
���	�� A��� ��B?� ��
�� ��� ���	��
������� ��� �� �	���	�� 
�	���
� �	��������	� ���� 
�	�

6��
�������� �����
	.��������� 
�	� �	���������
�J������� 
��
��	������
� 
���	����
�� 
�	�

�������
� ��6�������
��6	���1	�	��6�����	�
�����
	���������
�	������������
���� 
�	� 
��
	��

6��
��������
���
���.��

�

o �������	�����
��6	��

��	�������	������
��
�	�	5��
����
	���������������	�	������;�	5
	�
�


��6	��	1�	�	���������
�	��	5
����<	�
��
��	.�

�

o (��
	�������	5��
����	5
	���
���

��K��������	��?����
�	����1	�
���
������

�6	��	:���	�����


�� 	5��
� ����
���
����� 6�
� ��������� 
��
� 	5
	���
� ��

�� �����
� 6	� ������	�� �
� �

?�

������	�� 
�� 
��
� ��	��� ��

� 6	� �	�	������ ��� 	1	�� 
�	� ���������
���� ��� ���	�	��	�
�

����	��	���	�
�����E
��%��������
��	F�����6	��	�	�������
�����
��
����
	1	
�
���

������
��	�

�������	�
���������6�	�
�����������
���
�	���
�����
�
���.�

�

o (
����	����
��
��

���
	���
���

��
��
�	���	������
�	�A�������
B�����	
����	���1	�	����
����


���� 
��	�� ��� �
��
	�� ��� ����
�� ����
	�� �
��	� ��� ������� ��
	���
� ����
�
���� ����

�
��
	�6����� ���� ��
� 6	� ��� ��
���� ;� �	� ��

� �		�� 
�� �	1�	�� ��
�� 
�	�

���2
���	�����
�����(���	�
���	
�.�	��
�������.�

�

o ��	� �	�� ������	�� ����
� �
���� ����
���
���� ��� 
�*	
�� 
�� 6	� �	����	�� ��� ��� ���	�	��	�
�

�
���
��	� 
�� 
�	� ����� 6��
����� ��	� 
�� �
�� 
��
���� ;� �
���
���
� �	
��
�� ��

� 
�	�	���	� 6	�

�	:���	��
�
	��6�
��������?��
����
�*	
��
��
��
		
����
���
�
�	�
��	����
�	�	5
	���
���

����	�

�
�
��	�?������������
		
��	JJ����	��
���
��	���
��
��6	��<���
�����

.�

�

o �	JJ����	� ,
��������
���
���� ;�����	JJ����	� �
�������

� 	��	�
�1	
�� 6	� 
���
	����
����

����1����
� ���
�?� ��� �����
��� ��� 
�	���
� �	����
���� ��

� 6	� �	:���	�� ��� ���
� ��� 
�	���

����
���
���.���	�
�����
�(�
	��	���
	�,
�����	
��
����
�	�	���	�
�*	
��
��6	��
�
��	������	��

����	��
	��)	
��
���	�	�	��	�(,%&/.�

�

o (�����	���
�������
��6	���A�	����
����,
���B�
�	���	
��
�����������
	����
����
�	�'�6��
�

)	
��
�� �����	�
� A���6	�� �	����
���� ,
����B� ��

� 6	� �	:���	�� �
���� ��
�� ���� �	��

���
�
������
�����
��
����
	1	
������������
	���
		
��
���
��	.����	��
�������	��
�������
�	�

�	
��
� �
� 
�	� �
���� �	���	
	�� ��

� 6	� �	:���	�� �	�	� 
�� 	����	� 
��
� ������ 
�����	�� ���

�������	�.���

�

o �	����
����9�

�����
���
������

�6	��	:���	��6	
�		����<��	�
����
�����
�	����	��
����


	1	
.�� ����� ��

� 6	� ���1��	�� ��� �	�� 
�	� '�6��
�)	
��
�� �����	�
� A���6	�� �	����
����

9�

�B.�� ����� ���
�� �		�� 
�� 6	� 
�*	�� 
�� 
�	� ���	����	� ��� 
�	� ����� �
���
��	� ���� 6	�

�����
���

�����	���
	������
���
���.�

�

o �
�����*����
�
�������
��������1����
����
�������
��	:���	������
����	��������	?��������	�

�	��������	�����6	��	�

���
�����
�	�6�������	������
���?�������
�������$&����
		
��
���

��
�� ����
�
�������� "����
��
	�6�����
��6�
�����	������
��6	��������	�
�
�����*� ����

�

Page 303



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

/&�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

���	�.���������

��������		��
������
��
�	����	����	����
�	�	5��
����������
���
��	�?����
�	�

����	��	���	�
����;��	�	�������������
���	������
���.�

�

o 9	������	�
��
��������	�6	
������������

�6	�A�����B�����
�	��	�1��	�������	����	�	����

����
	�� 
�� ���������
	� 
�	� ������	�� �	�� ����
���� 
���
����� ������ ��� 
�	� �	�1��	��

�	���	�
��
��������
.�

�

o 9	������	� 
��
� 
�	�	5��
�������?�	
	�
����
�������
������	�1��	�� 
�� 
�	�6��
���������6	�

����
	��
�����
�
�	��������
�.�����	1�	������	:���	��6�������
������	�1��	�������

��
�6�
�

�
���������	��
��
���	��	������
	��	�
�������
	�����
��6	��
�
��	������
�	����
	�6��
�����

��
�� J��	�� �����
���	�� 
�� 	���� ���
� ���� ��6%�	
	����� ������	�.�� ����� �
��
	������
��

�
��� 6	� 	��
��	�� ��� �	��	�
� ��� �

� �
�	�� ���	�?� ��
	�?� ���
� �������	� ���� ��
��

�	:���	�	�
�.�

�

o '����
���?����*	
�?����
��	������
�	� 
�*	���

�6	� ��5	��
���	�����
�
�������

����	�	1	��

�����6
	� 6�
� ���� �		�� ��5���� 
�� 
�	� 	5��
���� 6��
����� ��6���� ��� �� ���6	�� ���

���	�.��2��	���*�������6
����	
�.� ���
�	�	���	� 
�*	
��
��6	�	5���	����������	��
��6	����

6�5	�%��.������	�
�9�%,���������
	�
��
���
�
����������
�����1�����.�

�

o ��	�	�����
��6	�����

�����	�������

����*	��������	��	
	�
�������
	���
��������
�
�	�

6��
�����;�
�	�	5
	�
�������	������
����������������
���		��
��6	����1��	��6�������
�����

�	�1��	�������

��
.�

�

o ��	�	� ����
�� 6	� ��� �

�����	� ���� �	������ 
�� 
�	� ��6���� ��� 
�	� 	5��
���� 6��
����?� �.	.� �	%

����
���� ��� 
�	� 	5
	���
� ��M��	� ��� ��	������ ��	��� ���6	?� ��� �	%��������
	��� ���*�

�6�
�	�
�������	���6����	�
����	5��
����������
	�������� ����	5���
	.����	�	5
	�
�����


�	�	���	��	
�
�1	����
����
����	
	�	�
����
���		��
��6	��	1�	�	��6�������
��������1	����

�
���
�
	���
��	�������
��������

�6��
��������1	�.�

�

o ��	�	�����
��6	�����

�����	�����
�	����
���������
�	�1��������
������	��������	������

�

�	���6�
�
�	��;�
�	�	�����6	������	������
�������
��6	������
		
�A����
�	���	
�B�������
��

�	�	��

�?� 6�
� 
���	� ������ ����� ���	��� ����� �������
� ����	�� 
�� ����1����
� ���
�� ���

6	
�		�� �	����
	� ���
�� ��

� �	:���	� ���	�%�������� ���� �����
���
�	���
� 6�������� 
��

����	1	�
�	��	
	1��
������
����������	��	��������	��	:���	�	�
�.�

�

o 9	� �����	� 
��
� �������
� ��	��� ��� 
�	� ������	�� 6��
�������

� ���������
	� 
�	� 	5��
����

�
���� ������	�?���������	�����	�

��1���6
	?����� 
��
� ����1����
����
����

� ���������
	��	��

����	
�
�
	��
��������
.�

�

o '	1�	�� ��� 
�	� �
�
	� ��� 
�	� 	5��
���� �
���� ������	�� ���� ����
�������	� ��� 
�	� �	���6���	��

9�+������
��6	������	����
�6�
� ���������	������	� 
��
� �

�����
�������	�������6��
	�

���
	�����	�
��6	��	�
��	��
��������	���
���������
�����%�
���1���
��
�������
��������
�

E���
������
�	�*�
��	����	�F.�

�

o ��	� *�
��	�� ��	��� ������	�� ���
�� �	�	��

�� ���
���� �������� ����
�
�	�� ���������
����

�����	���		J	�?��������1	?����*�	
�.����������	:���	�
�	����������
�������������	�����	�.��

��	����I���
�������
���	:���	������	�����	����
�*�
��	������
�
�����	1	�.�

�

Page 304



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

/ �
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

o �� �	�� 1	�
�
�
���� ���
	�� ��

� 6	� �	:���	�� 
��������
� �

� ���	�	�� 
�� ���1��	� 
�	�

�	:���	���
�����
	�� ����
�	�9������*�
��	����	���6�
��
���
�����1��	� 
�	��	:���	������

�����	������	����6����	����	���	�
��
����
.�������
������	�1��	�������

��
�����
���	1�	��

6�
���
	�
��

�� ���N�'����
	��
��	�������
�����6	��	:���	�� 
������	1	� 
���?� ���������


��
�
�	��	���������
�J��������	5��
�����	�	�
��
�������
	�����	���%��	��6
	�
��������
.�

�

o =5
	���

�?� �	� �����	� 
��
� 
�	� 	5��
���� ���� ���*���� ������	�	�
�� ���� 
�	� 6��
����� ��	�

���	�
�6
	�������:���*���	�*��������
�2
�������2�
�����
�
	�� �����	��	��/"�/���������
��


�	� ����	����
� ���
� 	:��
	�� 
�� /!� ����	�?� ���� ���� �	���	�
��
H� ��	� ����	� �	��

6	�����.�� 9	� �����	� 
�	�	���	� 
��
� 
�	� 	5��
���� ���� ���*� �	� 1���
	�� �	��� 
�� 
�	�

6��
�������

�������	�
�����������
	�
�	�����	�
��	:���	�	�
���
���
���������
���.�

�

o ��	�	���

�6	�����

�����	����� ����	���6
	����*��������	��	��/&�����	�����1��	�� ����

�

��	�������;�
�����	:���	�	�
�����6	����������
	����<��	�
�
�	�6��
������
�	
�.�

�

o 9	� ��1	� ���	� �

�����	� ���� �����		
� ��
	?� ������*� ���� ����
� 	�
����	� ������	� ��
��

��6

	�������������
���
������������6�

�����	
�.�

�

o =5
	���

�?� �	� ��1	� ���	� �

�����	� ���� ��������
����� 
�� 	5��
���� ��	��� ��� �����


�����������
������
�
�
	�
�	������	������	�;������	�����	�	�	5��
������	��
�������
��
����


��6	��	��1	��	
�.�

�

�

�

 ��������������
�	�����	����
���
�����;�2��������������

�

(�� ���	�� 
�� ���1��	� 
�������	���� ��� ���	���	�
� ��� 
�	� 1������� ��
����?� �	� ��1	� �	1	
��	�� ���
���	���	�
���
��5���	�	6�?� 	���� ��
���� ���� 6		�� ����	�� 6�� ���	��	�6	��� ��� 
�	� �
�	�
� �	1�	��

	��.����	�
	����	��	�	�
��2���	�
������=�
�
	�?��	��
�?����
?�2
�������������	��
�������
���.�
�
�� ����������� 
�	� �������� ��� ���
��	�� 6	
��� ���� 
���� 	�
�6
���	�� 
��
� 
�	� ��	�	��	����
���?� 6��	��
��������		�����
	���?�������	5
	����6	�����<��
������	����
����	���	�
��������
�	�	5��
��������	
��
��
6	��	���	

	��
�����1��	���9�*	�����������
�����	�1��	������
�
�.�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�

� �

Page 305



�������

���	�
�	� �	

��	��

��������	
���
���
�����
��	����
�	�
������	�����
�	���
�	��
������	����
��

����������������	����
����	��

�����
����
	�����
��������������
�	�

�������	���������	�������������
���

�������	���������	���������������
����
���������
�	�

 ���!�����������"����������	���
�	��
��
�	���	���
������

��������	
���
���
����	����
	��	�����
����������
����	�������	��
����	���

����	����

�������������
�������
��
�����������	����

�������������
�����	"�	������
��	��������
�����	��
��
����������

����!
��������	
�	��������
�����	��
�����
�	
�����	���

 ���#�
�����	����
�����
��	���������	��
��
��	������$���������������

�
�����	�	��
���
�	�	���
��

%���&���
������
���
�����	���������	�������
��	�������	
��������������

��������	
���
���
����	��������	���
������	
���	
�	�������	�����
��

����������	���������'�
��������	�������	�������������
�������	����	��������

����(
��
�����	�������	����
������	���������	�

���)
�������������	��������	�����������������

����#�	���������	��������������	�

����
	�����
����	

 ���&���
��������	����
����'���	�

����
	���	��
"���������	

%���*������������	����
�������
�����
���������	�����������

��������	
���
���
����	��������	���
����������	
���	
�	�������	�����
��

����������	����������

����(
��
�
�	������������	����
����

���������������	���������

����)
�������������	����������������������

����#�	���������	������������
�������	�

����
	�����
����	

 ���&���
��������	����
����'���	�

����
	���	��
�
�����������	

%���*������������	����
�������
���+���,���	����������
��
���
����
���

��������	
���
���
������������
�������������
��	�������	��������������������

������	����	
��
	��	������	
��������
��	�������������
�	�������	����

�����
����	�

����(
��
����
����
�������������	����

����-��	��������	�������	���	��������	��
���
���
�����.�����
������
��

	��������
�����	/

����(�
���������	����

 ���-�
�
��
�����
����������������
�	��
������

%���-�
�
��
��������	��������
����
�	��
�������

��������	
���
���
�������	����
��������������������	
��
�������	�����

������	�
���

�����
����
	�����
���
���
�	����	��	
��
�������
��	���

����&�������	��	�����	���
�������
��	���

����-��	�������
�	��
��������
���
�������
��	���

 ���)������	
����	�����������	�
��

%���,
�	����	�����
��

���

�	�
����������	
��
�������
��	���

��������	
���
���
����	����
	��	�������+�
��	����
������������	������������

��
�	�
��	�������������
	��	������������

����#��+�
���
��
��������������
�	����	���

�����#��+���������

����#��+�����
���
������

 ���#��+�����������

%���0���	�
����+

��������	
���
���
����	����
	��	�������+�
��	����
������������	�����
	�������

�������������
��
	��������
��1�����������
�����"�
�	����	��
������
��������	����

�
��	�	�
��
�����+�	��	��	����������������������
�	"���
�������
�	�����
���

���
�������������

����#��+�
����������������
�	����	���

�����#��+���������

����#��+�����
���
������

 ���#��+�����������

%���0���	�
����+

��� ��% ��% ��2 ��%

!
	��

����	�������	��

��3��������������������
�����
���������
��
�����������
���
����������	�
���

��3�����
���������������������������
���	�����������	�������	
����
�������������
�	����
�����	���������	�����	
���������������������	������

����� ��2��4��2

��2

��
�����������	�
�	�

��5��4��4

��6

��
�������	�
�	� ��4

�� �� 

�� 

������

��4

�����
���� �����	��

�
���	����


��4������

�� 

!��"�#�����
��
�

�� ������

��4

 �
������

$%������
��&�������


�����
����

'���	�������


����
�
(

 �6

��2 �4

��5

��2��2

��5

 �
������

$%������
��&�%�
�����


�����
���'���	�������


����
�
(

&%��!���"����(

��5��2��2

��6

$����������	��

)��	
�

�� ��4��4

*+*,+-.�/0�� "	���
� �����
�	����������

�

�����������	���1	���%

���������	�
����

�

��������������
��	�����

��	�
�����������

����������������������
�

��
�,�������7�	�
���	�
�

)89"80:"�;�4;%"�23�"#��
�	��&����

����������������������
�
���������
������

��	�������
�

���������
������

�������
��	���
�

-��� -��� -��� -��� -���

)�����	�
�	���	
�����
���)2���#����/���� $$#�!)/3��� /������$��1$�/

4�
���

�5��0�"

&%��0���"����(
��2

��

Page 306



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

/0�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

!.& ����
����
������������	��
����������	�	1	
���	�
����
�	�����	
��

 ��	��	��
����
	5
�

�

'	�	����� 6�� 
�	� ������
+�� 2���	�
�� ���� ���	
� �����	�	�
� 
	��� ���� ������ 
��
� ���
� ��� 
�	�
�	�	
	����������	���
	��������.�����
������	���
	���������6	��	:���	��
��6	���	�����������	��
���
������	?�
�	�
������

��		��
��6	��	����	���
	��6��
�	�����������4
���	�
	������	�����������

�6	�
�	:���	�.�9	���1	���
����	�	�:����	�����
�	�������+�������	�����	�	����	�������	������������
��6	�
����
	��E	.�.�6��
�	���������	��	
��������	��
	����
���
�����
F�������	�����	�
�
������������	����
��
����
	��
���
��	.��
�
��	�����
���
����
�	��E�	�	
	��	�F����	�� -$$����
��������1���������
�	���	����������	�	�
����
�	�	
	��	����������

��		��
��6	� 
�*	�� ��
��������
���	��������	��������������	��
��
�	�����	�
�
����	?����
���
��
��
�	���
���������	���	�
��
���������	����������
����6	����	��
�������������
����	��	�
���	��
�	����	�.�
�
���� 
	��	�� ����
	�� ��

� �		�� 
�� ����
�� ��
�� 
�	� �	:���	�	�
�� ��� �	�
����  /0� ��� 
�	� ����
�
4�1	���	�
���
� -$/��	��������
�	�������	��
�����	�	�1	������
�	�
	��	�.�
�
9	� ����	�
� 	�
	����� ��
�� 	��
�� ������������ ��
�� 
�	� ���	������ ��
����
�� �
� ��� 	��
�� �
��	� ��� 
�	�
������
��	:���	��
�	���*	�����
�
�	��
��6	��6
	�
���	�1	��������
���
����
.�

� �

Page 307



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

/#�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

$.& ��	�,�������
�(������
����

 ����
�
����
��

9	���1	���
��
�
	��
�	�����
�
����
�	5�	���
��	�����	������
���.���������
�
����
��
������	����
��	��
������	���5��.�4�1	��
�	�1	���
���
	���	������������
�����1��
�6
	�����
��*�����	
��
�����
�	�	5��
����
����
�
�?��	���1	����	������6	�����������
�������	����	��������������
�.���	�	�������
���������
��
6	��	1�	�	������	
��
�������	��
����

�����	��
����
�	����
.�9	���������	�
�	�*	������
�������

���>�
�
��	� ���
�� ��	� 6��	�� ��� �� ���%����	� ��	������
���� ���� �����	�� 
�	� 	5��
���� ����
�
�� ��� �
���
���

��
�����.�

o ��	����
�������
����
��	�����������	��
��	5��
��������������	�1��	�����������
���
��	�

�����1	�����.�

o ��	� ���
�� �

��� ���� ���1	�� ���� �	��1�
� ��� ���	� ������ ��6	�
��� 6�
� �	� �����	�

�	�	��

��
�	�	�����������������
�
	1	
������6	�
�����	�	�
�����
�	�����
�����
����

o ���� ���
�� ���
���� ���1������
� �

�����	�� ���������� �	������ 
�� 
�	� 	5
	���
� ��M��	�

6�
�
�����������	�

����
�:���
���	�.������1	�����
��6	��	:���	��
�������
�������
����

o �������
�����
��	�������
	���
��	���������
�J��������	����	��	��6��
�	��	�����
	���

o ���� ���
�� ���
��	� ���������� 	5
	���
� ���*�� E�	�� ������	?������� �	�����F� �����	�

�����	�
�	�	5��
�����������*������

��	�	��

���	����������.�

o 9	���1	������	��
��
�
	���
����

����1��	������	�
���	������
��	.�

o �������
�������
����
��	��������������
���	�������	��

o 9	������	�
��
�
�	����<	�
���

�6	���6<	�
�
��������	
�
�1	�
	��	������������������	�

/& -�����
��
�
�	����*����

�
�*	�6	
�		��/&�;�/"��		*�.��

�

9	���1	����	����	�	��
��

�����	������	�����������	���� �		������	

��������
���
�����	
�
	�����*��
�

������ �
� ����
��6	���
	�� 
��
���1	�� 
�	� 
��*���� �������
�����	
�
	�� 
�� 
�	�6��
�����������1	�� �
��

��
	�� �
�
��� 
�	�	� ��� �� ���
�	�� ��:���
���	�� ���*� ��� 1������	� 
�� 
�	� �

���
	�� ����
���
���� ���*�
�

�����	.�9	��	����	���
��
����	����
	�����	���6	����	�
�*	��
���	1�	��
�	����<	�
����	����*��
�����	1�	��
�	��		��
�����
��������
������6���.�
�
9	����
���
����	����	���
��
�
�	��		��
�����
�������	���
�1�
�����
�����
��
�	������	��6	����
�	��
�	1�	�	��6��
�	����<	�
�
	���
���	
	����	�
�	�1��6�
�
�����
�	����	�	���	��
�	�����
�
��������
	�

��	����
����	���6<	�
�
���	���
�1�
����<��
�	�
�.�
�������
����*	�����

�����	����������
�	�
����	�
��		��������
�.�

�

 9��
	����	����
��

��	� ���
	� 
��	� ���
�� ���� 
���� ���	�	� ��	� �������	�� ��� 
��		� ���
�.� ��	� ����
� ��� 
�	� ����
�
�
����
���
�������
������	���������������
�	�����
�
����
��
���.���	��	��������
����
�	����
	�
��	����
�
���������%
	1	
�	�
���
	����
�	�
��	����
	����
�.�

�

 ���	����
	����
�

��	� 
��	� ���
	� ���
�� ��	� 6��	�� ��� 
�����
� �

� ��� ��
	�� ���� �� �
������� 
	1	
� ��� ��<��� ���� ������
����
	����	?����	��
	�����������	��
	���	������
��6�
��6��
�������6���������	�1��	�.��61����
�?��	�
��1	���� �������
����������
���
��

���	:���	������
	����	��������
�6��*
�������
	����	�
�	�	� ���
6�
� 6�� ������ �� 
�����
� A�

� ��B� ��
	� �	� ��	� �6
	� 
�� �	��1	� �� ��	��
� ���
� ���	
� 
�� ����
�
�
	� 
�	�
������
�����������1	��

����
	�
��	����
����	
.��
�
��	� 
��	� ���
	� ���
�� ��� ��
� ���
��	� ������������
	����	� ����	� �����	?� ��1	�� 
�	� 
���
���� ��� 
�	�
����
�
�?� 
�	�	� ��� �
�	���� 	5��
���� ������������
	����	����*� ��� �
�	�� 6���	
�.����	1	�?� ��1	�� 
�	�
1	���
���
	����
��	����
�	�	5
	���
����*��
����������
���������
�*	
��
����1	���������������
������
����
���
�.�

Page 308



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

/"�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

9	���1	���
�6		����1��	��6����	

	�������������������
���� ������	�������������
��
������� 
	��
�
���
�����
�	�	���	�	5�
��	�����������
��	����
	����
�.�9	���1	��

��	�������
�
�
�	�����
�������
	������
���
����	�	�
�	�	��	�1��	����	�
��6	����1��	��6��
�	�������
�����
�	��	�1��	����
����.�
�
,���
�	���*	�����
�
�	����
����E#����
�F��	���1	���
���

��	�������
	�����������
�
�
�	�����
�	��������
���
�.�9	���1	��
��������	��
��
����	��
�	���*	�����
�
�	����
���������
	����	���

�6	����	���
���
�

�	�	��������
	��	�E����
���?�
�	�����
	����	�����	����������"����� &%�	������
	�F.�
�
�����	� �	
��
	�� ����	�
���� ��� 
�	� 
��	� ���
	� ���
�� ���� 	���� ��
���� ��� ���
��	�� ��� �������
	� 
��	�
���	
����
��	��������	���5��.�
�
���������
� ���
������0."G�����6		����	�� 
����
��
�
	� 
�	�C2N� ����	������
���������

� ���
�� E6�
��
����
�
?�
��	������	1	��	F���	��������
���	�	�
�1�
�	.�(���1����
��������
����
������1	�6		��
�*	�������

�	� ��� ��	�����+�� 4�		�� ���*� ��������
� ���� =1�
��
���� ��� �	�
��
� 4�1	���	�
� 
�� ��1	� �	��
��
�������
����
���.�

�

 '	1	��	��

2���

� ����	� ���� ���1��	�� �	�
�
� �����	�� ���� 	������
���.� '	�
�
� 1�
�	�� ��1	� 6		�� ���
�
	�� 6�� ��
����	����
����
�
�����	��	�
��	����/G���������	���	��������
���	�
	�
���
�����
	�����	������	�
.�
�
'	�
�
� 1�
�	�� 
�*	� ��� 
�� ������
� 1���� 
���� �	
�
	�� 
�� ���������� 
	1	
�� ��� �	

� ���
������ ���� ��

��
�	�1��	�� ���
�� ���� 
�	� �����	�� ���� 6��
�:�	� �
�
	� ���������
���.� ��	���*	� ����
�
�	�� �	�
�
� 1�
�	��
�

��� ���� 
�	� 
	���
�� ���1����������
	����	?� �	�����?� �
	�����?� ���� �
�
�
�	�� ������� 
�	� 
	��	� �	�����
E��
��
�	�	5�	�
�����������������
�F.�
�
�������
��
�������
����1	��
���6		�����
��	�����
��
�	��	�
�
�1�
�	�.��
�
��	� �	�
�
� 1�
�	�� ���� 
�	����
�:�	� �
�
	� ���������
���� �	�
	�
� �	
�%��
	����� ������	�	�
�� ���� 
�	�
��
�����
	
��������	�6��	�������������	���������������8&G.��

�

 2��6��*��	
�����	������

��	����
	� 
��	����	
�������
�	���

���������6��*��	
�����	���������
�	� ���
��
� ��1	�
�	�
����� 
��	�
���
������
���	����	�	�?��������	�	��
	��������
>�
�
9�*	�����
�
�	��#����
�� � �	���/ �
9�*	�����
�
�	��0����
�� � �	��� "�
�����	����
���	JJ����	� �������������	��� 8�
���
�:�	��
�
	���
�����
	
�� �	��� "�
�
��	��6�1	�������
��
�
�	���*	�����
�
����
��0����
��6	�����
����*	��������
�������	��� #��������.�
���������������
����	�
��
�	��	���	��
��	����
�����
�������	�	���	�
��
�	�6��
�����6	������

���	���	��
��
�� 
�	���<���
�� ��� 
�	� 
��	� ���
�� ��

���� 
�� 
�	� 
	���
�� E������ ��� �	�
	�
	�� ��� 
�	� �	���	�� �	�
�
�
1�
�	�F�
�
(
�����	������	��
��
�
�	����6��*��	
�����	��������������	��	��	�	�
�������������
�
��	���1	�
�	�
�6��

�	� ������
� ��
�
� �����
�6�
�
�� ��� �		�.������ ��
��
���� ���� 6	� �����1	�� ��� 
�	� ����
�
� ��

��� ���
�� ��	�
�	���	�.���������
�� ��1�
1	���A
���
�
����B��	���6����	�
����
�	�	5��
��������
�
�	������	�
��
�������
�	�
�	
���� ��
�.� ���	1	�?� ��1	�� 
�	� 
	1	
� ��� �	����� �������
���� ���� *���
	��	� ��� 
�	� 	5��
����
6��
������ �	� �����
?� �
� 
���� �
��	?� ��1	� ���� ������	��	� 
��
� �� 
���
� 
����� �	���	� ��� �����6
	.� ,���
	5���
	?� �� ����������
� 	
	�	�
� ��� 
�	� ����
�
� ���
�� �	
�
	�� 
�� 
�	� ������
���� 
��
� 	5��
���� �	�1��	��
���
�

�
�������

��	:���	�����������
�������	�
�����������
	�
�	������	�����	���	�
��
�����*	�����
�
�	�.��
�
���������
���
�6	�
�	����	�6�
���
���
��	
��
	�����1	�����*��	������
���������
���.���	�	���	�����
���
����	�6��	�������A����
	�
������	����	B����	�����
�
����
���	������

�

Page 309



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

/!�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

 ���
	�����
���������
�

��	����
	�����
� �������� 6	
��� ������ 
�	� �1	��

� �	�����
� 6�
���	� �
� /"� �	���� ���� 	���� ��
����
���
��	�� ��
���� 
���� �	���
� 
�*���� ��
�� ������
� 
�	� 	5�	���
��	� ������
� 
�	� �	1	��	.� � ��	�
	5�	���
��	�����	������
����������	�������
�	�����
���
��������
�
����
�����
�	�
��	����
	����
���1	����
/"��	����	���������
�	��	1	��	�������	�
	�
�������
�	����<	�
	���	�
�
������	�����	������
���.�
�
���	�����
�	���������
����
����?� 
�	����
�:�	��
�
	���
������	
���
�����	�	�1	��
�	� 
���	�
��	
�����
�
@$0/*��
�/"��	������
���������
��	�	��
	��������	��� "��������.�
�
��	�	� ��� �� 
���	� ���
� ����	�	��	� 6	
�		�� 
���� ���� 
�	� ���
�:�	� �
�
	� 2	����	�
� �	
� ������ ����
�	��

	�������
���	�
������������5.�@ �.�
�
�
�
�

�

� �

Page 310



����������	�
�����
�
�	���

��������

����������	��
�
��	��
����
�����	����	����	�����

��������	�
����	


��������	 
�� �
� ��� ��� �
� �
�

�������	���	�����
�������	�����	

�����

��
���
�	�����	

�������	���

��
���
�	�����	

 �
������	���

��!�	����������	�"	


�����

��!�	����������	�#	


�����

$%& ���������	�

$%$ ''()&&&														 *+*)&&&														 $)$$*)&&&											 $)$$*)&&&											 *,()&&&														 *,*)&&&														

$%+

$%+%$ ��-�
	.	����
	�� ��������	.	�� ��
	�/��
��	.	0�
1�����	 #&2)+2&														 #,()"2+														 #'+)+2(														 #'+)+2(														 +")*22																 +"),,$																

$%+%+ 3���
����� $2)&&&																 $,)"*+																 $*)+,#																 $*)+,#																 $2)",#																 $2)2'*																

$%+%# 4
�
���	�����������	��5��
����	���
���	��
����	�����	����������	��	��
���� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65��

$%+%" �������� $(+)$'*														 +$&)(#"														 $,')''*														 $,')''*														 +2)#*+																 7																					

$%+%2 8�������� $,&)22,														 +"')",2														 +#+)#*,														 +#+)#*,														 +,)*+#																 7																					

$%+%( 9�������
�����	��5��
���	7	���
���	��	�� �
���	��
����	�
����� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65��

$%+%' ����
	�����	��5��
���� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65��

���������������	������ ������������������� �� �!�������������� ������������������� ������������������� ��!����������������� ��������������������

+%& "�#����

+%$ $)""")$&,											 +)&(*)#,"											 +)('$)#$(											 *2+)2++														 $)$(&)&'*											 $)"2')2&&											

������"�#������$�� ������������������� !��%&�������������� !�% ��������������� &'������������������ ���%��������������� ���'&��������������

�'����� �%%����  �!���� ����&%����� �%&���� '������

����������������������������������������� ��� :��	��� ���	� ����	0�
��;;;%

9<=><��>$($2(">$'7&>�� �
��	?��
�;;;

"��������(����)�����!'�
��	���$�*�������+���#��(����)����,�-�����(	�).���

�����

�����	�
���	�����

����	�����	�����������	�����

������	?������

��

$	��	$

++>&+>+&$'

P
age 311



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

/8�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

8.& )	
�1	�����
�	���	�	��	����
�
�����
�

 ��	��	5
��
��	��

7������������
������� 
�	���	�	��	����
�
��������6��	������� 
�	�������
���� 
��
��� �	���������	
�
��

�6	������1	����������
���
�����������	�

����
��
�	��	������	
?�
�	���
���

�6	������6
	�
���
����
�	1	
���	�
���� 
�	� �	���	

������� 
�	�	5��
��������	
�� ��� 
��
�6�
�����<	�
����1	
��
� �������1��	�
	�����	��������	
�1	��.�
�
��� 
����	��?��	���1	���	���	�������

��	���������	?������� ��	�
���	�� 
�	������ 
	1	
� ��
�1�
�	�� ����

��	
��	�
����������	1	
���	�
����
�	�	5��
��������	
���	���	

�������<	�
.�

�

 ���	�����
�	�2��<	�
�

��	�����	���� �	���6����	�
���

��		�� 
��6	����	��

�� ������	�	�?� 
��	����	� 
��
� 
�	� ����
�
�	�����	��
���
�6
	����������
����
��
���	�	�
�������
	�	�
�����������
����	�
�
���
����
�������6
	�������	��?�
���
�
��
�
�	����	�
��	?������������
�	����
�
��
�	��
�	�
.�
�
(
� ���� 6	� ��	��
� 
�� �	�	����� ����
��� ����
�
�	�?� 
�� �	���	� 
�	� 6	�
� ����
����
� ���� �	�
�	
��� 6��	�.� (��
����
���?� �		*���� ����	�
� ���� �����

�
���� ����� ��
	�
��
� ������	��� ���
�� 	����	� 
��
� 
�	�
���������
�������1��	��
�	����
����������
	�
��	���������	.�
�
������	��
���� �		��� 
�� 6	� ��1	�� ��� 
�� ���� 
�	� 6��
���������
� ������
� 
�	� �		��� ��� �� 1���	
�� ���
6��
����� ������	��?� ����� ��� J������ ��� �	�1��	�?� ���	��� 
�� 
�	� 1������� ����
�
�	�� 6�� ����	�	�
� 6��
�����
��	�����������
	����	��������	������	�.�
�
��� �	1	
������ �� �����	�	���1	� 6��	�� ������ 	�
�6
���	�� 	5�	�
�
����� 6	����� 
�	� ����
���
����
��
�1�
�	�?� 
������

� 	����	� 
��
� 
�	� �	%���	

	�� ����	
�� ��	�	�
���� ��
	�	�
���� �������
��� 
���
����

��
���
��
���
������
������
�������������
%�����������

	��
����.�
�

 �����1�
������4�1	�����	�

��	�	5��
������1	�����	����������1�
������	�����

�6	�����
	������
�������<	�
.�
�

 ������	������	�1��	�

��	� ��

��	� ��������	� ���� �

��	�� ���� ���	� �
	5�6�
�
�� ���� ����
	
���� ��� 
�	� �	�� ����	
�?� ��

�
��������������������	��
�������
�	���	��
��������
�����	������	�1��	.��(
������
���
�
�
�	��	������
�
��
������

�����1��	������
����������	�1��	�
��
�
�	��	���	

�������
�	�����	
������
������	��	.�
�
���	1	�?��
�����
��6	������6
	�
���
�������<	�
��	1	
���	�
���
��
�	�����
	
�������
�	��	������	
��
���
��
���
�����������	
��?����*����������		�����	�
�	�	5��
��������
�
�	����	�1���
	���������
���	��
��� �	�1��	.� ����� ��������� 	����	�� 
��
� ��
	�
��
� ����	����
� �	
���� ���� 
�	� 	5��
���� ����	
�� ���
����
�

��	�����
�	�	��
�	�
������
���
�.�
�

�
�
�

� �

Page 312



����������	���
���	��
���
����	

�������	���������

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
	

��



�
�
�

�


�

�
��

�
�
�

�


�

��
	

�


�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
	

��



�
�
�

�


�

�
��

�
�
�

�


�

��
	

�


�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
	

��



�
�
�

�


�

�
��

�
�
�

�


�

��
	

�


�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
	

��



�
�
�

�


�

�
��

�
�
�

�


�

���� ���� ����

��������	���	���
���

�����	��
	������
������
�

�� ������
�!�"�#�	�
����
$��	

����
�$��	���	�
$�������	$

�� ������
�%�"��
�

��
���
$��	

�����$$��	��&��
�		�	�����
������	

�
�		�	���������
��
����

����&������	��&��
�		�	���
��$��	

�� ������
�'�"�(
�)	���
��
$��	

�� ������
�*�"�����
�$����	��	����	$�������	

+�	���
�

(��	$����	��&��
����
$

��������	���������������
������	� 	!"������	���
���

�����	��
	������
������
�

�� ������
�,�"��
�$���
��������
�������	

�� ������
�!�"�#�	�
����
$��	

����
�$��	���	�
$�������	$

�� ������
�%�"��
�

��
���
$��	

�����$$��	��&��
�		�	�����
������	

�
�		�	���������
��
����

�������	�
��
�		�	���������
��

�-�	�


����&������	��&��
�		�	���
��$��	

�� ������
�'�"�(
�)	���
��
$��	

(
	�
���
����

�����	��
	���&����	�#�	�������

�� ������
�*�"�����
�$����	��	����	$�������	

+�	���
�

(��	$����	��&��
����
$

���
.�()
$
����
�	
���������
$��$$��
�����������	�
�������
�
	������
����
	��)
�	����
��&��)
�����
��$��	��
�$�
��$����$��&��)
�
/�$��	���)��

$��	������	�$0�

���# ���$ ���% ���& '�(���

���",1

���",2

���",3

!*�,,�!4,5

,,�4'�!4,2

42�42�!4,2

,2�,!�!4,1

��������	
����
�����
���

������������������ �!	��"
��#���	

$%

���",3

���",1

P
age 313



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

0&�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

-.& ��������
�
���	�������
�	����	���	�
�����������
�������
����
�����	���
?�
�	�����	����
��	%��	����
�	�	5��
����
����	
����	�����1��	�����

	���
�1	����������
��6�
������
��������������
	�
����
�	�	�4���	�((�
��
	��
����	�
�	�.������������
������1��	����������

��	1	��	.����	��	1	��	������
�
�*	
��
��6	��������	�
�
��
�����
�	����
��������
���
�������	���	���������	
.��
�
���	1	�?� 
�	� 6����	��� ���	� ���� �	1	
������ 
�	� �	����� ����	
� �		��� 
�� ������	�� ���	� 
���� 
�	�
���	���
	� ��������
� �����
�	�
� 
������
���
.� ���	�	���	������6	��������%��������
� ������	��
�����
�������
������
�	��	�
�	��	���������	��
������
���
����	���������	
.�
�
�� ������


���6��
��6�
������	
������

��	���
����

�6�
���	���	�
�	�����
���
�������
�������

��
���	����	�
��
�
	�����	�����������
���
���� �����5����	�.� � (�� 
�	�
�������	
����	�6��

����
����	����
	����<	�
�?�
�	��

�	�	���

�6	������������
����
	�����	��	�������
�����
�	��	��������<	�
?���	�
������
����
���	
��������
���
������	5
	��	��
��	������
	.�
�
(�� 
�	��	���������	
� ��� ����
���
	���
��� ��
��	� 
��	?�
�	������
���
������
�1�
�	����

�������
���	����

�	� ����
��	������	
.������������	��������
��	�E���6	�!�;�8����
��F?���	

	�������������������
�
���
�� 6	� �6
	� 
�� ���	�� �� �	���	�� �	�1��	� ������
�� ����� 
�	� �	
���	�� ��	��
����
� 4���	� ((� 
��
	��
����	
?� ��� 
�����������
���
�������*��������
� 
���
� 
�	� �	
���
������� �������� 
�� 
�	��	����	��
����
����
�
�	�.���
�
(�� 6�
�� ����	
�� ��	� ����
���
	�� �
� 
�	� ���	� 
��	?� 
�	�� 
�	� ����	�
� ��	���� 6�
��4���	� ((�����	
��
���
�����
���	���
�
���

�
�����	������	�1��	�
��
�	��	������
�
�	�.����	�	����
��6	���������	�
������	�

��������
������	�1��	����	��
������	�
��
�	�
�.��'	1	��	�
	1	
�����
�����
���	�������	���
.�
�
�� +"��
,*��������


(
� ������
� �����
��
�
��
�
�	��
�	�
�	5�	��	��	��	�����������
�������
�	�����		���������6
	.����1����

����	����
	�����	
�
���
�������������	����	�������������������
�	������
��
�����
	��
�	��������1����

���	
���
	��������*.��
�
��������
��6	����
�	������
���
	��6�����	���������	��������
���
�������*�?����������
����1�
1	����
��
	�����	
���
����6	���	���

��	
���
����
����
����	������	
����	�.���	�	�������*�
��
�
�	���
	���
�����

�	� 6	�	�1	�	�
� �	�1��	� ���	�� ���
�� 6	� ����
����	�� ��� 
���
����� ���� �����	�� �	�	� ��
� �	

�
���������
	�����������	�����
��
��
�	�
������
������

���	�.��(
����1	����������

�
���
�����	��	�
�1	
��
�����	�����1����
�+��	�����	�
�������	?�������	����
��������6	�6	�������������
��
.�
�
�� -�.
"�
�%
���
&�����	
"����


����	
������	�4���	�((� 
��
	������	
� �����
��
�	���	����
�	�1���
	������	�.� ���	�	����
��6	����	�
����
�
���1	�
�	�
��	:���	��
�������1	������	���6����
�	�����
�������	
.����	�	����*�����
��������
�

�	���	����
�	��	
���	������	
?��������	��������
��	?���	�
������	������	�	������1	����
�����1	�	�
.�
�
��	��	%��	��������1���
	������	�����
��6	�
���
	��6��
�	��	:���	�	�
�
���6�	�1	�:��	
������	���	��
��1	�	�
� ������� �	�1��	�.� � ��	�	� ��� ���*� 
��
� 
�	� ����	� ���
�� �	����� 	��
�� ��� ��	�� 6�� ���
�	��
�	���
�	�
��������	�����	?����������
����
��	�	��
	������	1	��	�
��������
�������������
	����	�
���
�����
�	�4���	�((�
��
	������	
�.�
�
�� ,��������
���
�
�����
�����&�����
���&���
�%%��


��	�	� ��� ��� �����
���
�� 
�� 	�����	� 
�	� 	5��
���� 6	�	�1	�	�
� �	�1��	� ���	�?� 
������� �	�� ����	
��
����
�
�	�� ���� �����1	�� ���*���� ��� �	

� ��� ���	����� ��� ��
	?� 6	�	�1	�	�
� �	
�
	�� �	�1��	�?� ����� ���
�
��	��?� �
��	������������9�*	�����
�
�	�.� �9�
�� 
�	� ������
���� 
���
� ���	��
����	�
���?� 
���� ���
��
���	����	

	����������:�	���	%�
���6	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	����	�?�
��
����
�	���	���	����5�	
������
�	�
����
�	�.�

Page 314



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

0 �
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

��	� ����	����
� ��	� ��� 
�	� 	5��
���� ����	
�� ��

� 6	� ����
����	�� 6�� 
�	� 
	��
�
�	�� ��� �	1	
������ ��
����	����
� 	�
	�����	� 
��
� ��	��
	�� ��� ����������
�� 6�
�� ���
� ���� ����	�
� ��	���� 
�	� �	�	
	��.�
9��
�
� 
�	� 
	��
� ����
����
�� ��� ��
� ���	��� 
�� 6	� ���������
�6
	� ����	�?� �
����
�� 6	� �	�	������ 
��
�	1	
���
�	�	�������	��	
��
�6	���	������

����
�������	���	

�������
�	�����	
�.�
�
(���������
	?�
�	�����	
������6	��������

���	���	

	��
�����1��	����������
	����������
��������
�	�
��	�	��	������	����
���	���
�������� �	
���
� ��� 
���� �	���
.���	����
� ���
�	��	�
�1	� ��
�
���� ��� 
��
����
������������1	�
�	�	5��
������
	������
��
	
�����
�
�	����������	����	�6��
�	��	���������
�.�����
��	�
	� ����1����
� ���
�?� ��

� �	:���	� 	5
	������ ���� J������ ��� �	�1��	�?� ������ ���
�� ����	��	�
�	���	

�������
��6�
���
��	�	�����
��	����	�����	��	�������	.�
�
(���������?�
�	�6	�	��
���������%6	�	��
���������
���
����
�	��	���������	
��
�
�	����	�
��	����
�	�
����
� �	�� ����	
� 	5
	��� ���� 6	����� 
�	� ��������
� ���
���
����.� � ��	� ��
��
� ����	����
� ��	� ��� 
�	�
	5��
��������	
�� �����
� 
�*	
�� 
���	���	�����
����
� �����	��������	�
� 
��������
� 
�	�����
����
� ����
�
�
���
��������
���
����
�	��	���������	
?����	1	���
���	���		���	�����6
	�
��
�
�	�����	����
��	%��	�
���
�	�����	
�����
����1	��
�	������������
���������
��������������
	�
����
�	�����	
�?���
����
�


	�
����
��.���
�
��������
��
��
����������	�
���	�����	���
	�
��
���	������
�	�	5��
��������	
�.����	��	1	
���	�
����
�	�
��	�	��	������	����
���	���� 
�	�	5��
��������	
�� ����
��6	������	��	�� ��
���� ��

� �	���6�
�
�?�������
��

����
�	���	���	�
�	�6	�	��
�������	1	��	���
	�
��
����
�����	�	1	
���	�
.�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
� �

Page 315



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

0/�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

���	���5��
�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

� �

Page 316



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

00�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

���	���5���
�

��6
	���������

		��������������,		�6��*����	�
�*	��������
����
������
�����
����
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 317



���� ���� ��	
���
�
���
���
���� �����
�������
��
�����������
��������������
��


��������
��
����

���������� ����	
�����
� ������

������	

�����
�����
��



�������������
���
���������


������

�������
��
����
����
������


�
�������
�

���

� �������! "�
��	
#���������

$���%��%
&�
����
'


����������
&�(��������
)���


*�
��

&��������
��
(���
������


�������������

+�(����
�
��,��
��(��������


��
����
��

������
��
(����
���


���-./���
�������	

�0�������! �����
1��
�

2������%
3�����


��(�
��������
���

�%�����
	


1�
(����
4
����������
��
��%�


�������

1�5�������
��
�������


��(��������
�
�������
��


����/
�������
��%�4��(��
62+


����%���.���������

+���'


�������
�
%���������
��
2
�4

+����������
������������


����
�������

)��

���������� *��,��������


1�
(����
������
�
�(���



)�
�������
�����
�5��


�(������
���
������

�����


������
���


��������
��
���

���
�


��'������� 7������
�������
 1�
(����
������
�
�(���
 +�
�5�(�

 +�
�5�(�

���������� "���
�	��

�����
����


�����
����
�%����


)�
�������
������
���

�����


(�����
��


�����
'
������
���


����
��%
����������
��


����������
�
��


������(��	
5��	���
��
���
��




������
���
�����
���


� �������! 7��
8��
%�
*���
��
&�
����
�

*���
��
&�
����
�


)�
�������
������
��

���


��

���
/���
����������

������(�
��

�
/���
�������	


� �������! ��
��
����
��
��
(����
 *���
��
&�
����
�
 +�
�5�(�
 +�
�5�(�


�9�������! 1����

1����
���
�� *���
��
&�
����
� +�
�5�(�
 +�
�5�(�

��������
��
�����
����
��
������
���������

�������

P
age 318



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

0#�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

���	���5���
�

/& !�,�������
�)�
�������	�	�1	�	�
��	�1��	��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 319



�������������	�
����

���	��������
�����������

�

������
������

�����������
��������

�����������
�������

���������
�����������

������������������

�
����

���	���
�� �!"������

������
�����������

�
����

#�
����
���������
���

$�����

������
�����������

�

�
����%��
���$�

����������
���

��������������������

&
�������

���������

�
�

�����'�

(������
����


�������
����)�

�

%��*���

+*��*��

������
�
����������,�����,�- ."������

!�������
�

�
�����������
�����

&����(/)�

0�
����(1)�

����������2
��(3)�

+����������
�����

&����(/)�

0�
����(1)�

������2
��(3)�

#������� �� �� �� �� ����������	�
���


��
������


�����
�������

	���
��������������

���������������


���
���
��
�������


����	���
�����
�����

��������������	�

�
�
�
���������
��
�

�����
������
����
�


����

�� ��

���

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

���

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

�������������
���� ���� �� !"� #$%��"&��"� �� ��

�������
�
����'��������� ���� ���!�� #$��$��$�� �� ��

(������������
���
��'��������� ���� ���!�� #$��$��$�� �� ��

)�������
���� $�"� ���%%� #"�&& �%&� �� ��

����������*������+��������
���
�� $�$� ��$&%� #��%$$��!� #��!��!$���� ��"��)�������

�� �� �� �� �� ��

#������0��
���������
�� �� �� �� �� ��

)�����������������
���� �� � ��$�"� #���"$�!%� #$%��!����� �%��,��
�
���������
��

�� �� �� �� �� ��

�������
�� �� �� �� �� ��

�����
�����
���� $$� $�&%� #�%�$$���%� �� ��

�������
�
����'������
���� ��$� �� �%� #$ �&����&� �� ��

�����
������������ !�&� $��"�� #�!�%��� $� �� ��

�����
�
��������� ���� ����"� #% �� �� �� ��

(������������
���
�-�����
����� ���� ��� �� #$� �&�� � �� ��

����.�*�� $�$� ��$&%� #��%$$��!� #$���$�� ����� �$&"$������
�����

�� �� �� �� �� ��

�������
��0��
���������
�� �� �� �� �� ��

�����
������
������������
���� ���� ������ #$���&"�%�� �� ��

(���������
� ���� ��� �� #$� �&�� � �� ��

/����
��0� ���� ���!�� #$��$��$�� �� ��

1��
����
�����	������������
���� $�$� ��$&%� #��%$$��!� #$����"����� �2����������	���
���������������
���	������������
���������������

20������
����3
���
��������
������
��
��������	����������������
�
�

��
����������	��������

�� �� �� �� �� ��

+������
��� �� �� �� �� ��

�����
������
������� �%� � "�&""� #$"&��"$���� �� ��

�� �� �� �� �� ��

�� �� �� �� �� ��

!�����������������4������������(�#�)� ���� ����"� #% �� �� #!�������� �20���
��������	�����
��4)��

���������� $�$� ��$&%� #��%$$��!� �� ��

����������������� ���� ��! "� #$��&&!� %� �� ��

����
������������� ��$� ���$%� #�� �� � �� ��

#�
�����
���
����� ��!� ���&� #��$%"�%�� �� ��

����������-
�������0����������� %�&� $�"��� #�%�&�!� !� �� ��

+����� %�"� $�!�%� #� �"$��"!� �� ��

�
���5���������� �� � ��$�"� #���"$�!%� �� ��

��������� �� � ��$�"� #���"$�!%� �� ��

&6�� �����5�
� ���� ����"� #% �� �� �� ��

�����������
7���� �� ���"� #%� � ��"� �� ��

�� 388� 39� $:/;,/<9�88� #$�""��������� ��

�
���=��

$� 4�������������
���
������������	���
������������
������$�+$!���
�
���������
�0��
��������
��������
����
���


�������
�����5������������
����5��������1�������������1������
�3
�����������
�
�
���67
���3�	�0�������
����

�������
���������������
�		�
�����������
����0�
���
����
����������������
����0���
����
������
��
��
�����
��������


����
�����

��

�

�

P
age 320



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

0"�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

���	���5���
�

���	��������
�=�
���
	�
�
�

�
�

Page 321



�����������	
�
�	
�
�
�

���

����
����
����
�
����
�
�������	�
��


����
����
����������������

�		�����
��� �
��
� �	
������������� 

Page 322



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

!����
������"��������#��	�������
���

����	
��
��
���

���� ������� ����

�������
��$ %�		����������
 %&� ��'��'��� 

(���������������"��$ )����*��� )�* ��'��'��� 

+��
�
�
�����������"��$ ,#�����%��"-��� ,.% ��'��'��� 

(�/��'�*��������"��$ ,#�����%��"-��� ,.% ��'��'��� 

+//��#��$ ���"�%��	�� �0% ��'��'��� 

���������	�
��

��	
����
����1��
��������
/���2 ���� ���
�
 ��������/��	 (��"�

)�����3��
�
���4�*��"��#����� *��5��
�3������ � � �

��6�����
������1�
�����������"2

��6���	"�'��	��	
��"

%��6�%������/�

����	���
��
���

�		�����
��� ��
���		���

� ��'��'��� 

� �7'��'��� 

���������
���

.$8����8���98�9�:9;�4�����4�(-�����/��	8!���
�
��.��#����	8� 4��(��������8� 4<���	
��	
�
�
�	8=���%&��4�����
����
�

���
�
����
�������>?�	


�������

��'��'��� 

Page 323



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

���
��
	

� ��
�����
���@�����������
�	�������#�	������
�	�A���

��
���

� �/
����.�

���

7 ./�������
������
�	@��		�
/
���	������?���	���	

; �/
�����	
�
�
�1	2

��*,��0%($�(�����/�����
����
��	�����
��
��	�#�	
������*��"��#����������
�����
������/�����������/��
�������-�����

-�
���
�
������?/��		�-��

���/��
�		���>

��.�B+�3��$�(��	�����
��
�����
��������
�
�������
������
��������	�����
����?���	�#���	�����
�����
��������
�����*��"�

�#����������/
������	/��	�����
�������������	�C�����	����	�������
�����
����	����	����������
����/��	��1	2>

7������

��'��'��� 

Page 324



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

�>��4���
�����
���

�>�>�

�>�>�

�>�>7

�>�>;

�>�>:

�>�>9

�>�> 

�>�><

�>�>D

�>��4�0������������
�
���

�>�>� �
���������������

0��+ ��+

���	
��� ���!�""#

��������	
��� 

�



�

��	�
��
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;D� ; <

���	
������ 4 4

��
������	
��� ���!�""# $%& $'(

���	
��� )	
��!�""#

��������	
��� 

�



�

��	�
��
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;D� ; <

���	
������ �; �; 

��
������	
��� )	
��!�""# *+% *&,

-��
	.����
�����

�!!���
	��

��������	
��� 

�



�

��	�
��
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;D� ; �

���	
������ ��< ��<

���������������	

���
�������������

������
��
����������������������	

���
��������	����

������
��
��������������������������������
����
�����	����������
��	���������
�����

�����������������������
��
������������������������	�
�������

������

� �����
������!�������	������
������
���
���������������
��
�����������������

�>���
�����
���@��������������
�
���@���#�	������
�	�A���

��
���

�����	
���������������
��
�������������������������
�!����������
��������
�����������!����

������
��
����������������������������
���
������"��#��!�
�
���������
��������
�������$�
�	�����	���
�

�����
�%���������
��	
����������
�%���������
���
������
��������!�
��	�������
�����������&

��������'�����((�����)&�*��	
�����������������
������+��������	����� ����,�-��������
�	
������������

��������' ������((�����)&�*��	
�����������������
������+��������	����� ����,�-��������
�	
�������������.�
�����
��
����
�
�

����
��������
�������������((�������
��
�����.�
�	�����

$�	���	��/��
��0������������&�*��	
�����������������
������1����
������� ������((�������
��
����.�
����
�������

�
�!���������������
����
�����������'������������!�
�������������������������������,��
��2���������3���
)

,�#������
������'1�	����)&�*��	
�����������������
���������������	����4���
����
�	���������������������!�
����	���� ����

��
!�
��

,�#������
������'.�	����)&�����������
	����
��	
�������������5������������
4���
����
�	���4��������������!�
����	����������

�������	����

�������������������
	�������	
��������
��

��������������6�+� ��#�� ����������������������������	������7

�������������
����������������������!�������
���
������
��
����������������������������
��� �
#��
�����

;������

��'��'��� 

Page 325



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

�>���
�����
���@��������������
�
���@���#�	������
�	�A���

��
���

��
���-��
	.����
�����

�!!���
	�� *// ,'%

0������
	�	
	��� $���	
�#

��������	
��� 

�



�

��	�
��
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;< ;<7

���	
������ :< :<

��
���0������
	�	
	��� $���	
�# ,$, ,$�

0������
	�	
	��� +���	
�#

��������	
��� 

�



�

��	�
��
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;D� ; D

���	
������ :< :<

��
���0������
	�	
	��� +���	
�# ,$( ,+'



� ��

.�
�������1�2 �'+ �'+

.�
����#������1�E��'��2


������������������
����������������������	����������������������

�>�>� �����!�
	���1����

�>�>�>�

���-������
����'�(�
�� ��#

�/
F���4��?�	
�����-� 4

�/
F���4�.��#�����������F���4��
��#��
��� 4

�/
F���4�.��#�����������F.��#����������� 4

�/
F���4�.��#�����+/��

��
	 4

�/
F�7�4�G�"��������
��	 4

�/
F�7>��4�G�"��������
��	 4

(��������-���������
�
������	�������	����������
���/�����
�������
��	������������	
��	
�
�
�

��

��
	

�?�	
�������-���

������	�1���
�HH2

������	�1-�
��
�HH2

���
�C���.
��������

���
���

G�"��������
��	�1;����
	2

G�"��������
��	�17����
	2

:������

��'��'��� 

Page 326



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

�>��/
����.�

���

�2
	���3 ������	�1���
�HH2 ������	�1-�
��
�HH2 ���
�C���.
����

+���

���
���

G�"��������
��	�1;�

���
	2

G�"��������
��	�17�

���
	2

4���2����!��
 4�5�� !&# ;D� 97D 9�� :;: :;<

G��"	���	
��	
�
�
� :<�@���I����������������� 9��@���I�������������������� <7<@���I���������������� 9 �@���I�������������� 9 ;@���I��������������

*��5��
'��	�������	��	
�
�
� ��9@���I����������������� ��;@���I�������������������� �9<@���I���������������� �7:@���I�������������� �7:@���I��������������

�
������#���/
��
���	
	��	
�
�
� 4I������������������������ 4I��������������������������� 4I����������������������� 4I��������������������� 4I���������������������

��	"�����-������	
�
�
�  �@���I�������������������  ;@���I��������������������� ���@���I���������������� <�@���I���������������� <�@���I����������������

�����
�����	
�
�
� <@���I��������������������� D@���I����������������������� ��@���I����������������� D@���I����������������� D@���I�����������������

J+(��		�		
��
 4I������������������������ 4I��������������������������� 4I����������������������� 4I��������������������� 4I���������������������

6��
��	!	
���
���7 ''*8///7���������������� (&(8///7������������������� �8��(8///7����������� (%*8///7������������� (%(8///7�������������

79!:�4�5� �8,'';&$9!: �8&%,;''9!: �8(*+;++9!: �8*$$;/$9!: �8*+(;*%9!:

79!:���� �8*&,;�+9!: �8+&,;(*9!: �8%+�;,(9!: �8*,*;(/9!: �8*'�;+&9!:

(���
�
���/��5��
���	
���
�
��������
������
��	������������	
��	
�
�
������
���	����
����/
���1	2��	��	������-	$

(������#����	
	�	��������������������5���
����-�
��
����
����	��
���	����
��	������������	
��	
�
�
���������/��
�������
���	/�������
������
�	@��		�
/
���	������?���	���	�

������#�	������
�	>

9������

��'��'��� 

P
age 327



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

7>�./�������
������
�	@��		�
/
���	������?���	���	

7>��./�������
������
�	�4�+//���	�
�������/
���	

7>�>�

7>�>�

7>�>7

7>�>;

7>�>:

7>�>9

7>�>� �
��	��		�
���������	�������
����������
�����

7>�>� G��"	�
����������
�"������	������/��	�K

7>�>7 +		�
���
������	������
���
������C����
��
��?��/
�
�������
��������
���
���	K

7>�>; +		�
�����	@�-�
��@�����
����
��������
���������������#�������K

7>�>: +		�
�������������	�	
���
�������	����K

7>�>9 +		�
�������������/���'��/����
��
��	���C�����>

7>�> +		�
���
�HH�����������	�����������	
���
��������
�������
����������������-�
���
���������
������������
���	

7>�><

7>7>�

7>7>�

7>7>7 ��
�#�����������?�	
����������
���	K

7>7>; +�����	
	��		����
���-�
�����������������/��
�		���	�����������	K

7>7>: .
�
�
�������	K

7>7>9 �
������#���/
��
���	
	K

7>7> ��(�/��#�	���	K

7>7><

7>7>D

7>7>�� ��	��������������	��
����� <'��9������
��
	��
/�	������/������	K

7>7>�� +������
����/�����������	
����
	>

B��������	K

���
�
���
���	������
�#���������������		������	�
���
��������C�����K

B����/�����	����	
	K

J+(K

3���������	/�������
������#����		�
����	������	������
���	���������

B��	����A��
��������	��	�/��#�������
��?�����	���
������-���@�/��
����/���	�����/���
��	�����
�����"�@�
���/�����

	�	
�
	@����
�����C��/
��
�����
�����"�

������	�������
������	���������������
��
�����	����
�����/��

��
	

��?���-��
������	�
����	����
�����/��

��
	�������������

���L�����������
�����	�����������	��	�
���	��#������	
	

G����#��
�����������-���������
���	��#���������
�#�������	��	
�	���
���#���		�
���
������	����	���������
��	��	
�	�

���
�
���
���

7>7��?���	���	

7>��0��������		�
/
���	

G����#���		�
���
��
�������������
���������	/�������
����	����
����������	�������
�����	�����������������
�����	
	>�(��	�

���	���
����������
�
	�	�����	�/���
��	@���
������-���@�(JM	@���
/�
���	�	
�
	�����
�����"�@�����'����
�����C��/
��
@�


���/���������	�
	@���
��������������
�����"�

 ������

��'��'��� 

Page 328



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
�
�
�@�������	�1���
�HH2 4�5�� !&# $%&

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 :<�@�����������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����
/��#�
��
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�����
��
���
	!�
�� �# ,(&8///���������������������

�>� <��=�

9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N < @���������������������������

�>�>� :>�N �D@���������������������������

<��=�

9���	���5���� -# ��*8///���������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
�
��
�� 6# 3�����������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-����
��
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 *%(8///���������������������

:>� A	�������)��
����
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N ��@���������������������������

:>� �>�N �;@���������������������������

:>7 7>�N ��@���������������������������

:>; �>�N �;@���������������������������

A	�������)��
����
	!�
�� �# '/8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N 7@�����������������������������

9>� �> �N :@�����������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# (8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >�   9@��������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# ''*8///����������������8,''9!:

0���������	����
��
����	

�@�<7'
O

�@;�D'
O

�;�'
O

�79'
O

�9'
O

J+(�+		�		
��
�1%2�4��?������

+���������	

�
������#���/
��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
�
�
�

�?������

��	������#���/
��
���	"	��	
�
�
�

��	
���
�
�102�1��E���E���2

���	
���
������	"	��	
�
�
�

�
/�����	����������	"��	
�
�
��

�
/�����	��
������	"	��	
�
�
�

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

���	
���
���������
����
��
���/���
�������	
���
���

������
�
����-��"	��	
�
�
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����
������	

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


*��5��
'��	����
��
����	

<������

��'��'��� 

Page 329



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
�
�
�@�������	�1-�
��
�HH2 4�5�� !&# *+%

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 9��@�����������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����
/��#�
��
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�����
��
���
	!�
�� �# *&�8///���������������������

�>� <��=�

9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N D7@���������������������������

�>�>� :>�N 7�@���������������������������

<��=�

9���	���5���� -# �&$8///���������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
�
��
�� 6# 3�����������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-����
��
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 '$,8///���������������������

:>� A	�������)��
����
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N ��@���������������������������

:>� �>�N �:@���������������������������

:>7 7>�N ��@���������������������������

:>; �>�N �:@���������������������������

A	�������)��
����
	!�
�� �# '$8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N 7@�����������������������������

9>� �> �N 9@�����������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# %8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >� <�<@��������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# (&(8///���������������

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


0���������	����
��
����	

D �'
O

�
/�����	����������	"��	
�
�
��

������
�
����-��"	��	
�
�
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����
������	

�@�99'
O

��	������#���/
��
���	"	��	
�
�
�

���	
���
������	"	��	
�
�
�

*��5��
'��	����
��
����	

+���������	

�D;'
O

�?������

�
/�����	��
������	"	��	
�
�
�

�
������#���/
��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
�
�
�

J+(�+		�		
��
�1%2�4��?������

�8&%*9!:

��9'
O

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

���	
���
���������
����
��
���/���
�������	
���
���

�;'
O

��	
���
�
�102�1��E���E���2

D������

��'��'��� 

Page 330



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
�
�
�@����
�C���+���

���
��� 4�5�� !&# *//

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4����������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 4����������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4����������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 <7<@�������������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����
/��#�
��
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�����
��
���
	!�
�� �# (+(8///�����������������������

�>� <��=�

9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N ��9@����������������������������

�>�>� :>�N ;�@�����������������������������

<��=�

9���	���5���� -# �*(8///�����������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4�������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
�
��
�� 6# 3�������������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-����
��
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 �8//*8///��������������������

:>� A	�������)��
����
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N 7�@�����������������������������

:>� �>�N ��@�����������������������������

:>7 7>�N 7�@�����������������������������

:>; �>�N ��@�����������������������������

A	�������)��
����
	!�
�� �# �//8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N ;@�������������������������������

9>� �> �N <@�������������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# �&8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >� �@��<@�������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# �8��(8///�������������

�9 '
O

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

��'
O

��	
���
�
�102�1��E���E���2

�8(*+9!:

J+(�+		�		
��
�1%2�4��?������

���	
���
���������
����
��
���/���
�������	
���
���

������
�
����-��"	��	
�
�
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����
������	

�@7D '
O

*��5��
'��	����
��
����	

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


�@9  '
O

��	������#���/
��
���	"	��	
�
�
�

�<�'
O

�
������#���/
��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
�
�
�

�
/�����	��
������	"	��	
�
�
�

0���������	����
��
����	

+���������	

�?������

�
/�����	����������	"��	
�
�
��

���	
���
������	"	��	
�
�
�

��������

��'��'��� 

Page 331



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
�
�
�@�G�"��������
��	�1;����
	2 4�5�� !&# ,$,

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 9 �@�����������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����
/��#�
��
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�����
��
���
	!�
�� �# *'&8///���������������������

�>� <��=�

9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N ���@��������������������������

�>�>� :>�N 7;@���������������������������

<��=�

9���	���5���� -# �+,8///���������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
�
��
�� 6# 3�����������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-����
��
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 (/'8///���������������������

:>� A	�������)��
����
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N �;@���������������������������

:>� �>�N �9@���������������������������

:>7 7>�N �;@���������������������������

:>; �>�N �9@���������������������������

A	�������)��
����
	!�
�� �# (/8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N 7@�����������������������������

9>� �> �N 9@�����������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# %8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >� <D9@��������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# (%*8///���������������

�@�77'
O

�
/�����	����������	"��	
�
�
��

������
�
����-��"	��	
�
�
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����
������	

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


�@;<�'
O

��	������#���/
��
���	"	��	
�
�
�

���	
���
������	"	��	
�
�
�

*��5��
'��	����
��
����	

�8*$$9!:

J+(�+		�		
��
�1%2�4��?������

�
/�����	��
������	"	��	
�
�
�

0���������	����
��
����	

+���������	

�;<'
O

�
������#���/
��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
�
�
�

�?������

�; '
O

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

���	
���
���������
����
��
���/���
�������	
���
���

� '
O

��	
���
�
�102�1��E���E���2

��������

��'��'��� 

Page 332



����
����
����
�
����
��������	�
��


����
����
����������������
�����������	
��	
�
�
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
�
�
�@�G�"��������
��	�17����
	2 4�5�� !&# ,$(

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	�
��
�'���
���������-��"	 9 ;@�����������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����
/��#�
��
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�����
��
���
	!�
�� �# *'$8///���������������������

�>� <��=�

9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N ���@��������������������������

�>�>� :>�N 7;@���������������������������

<��=�

9���	���5���� -# �+,8///���������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
�
��
�� 6# 3�����������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-����
��
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 (/%8///���������������������

:>� A	�������)��
����
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N �;@���������������������������

:>� �>�N �9@���������������������������

:>7 7>�N �;@���������������������������

:>; �>�N �9@���������������������������

A	�������)��
����
	!�
�� �# (/8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N 7@�����������������������������

9>� �> �N 9@�����������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# %8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >� <D<@��������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# (%(8///���������������

�@�7�'
O

*��5��
'��	����
��
����	

�;9'
O

�
������#���/
��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
�
�
�

�?������

�8*+%9!:

�;9'
O

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

���	
���
���������
����
��
���/���
�������	
���
���

�9'
O

��	
���
�
�102�1��E���E���2

J+(�+		�		
��
�1%2�4��?������

�@; 9'
O

��	������#���/
��
���	"	��	
�
�
�

���	
���
������	"	��	
�
�
�

�
/�����	����������	"��	
�
�
��

������
�
����-��"	��	
�
�
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����
������	

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


�
/�����	��
������	"	��	
�
�
�

0���������	����
��
����	

+���������	

��������

��'��'��� 

Page 333



�

�
��������	
����
�����
����

0"�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	���
��(���	�

�

���	���5�)�



9��
	����	����
����	
�
�

�
�

Page 334



��������	��
���

����

���


��������� 
�����������
��	������������������


������������������
������

������������ ����� �!"
#��� !$ �������%��&!'

Page 335




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

����� �

(�����%�����)�������� ��������������

����	
��
��
���

���� ������� ����

����������* +����,��� +�, &!-&�-�&!'

.���������%�
���)��* /�����%�0��	��� /+0 &!-&�-�&!'

0������������%�
���)��* 1������2�3���% 1
2 &!-&�-�&!'

.%���-�,����
���)��* 1������2�3���% 1
2 &!-&�-�&!'

0���� ��* ���)�1����� �31 &!-&�-�&!'

���������	�
��

#����������������������������%" ���� ������ ����	������� .��)�

+�����
��������4�,��5����
������ ,��5����
������ 2 ! �

2�6�2������������������������)"

#�6����)�-���������)

1
�6�1�������%

����	���
��
���

������������ #����������

� &!-&�-�&!'

! !7-&!-�&!'

�������������

/*8���%8�&!98!9!$9:�4�
�
�4�.;��
������8(������%�/�� �%���8!'4&�.��������8!'4<�
����2��������8=&&!+�,�4�!9!$9:�4���
�������


�������9�00�>?��?

���	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 336




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

����� �


�������

! ������������@�����������	��������������� ������������A����������%

� /����	��������@������������������?��������������������������

7 
������/�����%

: 0����������/��������������������"

$ ��	��
%����
����/��������������������"

9 /�����%��	�������� �������%����!"


�,B��31.*�.������%�������	������������������ ���������,��)�2 ������������%���������������������������������;�����

;��������������?������;�����������������>

#�/
�0�
2�*�.�����������������������	������������������������������	��������?����� �������	����������������������

,��)�2 �����������������������������%�	�����%������C���������������	����������������������%���%���������������">

7��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 337




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

����� �

!>!�4�������������

!>!>!

!>!>�

!>!>7

!>!>:

!>!>$

!>!>9

!>!>'

!>!>< .�����������������������������������	�������������������&�4��$�;��)��;�������������������������	�+�����&!<>

!>��4�3���������	��������

!>�>! �
���������������

3��0 ��0

���	
��� ���!�""��	��#

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :D� :'<

����������� 4 4

��
������	
��� ���!�""# $%& $'(

���	
��� )	
��!�""��	��#

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :D� :'<

����������� !:' !:'

��
������	
��� )	
��!�""# *+% *&,

-��
	.����
�����

�!!���
	��

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :D� :'!

����������� !&< !&<

��
���-��
	.����

�!!���
	�� *// ,'%

!>�������������@�����������	��������@��� ������������A����������%

���������	�
��	����
����	�������		����	���	������������	���������	����������	�
	���������������������

��	�������	����
��������	�
��	����
����	�����
��������	����
�����	�������
�����
������	�

��	����	�	��������	�
����
��
��	� �

��	����!	�
�������	��������	�
����!	�
��������	�����������	�����"�����	�	�
���
����#

$����	��%����	&&����	'#�(	��������	�
��������	����
��)������	����
��*�
����+�������������
��������	�

$����	��%*�
���	&&����	'#�(	��������	�
��������	����
��)������	����
��*�
����+�������������
��������	��"�����
	������������

�
������	���������	�������	&&����	��������
��"������
��

���
�,�	����������
���#�(	��������	�
��������	����
��-�����
�	�
��*�
���	&&����	�������
��"�������
�	�
��

��������������
�������	����������	�%
�	�	���	�
*���	�
�����
���������
���'�

���	�������
�	��.��	
����.������	�#�(	��������	�
��������	����
�� ������	����
�/�0��	
�������
�����0�����������	�	���	����
�

*�
���	��	���

���	�������
�	��.��	
����.������	#�$�
����������	���	��������	�
����	1��
��������	�/�0��	
�������
/�0�����������	�	���	����
�

����0������	����
�

���������	�
��	����
����	���������	�
����
�����	�0�

���������	�
��	����
����	�������
	��	�����������
�	���	����
�	��	,�	�
�������
����

��	����	���
	����
��������	�
��	����
����	�����2������� 304�

��	������*������	������	��		����	������
�	���	����
�������
��������	�
��	����
����	�

:��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 338




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

����� �

!>�������������@�����������	��������@��� ������������A����������%

0������
	�	
	��� $���	
�#

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :<' :<7

����������� $< $<

��
���0������
	�	
	��� $���	
�# ,$, ,$�

0������
	�	
	��� +���	
�#

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :D& :'D

����������� $< $<

��
���0������
	�	
	��� +���	
�# ,$( ,+'

�
� ��

/�����������" �-0 �-0

/����
� ��������E���-��"


������������������
����������������������	����������������������

!>�>� �����!�
	���1����

!>�>�>!

#��;�����������-�.���� �� 

���F&!�4�2?��������;� 4

���F&!�4�/�� ������		���F���4����� ������ 4

���F&!�4�/�� ������		���F/�� ������		��� 4

���F&��4�/�� �����0��������� 4

���F&7�4���)��	��������� 4

���F&7>!�4���)��	��������� 4

������#�������� �� 

��������%�.���#�;��������������� ����� �!>!�>!9

�����C���/�%����������������

��)��	�����������:������"

��)��	�����������7������"

.���	����;������	����������������������������������������������	��������������	��
����
����


�������

2?����������;���

�		�����������GG"

�		������;������GG"

$��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 339




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

����� �

�>�/����	�������������@������������������?��������

7>!�3������������

7>!>! 3�������%

7>!>!>!

7>!>!>�

7>!>!>7

7>!>!>:

7>!>!>$

7>!>!>9

7>!>!>'

7>!>!><

7>!>!>D

7>!>!>!&

7>!>� �		�����������������

7>!>�>!

7>!>�>�

7>!>�>7

7>!>�>:

7>!>�>$

7>!>7 �����C�����%����������������������

7>!>7>!

7>!>7>�

7>!>7>7

7>!>7>:

7>!>: ��)��	���������������

7>!>:>!

7>!>:>�

7>!>:>7

7>!>:>:

7>!>:>$

7>!>:>9

0������������;������,H�;������7>$I������������������������ ����$�%����>�.����H,���������������������?��������������������>

0������������������������3��0>


�����������������;�����	����������	����A�����������%���������%�	��������������������������>������ ���������������������

���������J��;����)J�������������������������������������>

.���:������������������������������������������������������������������������������������>

.����������������������������� �������	�	���%���� ���������������>�.�����������������������	���%���������	��������������������

���������>�1�;� ������������������������		������;���� �����������;������������������������	���������>

.���	������������������������������ �������	������C�����%��� ��������������������>�.���������������������	�������������������>

.���������������������������������		�����%�:&I������	�������������%�������������������������������>

.���������������������������������C�����%������������������������������������������������>���������������������������������

;�������	����������	�����!$I������������������������������������ �����%������>

.���	�������������������?������	�������@��		��������;�)��	���������>

.����������������������	�������	��������������		������������� ����������������������;�������%����������������	�����	���%�������������

������������>�.���:�����������������''����	����������������������7��������������������������������>

����� ������;���	�����$�%����%��%�����	������������������!&�%����%��%�����	����������������������������>

.������������	���������	���������������������;������ �������������������������%������������ ���������������������;���������������>

0����� ����������������������%��I��������������%�����"������	������������������������������������������������ ���������	���	�����

������>�.�����������������������������������������	�����7>$I����������	����,H>

.�������������������������� �������	�	������������������� �����������������������������������������%������������>

.����������������������������� �������	�	���%���� ������		�������������%���������������������������J���%�������%����J������>

�� �������� ��������������������	��������� ��������>�>����%��������������������	�����������%� ����������������������������������

�	�����������">

����������J������J��������� ��������5��������������������@���������������������������������������	��������	������������� ����>�

3��������������������������� ��������?������>


���������������������������������������		@�������	���"�����������)�������?����������������	���%��������������������� �����������

�� ������%������������>


�������	�����������������������������������������������������������?�����������������������������������������	��;������������

;�������	�������>

0����������?������.�?�������H0.>

��������������������GG������������������������GG������	����>

������� �������� ��������������������K�����������	������������ ����� �����>

.���������� ��������	����������������������������%�������	��&I����������>

.���7��������������������������%����������������������������;�����������������������������������������������������	���%������������

�������>

9��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 340




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

����� �

�>�/����	�������������@������������������?��������

7>!>:>'

7>�>!

7>�>�

7>�>7

7>�>:

7>7>!

7>7>�

7>7>7

7>7>:

7>7>$

7>7>9 #��������������>

����� ���������������������� �������� �������%�;�����������������������%����!��	��������5���>

7>7�2?��������

7>��3������������������

����� �����������������������%������������������	�������������������	�������	���������������������	���������������>�.�������������

������������������������������@����������;���@�.HL�@�����������%����������������)�@�����-����������C�������@�����������

��������@������������������������)�

����� ����������������������������������������5���������%�������� ��%�����%�����������������������C���������>

����� ����������D'>$I��	������������������;���������������%����&���������	������>$I�;���������������%����!������	�����������������

�	����������>

0�!&I�����������������������������	����� ������������������C��������%�����������>

3������������������>

������	���>

H0.>

��������?��>


���������������������������������������������������������">

'��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 341




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

+2����
�����!!���

5678�%� ' -9 :"9 :33 :33 )-) )-;

�		�����������GG"
�		������;����

��GG"

�����C�����%���

������%����

�����C�����%���

�������������

��)��	�����������:�

�����"

��)��	�����������7�

�����"

!>& �34���	
���

!>! ''9@&&&�������������� <�<@&&&�������������� !@!!<@&&&����������� !@!!<@&&&����������� <D9@&&&�������������� <D<@&&&��������������

!>�

!>�>! 
�5���A�
�����������������A����������������A�/�� ����"� 7&$@�$&�������������� 7D9@:$��������������� 7'�@�$9�������������� 7'�@�$9�������������� �:@<$$���������������� �:@DD!����������������

!>�>� #��������� !$@&&&���������������� !D@:<����������������� !<@�D7���������������� !<@�D7���������������� !$@:D7���������������� !$@$'<����������������

!>�>7 3�������
�������������?������"���������������%�������������������%�������� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?��

!>�>: 
������� !9�@!'<�������������� �!&@97:�������������� !D'@''<�������������� !D'@''<�������������� �$@7<����������������� 4���������������������

!>�>$ M�������� !D&@$$D�������������� �:'@:D$�������������� �7�@7<D�������������� �7�@7<D�������������� �D@<�7���������������� 4���������������������

!>�>9 0����������������?�������4�����������������������������������" 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?��

!>�>' ������
�������?������" 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?��

��
����34���	
���� �#5 �6$$%6///��������� �6'/&6///��������� �6%+%6///��������� �6%+%6///��������� %%&6///������������ %+%6///������������

�>& 7�8����

�>! !@:::@!&D����������� �@&9<@7D:����������� �@9'!@7!9����������� <$�@$���������������� !@!9&@&'<����������� !@:$'@$&&�����������

��
���7�8����� -#5 �6$$$6///��������� &6/*(6///��������� &6*'�6///��������� (,+6///������������ �6�*/6///��������� �6$,(6///���������

 ,6///# +**6/// '+&6///  �6/(*6///# �*(6/// ,�%6///

<�8��������	����	������	��
��
�	��	��	�
�0333

7��	�����9����
���
�&,������� -�:��#� ����
	8��9����
������)��	��9��
��
#


������������������
����

��	��
%����
�����������
����

��������������

<��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

P
age 342




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

$2��������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:����	
������!�""��	��

3��0 :D� ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% '$9@9&&�������������� !D@:&&���������������� ''9@&&&�������������

��	��
%����
���� 4��������������������� 7D@:$����������������� 7<@!!<���������������� 79@<�D���������������� 7$@$<7���������������� 7:@7<&���������������� 77@�!<���������������� 7�@&D:���������������� 7!@&&D���������������� �D@D9&���������������� �<@D:'���������������� �'@D9<���������������� �'@&�7���������������� �9@!&D���������������� �$@��9���������������� �:@7'7���������������� �7@$:D���������������� ��@'$����������������� �!@D<7���������������� �!@�7D���������������� �&@$�!���������������� !D@<�'���������������� !D@!$'���������������� !<@$&D���������������� !'@<<7���������������� !'@�'<���������������� 9'�@D<'�������������

������
����

/�������� '$9@9&&�������������� $<@<$����������������� 7<@!!<���������������� 79@<�D���������������� 7$@$<7���������������� 7:@7<&���������������� 77@�!<���������������� 7�@&D:���������������� 7!@&&D���������������� �D@D9&���������������� �<@D:'���������������� �'@D9<���������������� �'@&�7���������������� �9@!&D���������������� �$@��9���������������� �:@7'7���������������� �7@$:D���������������� ��@'$����������������� �!@D<7���������������� �!@�7D���������������� �&@$�!���������������� !D@<�'���������������� !D@!$'���������������� !<@$&D���������������� !'@<<7���������������� !'@�'<���������������� !@::<@D<'����������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� ',*6*//������������ (�,6$,&������������ (,+6,'/������������ (%/6+%%������������ %&,6%(&������������ %*/6+*&������������ %%+6,(/������������ �6/&,6*'$��������� �6/,*6*(+��������� �6/(*6*$$��������� �6��,6,%���������� �6�$+6,,%��������� �6�'/6,(&��������� �6�%*6*%/��������� �6&&�6%�*��������� �6&$*6&(%��������� �6&*%6(+'��������� �6&%&6,%/��������� �6+�$6,'&��������� �6++,6(�&��������� �6+,*6+++��������� �6+'*6�*/��������� �6+%,6+�'��������� �6$�+6(&*��������� �6$+�6'/%��������� �6$$(6%('���������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ 9<@:::���������������� 9'@:$����������������� 99@:'$���������������� 9$@$!����������������� 9:@$9����������������� 97@9�9���������������� 9�@'&:���������������� 9!@'D9���������������� 9&@D&&���������������� 9&@&!'���������������� $D@!:<���������������� $<@�D&���������������� $'@::9���������������� $9@9!7���������������� $$@'D����������������� $:@D<:���������������� $:@!<'���������������� $7@:&����������������� $�@9�<���������������� $!@<9$���������������� $!@!!7���������������� $&@7'7���������������� :D@9:7���������������� :<@D�7���������������� :<@�!:���������������� !@:::@!&D����������

/�������� 4��������������������� 9<@:::���������������� 9'@:$����������������� 99@:'$���������������� 9$@$!����������������� 9:@$9����������������� 97@9�9���������������� 9�@'&:���������������� 9!@'D9���������������� 9&@D&&���������������� 9&@&!'���������������� $D@!:<���������������� $<@�D&���������������� $'@::9���������������� $9@9!7���������������� $$@'D����������������� $:@D<:���������������� $:@!<'���������������� $7@:&����������������� $�@9�<���������������� $!@<9$���������������� $!@!!7���������������� $&@7'7���������������� :D@9:7���������������� :<@D�7���������������� :<@�!:���������������� !@:::@!&D����������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :�������������������� *(6$$$�������������� �+,6(%'������������ &/&6+'&������������ &*'6((+������������ ++&6$$,������������ +%*6/'&������������ $,(6''*������������ ,&/6,'&������������ ,(�6$'&������������ *$�6$(%������������ '//6*+*������������ ',(6%&'������������ (�*6+'&������������ ('&6%(,������������ %&(6''(������������ %(+6'*&������������ �6/+'6%$%��������� �6/%�6+,/��������� �6�$+6%'(��������� �6�%,6($+��������� �6&$*6%,*��������� �6&%'6+&%��������� �6+$*6%'&��������� �6+%,6(%,��������� �6$$$6�/%���������

��������� 4�������������'$9@9&&� 4�������������':'@&&<� 4�������������'!'@9'7� 4�������������9<<@&�'� 4�������������9$<@&DD� 4�������������9�'@D!'� 4�������������$D'@$&<� 4�������������$99@<D<� 4�������������$79@!!�� 4�������������$&$@!'�� 4�������������:':@!&�� 4�������������::�@D�7� 4�������������:!!@9$$� 4�������������7<&@7!<� 4�������������7:<@D7!� 4�������������7!'@$!!� 4��������������<9@&'9� 4��������������$:@9:!� 4���������������7@���� 4�������������!D!@<7:� 4�������������!9&@:D&� 4�������������!�D@�&:� 4���������������D'@D<<� 4���������������99@<$:� 4���������������7$@<!:� 4�����������������:@<'<�

$2�&�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:����	
���)	
��!�""��	��

3��0 97D�������������������� ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% <&'@7&&�������������� �&@'&&���������������� <�<@&&&�������������

��	��
%����
���� 4��������������������� $!@�:&���������������� :D@$&'���������������� :'@<77���������������� :9@�!$���������������� ::@9$����������������� :7@!:����������������� :!@9<7���������������� :&@�':���������������� 7<@D!����������������� 7'@$D9���������������� 79@7�$���������������� 7$@&D9���������������� 77@D&D���������������� 7�@'97���������������� 7!@9$$���������������� 7&@$<:���������������� �D@$$&���������������� �<@$$!���������������� �'@$<$���������������� �9@9$7���������������� �$@'$!���������������� �:@<<&���������������� �:@&7D���������������� �7@��9���������������� ��@::!���������������� <':@&97�������������

������
����

/�������� <&'@7&&�������������� '!@D:&���������������� :D@$&'���������������� :'@<77���������������� :9@�!$���������������� ::@9$����������������� :7@!:����������������� :!@9<7���������������� :&@�':���������������� 7<@D!����������������� 7'@$D9���������������� 79@7�$���������������� 7$@&D9���������������� 77@D&D���������������� 7�@'97���������������� 7!@9$$���������������� 7&@$<:���������������� �D@$$&���������������� �<@$$!���������������� �'@$<$���������������� �9@9$7���������������� �$@'$!���������������� �:@<<&���������������� �:@&7D���������������� �7@��9���������������� ��@::!���������������� !@'&�@&97����������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� (/'6+//������������ ('%6&$/������������ %&(6'$*������������ %'*6,'%������������ �6/&&6'%$��������� �6/*'6$$*��������� �6��/6,(%��������� �6�,&6&'&��������� �6�%&6,$*��������� �6&+�6$,(��������� �6&*%6/,$��������� �6+/,6+'(��������� �6+$/6$',��������� �6+'$6+($��������� �6$/'6�$'��������� �6$+(6(/&��������� �6$*%6+(*��������� �6$%(6%+*��������� �6,&'6$('��������� �6,,,6/'+��������� �6,(�6'&,��������� �6*/'6$'*��������� �6*+&6+,'��������� �6*,*6+%*��������� �6*'%6*&&��������� �6'/&6/*+���������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ D<@&77���������������� D9@9!����������������� D$@�!����������������� D7@<7����������������� D�@:'����������������� D!@!7����������������� <D@<!!���������������� <<@$!&���������������� <'@��'���������������� <$@D97���������������� <:@'!'���������������� <7@:<D���������������� <�@�'D���������������� <!@&<'���������������� 'D@D!!���������������� '<@'$7���������������� ''@9!����������������� '9@:<'���������������� '$@7'D���������������� ':@�<9���������������� '7@�!&���������������� '�@!:D���������������� '!@!&7���������������� '&@&'����������������� 9D@&$'���������������� �@&9<@7D:����������

/�������� 4��������������������� D<@&77���������������� D9@9!����������������� D$@�!����������������� D7@<7����������������� D�@:'����������������� D!@!7����������������� <D@<!!���������������� <<@$!&���������������� <'@��'���������������� <$@D97���������������� <:@'!'���������������� <7@:<D���������������� <�@�'D���������������� <!@&<'���������������� 'D@D!!���������������� '<@'$7���������������� ''@9!����������������� '9@:<'���������������� '$@7'D���������������� ':@�<9���������������� '7@�!&���������������� '�@!:D���������������� '!@!&7���������������� '&@&'����������������� 9D@&$'���������������� �@&9<@7D:����������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :�������������������� %(6/++�������������� �%$6*$,������������ &(%6(,'������������ +(+6*(%������������ $'*6�*������������� ,*'6&%+������������ *,'6�/$������������ '$,6*�$������������ (+&6($������������� %�(6(/+������������ �6//+6,&/��������� �6/('6//%��������� �6�*%6&((��������� �6&,/6+',��������� �6++/6&(*��������� �6$/%6/$/��������� �6$(*6*,&��������� �6,*+6�+%��������� �6*+(6,�(��������� �6'�&6(/$��������� �6'(*6/�+��������� �6(,(6�*&��������� �6%&%6&*,��������� �6%%%6++(��������� &6/*(6+%$���������

��������� 4�������������<&'@7&&� 4�������������'<!@�&'� 4�������������'7:@!&!� 4�������������9<9@'��� 4�������������97D@!&$� 4�������������$D!@�<$� 4�������������$:7@�D9� 4�������������:D$@!9<� 4�������������::9@D7�� 4�������������7D<@9!'� 4�������������7$&@�$&� 4�������������7&!@<$<� 4��������������$7@:99� 4��������������&$@&D9� 4�������������!$9@''�� 4�������������!&<@$!$� 4���������������9&@7:9� 4���������������!�@�<$� ����������������7$@9$�� ����������������<7@::$� ��������������!7!@&'D� ��������������!'<@$7'� ����������������$@<&$� ���������������'�@<9D� ��������������7!D@'!$� ��������������799@77��

D��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

P
age 343




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

$2+�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:�-��
	.����
�����

�!!���
	��6����	������
�

3��0 9&& ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% !@&D&@&$&�������� �'@D$&������������� !@!!<@&&&�������

��	��
%����
���� 4������������������ :<@!!�������������� :9@:<$������������� ::@D!7������������� :7@7D:������������� :!@D�'������������� :&@$&D������������� 7D@!7D������������� 7'@<!9������������� 79@$7'������������� 7$@7&!������������� 7:@!&<������������� 7�@D$:������������� 7!@<:&������������� 7&@'97������������� �D@'�7������������� �<@'!<������������� �'@':'������������� �9@<&<������������� �$@D&�������������� �$@&�9������������� �:@!<&������������� �7@79�������������� ��@$'�������������� �!@<&D������������� �!@&'!������������� <�&@'!9����������

������
����

/�������� !@&D&@&$&�������� '9@&9�������������� :9@:<$������������� ::@D!7������������� :7@7D:������������� :!@D�'������������� :&@$&D������������� 7D@!7D������������� 7'@<!9������������� 79@$7'������������� 7$@7&!������������� 7:@!&<������������� 7�@D$:������������� 7!@<:&������������� 7&@'97������������� �D@'�7������������� �<@'!<������������� �'@':'������������� �9@<&<������������� �$@D&�������������� �$@&�9������������� �:@!<&������������� �7@79�������������� ��@$'�������������� �!@<&D������������� �!@&'!������������� !@D7<@'!9�������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� �6/%/6/,/������� �6�**6��&������� �6&�&6,%'������� �6&,'6,��������� �6+//6%/,������� �6+$&6(+&������� �6+(+6+$&������� �6$&&6$(�������� �6$*/6&%'������� �6$%*6(+$������� �6,+&6�+,������� �6,**6&$+������� �6,%%6�%'������� �6*+�6/+'������� �6**�6(//������� �6*%�6,&+������� �6'&/6&$�������� �6'$'6%('������� �6''$6'%*������� �6(//6*%'������� �6(&,6'&+������� �6($%6%/+������� �6('+6&*,������� �6(%,6(+'������� �6%�'6*$,������� �6%+(6'�*�������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ !�9@9&D����������� !�:@'':����������� !��@D9$����������� !�!@!<7����������� !!D@:�'����������� !!'@9D9����������� !!$@DD!����������� !!:@7&D����������� !!�@9$7����������� !!!@&�&����������� !&D@:!!����������� !&'@<�9����������� !&9@�97����������� !&:@'�7����������� !&7@�&$����������� !&!@'&D����������� !&&@�7$����������� D<@'<7������������� D'@7$!������������� D$@D:&������������� D:@$$&������������� D7@!'D������������� D!@<�D������������� D&@:D<������������� <D@!<'������������� �@9'!@7!9�������

/�������� 4������������������ !�9@9&D����������� !�:@'':����������� !��@D9$����������� !�!@!<7����������� !!D@:�'����������� !!'@9D9����������� !!$@DD!����������� !!:@7&D����������� !!�@9$7����������� !!!@&�&����������� !&D@:!!����������� !&'@<�9����������� !&9@�97����������� !&:@'�7����������� !&7@�&$����������� !&!@'&D����������� !&&@�7$����������� D<@'<7������������� D'@7$!������������� D$@D:&������������� D:@$$&������������� D7@!'D������������� D!@<�D������������� D&@:D<������������� <D@!<'������������� �@9'!@7!9�������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :����������������� �&*6*/%���������� &,�6+(&���������� +'$6+$(���������� $%,6,+����������� *�$6%,(���������� '+&6*,,���������� ($(6*$,���������� %*&6%,,���������� �6/',6*/'������� �6�(*6*&(������� �6&%*6/+%������� �6$/+6(*$������� �6,�/6�&'������� �6*�$6(,/������� �6'�(6/,,������� �6(�%6'*$������� �6%&/6///������� &6/�(6'(&������� &6��*6�++������� &6&�&6/'+������� &6+/*6*&+������� &6+%%6(/&������� &6$%�6*+�������� &6,(&6�+/������� &6*'�6+�*�������

��������� 4�������!@&D&@&$&� 4�������!@&7D@$&:� 4����������D9!@�!$� 4����������<<7@!97� 4����������<&$@7':� 4����������'�'@<':� 4����������9$&@9<'� 4����������$'7@<79� 4����������:D'@7:�� 4����������:�!@��9� 4����������7:$@$&'� 4�����������'&@�&:� 4����������!D$@777� 4����������!�&@D!&� 4������������:9@D$&� ��������������9@$7�� �������������DD@$�:� �����������!'�@&!�� ������������:7@D<'� �����������7!$@:79� �����������7<9@7$&� �����������:$9@'�&� �����������$�9@$7<� �����������$D$@'D$� �����������99:@:<:� �����������'7�@9&&�

$2$�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:�-��
	.����
�����

�!!���
	��6�4��!����
���
�

3��0 9&&����������������� ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% !@&D&@&$&�������� �'@D$&������������� !@!!<@&&&�������

��	��
%����
���� 4������������������ :<@!!�������������� :9@:<$������������� ::@D!7������������� :7@7D:������������� :!@D�'������������� :&@$&D������������� 7D@!7D������������� 7'@<!9������������� 79@$7'������������� 7$@7&!������������� 7:@!&<������������� 7�@D$:������������� 7!@<:&������������� 7&@'97������������� �D@'�7������������� �<@'!<������������� �'@':'������������� �9@<&<������������� �$@D&�������������� �$@&�9������������� �:@!<&������������� �7@79�������������� ��@$'�������������� �!@<&D������������� �!@&'!������������� <�&@'!9����������

������
����

/�������� !@&D&@&$&�������� '9@&9�������������� :9@:<$������������� ::@D!7������������� :7@7D:������������� :!@D�'������������� :&@$&D������������� 7D@!7D������������� 7'@<!9������������� 79@$7'������������� 7$@7&!������������� 7:@!&<������������� 7�@D$:������������� 7!@<:&������������� 7&@'97������������� �D@'�7������������� �<@'!<������������� �'@':'������������� �9@<&<������������� �$@D&�������������� �$@&�9������������� �:@!<&������������� �7@79�������������� ��@$'�������������� �!@<&D������������� �!@&'!������������� !@D7<@'!9�������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� �6/%/6/,/������� �6�**6��&������� �6&�&6,%'������� �6&,'6,��������� �6+//6%/,������� �6+$&6(+&������� �6+(+6+$&������� �6$&&6$(�������� �6$*/6&%'������� �6$%*6(+$������� �6,+&6�+,������� �6,**6&$+������� �6,%%6�%'������� �6*+�6/+'������� �6**�6(//������� �6*%�6,&+������� �6'&/6&$�������� �6'$'6%('������� �6''$6'%*������� �6(//6*%'������� �6(&,6'&+������� �6($%6%/+������� �6('+6&*,������� �6(%,6(+'������� �6%�'6*$,������� �6%+(6'�*�������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ :&@:&9������������� 7D@<�&������������� 7D@�:7������������� 7<@9':������������� 7<@!!:������������� 7'@$9!������������� 7'@&!'������������� 79@:<!������������� 7$@D$�������������� 7$@:7!������������� 7:@D!'������������� 7:@:!!������������� 77@D!7������������� 77@:�!������������� 7�@D7'������������� 7�@:$D������������� 7!@D<D������������� 7!@$�$������������� 7!@&9D������������� 7&@9!<������������� 7&@!'$������������� �D@'7'������������� �D@7&9������������� �<@<<!������������� �<@:97������������� <$�@$������������

/�������� 4������������������ :&@:&9������������� 7D@<�&������������� 7D@�:7������������� 7<@9':������������� 7<@!!:������������� 7'@$9!������������� 7'@&!'������������� 79@:<!������������� 7$@D$�������������� 7$@:7!������������� 7:@D!'������������� 7:@:!!������������� 77@D!7������������� 77@:�!������������� 7�@D7'������������� 7�@:$D������������� 7!@D<D������������� 7!@$�$������������� 7!@&9D������������� 7&@9!<������������� 7&@!'$������������� �D@'7'������������� �D@7&9������������� �<@<<!������������� �<@:97������������� <$�@$������������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :����������������� $/6$/*������������ (/6&&*������������ ��%6$*%���������� �,(6�$+���������� �%*6&,'���������� &++6(�%���������� &'/6(+*���������� +/'6+�'���������� +$+6&*%���������� +'(6*%%���������� $�+6*�'���������� $$(6/&(���������� $(�6%$����������� ,�,6+*&���������� ,$(6&%%���������� ,(/6',(���������� *�&6'$'���������� *$$6&'+���������� *',6+$����������� '/,6%,%���������� '+*6�+$���������� '*,6('����������� '%,6�''���������� (&$6/,%���������� (,&6,&&����������

��������� 4�������!@&D&@&$&� 4�������!@!�$@'&9� 4�������!@!7�@7'!� 4�������!@!7<@&:�� 4�������!@!:�@'9�� 4�������!@!:9@$'$� 4�������!@!:D@$�7� 4�������!@!$!@9:$� 4�������!@!$�@D<&� 4�������!@!$7@$9$� 4�������!@!$7@:79� 4�������!@!$�@9�9� 4�������!@!$!@!9D� 4�������!@!:D@&D9� 4�������!@!:9@:7<� 4�������!@!:7@��:� 4�������!@!7D@:<�� 4�������!@!7$@�:&� 4�������!@!7&@$�7� 4�������!@!�$@7$9� 4�������!@!!D@'9:� 4�������!@!!7@'9D� 4�������!@!&'@7D:� 4�������!@!&&@9$D� 4�������!@&D7@$<9� 4�������!@&<9@!D$�

!&��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

P
age 344




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

$2,�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:�0������
	�	
	��� $���	
�#

3��0 $:$ ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% <'7@9&&������������ ��@:&&�������������� <D9@&&&��������������

��	��
%����
���� 4������������������� 7@�79���������������� 7@!�'���������������� 7@&�!���������������� �@D!D���������������� '@&9:���������������� �@'�$���������������� �@977���������������� �@$::������������������� �@:$<������������������� �&@:D������������������ �@�D:������������������� �@�!'������������������� �@!:�������������������� �@&9D������������������� $@&&<������������������� !@D7�������������������� !@<99������������������� !@<&7������������������� !@':�������������������� !:@$�'����������������� !@9�9������������������� !@$'!������������������� !@$!<������������������� !@:9'������������������� 7@$$&������������������� D$@$$�����������������

������
����

/�������� <'7@9&&������������ �$@979�������������� 7@!�'���������������� 7@&�!���������������� �@D!D���������������� '@&9:���������������� �@'�$���������������� �@977���������������� �@$::������������������� �@:$<������������������� �&@:D������������������ �@�D:������������������� �@�!'������������������� �@!:�������������������� �@&9D������������������� $@&&<������������������� !@D7�������������������� !@<99������������������� !@<&7������������������� !@':�������������������� !:@$�'����������������� !@9�9������������������� !@$'!������������������� !@$!<������������������� !@:9'������������������� 7@$$&������������������� DD!@$$���������������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� ('+6*//����������� (%%6&+*����������� %/&6+*+����������� %/,6+($����������� %/(6+/+����������� %�,6+*'����������� %�(6/%&����������� %&/6'&,����������� %&+6&*%�������������� %&,6'&*�������������� %$*6&�(�������������� %$(6,�+�������������� %,/6'&%�������������� %,&6('��������������� %,$6%$/�������������� %,%6%$(�������������� %*�6((/�������������� %*+6'$*�������������� %*,6,,/�������������� %*'6&%&�������������� %(�6(�%�������������� %(+6$$,�������������� %(,6/�'�������������� %(*6,+,�������������� %((6//&�������������� %%�6,,&��������������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ $:@D<7�������������� $:@!<9�������������� $7@:&&�������������� $�@9�'�������������� $!@<9:�������������� $!@!!��������������� $&@7'!�������������� :D@9:!����������������� :<@D������������������� :<@�!7����������������� :'@$!:����������������� :9@<�9����������������� :9@!:'����������������� :$@:'<����������������� ::@<!D����������������� ::@!'&����������������� :7@$�D����������������� :�@<DD����������������� :�@�''����������������� :!@99:����������������� :!@&9&����������������� :&@:9$����������������� 7D@<'D����������������� 7D@7&!����������������� 7<@'7!����������������� !@!9&@&'<������������

/�������� 4������������������� $:@D<7�������������� $:@!<9�������������� $7@:&&�������������� $�@9�'�������������� $!@<9:�������������� $!@!!��������������� $&@7'!�������������� :D@9:!����������������� :<@D������������������� :<@�!7����������������� :'@$!:����������������� :9@<�9����������������� :9@!:'����������������� :$@:'<����������������� ::@<!D����������������� ::@!'&����������������� :7@$�D����������������� :�@<DD����������������� :�@�''����������������� :!@99:����������������� :!@&9&����������������� :&@:9$����������������� 7D@<'D����������������� 7D@7&!����������������� 7<@'7!����������������� !@!9&@&'<������������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :������������������ ,$6%(+������������� �/%6�*(����������� �*&6,*%����������� &�,6�%,����������� &*'6/,%����������� +�(6�'������������ +*(6,$+����������� $�(6�($�������������� $*'6�/*�������������� ,�,6+�%�������������� ,*&6(++�������������� */%6*,%�������������� *,,6(/*�������������� '/�6&($�������������� '$*6�/+�������������� '%/6&'+�������������� (++6(/&�������������� ('*6'/��������������� %�(6%''�������������� %*/6*$&�������������� �6//�6'/&����������� �6/$&6�*'����������� �6/(&6/$*����������� �6�&�6+$*����������� �6�*/6/'(�����������

��������� 4�����������<'7@9&&� 4�����������<::@�$:� 4�����������'D7@!D$� 4�����������':�@<!$� 4�����������9D7@!&<� 4�����������9:<@7&<� 4�����������$DD@D�!� 4�����������$$�@!<�� 4��������������$&$@&<:� 4��������������:$<@9�&� 4��������������:7&@<DD� 4��������������7<$@9'D� 4��������������7:!@&'&� 4���������������D'@&9$� 4���������������$7@9$9� 4���������������!7@<:$� 4��������������!'!@9&'� 4��������������!�D@D::� 4����������������<<@<:D� 4����������������:<@7!:� 4�����������������!@!'<� �����������������!<@�$9� �����������������$'@!$&� �����������������D$@$!!� ����������������!77@7::� ����������������!9<@$�$�

$2*�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:�0������
	�	
	��� +���	
�#

3��0 $:<������������������ ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% <'$@$$&������������ ��@:$&�������������� <D<@&&&��������������

��	��
%����
���� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� :@�9<���������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� !<@�!'����������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 7@&�$������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� !�@D!$����������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� �@!:$������������������� :&@$'&����������������

������
����

/�������� <'$@$$&������������ ��@:$&�������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� :@�9<���������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� !<@�!'����������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 7@&�$������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� !�@D!$����������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� �@!:$������������������� D7<@$'&��������������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� (',6,,/����������� (%(6///����������� (%(6///����������� (%(6///����������� (%(6///����������� %/&6&*(����������� %/&6&*(����������� %/&6&*(����������� %/&6&*(�������������� %/&6&*(�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+(6,'/��������������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ 9D@&'D�������������� 9<@&'<�������������� 9'@&D!�������������� 99@!!D�������������� 9$@!9!�������������� 9:@�!9�������������� 97@�<9�������������� 9�@79D����������������� 9!@:9$����������������� 9&@$':����������������� $D@9D9����������������� $<@<7!����������������� $'@D'<����������������� $'@!7<����������������� $9@7!&����������������� $$@:D:����������������� $:@9D&����������������� $7@<D'����������������� $7@!!9����������������� $�@7:9����������������� $!@$<'����������������� $&@<:&����������������� $&@!&7����������������� :D@7''����������������� :<@99!����������������� !@:$'@$&&������������

/�������� 4������������������� 9D@&'D�������������� 9<@&'<�������������� 9'@&D!�������������� 99@!!D�������������� 9$@!9!�������������� 9:@�!9�������������� 97@�<9�������������� 9�@79D����������������� 9!@:9$����������������� 9&@$':����������������� $D@9D9����������������� $<@<7!����������������� $'@D'<����������������� $'@!7<����������������� $9@7!&����������������� $$@:D:����������������� $:@9D&����������������� $7@<D'����������������� $7@!!9����������������� $�@7:9����������������� $!@$<'����������������� $&@<:&����������������� $&@!&7����������������� :D@7''����������������� :<@99!����������������� !@:$'@$&&������������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :������������������ *%6/'%������������� �+'6�,'����������� &/$6&$(����������� &'/6+*'����������� ++,6,&(����������� +%%6'$,����������� $*+6/+/����������� ,&,6+%%�������������� ,(*6(*$�������������� *$'6$+'�������������� '/'6�++�������������� '*,6%*$�������������� (&+6%$&�������������� ((�6/(/�������������� %+'6+%/�������������� %%&6(($�������������� �6/$'6,'+����������� �6�/�6$'/����������� �6�,$6,(*����������� �6&/*6%+&����������� �6&,(6,&/����������� �6+/%6+,%����������� �6+,%6$*&����������� �6$/(6(+%����������� �6$,'6,//�����������

��������� 4�����������<'$@$$&� 4�����������<�<@D�!� 4�����������'9&@<:7� 4�����������9D7@'$�� 4�����������9�'@977� 4�����������$99@'7D� 4�����������$&�@$�7� 4�����������:7D@�7'� 4��������������7'9@<9D� 4��������������7!$@:&:� 4���������������'7@&:<� 4���������������!7@7$�� 4��������������!$:@$�!� 4����������������D9@$:7� 4����������������7D@:&$� �����������������!7@<<&� �����������������9D@7':� ����������������!�:@&97� ����������������!''@D9&� �����������������7!@&'9� �����������������'&@$&'� ����������������7��@&D$� ����������������7'�@D7:� ����������������:�7@&7'� ����������������:'�@:!:� ����������������$!<@D7&�

!!��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

P
age 345




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

,2���	���;�
���;��
�������:����	
��� ���!�""��	��#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� :D�

��; &

.�����3��0 :D�

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ $<�@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !!9@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) '&@&&&

��	������ <@&&&

/������� ''9@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� ''9@&&&

�>& 
�����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! 
�5���������������A���	�����������
����� 7&$@�$&

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������


�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7&$@�$&

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !$@&&&

�>: 
����������������@��������� ���������>!

�>$ M������������������@�����������������
���������� ���������>!

�>9 3�������
���������� 2?������

.�����
�����������
������ ����$�%�������� !$@&&&

7>& ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� !9�@!'<

7>� M�������� !D&@$$D

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7$�@'7'

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	���	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� �6$$(6%('�����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# ��'2(/����������������������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	����3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� *'&6%('��������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# ,$2'�������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�


�
6�
�





�
4
�
�


�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!���	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 346




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

,2&��	���;�
���;��
�������:����	
��� )	
��!�""��	��#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� 97D

��; &

.�����3��0 97D

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ 9�!@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !�:@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) ':@&&&

��	������ D@&&&

/������� <�<@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� <�<@&&&

�>& 
�����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! 
�5���������������A���	�����������
����� 7D9@:$�

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������


�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7D9@:$�

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !D@:<�

�>: 
����������������@��������� ���������>!

�>$ M������������������@�����������������
���������� ���������>!

�>9 3�������
���������� 2?������

.�����
�����������
������ ����$�%�������� !D@:<�

7>& ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� �!&@97:

7>� M�������� �:'@:D$

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� :$<@!�<

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	���	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� �6'/&6/*+�����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# �/*2,,����������������������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	����3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� ('$6/*+��������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# ,$2'�������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�


�
6�
�





�
4
�
�


�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!7��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 347




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

,2+��	���;�
���;��
�������:�-��
	.����
�����

�!!���
	��� ���	������
�#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� 9&&

��; &

.�����3��0 9&&

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ <7<@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !9<@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) !&&@&&&

��	������ !�@&&&

/������� !@!!<@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� !@!!<@&&&

�>& 
�����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! 
�5���������������A���	�����������
����� 7'�@�$9

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������


�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7'�@�$9

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !<@�D7

�>: 
����������������@��������� ���������>!

�>$ M������������������@�����������������
���������� ���������>!

�>9 3�������
���������� 2?������

.�����
�����������
������ ����$�%�������� !<@�D7

7>& ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� !D'@''<

7>� M�������� �7�@7<D

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� :7&@!9<

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	���	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� �6%+(6'�*�����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# �&%2&,����������������������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	����3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� (&/6'�*��������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# ,$2'�������������������������

�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�


�
6�
�





�
4
�
�


�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�

!:��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 348




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

,2$��	���;�
���;��
�������:�-��
	.����
�����

�!!���
	��� 4��!����
���
�#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� 9&&

��; &

.�����3��0 9&&

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ <7<@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !9<@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) !&&@&&&

��	������ !�@&&&

/������� !@!!<@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� !@!!<@&&&

�>& 
�����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! 
�5���������������A���	�����������
����� 7'�@�$9

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������


�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7'�@�$9

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !<@�D7

�>: 
����������������@��������� ���������>!

�>$ M������������������@�����������������
���������� ���������>!

�>9 3�������
���������� 2?������

.�����
�����������
������ ����$�%�������� !<@�D7

7>& ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� !D'@''<

7>� M�������� �7�@7<D

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� :7&@!9<

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	���	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� �6%+(6'�*����������������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# �&%2&,���������������������������������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	����3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� (&/6'�*�������������������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# ,$2'������������������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�


�
6�
�





�
4
�
�


�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!$��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 349




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

,2,��	���;�
���;��
�������:�0������
	�	
	��� $���	
�#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� :9<

��; &


����������� ''

.�����3��0 $:$

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ 9'�@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !7$@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) <&@&&&

��	������ D@&&&

/������� <D9@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� <D9@&&&

� 
�����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! 
�5���������������A���	�����������
����� �:@<$$

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������


�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� �:@<$$

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !$@:D7
�>: 
����������������@��������� ���������>!
�>$ M������������������@�����������������
���������� ���������>!
�>9 3�������
���������� 2?������

.�����
�����������
������ ����$%�������� !$@:D7

7 ����������
�������������������������%" ,H�
���

7>! 
������� �$@7<�

7>� M�������� �D@<�7

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� $$@�&$

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	���	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� %%�6,,&2$*���������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# '+�����������������������������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	����3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� %,6,,&2$*�����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# '2/���������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�


�
6�
�





�
4
�
�


�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!9��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 350




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

,2*��	���;�
���;��
�������:�0������
	�	
	��� +���	
�#


��	�����	��	��������8������������	����%���
�����
���
���'� �$

���	���
	� :(�&!<


���
����%��6=�6��	1' 
���������

5678 ��	���������� $:<

��; &


������,���� &

.�����3��0 $:<

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ 9':@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !7$@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) <&@&&&

��	������ D@&&&

/������� <D<@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� <D<@&&&

� 
�����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! 
�5���������������A���	�����������
����� �:@DD!

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������


�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� �:@DD!

,H�
���
�>7 #���������� !$@$'<
�>: 
����������������@��������� ���������>!
�>$ M������������������@�����������������
���������� ���������>!
�>9 3�������
���������� 2?������

.�����
�����������
������ ����$�%�������� !$@$'<

7 ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� &

7>� M�������� &

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� &

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	���	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� %+(6,*%2'&����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	�
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# *%������������������������������

�	���;�
���;��
���8���&,����4��	����3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
� $/6,*%2'&������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3
���	���
���
��

	���
��
�� <=!&=����!# &2%*���������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�


�
6�
�





�
4
�
�


�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!'��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 351




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
����
����

*2���!!�������7��
���������

3��0��C	� ����������C	� .��������� ��������%������-�

0����������

�� �����.����������

�%��!"

�2/ ���	
��� ���!�""��	��# �&I

!>! !@7!������������������� ��>&&K���������������� �<@<9:���������������� $@''�><&������������� �7@&D!����������������

!>� !@7�������������������� ��>&&K���������������� �D@&<:���������������� $@<!9><&������������� �7@�9'����������������

!>7 M����7 <!$�������������������� ��>&&K���������������� !'@D7&���������������� 7@$<9>&&������������� !:@7::����������������

!>: M����: 7$��������������������� ��>&&K���������������� '@'::������������������ !@$:<><&������������� 9@!D$������������������

!>$ M����$ ��:�������������������� ��>&&K���������������� :@D�<������������������ D<$>9&���������������� 7@D:�������������������

/�������� '&@<:&����������������

&2/ ���	
��� )	
��!�""��	��# �&I

�>! !@D<<������������������ ��>&&K���������������� :7@'79���������������� <@':'>�&������������� 7:@D<D����������������

�>� !@D7<������������������ ��>&&K���������������� :�@979���������������� <@$�'>�&������������� 7:@!&D����������������

�>7 M����7 !@�97������������������ ��>&&K���������������� �'@'<9���������������� $@$$'>�&������������� ��@��D����������������

�>: M����: 7$��������������������� ��>&&K���������������� '@'::������������������ !@$:<><&������������� 9@!D$������������������

�>$ M����$ ��:�������������������� ��>&&K���������������� :@D�<������������������ D<$>9&���������������� 7@D:�������������������

/�������� !&!@:9:��������������

+2/ -��
	.����

�!!���
	��� ���	������
�# :&I

7>! ������!4: 9@:9&������������������ 77><!K���������������� �!<@:&&�������������� <'@79&���������������� !7!@&:&��������������

/�������� !7!@&:&��������������

!$I

$2/ -��
	.����

�!!���
	��� 4��!����
���
�#

9@:9&������������������ '>9�������������������� :D@�&&���������������� '@7<&������������������ :!@<�&����������������

:>! ������!4:

/�������� :!@<�&����������������

,2/ 0������
	�	
	��� $���	
�# �-0

$>! !@D<<������������������ !7>&&K���������������� �$@<::���������������� 4��������������������� �$@<::����������������

$>� !@7<!������������������ !$>&&K���������������� �&@'!$���������������� 4��������������������� �&@'!$����������������

$>7 9&'�������������������� !$>&&K���������������� D@!&$������������������ 4��������������������� D@!&$������������������

$>: $<��������������������� !7>&&K���������������� '@$99������������������ 4��������������������� '@$99������������������

/�������� 97@�7&����������������

*2/ 0������
	�	
	��� +���	
�# �-0

9>! 7@9$������������������� !7>&&K���������������� :'@:'9���������������� 4��������������������� :'@:'9����������������

9>� !@$�:������������������ !$>&&K���������������� ��@<9&���������������� 4��������������������� ��@<9&����������������

9>7 9&'�������������������� !$>&&K���������������� D@!&$������������������ 4��������������������� D@!&$������������������

/�������� 'D@::!����������������

M����!

M�����

M����7

M����:

M�����

M����7

M����!

M�����

M����!

M�����

M����!

!<��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 352



Model Capital Interest Loan Payback Negative Total cost/(saving) Total cost/(saving)

costs £ Loan £ Rate % period IRR Period (Years) impact on MTFS £ over 25 years £ over 40 years £ Comments

1 Total capital costs funded by loan.  1,940,000 1,940,000 2% 15 years nil nil 1,048,592 19,673 -

No saving/return over 25 years.  15 years before positive impact on 

MTFS

1a Total capital costs funded by loan - Sensitivity at 3% 1,940,000 1,940,000 3% 15 years nil nil 1,216,852 187,934 -

No saving/return over 25 years. 15 years before positive impact on 

MTFS

2 Total capital costs funded by loan.   Sensitivity - model over 40 years 1,940,000 1,940,000 3% 15 years nil 26 years 1,216,852 - (1,491,117)

as 1, but model spread over 40 years.  15 years before positive impact 

on MTFS

3 Total capital costs funded by internal borrowing - Sensitivity - borrowing at 0% 1,940,000 1,940,000 0% 15 years nil 23 years 733,352 (295,467) -

15 years before positive impact on MTFS. Modelled at 0% for 

comparison purposes, but not a  viable option

4 Total capital costs funded by internal borrowing - sensitivity - borrowing at 0%, modelled over 40 years 1,940,000 1,940,000 0% 15 years nil 22 years 733,352 (1,974,404)

as 3, but model spread over 40 years. Not a viable option.  15 years 

before positive impact on MTFS

5 Total capital costs part funded by contribution of £373k from reserve 1,940,000 1,567,000 3% 15 years nil 23 years 750,910 (278,009) -

Assume use of 17/18 increase in fees, ringfenced for scheme, subject to 

council approval.  15 years before positive impact on MTFS

6 Total capital costs part funded by contribution of £373k from reserve & £275k capital receipt 1,940,000 1,292,000 3% 15 years nil 19 years 407,387 (621,532) -

Assume as per no 5, plus use of cemetery lodge capital receipt, subject 

to council approval. 15 years before positive impact on MTFS  

7 As no 6, but with increased income volume from 2027, in line with population/death statistics 1,940,000 1,292,000 3% 15 years 3.69% 12 years 265,942 (4,144,707) -

The additional income could be accomodated by the existing and 1st 

new chapel, so this is not a  true incremental increase. 9 years before 

positive impact on MTFS

8

Mothball the existing chapel, no re-use. Capital costs re 2nd chapel only. Total capital costs funded by 3% loan.    

Assumes popoulation/death increases from 2027 1,000,000 1,000,000 1.80% 15 years 2.25% 18 years 801,320 (1,914,641)

assumes all cremations undertaken in new and second chapel, with 

volume increases in 2027. Assumes business rates still payable on 

mothballed chapel, per JG.  9 years before positive impact on MTFS

9

Mothball the existing chapel, no re-use. Capital costs re 2nd chapel only. Total capital costs part funded by 

contribution of £373k from reserve & £275k capital receipt, but no increased volumes of activity 1,000,000 352,000 1.80% 15years nil nil 866,228 866,228 -

assumes all cremations undertaken in new and second chapel - no 

overall increase in volume.  Assumes business rates still payable on 

mothballed chapel. No saving/return over 25 years. Negative impact on 

MTFS over all 25 years

10

As 9, Mothball the existing chapel, no re-use. Capital costs re 2nd chapel only. Total capital costs part funded by 

contribution of £373k from reserve & £275k capital receipt, but with increased volumes of activity re population 

increase. Loan over 15 years at 1.8%, based on current PWLB loan rate February 2017 1,000,000 352,000 1.80% 15years 4.46% 14 years 355,937 (2,656,947) -

As no 9, but additional volume of cremations from 2027 across new & 

2nd chapel.   High risk if death statistics are not as expected in 10 to 25 

year's time and estimated increased activity does not materialise.  Also 

assumes business rates still payable on mothballed chapel. 9 years 

before positive impact on MTFS.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Shortfall could be met by increase of £26.50 re environmental 

charges from year 1, creating a positive impact on MTFS, starting in 

year 1 . This fee increase would result in overall impact on MTFS of 

£4.061m over 25 years

Recommended option -

11

As 10, Mothball the existing chapel, no re-use. Capital costs re 2nd chapel only. Total capital costs part funded 

by contribution of £373k from reserve & £275k capital receipt, but with increased volumes of activity re 

population increase and loan over 25 years at 2.40%, based on PWLB rates ar February 2017 1,000,000 352,000 2.4% 25 years 4.50% 12 years 283,252 (2,590,032) -

As above but loan over 25 years at a rate of 2.4%, per PWLB rates Feb 

17.    9 years before positive impact on MTFS.                                                                                            

Shortfall could be met by increase of £26.50 re environmental 

charges from year 1, creating a positive impact on MTFS, starting in 

year 1 . This fee increase would result in overall impact on MTFS of 

£3.994m over 25 years.

Capital costs

Reuse of existing chapel 898,000

Build of 2nd chapel 957,000

Project management/Backfilling (based on 50% of similar costs for approved 1st new chapel) 85,000 (reduced to £43000 (25%) options 8 - 11)

1,940,000

P
age 353



P
age 354



11. Current Value -assuming 2.4% borrowing, use of 17/18 income and capital receipt from sale of cemetery lodge and population volumes

Financing based on £352,000 PWLB annuity loan over 25 years)

Assuming works commence and complete in 2017/18 with loan drawdown post completion at beginning of 2018/19

Years 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 Total

Capital Expenditure - 2nd Chapel Per Pick Evard / Wilmott Dixon - no breakdown seen 907,000 907,000

Project Management / Backfilling costs

£171k for approved new scheme business case - 

estimate 25% of this for 2nd chapel scheme 43,000 43,000

Contingency - 2nd Chapel Estimated CBC Contingency - build second chapel 50,000 50,000

Total Capital -Existing Chapel and Second Chapel Total loan £352,000 1,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000,000

PWLB Borrowing

PWLB Borrowing - (25 years)

Based on 2017 interest rates - subject to rate 

changes -352,000 -352,000

Repayment of PWLB Borrowing

Principal repayments / MRP - 25 years 10,420 10,671 10,929 11,193 11,463 11,740 12,023 12,314 12,611 12,916 13,227 13,547 13,874 14,209 14,552 14,903 15,263 15,631 16,009 16,395 16,791 17,197 17,612 18,037 18,473 352,000

Interest repayments - 25 years  8,386 8,134 7,877 7,613 7,343 7,066 6,782 6,492 6,195 5,890 5,578 5,259 4,932 4,597 4,254 3,903 3,543 3,174 2,797 2,410 2,014 1,609 1,194 769 333 118,143

Change in annual occupational costs - to be considered

Existing Chapel-

Life cycle costs

Replacement & Refurbishment Costs  - assume no 

additional costs over current budget for existing 

chapel. No savings as still have to maintain interior 

and external building 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Saving in existing chapel utility costs

Est.saving in existing chapel utility costs (existing 

costs for chapel/offices £72500) tbc -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -1,250,000

Estimated existing/2nd chapel business rates payable - see below

current budget whole site £48,500 - estimate 

additional cost across whole site of £20k (on top of 

£20k additional costs in original new chapel business 

case) tbc 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 625,000

2nd New Chapel -

Cost of transportation of coffins across site

saving in cost identified in 1st new chapel business 

case -not needed if have 2nd chapel -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -75,000

Gas / Electricity / Water

 based on est 25% efficiency saving compared to 

existing chapel - to be confirmed at design stage tbc 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 1,000,000

Insurance -2nd chapel based on 1st new chapel business case 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 50,000

Response Maintenance budget for 2nd chapel new build Estimate of likely budget requirement 1,000 2,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 113,000

income--

No additional volumes of cremations as transfer of activities only.  

Further increase in fees charges??

Fee increases included in 1st new chapel business 

case. May be difficult to increase further given 

competition 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -113,651 -113,651 -113,651 -113,651 -113,651 -113,651 -227,302 -227,302 -227,302 -227,302 -227,302 -340,952 -340,952 -340,952 -340,952 -340,952 -3,523,175

Cashflow 1,000,000 -324,194 28,806 29,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 -80,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -1,942,032

FINANCING

PWLB Borrowing -352,000 352,000 0

General Reserve - one-off funding income 17/18 tfrd to budget deficts reserve -373,000 -373,000

Capital receipts - cemetery Lodge Funding -275,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -275,000

Total -1,000,000 352,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -648,000

Impact on Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 1,000,000 27,806 28,806 29,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 -80,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -2,590,032

cumulative 27,806 56,611 86,417 119,223 152,029 184,834 217,640 250,446 283,252 202,406 126,561 50,716 -25,129 -100,974 -176,819 -361,315 -545,811 -730,307 -914,802 -1,099,298 -1,397,445 -1,695,592 -1,993,738 -2,291,885 -2,590,032

Annual rate of return 2.78% 2.88% 2.98% 3.28% 3.28% 3.28% 3.28% 3.28% 3.28% -8.08% -7.58% -7.58% -7.58% -7.58% -7.58% -18.45% -18.45% -18.45% -18.45% -18.45% -29.81% -29.81% -29.81% -29.81% -29.81%

Further funding to offset shortfall to MTFS, subject to approval Environment Fee £26.50 per cremation 0 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -55,049 -55,049 -55,049 -55,049 -55,049 -55,049 -59,749 -59,749 -59,749 -59,749 -59,749 -64,448 -64,448 -64,448 -64,448 -64,448 -1,404,429

positive impact on MTFS - per year if introduce £26.50 environment fee -22,544 -21,544 -20,544 -17,544 -17,544 -17,544 -17,544 -17,544 -17,544 -135,894 -130,894 -130,894 -130,894 -130,894 -130,894 -244,245 -244,245 -244,245 -244,245 -244,245 -362,595 -362,595 -362,595 -362,595 -362,595 -3,994,461

cumulative positive impact on MTFS -22,544 -44,089 -64,633 -82,177 -99,721 -117,266 -134,810 -152,354 -169,898 -305,793 -436,687 -567,582 -698,476 -829,370 -960,265 -1,204,509 -1,448,754 -1,692,999 -1,937,243 -2,181,488 -2,544,082 -2,906,677 -3,269,272 -3,631,866 -3,994,461

Capital costs 1,000,000

BUSINESS RATES: All CEMETERY BUILDING ASSESSED ON A WHOLE SITE BASIS.

Saving over 25 years -2,590,032 Existing chapel would only be exempt, as an empty listed building, IF assessed separately to rest of site. Unlikelt this would happen if we choose to mothball. Estimate £20,000 additional costs, pending proper assessment, in line with first new chapel business case.

Return over 25 years -259.003%

IRR 4.501% Premises utility costs - currently estimate a saving of £10k per annum, compared to existing chapel costs, through more efficient equipment, etc.  - to be confirmed by Property

Payback period 12 years

Cost over first 9 years (before positive impact on MTFS) 283,252

Population statistics year 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

£m 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042

Cheltenham Population 118.9 119.6 120.3 121 121.7 122.4 123.1 123.8 124.5 125.2 126 126.7 127.4 128.1 128.8 129.5 130.1 130.8 131.4 132 132.6 133.2 133.8 133.8 133.8 133.8

Cheltenham Deaths 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3

% increase 9.33% 9.33% 9.33% 9.33% 9.33% 9.33% 18.67% 18.67% 18.67% 18.67% 18.67% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00%

2014 2015 2016 profile - est of the 300k (28%) total volume increase per Perfect Circle  /JCS statistics

116.5 117.4 118.1

1.1 1.0 base of 1900 cremations per new chapel business case base 2017/18 fee of £801.11 excluding abatement and medical fee

subject to council approval 24-2-17

Option: Mothball Existing Chapel and replace with a 2nd new chapel

P
age 355



P
age 356



Route B Route C/A 

(see note 

above)

Comments

5 Imjin Road n n I object to both of these routes for access to the planned chapel & crematorium for the following reasons:

The amenity of the field will be severely affected. A road running through the middle or at the edge the playing field will restrict access and make it unsafe for children to play, dogs to be walked and for ball games to be played. These 

are all activities that the residents of Priors estate, Oakley, Whaddon, Prestbury and beyond would lose local access to if this application is approved. 

It will increase noise, traffic congestion and pollution on the estate especially due to the nature of funerals with lots of people arriving and leaving at the same time.

The increase in noise and congestion will definitely be more prominent on Imjin road where many residents use on street parking, which in places effectively turns it into a single track road. 

This problem can already be seen on days when football matches are held in Priors field, where the road becomes extremely congested when all players and families leave at once. I also feel that this is counterintuitive to the recently 

imposed 20MPH speed limit. This was designed to make the estate safer for vulnerable residents and increasing the traffic load on the estate will not help to achieve this. 

3 Somme Road y Letter available to view in Documents Tab (see planning applicationb 17/00011/OUT)

14 Ladysmith Road n? I am a resident of Ladysmith road and and writing to say that I will be directly affected if it is decided that the lane behind the houses on the road will be used for access to the new crematorium.

Whilst the lane has been problematic as it is overgrown and is used as a dumping ground, I am not sure that it is going to be suitable alternative for access to the crematorium either. The gardens attached to these houses in the area 

are not very big at all and so the cars would be traveling very close to the properties and would definitely cause a noise issue. ( who wil provide new fences or walls for the end of the residents gardens?? ). Also I am concerned about 

the trees and the wildlife in this area. ( birds, squirrels, shrews etc ).What will happen to the evergreen trees lining the existing cemetery entrance and the big trees inbetween the track and the current entry lane?? As the track is only 

big enough for one way traffic are the trees going to be removed to accommodate more cars or is it going to be one way in on the current entry road and one way out on the track if this is the option decided.? Also you say that the 

track will be locked when not in use. This will not deter people from entering the area when it is isn't being used and so I am not sure this will reduce any of the anti social behaviour that currently exists.

I think before a decision is made, more information needs to be provided for both options so an informed decision can be made by all.

Thank you

93 Imjin Road n We strongly oppose the application for the road to be extended up Imjin Road and across the playing field, how are the children that play football on a weekend going to cross this road, we are a family estate where our children go 

outside to play and do we really want hearses and grief stricken families driving up our road every 15mins especially during the 6 weeks holiday when children will be outside playing.

What will happen to the people who walk there dogs up the field, where will they park.

Where will the football players park when they are using the field

How is this going to be policed to stop the joy riders spinning around on it, as we have issues with speeding on this road as it is.

Also we are very concerned about the HIGH RISK to flooding, 

We have issue's with parking up here now as most homes have 2 cars and cars are parked on both sides of the road, also what will happen when it is rubbish day?

Appendix 5 - Comments made on outline planning application 17/00011/OUT (crematorium access roads)

Support for 

Note: The planning application referenced Route A (via Imjin Rd) and Route B (along the southern boundary of the cemetery). Therefore the comments below reference routes A and B. However readers need to be aware that the Cabinet report of 7th March refers to 

the Imjin Rd route as route C

P
age 357



8 Kimberley Walk y n I write in support of the planning application for option B for the new cemetery to be approached via the existing track at the back of Ladysmith Road with the provision this road be improved and kept locked out of hours to avoid 

antisocial behaviour.

I oppose and object to the planning application for option A and believe that residents on Priors Road and myself would prefer to see the play area left as open space to be enjoyed and not be spoilt by the flow of funeral courtage 

every day. Dog walkers, children go there to raise their spirits and play games. It is a place of enjoyment and happiness.

The mourners deserve respect and a quiet and more dignified approach to their loved ones final destination. On Imjin Road there are cars parked on both sides leaving only a narrow gap so a long stream of traffic would cause 

problems and blockages. It would make it difficult for emergency vehicles to approach at that time. There are quite a few disabled and elderly residents who may require emergency services.

22 Ladysmith Road y n Letter available to view in Documents Tab (see planning applicationb 17/00011/OUT)

6 Ladysmith Road n? n Letter available to view in Documents Tab (see planning applicationb 17/00011/OUT)

65 Imjin Road n Letter available to view in Documents Tab (see planning applicationb 17/00011/OUT)

2 Imjin Road n? n My partner and I moved to Imjin Road just over a year ago. We object to the proposals because

1. the road already has a problem with cars driving too fast.

2.it is already a busy road, made worse by the chip shop parking, not sure how they were allowed to expand with no further provisions for traffic and parking

3.the road for the crematorium will no doubt be a stepping stone for a through road up to the new estate, we suspect this is as much a part of plan (A) as the crematorium. If this were the case it would be outrageously bad for Imjin 

Road.

4. the area beyond the playing fields is beautiful and should be protected from any further damage

plan A is totally unacceptable to us

plan B is the better of the two, though we still object as we do not want any more traffic, it is already a problem that needs a solution not making worse

thank you for your time

5 Blackberry Field y y I support this application if it helps enable the delivery of the important enhancements to the town's crematorium facilities

55 Salamanca Road n n We understand the need to expand the crematorium but to dig up green fields that people walk dogs on and play football is wrong, the other route is too narrow and would directly give us more road noise and pollution, there must 

be another route or alternative solution

89 Imjin Road y n I live in Imjin road, & I believe that an access road via Imjin road & playing fields would spoil the playing fiedpld & bring more traffic down Imjin road where children play, & where there a lot of cars parked. I believe that access via 

ladysmith road would be better, & also that it already exists as a pathway

42 Ladysmith Road I wish to point out that for route alignment B (cemetery / Ladysmith Road) that there is buried drainage infrastructure (a culvert) within the vicinity of this access track which conveys flow from the ditch running along the cemetery 

boundary. During heavy winter weather and where flow exceeds the capacity of the culvert, run-off is re-directed towards the access track (Route B) between the cemetery and the rear gardens of Ladysmith Road and flows along it. 

The new development should incorporate upgraded drainage measures along the southern side of the cemetery considering previous surface water studies within the area. It is not clear that drainage measures from the FAS scheme 

referred to in the Design Statement would accommodate this development. 

The development should incorporate adequate drainage capacity considering actual flow within watercourses and run-off within the area.

Environmental screens should be considered for the change of use of the track and for open field areas for Route B if adopted

33 Imjin Road y n I wish to vote for plan b for several reasons

there are four roads that exit imjin road - burma avenue, imjin court and salamanca road

the busy traffic flow will disrupt the funeral processions, delivery service vehicles, visitors to the crem and residents.

I am against any plan that would possibly jeopardise the free green spaces we have currently on the estate

The Occupiers of 16 Imjin Road have requested they be included as an occupant is disabled and they are not able to get into town nor do they have computer access

On Saturday and Sundays there are football matches held at the field at the top of Imjin Road - just the extra 10-15 cars causes awful traffic delays, with the road not being wide enough for traffic to pass in both directions,

As you come out of Imjin Road you have a pelican crossing, yellow box and traffic lights, this prevents free flow of traffic, plus cars parking undoable yellow lines outside the shops (chip shop, chinese takeaway and haridressers which 

adds to the madness.

P
age 358



46 Ladysmith Road y I am in strong support of Option B as a new access route to the cemetery. 

The existing track at the back of the properties on Ladysmith Road is a focus for anti-social behaviour and is badly littered. I understand it has also been used as an access route in a number of recent burglaries. Re-purposing this land 

provides the opportunity to tackle all the above, together with sensitive landscaping, to support the development of the cemetery

8 Imjin Road n I object to the use of Imjin Road as access for the new crematorium. We live just inside Imjin Road near Priors Rd and the traffic on Imjin is very heavy already. Due to Simpsons Fish and Chip Shop parking in this area is also heavy and 

Imjin Road for a vast majority of the time is one line traffic. Please take heavy traffic on Imjin into consideration when making your decision. Thank you

62 Salamanca Road The anti social behaviour which Mr Colin Hay has mentioned in his recent letter that takes place on the track behind the houses on ladysmith and Salamanca road actually takes place in the garages which also run infront of the track. 

Mr Colin Hay has stated if the road was built where the track was it would stop the anti social behaviour and extreme litter as it would be locked at nights. It would not stop the anti social behaviour as they would still be able to access 

the garages. The garages also need some security to prevent access as this is where it all goes on. Only garages owners should be able to get in there. Also the houses that run along the back of the track on Salamanca road have had a 

problem with rat infestations which is a concern if they are to dig right behind the houses. 

69 Imjin Road y n Letter available to view in Documents Tab

10 Kimberley Walk y n We cannot see anything in the Design and Access Statement submitted to support the need for either Route A or B. The report suggests there are "significant logistical challenges" with routes within the site, but no justification is 

offered.

If the need can be established, then Route B is the only sensible option. The fact that Route A is being considered at all seems incredible, since it would be entirely unsuitable and suggests that there has not been much thought put 

into the scheme to date.

The junction of Imjin Road with Prior's Road is not set up to allow a significant increase in traffic, particularly so near to other junctions and traffic lights. Imjin Road itself is too narrow to suit additional traffic (particularly construction 

traffic). The playing fields car park gets particularly busy at weekends for sporting use, and would not allow traffic to the crematorium to flow freely.

If Route B is to be adopted, then the need for it needs to be firmly established

Grey Gables Southam Road y? n Although we are in general agreement that car parking and access to the Cheltenham Cemetery needs improving we are opposed to one of the proposed access roads, namely Route A, Imjin Road.

Imjin Road is one of the main routes to the residential housing development and access to Imjin Road is at a very busy and dangerous junction close to a pedestrian crossing, Sainsburys Supermarket traffic lights and the busy entrance 

to Whaddon Road. 

We have to make frequent visits to Imjin Road and we know from experience that access to and from Priors Road is not easy. Also, Imjin Road is quite narrow and due to residents cars parked on both sides of the road reduces the 

remaining carriageway to just over one cars width. If vehicles from the cemetery were also using this access it could cause major traffic problems and also be a danger to pedestrians and children in the area. Access to the playing fields 

and early years playground is also via Imjin Road and extra traffic would be a danger to children and parents using these facilities.

Although we are not happy with Route B, via Ladysmith Road, being used, it would probably be a better alternative if no other improved solution can be found.

To Summarise: We would strongly object to Imjin Road ( Route A ) being used as access to the new Cheltenham Cemetery. 

50 Salamanca Road y n I object to the use of Imjin Road being used as it is so very busy already and the playing field and land beyond should be kept as it is natural for walkers/dog walkers. It makes sense to me to use the track which goes behind houses and 

up side of field. Seems less disruption and more straight forward route. 

25 Goodrich Road y? n I object to Route A because not only does this blight my property which will overlook this road, but will cause potential congestion in Imjin Road. It makes much more sense to exit straight to a main road as proposed in Route B, 

although I am unconvinced that the case has been made for a secondary exit requiring either option. 

Additionally, I am concerned that already the car park and area to the changing rooms and further to the swings is already a meeting point for off road bikers and others at late hours and despite locked gates may cause further 

nuisance to residents. 

Finally, I am extremely concerned that this could be used as an incremental extension of home building and would appreciate an assurance this is not paving the way for further development as an extension of the properties at Imjin 

Road. 

49 Imjin Road This road is only going in so that Goodrich Road can join it and keep the rich in Battledown quiet. I hope you do it with learner drivers doing three point turns and Refuse lorries doing their collections in between parked cars what will 

happen to the poor old Hearse & Limo with the family sat in the back 

1 Kimberley Walk y n I support the application providing on the condition that the access road is Option B. viz: The current track at the rear of Ladysmith Road. Option A. Imjin road is not suitable. It is already substantially restricted by parked cars, and 

excessively used by driving instructors for training learner drivers. Any further increase in traffic would place an unacceptable burden on residents.

51 Imjin Road n n I think that both the routes will disturb the area and make it really busy and much more hectic. It's a lovely place to live at the moment and there is access to the cemetery just down the road and there is no need for it. The park is a 

safe place for children to play and it's an enclosed area. On Imjin Road a lot of cars park on either side of the road and it already is hard to get through sometimes. 

P
age 359



23 Goodrich Road Can appreciate why new access road is needed. Presumably these are alternative routes though this is not clear on site map.

Both routes are near water courses: Route A adjacent to Wymans Brook and Route B to stream along Cemetery fence.

Clarification of flooding risk is needed. Field is already very prone to waterlogging.

Many manholes (presumably over drainage channels) have recently been highlighted. There are more than we were ever aware of!

Route B is preferable as it causes minimal disruption to playing field area.

Will there be any means to prevent road being used by young racers? i.e. gates and/or speed bumps. There is already enough evening disturbance in Priors Farm car park.

There have been active badger sets along Cemetery fence. Will Route B disturb these? 

45 Imjin Road y n Of the two routes proposed, it is clear that Route B will cause the least disruption on an ongoing basis and will not cause the playing fields to require huge modification going forward. The facilities can remain and it will continue to be 

a safe space for the local community to use. 

Route A would be a huge concern in terms of traffic in the area as the majority of house on Imjin Road have no off street parking meaning that cars are parked on both sides of the road. Congestion is an issue on the road during busy 

times as it is - to introduce whole new streams of cars using the road would be a huge problem. 

47 Imjin Road y n Of the two routes being proposed it is obvious that Route B which follows the old abandoned Farm access road is a lot less disruptive than Route A.

Route B delivers traffic out directly onto Bouncers Lane and does not involve changing the playing fields layout and facilities.

Route A would not only impact the playing fields but would also put traffic out onto Imjin Road which is a heavily parked road (both sides of the road leaving enough space for 1 vehicle in the middle) with most houses having no off 

road parking. Also Imjin Road and the rest of the estate has a 20mph speed limit - this was done for a very good reason, and turning Imjin Road into a exit route from the cemetery, or an access road for heavy vehicles, would seem to 

fly in the face of that decision.

So I support Route B but object to Route A.

Also you state "The flood alleviation scheme has been overlaid on the attached proposed access route options to help understand its impact on the new Crematorium scheme and permission has been given by GCC to share and use 

environmental impact survey work undertaken by their consultants."

There seems to be no sign of documentation relating to the flood alleviation scheme anywhere on this application.

P
age 360


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	5 Cabinet Response to the Scrutiny report on Accessibility
	6 Appointment of the Non Executive Director to 2020 company
	2017_03_07_CAB_Publica_NED_Appendix_2

	7 Financing arrangements for improvements to Leisure-at-Cheltenham
	2017_03_07_CAB_Financial_Improvement_Leisure_At_Cheltenham_Appendix_2
	2017_03_07_CAB_Financial_Improvement_Leisure_At_Cheltenham_Appendix_3

	8 Progress update regarding the new crematorium project including business case decisions regarding access road and second chapel option
	Appendix 2a - original Access Roads study
	Appendix 2b - update covering routes B and C
	Appendix 2c - Gardens of Remembrance route
	Appendix 3 - Two Chapels Options Study
	Appendix 4a - Summary of second chapel options modelled
	Appendix 4b - financial model for preferred second chapel option
	Appendix 5 - public representations on outline planning application


